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ADVERTISEMENT.

Tae Compiler of the following pages has only attempted -
to give'a free and condensed translation of a complex and
voluminous history, with the hope that it might prove
of more utility in its present form than in the original
works. Those portions which are not calculated to interest
or instruct the general reader, and afford no illustrations
of the subject, have been passed over. Those trials have
been selected which serve as examples of the various laws
of the Inquisition, and of its state at different epochs, and
which include the persecutions of the most eminent men.

The curious will be amply gratified by the perusal of the
history of the secret tribunal; the man of leisure cannot
fail in finding occupation and amusement in the pages of
Llorente ; and the philosopher will discover in them ample
scope for reflection on the aberrations of human reason, and
on the capability of our nature, when under the influence of
fanaticism, to inflict, with systematic indifference, death, tor-
ture, misery, anxiety, and infamy, on the guilty and the
innocent.

All the records of the fantastic cruelties of the heathen

world do not afford so appalling a picture of human weakness
b



vi ADVERTISEMENT.

and depravity as the authentic and genuine documents of
the laws and proceedings of this Holy Office, which pro-
fessed to act under the influence of the doctrines of the
Redeemer of the World !

I offer, with humility, tinil abridgment of the work to
the public, and while I hope that it will be kindly and
favourably received, I helieve that it may prove interesting
and useful to every class of readers.

June, 1826.
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xii PREFACE.

another decides that it originated in 1483, because
in that year Thomas Torquemada was appointed in-
quisitor-general by*the Pope.

The inquisition of Spain was not a new tribunal
created by Ferdinand V. and Isabella, the queen of
Castile, but only a reform and extension of the
. ancient tribunal, which had existed from the thirteenth
century.

No one could write a complete and authentic his-
tory of the Inquisition, who was not either an inqui-
sitor or a secretary of the holy office. Persons hold-
ing only these situations could be permitted to make
memoranda of papal bulls, the ordinances of sove-
reigns, the decisions of the council of the  Supréme,”
of the originals of the preliminary processes for sus-
picion of heresy, or extracts of those which had been
deposited in the archives. Being myself the secretary
of the Inquisition at Madrid, during the years 1789,
1790, and 1791, I have the firmest confidence in my
being able to give to the world a true code of the secret
laws by which the interior of the Inquisition was go-
verned, of those laws which were veiled by mystery from
all mankind, excepting those men to whom the know-
ledge of their political import was exclusively re-
served. A firm conviction, from knowing the deep
objects of this tribunal, that it was vicious in prin-
ciple, in its constitution, and in its laws, notwith-
standing all that has been said in its support, induced
me to avail myself of the advantage my situation
afforded me, and to collect every document I could
procure relative to its history. My perseverance has
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rance of the method of conducting an inquisitorial
trial. Those authors relied wholly on the accounts of
prisoners, who knew nothing of the ground-work of
- their own case ; and the details in Eymerick, Paramo,
Pegna, Carena, and some other inquisitors, are too
limited to yield the necessary information.

These facts make me hope that I shall not trans-
gress the bounds of propriety when I say, that I only
can give a true history of the Inquisition, as I only
possess the materials necessary for the undertaking.

I have read the most celebrated trials of the modern
Inquisition, and the details given by me differ essen-
tially from those of other historians, not excepting
those of Limborch, who is the most exact of them.
The trials of Don Carlos of Austria, prince of the
Asturias, of Don Bartholomew Carranza, archbishop
of Toledo, and of Antony Perez, the first minister
and secretary of Philip II., have been greatly illus-
trated in many important particulars.

I have established the truth of that which concerns
the Emperor Charles V.; Jeanne of Albret, queen of
Navarre; Henry IV. king of France, her son, and of
Margaret of Bourbon the sovereign duchess of Bar,
her daughter; of Don James of Navarre, son of Don
Carlos, prince of Biana, surnamed the Infant of Tu-
dela; of John Pic de Mirandola; of Don John of
Austria, son of Philip IV.; of Alexander Farnése,
duke of Parma, and grandson of Charles V.; Don
Philip of Arragon, son of the Emperor of Morocco ;
of Cmsar Borgia, son of Pope Alexander VI., and
relation of the king of Navarre; of Jean Albret,
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the crown, according with the true principles of juris-
prudence. These trials will display the Counsellors
of the Inquisition carrying their audacity to such a
height, as to deny that their temporal jurisdiction
was derived from the concession of their sovereign,
and actually prosecuting all the members of the
council of Castile, as rash men, suspected of heresy,
for having made known and denounced to the king
this system of usurpation. In addition to these in-
tolerable acts, will be found accounts of their assump-
tion of superiority over viceroys, and other great
officers of state. I have also shewn, that these
ministers of persecution have been the chief causes
of the decline of literature, and almost the annihilators
of nearly all that could enlighten the people, by their
ignorance, their blind submission to the monks
who were qualifiers, and by persecuting the magis-
trates and the learned who were anxious to dissemi-
nate information. These monks were despicable
scholastic theologians, too ignorant and prejudiced
tobe able to ascertain the truth between the doctrines
of Luther and those of Roman Catholicism, and so
condemned, as Lutheran, propositions incontestably
true.

The horrid conduct of this holy office weakened
the power and diminished the population of Spain,
by arresting the progress of arts, sciences, industry,
and commerce, and by compelling multitudes of
families to abandon the kingdom ; by instigating the
expulsion of the Jews and the Moors ; and by immo-
lating on its flaming shambles more than thres hun-
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go bring their riches into the hands of the government.
Sixtus IV. sanctioned the measure, to gain the point
dearest to the court of Rome, an extent of domination.
Charles V. protected it from motives of policy, being
convinced it was the only means of preventing the
beresy of Luther from penetrating into Spain. Philip
I1. was actuated by superstition and tyranny to uphold
it; and even extended its jurisdiction to the excise,
and made the exporters of horses into France liable
to seizure by the officers of the tribunal, as persons
suspected of heresy ! Philip III., Philip IV., and
Charles I1., pursued the same course, stimulated by
similar fanaticism and imbecility, when the re-union

of Portugal to Spain led to the discovery of many
" Jews. Philip V. maintained the Inquisition from
considerations of mistaken policy, inherited from
Louis XIV., who made him believe that such
rigour would ensure the tranquillity of the king-
dom, which was always in danger when many re-
ligions were tolerated. Ferdinand VI. and Charles
III. befriended this holy office, because they- would
not deviate from the course that their father had traced,
and because the latter hated the freemasons. Lastly,
Charles IV. supported the tribunal, because the
French Revolution seemed to justify a system of sur-
veillance, and he found a firm support in the zeal of
the inquisitors-general, always attentive to the pre-
servation and extension of their power, as if the
sovereign authority could find no surer means of
strengthening the throne, than the terror inspired by
an Inquisition.
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Twenty-one prisoners were found in it, not one of whom knew
the name of the city in which he was: some had been confined
three years, some a longer period, and not one knew perfectly the
nature of the crime of which he was accused.

One of these prisoners had been condemned, and was to have
suffered on the following day. His punishment was to be death
by the Pendulum. The method of thus destroying the victim is
as follows :—the condemned is fastened in a groove, upon a table,
‘on his back ; suspended above him is a Pendulum, the edge of
“ which is sharp, and it is so constructed as to become longer with
every movement. The wretch sees this implement of destruction
swinging to and fro above him, and every moment the keen edge
approaching nearer and pearer: at length it cuts the skin of his
nose, and gradually cuts on, until life is extinct. It may be
doubted if the holy office in its mercy ever invented a more
humane and rapid method of exterminating heresy, or ensuring
confiscation. This, let it be remembered, was a punishment of
the Secret Tribunal, A.D.1820!!!
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2 : . HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION. [Chap.I.

great, that Archelaiis, Bishop of Caschara, in Mesopotamia,
judged it necessary to imprison him, yet he renounced that
design when Marcellus (to whom Manés had written) pro-
posed another conference with him. Archelaiis succeeded in
converting the heretic, and net only gave up his intention of
detaining him, but saved his life when the people would have
stoned him to death. -

It is possible that the church was in a certain degree com- -
pelled to act in this manner, from the impossibility of em-
ploying the coercive measures of temporal power against
heretics during the reigng of the heathen princes; but this
was not the only motive for her tolerance, since it is cer-
tain that when no edicts of persecution existed against the
Christians, the emperors received the appeals of the bishops
in the same manner as those of thejr other suhjects: this is
proved by the history of the heretic Pau] of Samesata,
Bishop of Anptioch,

The council of that town, assembled in 273, perceiving
that Paul had relapsed into heresy, after the abjuration
which he had made befere the council of 266, depased him,
ald elected Domnus in his place. The episcapal hause being
skill occupied by the deposed bishop, he was ordered to quit
it, that his puccessor might take possession. Paul having
refused to obey, the bishops applied to the Emperor Aure-
lian, who lhad not then begun to persecute the Christians;
he received their complaint, and replied, that as he did not
know which of the two parties was right, they must conform
to the decision of the Bishop of Rome apd his church. The
holy see was then occupied by Felix I., who confirmed the
decision of the council, and the Emperor Aurelian caused it
to be executed.

As toleration was universal in the Christian church, it is
not to be suppased that the church of Spain followed dif-
ferent principles. Basilides and Marcial, Bishops of Astorga
.and Merida, apostatized; they were reconciled to the church
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4 HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.. (Chap. I

origin of the Inquisition; for when the custom of punishing
a heretic by corporeal pain, although he was a good sub-
ject, was once established, it became necessary to vary the
punishments, to augment their number, to render them more
or less severe, according to the character of each sovereign,
and to regulate the manner of prosecuting the culprit.

The Emperor Theodosius published, in 382, an edict
against the Manicheans, decreeing that they should be
punished with death, and their property confiscated for the
use of the state, and commissioning the prefect (Préfet du
Prétoire) to appoint inquisitors ‘and spies to discover those
who should conceal themselves.

It is here that inquisition and accusation are first men-
tioned in relation to heresy, for until that time only those
great crimes which attacked the safety of the empire were
permitted to be publicly denounced. The successors of
Theodosius modified these edicts, some of which menaced
heretics with the prosecutions of the impartial judges, if
they did not voluntarily abjure their errors. Notices were .
given to known heretics who did not abjure after the pub-
lication of the edicts, that if they were converted in a certain
time, they would be admitted to a reconciliation, and would
only suffer a canonical penance.

When these conciliatory measures were unavailing, various

_ punishments were adopted. Those doctors who, in con-
tempt of the laws, promulgated their false opinions, were
subjected to considerable fines, banishment from cities, and
even transportation. In certain cases, their property was
confiscated, in others they were obliged to pay a fine of ten
pounds of gold, or they were scourged with leathern thongs,
and sent to islands from whence they could not escape.
Besides these punishments, they were forbidden to hold
assemblies, and the offenders were liable to proscription,
banishment, transportation, and even death in some cases.
The execution of these decrees was intrusted to the go-
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6 HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION, [Chap. I.

+ These rigorous measures did not appear sufficient, and the
twelfth Council of Toledo, in 681, at which King Erbigius
assisted, decided, that if the offender was neble, he should
be subject to excommunication and exile ; if he was a slave,
he should be scourged and delivered to his master loaded
with chains, and if the proprietor could not answer for him,
that he should be placed at the disposal of the king.

In 693, the sixteenth Council of Toledo assembled in the
presence of King Egica, added to the measures already
established, a law, by which all who opposed the efforts of
the bishops and judges to destroy idolatry were condemned,
if noble, to be excommunicated, and to pay a fine of three
pounds of gold; and if of a low condition, to receive a
hundred strokes of a whip, and have half his property con-
fiscated.

Recesuinte, who reigned from 663 to 672, established a
particular law against heretics: it deprived them indiscrimi-
nately of the wealth and dignities they might possess, if they
were priests, and added to these punishments, perpetual
banishment for laymen, if they persisted in heresy.

Trirp Eroca.—From the Eighth Century to the Pon-
tificate of Gregory VII.

In the fourth, fifth, sixth, and seventh centuries, the ecclesi-
astics obtained many privileges from the kings and emperors,
and the judicial power became, in some cases, a right of the
episcopacy. These acquisitions, and the universal ignorance
which followed the irruption of the barbarians, were the
causes of the influence which the pontiffs of Rome acquired
over the Christian people, who were persuaded that the
authority of the pope should be without bounds, and that he
‘had supreme power both in ecclesiastical and temporal affairs.

In 726, when the Romans deposed their last duke, Basil,
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this opinion established, did not combat it, becanse it added
force to the anathemas of the church. Fortunately the
popes of the middle ages had not yet thought of com-
missioning men to ascertain if Christians were orthodox,
and the ancient discipline of the church was still pursued
towards heretics.

Felix, Bishop of Urgel, in Spain, had embraced the er-
roneous opinion, that Jesus Christ was the Son of God only
by adoption. He returned to the faith of the church, but
relapsed sometime after into the same error, although he
had abjured, before the Council of Ratisbonne, in 792, and
before Pope Adrian, at Rome. The conduct of Felix was
very reprehensible, yet Leo III. would not excommunicate
him in a simple manner, but only pronounced the anathema
against him, in case he refused to abjure a second time.
Felix afterwards abjured, and suffered no punishment but
deprivation of his dignity.

The Emperor Michel, in 811, renewed all the laws which
condemned the Manichean heretics to death. The patriarch
Nicephorus represented to him that it was better to convert
them by gentle means; but the spirit of the church at that
time was so far from moderation, that the Abbot Theo-
phanes, celebrated for his piety, does not hesitate to speak
of Nicephorus and the other counsellors of the prince, as
ignorant and ill advised ; and adds, that the maxims of Holy
Writ warrant the custom of burning heretics, because they
can never be brought to repent.

Theodore Critinus, chief of the Iconoclastes, was called
before the seventh council general, assembled at Constanti-
nople in 869. He was convicted of entertaining opinions
contrary to the doctrines of the church: he abjured his
heresy, with several of his sect, and was reconciled without
being subjected to any penance. The Emperor Basil, who
assisted at the council, honoured him with a kiss of peace.
We may conclude from this, that if the conduct of the
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Fourtu Erocsu.

The celebrated Hildebrand ascended the pontifical throne
in 1073, under the ndme of Gregoty VIL., soon after Ms
predecessor, Alexander II., had surmmoned the erhperor
Henry II1. to Rome, to be judged by & council. This
prince had beep denounced by the Saxons, who revolted
against lim, as an heretic.: As ke did not appest; the pope
excommmunicated him, released his subjects from their cath
of fidelity, and caused them to elect, in his stead; Rodelph;
Duke of Suabia.

The authority which this pope acquired over the Christian
princes greatly surpassed that of his predecessors, and al-
though it was directly contrary to the spirit of the New
Testament, his stuccesors employed every mears to pre-
serve it. :

The famous French monk Gerbert being elected pope in
999, under the nameé of Sylvester II., addressed a letter to
a1l Christians, in which he sapposes the Church of Jerusalem
speaking from its ruins, and calling upon them to take up
arms and fight boldly to deliver it from oppresion. Gre.
gory VIL also undertook, in 1074, to form a crusade
agaimst the Turks, in favour of Michael, emperor of the
east, but as he died before he could put his plan imtc exe-
cution, his successor, Utban Il., eaused it to be proclaimed
in the Council of Clermont, in the year 1095. The efforts of
the pope had an incredible success; a numerous army left
Europe soon after, which first took the city of Antioch, and
afterwards Jerusalem in 1099. The injustice of this wae,
and the other expeditions of the same kind which succeeded it,
would have disgusted all Europe, if the people had not been
prepossessed with the absurd idea, that it was meritorious
to make war for the exaltation and glory of Christianity:
the. consequences of a system so fatal to temporal power
were felt in France at the time of the Patorians, Catharians,
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CHAPTER II.

ESTABLISHMENT OF A GENERAL INQUISITION AGAINST
HERETICS IN THE THIRTEENTH CENTURY.

In 1203, Pope Innocent 1II. commissioned Peter de Castel-
nau and Ralph, two monks of the order of Citeauxz, in the
monastery of Fontfroide, in Narbonnese Gaul, to preach
against the" Albigenses. Their exhortations were not in
vain, and the success of their mission was a favourable in-
troduction to a plan which Pope Innocent had formed of in-
stituting inquisitors independent of the bishops, with the
privilege of prosecuting heretice, as delegates of the holy
see.
On the 4th of June, in the seventh year of his ponti- -
~ ficate, he named the abbot of the Citeaux, with Peter and
Ralph, apostolical legates. He gave them full powers to
prosecute all heretics; and to facilitate the execution of the
orders of the holy see, they were to engage in the name of
the pope, Philip 11., King of France, his son, and all his
nobles, to pursue the heretics, and to promise them full in-
dulgences as a recompense for their zeal. The pope invested
these monks with the necessary powers to enable them to
destroy or establish whatever they might judge to be favour-
able to their design, in the ecclesiastical provinces of Aix,
Arles, Narbonne, and other bishoprics where heretics might
be found, only recommending that they should apply to the
holy see in all difficult cases; at the same time he wrote to
Philip, requesting him to assist his commissioners, and even,
if it was necessary, to send the presumptive heir to his
throne with an army against the heretics.

The legates encountered many difficulties, because their
mission was displeasing to the bishops. The King of France
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them to unite and march against the heretics, and promising
them the same indulgences which .had been granted to the
crusaders.

The assassination of Peter de Castelnau had excited among
the Catholics the greatest indignation against his murderers.
Arnauld took advantage of this moment to execute the
orders which he had received from the pope. He com-
missioned the twelve monks, and others whom he had as-
sociated, to preach a crusade against the heretics, to grant
indulgeuces, to note those who refused to engage in the war,
to inform themselves of their oreed, to reconcile the con-
verted, and place all obstinate heretics at the disposal of
Simon de Moutfort, commander of the crusaders. This was
the beginning of the Inquisition in 1208.

Pope Innacent I11. died on the 16th of July, 1216, before
he had succeded in giving a permanent form to the delegated
inquisition : the continuation of the war against the Albi-
genses, and the opposition which he met with from the
bishops in the Council of Lateran, were perhaps the causes
of his failure. Honorius III., who succeeded him, prepared
to finish his undertaking.

Innacent had sent St. Dominic de Guzman to Toulouse,
that he might choose one of the religious orders approved
by the church, for the institution which he intended to
form. He preferred that of 8t. Augustine; and on his return
to Rome with his companions, Honorius approved his choice
on the 23nd of December, 1216.

St. Dominic also established an order for laymen. This
grder has been designated as the Third Order of Penitence,
but most commonly as the Militta of Christ, because those
who were members of it fought against heretics, and assisted
the Inquisitors in the exercise of their functions; they were
considered as part of the inquisitorial family, and on that
gecount bore the name of Familiars. This association after-
wards gave rise to that which was called the Comgrégation
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increasing in severity; but it appears that these rigorous
measures failed in effect, as the heresy of the Albigenses
penetrated even to the capital of Christendom.

CHAPTER III

OF THE ANCIENT INQUISITION OF SPAIN.

In 1233, when the Inquisition in France had received the
established form which was bestowed on it by St. Louis,
Spain was divided into four Christian kingdoms, besides the
Mahometan states. Castile was under the dominion of St.
Ferdinand, who added to it the kingdoms of Seville, Cor-
dova, and Jean. James [. governed Arragon, and con-
quered the kingdoms of Valencia and Majorca; Navarre
was possessed by Sancho VIII., who died in the course of
the following year, and left his crown to Theobald I.,
Count de Champagne and de Brie. Sancho II. reigned in
Portugal.

Many convents of Dominicans existed in these kingdoms
after the establishment of the order, but there are no au-
thentic records, to prove that the Inquisition was introduced
before the year 1232, when Pope Gregory IX. addressed a
brief to Don Esparrago, Archbishop of Tarragona, and to
his suffragan bishops, in which he most earnestly exhorted
them to oppose the progress of heresy by every means in
their power.

The archbishop sent the bull to Gil Rodriguez de Valla-
dares, first provincial of the Spanish Dominicans; he also
sent it to Don Bertrand, Bishop of Lerida, in whose diocese
the first Spanish Inquisition was founded. Pope Innocent
VI. conferred many privileges on the Dominican Friars, and
in 1254 extended the rights of the Inquisitors, and in the
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-

for the use of the holy see; the templars in Castile and "
Portugal were also arrested.

In 1314, other heretics were discovered in the kingdom of
Arragon; Bernard Puigarcos the Inquisitor-general con-:
demned several to banishment, the others were burnt. Many
who abjured were reconciled.

In 1325, F. Arnauld Burguete, Inquisitor-general of the
kingdom, arrested Pierre Durand de Baldhac, who had re-’
lapeed into heresy, and he was burnt alive in the presence of
King James, his sons, and two bishops. _

1n 1334, F. William da Costa condemned F. Bonato to the
flames, and reconciled many persons who had been perverted-
by that monk.

In 1350, Father Nicholas Roselli discovered a sectof heretics
named Begards, whose chief was named Jacques Juste; they
were all reconciled, and Jacques was condemned to perpetual
imprisonment. The bones of three of these heretics who
had died impenitent were disinterred and burnt. Roselli
being elected Cardinal in 1356, Nicholas Eymerich suc-
ceeded him. Eymerich composed a book entitled ¢‘The Guide
of Inquisitors,” in which the most minute details of his judg-
ments, and those of other Inquisitors of Arragon, are found.

It is not certain whether the provincial of Castile exer-
cised his privilege of naming Inquisitors; perhaps heresy
had not penetrated into the states of Castile.

Pope Gregory 1X. dying in 1378, the Romans named
Urban V1. as his successor ; but several cardinals assembled
out of Rome, and elected another pope under the name of
Clement VII.

The great schism .of the West then began, and lasted till
the election of Martin V., in the Council General of Con-
stance in 1417, where Don Gil Mugnoz, who had been
elected as Clement VIIL, renounced the papacy. This re-’
vplution influenced the state of the Inquisition as much as
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Santiago, was composed of the kingdom of Leon, Galicia,
and the Asturias of Oviedo; and the third, that of Portugal,
extended over all the dominions of the monarch. '

Martin V. established a.provincial Inquisition at Valen-
cia, in 1420, at the request of Alphonso V., King of Arra-
gon; hitherto commissioners had only been sent there.

The inquisitor of Arragon, in 1441, was F. Michael Ferriz,
and that of Valencia, F. Martin Trilles, who reconciled in
their districts several Wickliffites; and condemned many
others to be burnt. Several inquisitors succeeded these till
1474, when Isabella, wife of Ferdinand of Arragon, King
of Sicily, ascended the throne of Castile, after the death
of Henry IV. her brother. John II., King of Arragon,
dying in 1479, his son, Ferdinand, united that kingdom to
Sicily; he soon after conquered the kingdom of Grenada,
which belonged to the Moors, and lastly that of Navarre,
which was secured to him by the capitulation of the inha-
bitants.

CHAPTER 1V.

OF THE GOVERNMNET OF THE OLD INQUISITION.

AvtHOoUuGH the Popes, in establishing the Inquisition, had
only proposed to punish the crime of heresy, yet the inqui-
sitors were commissioned to pursue those Christians who
were only suspected, because it was the only means of dis- .
covering those who were really guilty. There were many
crimes which came under the jurisdiction of a civil judge,
which the Popes considered no one could be guilty of with.
out being tainted with a false doctrine, and although they
were pursued by secular tribunals, the inquisitors were en-
joined to consider the accused as suspected of heresy, and to
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seeking absolution, or performing the penance which had
been imposed. The Popes affirmed that no Catholie, irre-
proachable in his faith, could live with eo much indifference
under the censure of the church,
. Schism was the sixth case where heresy was suspected; it
may exist either without heresy or with it. To the first
class belongs all schismgtics, who admit the articles of the
faith, but deny the authority of the Pope, as head of the
Catholic church, and vicar of “Jesus Christ. The second is
eomposed of those who hold the same opinions as the first,
and also refuse to believe in some of the articles, sach as the
Greeks, who hold that the Holy Ghost proceeds only from
the Father, and not from the Son.
. The Inquisition also proceeded against concealers, fa~
vourers, and adherents of heretics, as being suspected of
professing the same opinions. The seventh class was com-
posed of all those who opposed the Inquisition, and pre-
vented the inquisitors from exercising their functions.
- The eighth class comprehended those nobles whe refused
to take an oath to drive the heretics from their states. The
ninth class consisted of governors of kingdoms, provinces
and towns, who did not defend the church against heretics,
when they were required by the Inquisition. The tenth class
comprised those who refused to repeal the statutes in force
in towns and cities, when they were contrary to the measures
decreed by the holy office. The eleventh class of sus-
pected persons, were all lawyers, notaries, and other persons
belonging to the law, who assisted heretics by their advice,
or concealed papers, records, and other writings, which
omight make their errors, dwellings, or stations known. In
the twelfth class of suspeoted, were those persons who have
given ecclesiastical sepulture to known heretics. Those who
refused to take an oath 'in the trials of heretics when they
were required to do it, were also liable to suspicion. The
fougteenth class, were deceased persons who had been de-
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the priests who were associated in- their labours, were gene-
rally canons, or provided with benefices. . But when' the
inquisitors began to make journeys accompanied by recorders,
alguazils, and an armed force, the Pope decreed that all their
expenses should be defrayed by the bishops, on the pretence
that the inquisitors laboured for the destruction of heresy in
their dioceses. ' This measure displeased the bishops, still
more as they were deprived of part of their authority. The
expenses of the Inquisition were afterwards defrayed by the
fines and confiscations of the condemned heretics: these re-
sources were the only funds of the holy office ; it never pos-
sessed any fixed revenue. ’

Of the Manner of Proceeding in the Tribunals of the Old
Inquisition.

When a priest was appointed an inquisitor by the Pope,
or by a delegate of the holy see, he wrote to the king, who
issued a royal mandate to all the tribunals of the towns
where the inquisitor would pass to perform his office, com-
manding them, on pain of the most severe penaltieé, to arrest
all the persons whom he should mark as heretics, or sus-
pected of heresy, and to execute the judgments passed
upon them. The same order obliged the magistrates to fur-
nish the inquisitor and his attendants with a lodging, and to
protect them from insult and every inconvenience. - When
the inquisitor arrived at the town where he intended to enter
upon his office, he officially informed the magistrate, and re-
quired his attendance, fixing the time and place.

- The commander of the town presented himself before the
delegate, and took an oath to put in force all the laws
against heretics. If the officer or magistrate refused to obey,
the inquisitor excommunicated him ; if he made no difficulty,
the inquisitor appointed a day for the people to meet in the
church, when he preached, and read an edict which com-

A
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was asked if he would abjure the heresy of which he acknow-
ledged himself guilty. If he consented, he was reconciled,
and the canonical penance was imposed on him with some
other punishment ; if he refused, he was declared an obsti-
nate heretic, and was delivered up to secular justice, with a
copy of his sentence. :
- If the accused denied the charge, and imdertook to de-
fend himself, a copy of the process was given to him, but
without the names of the accuser or the witnesses, and with
every circumstance omitted which might lead to their dis-
covery.

The accused was asked if he had enemies, and if he knew
their motives for hating him. He was also permitted to de-
clare that he suspected any particular person of wishing to
ruin him. In either case the proof was admitted, and the
inquisitor considered it in passing judgment. The inquisis
tor sometimes asked the accused if he knew certain persons;
these individuals were the accusers and witnesses ; if he re.
plied in the negative, he could not afterwards challenge them
as enemies ; in the course of time, every one concluded that
these persons were the accuser, and the witnesses and the
custom was abandoned. The accused person was also per-
mitted to appeal to the Pope, who rejected or admitted his
appeal, according to the rules of justice. There was no
regular proceeding before the Inguisition, and the judges did
not fix a time to establish the proof of the facts, After the
replies and defence of the accused, the inquisitor and the
bishop of the diocese, or their delegates, proceeded to pass
sentence without any other formalities. If the accused de-
nied the charges, although he was convicted or strongly
suspected, he was tortured to force him to confess his
crime ; or if it was thought that there was no necessity for it,
the judges proceeded to pass the final sentence.

If the crime imputed to the accused was not proved, he
was acquitted, and & copy of the declaration given to him,
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fold was slightly suspected of having fallen into it, and read
. the process to the people; he concluded by saying, that the
culprit was ready to abjure. A cross and the Bible was
given to the offender, who read his abjuration, and signed it,
if he could write ; the inquisitor then gave him absolution,
and imposed upon him those penances which were thought
most useful.

When the suspicion of heresy was violent, the auto-da-fé
took place on a Sunday, or festival-day, and all the other
churches were closed, that the concourse of people might be
greater in that where the ceremony was to be performed.
The offender was warned, not only to be a good Catholic
for the future, but to conduct himself in such a manner as.
not to be accused a second time ; as, if he relapsed, he would
suffer capital punishment, although he might abjure and be
reconciled. If the offender was suspected in the highest
degree, he was treated as an heretic, and wore the habit of
a penitent during the ceremony; it was composed of brown
stuff, with a scapulary which had two yellow crosses fastened
on it.

If the suspected person was to clear himself from calumny
by the canonical method, the ceremony was also announced
before it took place, and he was obliged to take an oath
that he was not an heretic, and to produce twelve witnesses
who had known him for the last ten years, to swear that
they believed his affirmation to be true. He then abjured
all heresies.

If the accused was repentant, and demanded to be recon-
ciled after having relapsed, he was to be delivered over to
secular justice, and was destined to suffer capital punishment.
The inquisitors, after having passed judgment on him, en-
gaged some priests, who were in their confidence, to inform
him of his situation, and induce him to demand the sacra-
ment of penance and the communion. When these ministers
had passed two or three days with the prisoner, an auto-
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corruption of saco bendito. Its real name in Spanish was.
Zamarra. The first became the common name, because the
penitential habit was called sac in the Jewish history.

Before the thirteenth century it was the custom to bless
the sac which was worn in a public penance, and hence it
derived the epithet of bendito (blessed). It was a close
tunic, made like the cassock of a priest, with crosses of a dif-
ferent colour affixed to the breast. St. Dominic and the
other inquisitors caused the reconciled heretics to wear these
crosses, as a protection against the Catholics who massacred
all known heretics, although they might be unarmed. The-
reconciled heretics wore two crosses to distinguish them froma
pure Catholics, who only wore one as crusaders.

CHAPTER V.

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE MODERN INQUISITION IN
SPAIN.

Tae state of the Inquisition in the kingdom of Arragon, at
the accession of Ferdinand and Isabella, has been shewn in
a preceding chapter. This tribunal was then introduced
- into the kingdom of Castile, after having been reformed by
statutes and regulations so severe, that the Arragonese vio-
lently resisted the fresh burdens which were imposed on
them

It is the Inquisition which has reigned in Spain since the
year 1481, which was destroyed to the satisfaction of all
Europe, and which has since been re-esubhshed to the gnet‘
of all enlightened Spaniards.

The war against the Albigenses was the ﬁrst cause of the
establishment of the, Inquisition, and the pretended neces«

sity of punishing the apostasy of the newly-converted Spa-
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it is to these projects, concealed under the appearance of
zeal for religion, that the Inquisition of Spain owes its
origin.

In 1477, Philip de Barbaris, inquisitor of the kingdom of -
Sicily, went to Seville to obtain from Ferdinand and Isabella
the confirmation of a privilege granted in 1233, by the
Emperor Frederic, which gave to the Inquisition of Sicily,
the right of seizing a third part of the property of con-
demned heretics. Barbaris, through zeal for the interests of
the Pope, endeavoured to persuade the king that the Christian
religion derived the greatest advantages from the fear which
the judgments of the Inquisition inspired. He was eagerly
seconded by Alphonso de Hojida, prior of the convent of
Dominicans at Seville; and Nicholas Franco, the nuncio
of the Pope at the court of Spain. A report was then
spread in different parts of the kingdom that the New Chris-
tians, with the unbaptized Jews, insulted the imagesof
Jesus Christ, and had even crucified Christian children in
mockery of his sufferings on the cross. Ferdinand was
willing to receive the Inquisition into his states: the only
obstacle was the refusal of Isabella; that excellent queen
could not approve of measures so contrary to the gentleness
of her character, but her consent was obtained by alarming
her conscience ; she was told that it became a religious duty
to adopt them in the present circumstances.

Isabella suffered herself to be led away by the represen-
tations of her council, and commissioned her ambassador
at Rome, Don Francis de Santillan, Bishop of Osma, to
solicit in her name a bull for the establishment of the Inqui-
sition in Castile, which was granted in 1478. It authorized
Ferdinand and Isabella to name the priests who were to be
commissioned to discover in their states all heretics, apo-
states, and favourers of these crimes. As this measure was dis-
pleasing to Isabella, her council, by her order, suspended the
execution of the bull until less seyere remedies had been tried.
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Frederic. The Castilians were so far from being pleased -
at the introduction of the Inquisition, that the ingnisitors, on
their arrival at Seville, found it impossible to collect the
small mumber of persons necessary to the performance of
their functions, although they shewed their commission ; and
the Council of Spain was obliged to issue another order, thas
the prefect and others authorities of Seville, and the diocese
of Cadiz, should assist the inquisitors in their installation ;
this order. was also interpreted in such a manner that it was
only executed in those towns which belonged to the queea.
The New Christians then immediately emigrated into the
states of the Duke de Medina Sidonia, the Marquis of
Cudiz, the Count D’Arcos, and other nobles ; and the new
tribunal declared that their heresy was proved by theiw
emigration.

The inquisitors established their tribunal in the Dominican
convent of St. Paul at Seville, and on the 2nd of January,
1481, they issued their first edict, which commanded the
Marquis of Cadiz, the Count D’Arcos, and all grandees of
Spain, to seize the persons of the emigrants within fifteen
days; and to send them under an escort to Seville, and seques-
trate their property, on pain of excommunication, besides
the other punishments to which they would be liable as
favourers of heresy. The number of prisoners was soon
so considerable, that the convent assigned to the inquisitors
was not sufficlently large to contain them, and the tribunal
was removed to the Castle de Triana, situated near
Seville.

The inquisitors soon published a second edict, named the
Edict of Grace, to engage those who had apostatized to sur-
render themselves voluntarily : it promised that if they came
with true repentance, their property should not be confls-
cated, and they should receive absolution; but if, on the
contrary, they suffered the time of grace to elapse, or were
denounced by others, they would be prosecuted with.all the
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judgments passed in Spain should be definitive and without
appeal to Rome, and complained at the same time that many
persons accused her of being influenced in all that she did
for the tribunal by a desire to seize the wealth of thé con--
demned. :
* When Sixtus IV, received this letter, he had just learnt
that his bulls had met with some resistance in Sicily from the
viceroy and other magistrates, and artfully “took advantage
of Isabella’s request, to confirm his authority in that king-
dom. He replied to the queen, and praised her zeal for the
Inquisition, appeased her scruples of conscience in regard to
the confiscations, and assured her that he would have com-
plied with all her demands, if the cardinals, and those charged
with the administration of affairs, had not found insarmount-
able difficulties in so doing. He exhorted her to maintain
the Inquisition in her states, and above all to take proper
measures that the apostolical bulls should be received and
executed in Sicily.
The councillors, to whom the Pope had submitted the
“demands of Isabella, approved of the creation of an apos-
tolical judge of appeal in Spain; and proposed at the same
time that no person descended from the -Jews, either by the
male or female side, should be admitted among the inquisi-
torial judges. Don Inigo Manriquez was named sole judge
_of appeals in all matters of faith. :
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and the members of the royal council. This assembly was
held at Seville, and published the first laws of the Spanish
tribunal under the name of instructions in 1484. These in-
structions were divided into twenty-eight articles.

.The lst article regulated the manner in which the esta-
blishment of the Inquisition should be announced in the
country where it was to be introduced. .

. The 2nd article commanded, that an edict should be pub-
lished, accompanied with censures against those who did not
accuse themselves voluntarily during the term of grace.

By the 3rd a delay of thirty days was appointed for here-
tics to declare themselves.

The 4th regulated that all voluntary confessions should
be written in the presence of .the inquisitors and a recorder. .

The 5th, that absolution should not be given secretly to
any individual voluntarily confessing, unless no person was
acquainted with his crime.

The 6th ordained, that part of the penance of a reconciled
heretic should consist in being deprived of all honourable
employments, and of the use of gold, silver, pearls, silk, and
fine wool. ’

By the 7th article, pecuniary penalties were imposed on
all who made a voluntary confession.

By the 8th, the person who accused himself after the term
of grace could not be exempted from the punishment of
confiscation.

The 9th article decreed that if persons under twenty years
of age accuse themselves after the term of grace, and it is
proved that they were drawn into error by thelr parents,
a slight punishment shall be inflicted.

The 10th obliged the inquisitors to declare, in their act
‘of reconciliation, the exact time when the offender fell into
heresy; that the portion of property to be confiscated might
be ascertained.

The 11th article decreed, that if a heretic, detained in
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be judged and condemned as such, his body disinterred and
burnt, and his property confiscated.

By the 21st, the inquisitors were eommandéd to extend
their jurisdiction over the vamals of nobles ; if tbey refused
to permit it, they were to be censured.

The 22nd decreed, that if 2 man, burnt as an heretic, left
children'under age, a portion of their fathet’s property shonld
be granted to them under the title of alms, and the inquisitors
shall be obliged to confide their education to proper persons.

By the 23rd, if an heretic, reconciled during the term of
grace, without having incurred the punishment of confisca-
tion, possessed property belonging to a conrdemned person,
this property was not to be included in the pardon.

- The 24th obliged the reconciled to give his Clmstmn
slaves their liberty, when his property was not confiscated;
if the king granted the pardon on that condition.

" The 25th prohibited the inquisitors, and other persons at-
tached to the tribunal, from receiving presents, on pain of
excommunication, deprivation of their employments, restitu-
tion, and a penalty of twice the value of the gifts received.

The 26th recommends to the officers of the Imquisition to
live in peace together.

The 27th commands that they shall carefully watch the
conduct of their inferior officers. .
The 28th and last, commits to the prudence of the inqui-
tors the discussion of all points not mentioned in the fore-

going articles.

Ferdimand having convoked at Tarazona the Cortes of his
kingdom of Arragon, decreed that the Inquisition should be
reformed in a privy council. After this resolution, Torque-
mada named Gaspard Juglar, a dominican, and Peter Ar-
bués d’Epila, as inquisitors for the archbishopric of Sara-
gossa. A royal ordinance commanded all the authorities to
aid and assist them in their office, and the magistrate known
by the name of Chief Justice of Arragon, took the oath with
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scended from Jewish ancestors on the female side, took upon
himself the direction of the enterprise. The assassination was
confided to- John d’ Esperaindeo, to Vidal d’Uranso, his ser-
vant, to Matthew Ram, Tristande de Leonis, Anthony Gran,
and Bernard Leofante. They failed several times in their
attempts, as. Peter A_rbués, being informed of their design,
took the necessary precautions to secure his life. ’
It appears, from the examination of some of the murderers,
that the inquisitor wore a coat of mail under his vest, and
a kind of helmet covered with a cap. He was at last assas-
sinated iu the metropolitan church during the performance of
the matins, on the 15th of November, 1485. Vidald’Uranso
wounded him so severely in the back of the neck, that he died
two days after. The next day the murder was known in the
town, but its effects were different from what had been ex-
pected, for all the Old Christians, or those who were not of
Jewish origin, persuaded that the New Chkristians had com-
mitted the crime, assembled to pursue them and revenge
the death of the inquisitor. The disturbance was violent,
and its consequences would have been terrible, if the young
archbishop, Don Alphonso of Arragon, had not shewn him-
self, and assured the multitude that the criminal should be
punished. Policy inspired Ferdinand and Isabella with the
idea of honouring the memory of Arbués with a solemnity
which contributed to make him pass for a saint, and caused
a particular worship to be addressed to him. This took
place long after, when Pope Alexander VII. had beatified
him as a martyr, in 1664. A magnificent monument was
erected to his memory, by Ferdinand and Isabella. While
the sovereigns were occupied in honouring the remains of
Peter Arbués, the inquisitors of Saragossa were labouring
without ceasing to discover the authors and accomplices of
his murder, and to punish them as Judaic heretics and ene-
mies to the holy office. It would be difficult to enumerate
the number of families plunged into misery through their
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tions at Teruel were only quelled in 1485, by extreme seve-
rity. The town and bishopric of Lerida, and other towna
in Catalonia, obstinately resisted the establishment of the
reform, and were not reduced to obedience until 1487. Bar-
celona refused to acknowledge Torquemada or any of his
delegates, on account of a privilege which it possessed of
having an inquisitor with a special title. The king applied
to the Pope, who instituted Torquemada special inquisitor
of the town and bishopric of Barcelona, with the power of
appointing others to the office. The king was obliged to.
employ the same method with the inhabitauts of Majorca
and those of Sardinia, who did not receive the Inquisition
until 1490 and 1492. It is an incontestable fact in the his-
tory of the Spanish Inquisition, that it was introduced en-
tirely against the consent of the provinces, and only by the
influence of the Dominican monks.

CHAPTER VII.

.
ADDITIONAL ACTS TO THE FIRST CONSTITUTION OF THR
HOLY OFFICE; CONSEQUENCES OF THEM, AND APPEALS
TO ROME AGAINST THEM,

Tags inquisitor-general judged it necessary to augment the
laws of the holy office; and added eleven new articles to
them: the substance of them is as follows : —

1st. That each inferior tribunal-should consist of two in-
quisitors as civilians, an attorney, an alguazil, a recorder and
other persons, if necessary, who were to receive a fixed
salary. The same article prohibits the admission of the ser
vants or creatures of the inquisitors into the tribunal.

2nd. That if any of the persons employed should receive
presents from the accused or his family, he should be imme-
diately deprived of his office.
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fiscations had been conmsiderable. Ferdinand and lsabella
often gave the property of the condemned persons to their
wives and children, granted them pensions on the property,
or a certain sum to be paid by the receiver-general.

These sums, and the care which people took to conceal their
effects, diminished the funds of the Inquisition; besides which,
most of the New Christians were merchants or artisans, and
it often happened that the receivers who paid the royal
gifts were unable to pay the salaries of the inquisitors. Tor-
quemada, in 1488, decreed that the royal gifts should not be
paid, until the salaries and other expenses of the Inquisition
had been defrayed, and wrote to request the approbation of
Ferdinand, who refused it. The inquisitor-general was then
obliged to permit the inquisitors to impose pecuniary penal-
ties on reconciled persons (which permission was afterwards
revoked.) As experience shewed that the revenue of the
Inquisition was never sufficient, on account of the great num-
ber of prisoners which it was obliged to maintain, and the
expenses incurred by the agent at Rome, Ferdinand and Isa-
bella requested the Pope to place at the disposal of the holy
office, a prebendary in each cathedral in their dominions ;
to which he consented in 1501. The receivers finding them-
selves unable to defray the expenses of the administration,
demanded restitution of many persons whom they accused of
retaining estates belonging to the Inquisition. This conduct
caused so many complaints, that the council of the Inquisition
was obliged to prohibit the receivers from molesting the pro-
prietors of estates which had been sold before the year 1479.
It is not surprising that the receivers should ‘employ such
measures to augment the revenue, when the inquisitors ‘con-
tributed to impoverish it themselves, by disposing of it ac-
cording to their caprices, and without the permission of the
sovereigns. This abuse rose to such a height, that Ferdinand
and Isabella complained to the Pope, who prohibited the in-
quisitors from disposing of their revenues without an order
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The 9th article decrees, that if there are papers in the
archives of a tribunal which may be of use to another, the
expenses incurred in sending them shall be paid by it..

The 10th article declares, that as there are not prisons
enough for all who are condemned to perpetual imprison.
ment, they shall be permitted to remain in their houses, but
not to go out on pain of being punished with the utmost
severity.

In the 1lth, the inquisitors are recommended to execute
rigorously all those laws which prohibit the children and
grandchildren of condemned persons from exercising any
honourable employment, and from wearing any garment of
silk, or fine wool, or any ornament of gold, silver, or precious
stones.

The 12th article decrees, that males cannot be admitted
to reconciliation and abjuration before the age of fourteen
years, or females before that of twelve ; if they had abjured
before that age, a ratification was necessary.

The 13th prohibited the receivers from paying the royal
gifts, until the expenses of the Inquisition were defrayed.

The 14th declares, that the holy office should petition the
sovereigns to build a prison in each town where it was estas
blished, for the reception of those who might be condemned
to that punishment. It also recommends that the cells should
be arranged in such a manner, that the prisoners might exer.
cise their respective professions, and thus maintain themselves,

The 15th and last article obliged the notaries, fiscals, and
alguazils; and other oﬂicers of the Inquisition, to perform
their functions in person.

The inquisitor-general found that these regulations were
not sufficient to prevent abuses; he therefore convoked &
junta of inquisitors at Toledo. The decrees of this assembly
were published at Avila in 1498, and were as follows :—

First, that each tribunal should be composed of two in.
quisitors, one a civilian, the other a theologian. They were
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.- Eleventhly, that the notary should receive the testimony
of witnesses only in the presence of an inquisitor, and that
the two priests commissioned to prove the truth of the depo-~
sition should not belong to the tribunal.

" Twelfthly, that the inquisitor should establish the In-
qumuon in all towns where it did not already exist.

Thirteenthly, that in all difficult cases tbe mqumeors uhOuld
consult the council. _

Fourteenthly, that the women should have a prison sepa-
rated from that of the men. .

Fifteenthly, that the officers of the tribunal should per-
form their functions six hours in a day, and that they should
attend the inquisitors whenever they were required. .

Sixteenthly, that after the inquisitors had received the
oath of the witnesses in presence of the fiscal, he should be
obliged to retire.

Besides these ordinances, Torquemada established several
particular regulations for each individual belonging to the
tribunal : all the persons employed were obliged to take an
oath that they would not reveal anything they might see or
hear : the inquisitor was not allowed to remain alone with
the prisoner; the gacler could not allow any person to.
speak with him, and was obliged to examine if any writings
were concealed in the food which was given him. These
were the last regulations framed by Torquemada, but Diego
Deza, his successor, published a fifth instruction at Seville,
in 1500. .

Such were the laws of the holy office in Spain. This
code caused the emigration of more than a hundred thousand
families useful to the state, and the loss of many millions of
francs which were spent at the court of Rome, either for the
bulls which it expedited, or by those who repaired thither
to solicit their absolution from the Popes. The holy see
was far from complaining of this practice, as it brought im-
mense sums to the treasury, and no person who presented
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It was in the year 1492 that the unbaptized Jews were
expelled from Spain. They were accused of persuading
those of their nation who had become Christians to aposta~
tize, and of crucifying children on Good-Friday in mockery
of the Saviour of the world, and of many other offences of
the same nature. The Jewish physicians, surgeons, and
apothecaries, were also accused of having taken advantage
of their professions, to cause the death of a great number of
Christians, and among others, that of Henry III., which was
attributed to his physician, D. Mair.

The Jews, in order to avert the danger which threatened
them, offered to supply Ferdinand with thirty thousand
pieces of silver to carry on the war against Grenada ; they
promised to live peaceably, to comply with the regulations
formed for them, in retiring to their houses in the quarters
assigned to them before night, and in renouncing all profes-
sions which were reserved for the Christians. Ferdinand
and Isabella were willing to listen to these propositions; but _
Torquemada being informed of their inclinations, had the
boldness to appear before them with a crucifix in his hand,
and to address them in these words :—

¢ Judas sold his master for thirty pieces of silver, your
highnesses are about to do the same for thirty thousand ;
behold him, take him, and hasten to sell him.”

The fanaticism of the Dominican wrought a sudden change
in the minds of the sovereigns, and they issued a decree on the
31st of March 1492, by which all the Jews were compelled
to quit Spain before the 3lst of July ensuing, on pain of
death, and the confiscation of their property ; the decree
also prohibited Christians from receiving them into their
houses after that period. They were permitted to sell their
stock, to carry away their furniture and other effects, exoept
gold and silver, for which they were to accept letters of
change, or any merchandise not prohibited.

Torquemads commimioned all preachers ta exhort them
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put two on their trial,namely; Don Juan Arias Davila, Bishop
of Segovia; and Don Pedro de Aranda, Bishop of Calahorra.
He made his resolution known to the Pope, who informed
him that his predecessor, Boniface VIII., had prohibited the
Inquisition from proceeding against bishops, archbishops, or
cardinals, without an apostolical commission; but if any
prelate was accused of heresy, he charged Torquemada to
send him a copy of the informations, that he mxght decxde on
the method to be pursued. :

Torquemada immediately began to take secret informa-
tions of the conduct of the bishops, and the Pope sent An-
tonio Palavicini, Bishop of Tournai, to Spain, with the title
of apostolical nuncio, when he received the informations of
Torquemada, and returned to Rome, where the two bishops
were cited to appear and defend themselves. Don Juan
Arias Davila was the son of Diego Arias Davila, who was of
Jewish origin, and was baptized after the preaching of St.
Vincent Ferrier ; he afterwards became chief financier to the
kings John II. and Henry IV. Henry IV. ennobled him,
and gave him the lordship of the Castle of Pugnonrostro,and
several other places which form the countship of Pugnon-
rostro, and the title of Grandee of Spain, which has been
possessed by his descendants from the time of Pedro Arias
Davila, the first count, and brother to the bishop, and who
was also chief financier to Henry IV. and Ferdinand V. The
rank of the bishop did not intimidate Torquemada ; infor-
mations were taken by his order, and the result was, that
Diego Arias Davila died a Judaic heretic; the object which
the inquisitor-general had in view, was to condemn his me-
mory, confiscate his property, and to disinter his body, in
order to burn it with his effigy. As, in all affairs of this
nature, the children are cited to appear, Don Juan Arias
Davila was obliged to repair to Rome in 1490, to defend his
father and himself, although he had arrived at a great age,
and had been Bishop of Segovia thirty years. He was well
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him, on different points. The judges made their report to
the Pope, in a secret consistory, in 1498, who, with the car-
dinals, condemned the bishop to be deprived of his offices
and benefices, to be degraded from his episcopal dignity,
and reduced to the rank of a simple lJayman. He was con-
fined in the Castle of Santangelo, where he died some time
after.

Thomas de Torquemada, first inquisitor-general of Spain,
died the 16th of November, 1498. The miseries which were
the consequences of the system which he adopted, and recom-
mended to his suceessors, justify the general hatred which fol-
lowed him to the tomb, and compelled him to take precautions
for his personal safety. Ferdinand and Isabella permitted him
to use an escort of fifty famtliars of the Inquisition on horse-
back, and two hundred others on foot, whenever he travelled.
He also kept the horn of & unicorn on his table, which was
supposed to discover and neutralize poisons. It is not sur-
prising that many should have conspired against his life,
when his cruel administration is considered : the Pope him-
self was alarmed at his barbarity, and the complaints which

_were made against him ; and Torquemada was obliged to
send his colleague, Antonio Badoja, three times to Rome, to
defend him against the accusations of his enemies.

At last Alexander VI., weary of the continual clamours
of which he was the object, resolved to deprive bim of his
dignity, but was deterred from so doing through considera-
tion for the Court of Spain. He therefore expediteda brief
in 1494, saying, that as Torquemada had arrived at a great
age, and suffered from many infirmities, he had named foyr
mquisitors-general, invested with the same powers which he
possessed.

The familiars of the holy office, who were employed as
the hody-guard of the inquisitor-general, were the successors
of the familiars of the Old Inquisition. They were commis-
sioned to purene the heretics, and persons suspected of
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heresy, to assist the officers of the tribunal in taking them to
prison, and to do all that the inquisitors might require.

It has been shewn that the Spaniards received the Inqui.
sition with reluctance; but as they were obliged to en-
dure it when once established, some prudent persons thought
they should be more secure from the danger of incurring
suspicion, if they appeared devoted to the cause, which was
the reason why several illustrious gentlemen offered.to be-
come familiars of the holy office, and were admitted into the
congregation of St, Peter. Their example was followed by
the inferior classes, and encouraged by Ferdinand and Isa-
bella, who bestowed several immunities and privileges ‘on
them,

CHAPTER IX.

OF THE PROCEDURE OF THE MODERN INQUISITION.

Arver the death of the inquisitor-general, Torquemada,
Ferdinand and Isabella proposed Don Diego Deza, a Domi-
nican, to the Pope, as his successor. Deza was Bishop of
Jaen, and afterwards became Archbishop of Seville. The
Pope signed his bulls of confirmation on the 1st of December,
1498, but limited his authority to the affairs of the kingdom
of Castile. Deza was displeased at a restriction which did
not exist in the bulls of his two colleagues, and refused to
acoept the nomination, until the Pope invested him with the
same power over Arragon, in a bull, in 1499. The new
inquisitor-general did not shew less severity in the exercise
of his office than his predecessor ; but, before I enter on this
part of the history, it is necessary to give some account of
the mode of proceeding of the holy office, as it was the
work of Torquemada, the effect of the laws which he formed
and preperly belongs to his history.
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The processes in the Inquisition began by a denunciation,
or some other information, such as a discovery accidentally
made before the tribunal in another trial. When the de-
nunciation is signed, it takes the form of a declaration, in
which the informer, after having sworn to the truth of his
deposition, designates those persons whom he presumes, or
believes, to have anything to depose against the accused
person. These persons are then heard, and their depositions,
with that" of the:first witness, form the summary of the tn.
JSormation, or the preparatory instruction. .

Inquiry.

When the tribunal judged that the actions or words which
were denounced were sufficient to warrant an inquiry to
establish the proofs, the persons who had been cited as
knowing the object of the declaration were examined, and
were obliged to take an oath not to reveal the questions
which were put to them. None of the witnesses were in-
formed of the subject on which they were to make their
depositions ; they were only asked in general terms, if they
had ever seen or heard anything whick was, or appeared,
contrary to the Catholic faith, or the rights of the Inqui-
sition.

Personal experience has shewn me that the witnesses who
were ignorant of the cause of their citation often recol-
lected circumstances entirely foreign to the subject, which
they made known, and were then interrogated as if their
examination had no other object; this accidental deposition
served instead of a denunciation, and a new process was
commenced.

The declarations were written down by the commissary or
notary, who usually aggravated the denunciation, as much as
the arbitrary interpretation of the improper or equivocal
expressions used by ignorant persons would permit. The
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of heresy, but of some crime which the Inquisition has the
privilege of punishing : the second are destined for those ser-
vants of the holy office who have committed some crime
in the exercise of their functions, without incurring suspicion
of heresy. Those who are detained in these prisons are
permitted to commmnicate with others, unless they are con-
demned to solitary confinement. The secret prisons are
those where all heretics, or persons suspected of heresy, are
confined ; they can only communicate with the judges of the
tribunal.

These prisons are not, as they have been represented,
damp, dirty, and unhealthy; they are vaulted chambers,
well lighted, not damp, and large enough for a person to
take some exercise in. The real horrors of the prisons are,
that no one can enter them without becoming infamous in
public opinion ; and the solitude and the darkness to which
the prisoner is condemned for fifteen hours in the day during
the winter, as he is not allowed light before the hour of seven
in the morning, or after four in the evening. Some authors
have stated, that the prisoners were chained; these means
are only employed on extraordinary occasions, and to pre-
vent them from destroying themselves.

First Audiences.

In the three first days following the imprisonment of the
culprit, he had three audiences of monstion, or caution,
- recommending him to speak the truth, without eoncealing
anything that he has done or said, or that he can impute to
others, contrary to the faith. He was told that if he fol-
lowed this recommendation he would be treated leniently ;
but in the contrary case, he would be proceeded against
with severity. Until then the prisoner is ignorant of the
cause of his arrest; he is only told that no person is taken
to the prisons of the holy office without sufficient proof that
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they were proved; and what is still more illegal, he does
not reduce the articles of his requisition to the number of
facts, but following the practice in forming the extracts of
the propositions for the act of qualification, he multiplies
them according to the variations in the statements; so that
an accusation which ought to be reduced to one point, con-~
tains five or six charges, which appear to indicate that the
accused has advanced so many heretical opinions on different
occasions, without any foundation but the different manner
in which each witness relates the conversation.

This mode of proceeding produces the worst effects; it
confuses the prisoner where the charges are read to him, and
if he has not coolness and intelligence, he imagines that several
erimes are imputed to him, and replies, for instance, to the
third article, and relates the facts in different words from
those which he employed in answering the second ; this va-
riation taking place in each article, he sometimes contradicts
himself, and thus furnishes the fiscal with fresh accusations
against him, for he is accused of not adhering to truth in his
replies. :

Torture.

Although the prisoner has confessed all that the witnesses
deposed against him in the first audiences, yet the fiscal
terminates his requisition by saying, that he is guilty of
concealment and denial, that he is, therefore, impenitent
and obstinate, and demands that the question shall be applied
to the accused.

It is true, that it is so long since torture has been inflicted
by the inquisitors, that the custom may be looked upon as
abolished, and the fiscal only makes the demand in con-
formity to the example of his predecessors, yet it is equally
cruel to make the prisoners fear it.

In former times, if the inquisitors judged that the prisoner
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the replies is taken. He is then tequired to select the
lawyer whom he wishes to employ fot his defeticé; from thé
list of those belonging to the holy office. Some prisoners
required pertission to seek a deferider out of the tribtnial, &
pretension which is not contrary to ahy law, particnlarly if
the lawyer has taken an oath of secrecy; yet this simpld
and natural right has seldom beeh granted by the inquls
sitors. : ' -

It is of little eonseqience to the atcused td be deferded
by an able inan; as the lawyer is ot allowed to see¢ the bl
ginal process, or to communieate with his clietit. Ofie of thi®
notaries draws up a copy of the result of the preliminary
instruction, in which he reports the deposition of the wit-
nesses, without menticning their names, or the circumstances
of time or place, and (what is mioté extracidindry) without
stating what has been said in defence of the prisoner. He
entirely omits the declarations of -the pérsons who, hiaving
been summoned and interrogated by the tribiinal, have per-
sisted in affitming that they knéw nothing of thé attbject of
which they were examined. This extract is dccoin patiied by
the censure of the gualifiers, and thié deiiid of the fiscal fof
the examination, and the accusation, and the repliés of the
accused. This is all that is giveii to the defender in thé
audience-chamber, where the itiquisitors have comimanded
him to attend. He is then obliged to promise to deferid the
prisoner if he thinks that it is just to do so; but, in the con:
trary casé, that he will use all the means in his power t5
persaade him to solicit his pardoi of the tribusial, by a
sincere confession of his sins, and a demand to be recon¢iled
to the church.

Those who have acquired any experience in criminal pro-
ceedings, are aware of the great advantages which may be
derived from the comparison of the testimony of the wit-
nesses in the defence of the accused ; but the direction given
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. As the prisoner is not acquainted with the proceedings, he
often accuses persons who have not been summoned as wit-
nesses. The article in which they are mentioned is passed
over with those of the witnesses who have not deposed
against him, or who have spoken in his favour. Thus he
encounters his accusers only by chance. : :

. It sometimes happens that the procurator-ﬂscal secretly ob-
tmns the proof of the morality of the witnesses, in order to
destroy the effect of the challenge; and as this is more easy
to accomplish than the measures taken by the prisoner, they
are generally rendered useless, because in doubtful cases
the inquisitors are always disposed to depend upon the
witness, if he is not known to be the declared enemy of the
acoused. ,

Publication of the Proofs.

When the proof is established, the tribunal publishes the
state of the trial, the depositions, and the act of judgment.
But these terms are not to be understood in the common
sense, since the publication was only an unfaithful copy of
the declarations and other facts contained in the extract
formed for the use of the defender. A secretary reads it to
the prisoner in the presence of the inquisitors; after each
article he asks him if he acknowledges the truth of what he
has just heard ; he then reads the declarations, and if the
Pprisoner has not yet alleged anythxng against the witnesses,
that privilege is given him, because after hearing the de-
position he is generally able to designate the person who has
. made it,

This readmg is only a frelh snare, for if the least contra.
diction is percelved he may ‘e considered guilty of duplicity,
concealment, or a false confession, and the tribunal may re-
fuse to grant the reconciliation, although he demand it, and
even condemn him to relazation.
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be contrary to their previous opinion. This proceeding
rendered the office of the consyltars yeplas, and it was dis-
continued. '

Although the prisoner was acquitted,hs was not acqnaint-
‘ed with the names of his denoungers and ths witnesses. He
rarely obtained a more public reparation than the liberty of
returning to his house with a certificate of absolution.

Ezecution of the Sentence.

The nature of the punishments inflicted by the Inquisition
has been already described ; it is, therefore, only neces-
sary to remark that the sentences were not communi-
cated to the victimp until the commencement of the execu-
tion, since the condemned were sent to the autos-da-f¥, cither
to be reconciled or given over to secular justice ; on leaving
prison the famsliars attired them in the san-denito, with a
paper mitre on their heads, a cord round their necks, and a
wax taper in their hands.

When the prisoner arriveg at the place of execution, his
sentence is read, and he is then reconciled or relared, which
means, that he is condemned to be burnt by the justice of
the king. .

San-benrto.

" The San-bentto was a species of scapulary, which only de-
scended to the knees, that it might not be confounded with
' those worn by some monks; this motive also made the inqui-
sitors prefer common woollen stuff of a yellow colour with red
" crosses for the San-bensto. - .Such were the penitential habits
“in 1514, when Cardinal Ximenez de Cisneros altered the
common crosses for those of St. Andrew. The inquisitors
afterwards had a different habit for each class of penitents.
Those who abjured as skightly suspected of heresy, wore
the scapulary of yellow stuff without the crass. If he ab-
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Inquisition should be introduced into Sicily and Naples in
its present form, and that it should be under the authority
of the Spanish inquisitor-general, instead of being depend~
ent on the Court of Rome. The king undertook to In-
troduce it into Sicily by a decree in 1500 ; but the inhdbi-
tants made great resistance, and he was obliged to pursue
the plan which had succeeded in Arragon, by commanding
the viceroy and other magistrates to assist the inquisitors.
Several seditions were quelled before the sub-delegated in-
quisitor-general, Don Pedro Velorade, Archbishop of Mes-
sina, could enter upon his office. .

- In 1516 the Sicilians, weary of the proceedmgu of the
Inquisition, revolted and set all the prisoners at liberty.
Melchior de Cervera, the inquisitor, only escaped death by
a concurrence of extraordinary circumstances ; the viceroy
was also in the greatest danger. The islanders were thus
freed from the yoke of this detested tribunal; but they did
not long enjoy liberty, for they were not able to resist
the power of Charles V., who' obliged them to receive it a
second time. Naples was more fortunate. Ferdinand in
1504 commanded the viceroy, Gonzales Fernandez de.Cor-
dova, surnamed the great captain, to assist the Archbishop
of Messina with all his power, in establishing the Inquisi-
tion; but the Neapolitans opposed it so obstinately, that the
viceroy judged it prudent to desist, and informed the king
that it would be extremely dangerous to combat so decided
a resistance. _

In 1510 Ferdinand again attempted to introduce the new
Inquisition, but his efforts were unavailing, and he was
obliged to declare that he would be satisfied if the Neapo-
‘litans would banish all the New Christians who had taken
refuge in their towns when they-were driven from Spain.

Deza persuaded Ferdinand and Isabella to introduce the
Inquisition into the kingdom of Grenada, although a promise
to the contrary’ had been made to the baptized Moors.
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go into Arragon or Portugal, without a permission, which
would only be granted ta those who gave a security for their -
return when they had terminated their affairs.

.Deza was not coutented with exciting the gea] of Ferdi-
nand and Issbells against the Moors; he also proposed
measures against the Jews on the occasion of the arrival of
different strangers in Spain, but who were not of those ex-
pelled in 1492. He obtained a royal ordinance in 1499,
which applied those measures to them which had heen ests-
blished agains$ the first Jews. The council of the Inguisition
had already decreed that the converted Jews should be
obliged ta prove their baptism, and that they lived with the
other Christiany; that those who had been rabbins or masters
of the law should be obliged to change the place of their
residence ; that they should appear every Sunday and on
festival days in the churches, and be carefully instructed in
the christian doctrine. Ferdinand permitted the inquisitors
of Arragon to take cognizance of usury and other crimes
foreign to their jurisdiction, contrary to the oath which he .
had taken to observe the laws of that kingdom, which or-
dained that they should be punished by the secular judge.

Deza was at the head of the Inguisition eight years. If
the calculation of his victims is formed after the inscription
at Seville, we shall find that 38,440 persans were punished
during that time, of whom 2592 were burnt in person, 896
in effigy, and 34,952 condemned to different penances.
Among this crowd of persons who were persecuted by the
Inquisition, there were many distinguished by their birth,
their learning, their fortunes, and their offices. The
sanguinary inquisitor, Lucero, made the venerable Don
Ferdinand de Talavera, first Archbishop of Grenada,
the object of a shameful persecution. He became jealous
of the reputation for sanctity and charity which this -pre-
late had acquired, and raised doubts of his faith, by re-
minding lsabella that he had opposed the establishment of
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their confessions, and declared that synagogues were held
in different houses in Cordova, Grenada, and other towns ;
they added, that even monks and nuns attended at them, -
and went in procession from all parts of Castile; they also
affirmed that many Spanish families of Old Christians, whom
they named, assisted at the Jewish feasts. In consequence
of these declarations, Lucero arrested such an immense
number of persons, that Cordova was on the point of re-
volting against the Inquisition. The municipality, the
bishop, the chapter of the cathedral, and all the nobility
sent deputies to the inquisitor-general, to demand that Lucero
should be recalled. Deza refused to listen to their claim,
until the cruelties of which Lucero was accused were
proved. Lucero had then the audacity to note down as
favourers of Judaism, knights, ladies, carions, monks, nuns,
and respectable persons of every class.

At this period, 1506, Philip I. ascended the throne of
Castile; the Bishop of Cordova informed him of what was

.passing, and the relations of the prisoners demanded that
they should be tried by another tribunal. Philip commanded
‘Deza to retire to his archbishopric of Seville, and to invest
Don Diego Ramirez de Guzman, Bishop of Catania, with
the powers of inquisitor-general ; at the same time all the
papers relative to this affair were submitted to the Supreme
Council of Castile. Ramirezde Guzman suspended Lucero,
and the other inquisitors of Cordova, from their functions.
The affair would have terminated happily, but for the death
of the king in the same year.

Deza was no sooner informed of that event than he again
resumed his office of inquisitor-general, and annulled all that
had been done during his retirement. Ferdinand V. re-
sumed the government of the kingdom, as father of Queen
Joanna, widow of Philip I., as her mind was disordered.
Some time elapsed, however, before he began to reign, as
he was at Naples at the time of the death of the King of
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The eardinal immediately suspended the inquisitor Lucero,
and sent him prisoner to Burgos; he dlso imptisoned all
those witnesses who were suspected of having miade false
depositions, because some of the tharges were so absurd that
no one could believé thém. The examination of the ttiils
made the cardinal peéfeeive; that an afféir which implicated
some of the riost illustrious families of Spain eould not be’
tredted with too much delicaey: he; therefote; obtained thé
king’s permission to form a junta, which he nimed thé
Catholic Congregation ; it was composed of twenty-two
respectable persohs; namely; the ~inquisitor-general (wh@
was the président); the inquisitor-general of Afragon; thé.
Bishop of Ciudad Redrigo; those of Calahorta #nd Bareex
lona; the mitred abbot of the Béenedictines at Valladolil j
thé president of the Oduncil of Castile; arid »ight of its
thembers; the vice-chancéllor and the president of the
Chancery of Arragon ; two councillors of the Suprems; twe
proviixcial ihqtisitors, and an auditor of the Chancety of
Valladolid.

Their first assémbly was held at Burgos, oii Astemsion-day,
in 1508; and on the 9th of July they decreed that the clm=
ractets of the witnésses wetre vile, contemptible; did uti-
worthy of tonfidénce; that their declarations were full of
contradictions; that they contained things unworthy of belief;
and contrary to tommon sense; that the prisoners werd
consequently at liberty, that their honour; and that of the
prisoners who had died, was re-esfablished ; that the Houses
which had been destroyed; as having bewr used for syme-
gogues, should be rebuilt; #md that the judgiient dnd the
notes in the registers should be erased.

This decision of the Catholic justd was proeclaimed at
Valladolid on the 1st August, in the dathe yeat; lit the
presenve of the King; and a multitude of nobles, and bther
inkabitants of all classes,

Cardinal Ximenez de Cisnéros hsd pgenius; Ml&ﬂgu,
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During the eleven years of his ministry (which ended by
his death in 1517), Cisneros permitted the condemnation of
52,855 individuals, 3564 were burnt in person, 1232 in
effigy, and 4832 suffered different punishments. Although
this number of executions is immense, yet it must be ac-+
knowledged that Cisneros had taken measures to relax the
activity of the Inquisition ; the most important was, that he
assigned particular churches to the New Christians, and -
charged the curates to increase their zeal in instructing them.
and to visit them often in their own houses.

Offer made to the King to obtain the publicity of tlw
" Proceedings.

In 1512, a report being spread among the New Chrisivtans
that Ferdinand intended to make war against his nephew,
the King of Navarre, they offered him 600,000 ducats of
gold towards the expenses of the war if he would consent
to make a law that the trials of the Inquisition should be
public; the king was on the point of treating with the New
Christians, when Cisneros placed a large sum of money at
his disposal ; the king accepted it, though it was less tha.n
the first, and abandoned the idea of a reform.

After the death of that prince, and while Charles V was
in Flanders, in 1517, the New Christians again offered, om
the same conditions, 800,000 ducats for the expenses of his
journey to Spain, William de Croy, Duke d’Ariscot, the
favourite governor of the young monarch, persuaded him to
consult the colleges, universities, and learned men of Spain
and Flanders; they all replied that the communication of
the names and the entire depositions of the witnesses was
consonant to all rights natural, human, and divine.© When
the cardinal-inquisitor was informed of this decision, he sent
deputies and wrote to the king to-combat it; he reminded
hlmthatasnmllarproposal had been refused by his grand-
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the difficulty of his being a foreigner by giving him letters of
naturalization. This plan was executed, the double nomi-
nation was sent to Rome, and the Pope granted the bulls.
Adrian took "possession of Majorea on the 7th of February,
1517 ; this nomination was followed by one to the office of
Cisneros, who died on the 6th November following. Although
! he was elected Pope on the 9th of January, 1522, he con=
' tinued in his office until the 10th of September, in the fols
lowing year, when he signed the bulls of his successor, Don
Alphonso Manriquez de Lara, Archbishop of Seville.

During the period that the Inquisition remained separate
from that of Castile, it was often violently attacked, and
more than once was on the point of being abolished, or at
least subjected to a reform, which would have left it without
the power of exciting terror. Ferdinand having assembled
the Cortes of the kingdom at Monzon, in 1510, the deputies
of the towns and cities loudly complained that the inquisitors
abused their powers, not only in matters of faith, but in
several points which were not in their jurisdiction. The
deputies also represented, that they interfered in the re-
gulation of the contributions, and that the taxes were shame-
Tully diminished by the reductions which they made in the
lists ; that their apthority had made them so bold and in.
solent, tlxat. tbj«eated themselves judges irr all doubtfal
p their competence was denied, they had
unication ; that they oppressed the ma-

l
I Arragon on the Dean of Louvain, and it was easy to obviate

. giixid,  feared that they should be obliged to de
- - public pe in an auto-da-f6 ; that this misfortune had

. glready happened to the viceroys and governors of Barcelona,
"+ Valencia, Majorca, Sardinis, and Sicily, and to several per-
¥ sons of high rank ;i consequence, they entreated his ma-
jesty to maintain the execution of the laws and statutes. of
the kingdom of Arragon, and to oblige the officers of the

4 -
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vileges which they had formerly possessed. This conduct of
the king caused a general revolt, and he was obliged to
request the Pope to confirm the regulations of the Cortes,
and subject those who did not conform to them to the
censure of the church. The Pope saw the necessity of com-
pliance, and granted the bull in 1515. g

CHAPTER XI.

AN ATTRHP‘!' MADE BY THE CORTES OF CASTILE AND
ARRAGON TO REFORM THE INQUISITION.—OF THE PRIN-
CIPAL EVENTS UNDER ADRIAN, FOURTH INQUISITOR-
GENERAL.

Tae Inquisition was never in so much danger-as during the
first years of the reign of Charles V. When the young
monarch arrived in Spain, he was disposed to abolish the
Inquisition, or at least to regulate the proceedings according
to those of other tribunals. In 1518 a general assembly of
the Cortes was held at Valladolid, when the representatives
solicited that -his highness would command the office of the
holy Inquisition to conform to the rules of the canons and
the common law. The Cortes likewise sent ten thousand
pieces of gold to the chancellor Selvagio, and promised the
same sum win the decree which they solicited should be
put in execution. The king replied that he would take
proper measures to remedy the evil of which they com-
plained : in consequence he engaged the Cortes to publish
the abuses which had been introduced, and to md:eate the
means of abolishing them.

When the assembly at Valladolid had terminated their
labours, Charles convoked the Cortes of Arragon at Sara.
gossa, where he was accompanied by the chancellor Selvagio,
who had prepared a royal ordinance, to be published ac-
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of the torture, it shall only be administered in moderation,
and without recurring to the cruel inventions hitherto em~
ployed.

That it shall only be employed once for what personally
concerns the accused ; never to obtain from him information
of other individuals; and only in the case of persons mem-
tioned in the law.

That the definitive sentences, and even the interlocutory
orders, shall be subject to the right of appeal, as to their
double effect.

That when the preparatory examination of the judgment
is commenced, the parties and their counsel may attend st
this revision of the process, and demand that the reading may
be made in their presence.

That if the proof of the crime is not then established, the
prisoner shall be acquitted, without being liable to a punish-
ment as being still suspected.

That if the accused desires to clear himself, on oath, he
shall be allowed to seek witnesses, and to converse with
them in private; and that their being descendants of the
Jews shall not prevent their admission.

That the challenge of witnesses shall be permitted; and
if one of those called by the procurator-fiscal is convicted
of giving false testimony, he shall be subject to the punish-
ment of retaliation, according to a law of Ferdinand and
Isabella, in the beginning of their reign.

That when an accused person has been reconciled, he shall
not be arrested for things which he has not confessed, be-
cause it is to be supposed that he forgot them.

That no persons shall be molested or imprisoned for a
simple presumption of heresy, arising from their having
been brought up among Jews or heretics.

That the San-benitos shall be taken out of the churche-,
and that they no longer be worn in the streets.

That the punishment of perpetual imprisonment shall be



Digitized by GOOS[Q



88 HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION. (Chap. XI.

Monzon, and consequently that he would not suffer: the-
inquisitors.to commence any trials for usury.

But a new assembly of the Cortes having been convoked
at Saragossa, towards the end of the year 1518, the deputies
of Arragon represented to the king, that the agreement of
the Cortes at Monzon, in 1512, was not sufficient to remedy
- the abuses which the inquisitors had introduced ; they there-
fore .entreated his majesty to add to it thirty-one articles.
which they had adopted. These articles differed little from
those of the Cortes of Castile.

The king, after having consulted his councxl replied, .
““ that it was his pleasure that the holy canons, and the de--
crees of the holy see, should be conformed to in regard to.all
the articles which had been presented to kim. That if
difficulties or doubts should occur, which required explana-.
tion, they should apply to the Pope; that if any person
wished to accuse an inquisitor of abuse in the exercise of
his office, he might do so by applying to the inquisitor-
general, who would pronounce sentence according to equity ;
and that the king would cause them to be punished as an
example ; that he engaged by oath to observe himself, and
cause others to observe, the order and declaration whick Ae
addressed to the assembly, as well as the articles whick the
Pope might add to those of the Cortes ; that he also pro-
mised, upon oath, never to demand a dispensation from . his
promise; and that if one was addressed to him he would
never make use of it, as he at that time renounced all the -
rights which might arise from it.”

This reply induced the Cortes to believe that the king
had granted all their requests; they considered that the
trials would be there conducted as before other ecclesiastical .
tribunals. Persuaded that this was the king’s intention, the
Cortes resolved to show their gratitude by a voluntary con-

ribution of money. :
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set him at liberty, tended more to make him appear guilty
than innocent, by the use of the word relazed.

Similar debates took place in Catalonia, where the king
convoked a Cortes at Barcelona, in 1519, to take the oath
of maintaining the privileges of the province. The Catalans,
informed of the effect produced by the representations of
the Cortes of Arragon, likewise demanded a reform of seve-
ral abuses of their Inquisition relative to the taxes, as well
as usury, bigamy, and other crimes of that class. The king,
after having heard their remonstrances, made nearly the
same reply as to the Cortes of Saragossa, and wrote to the
Pope to demand a ratification of the articles. The Pope
approved them a bull in 1520; but Charles did not wait
for its arrival to enforce the execution of his promise,
which is proved by his order to Don Diego de Mendoza, his
lieutenant-general in Catalonia. Yet he declares in his
letter to his lieutenant, that he only made these promises on
account of the importunities of some representatives of towns,
and some men who were among the members of the Cortes.

In consequence of some events in Arragon, during the
period which elapsed before the bull of confirmation was
issued, Leo X. was on the point of destroying the Inquisi-
tion, but intimidated by the policy of Charles V., he left the
hydra in the same state.

John Prat, the secretary of the Cortes of Arragon, drew
up the proposition of the representatives, and the reply of
the king, to be addressed to the Pope; the chancellor of the
king had done the same. This proceeding particularly dis-
pleased the inquisitors of Saragossa; and to avoid the danger
which they believed themselves to be in, they began to in-
trigue at court, and soon succeeded in rendering the king
averse to the cause of the deputies of Arragon. They in-
sinvated that Prat had drawn up the act which was to be
sent to Rome, in such a manner, as to represent the reply of
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no right to use so violent a measure, without the consent of
the people; it decreed that the levy should not be raised,
and applied to the Court of Rome for the ratification of the
articles of Saragossa. ~

Leo X. was at that time dxspleased with the Inquisition of
Spain, on account of its refusal to admit certain briefs of
inhibition in the tribunals of Toledo, Seville, Valencia, and
Sicily ; and forgetting the consideration which he owed to
Charles (who was then Emperor of Germany), he resolved
to reform the holy office, and to compel it to submit to the
rules of common law.

" In consequence of this resolution he expedited three bnefn
addressed to the king, the cardinal inquisitor-general, and
the inquisitors of Saragossa, in which, after explaining his
intention, he decrees that the inquisitors shall be deprived
of their offices, and that the bishops and their cha.pfen
should present two canons to the inquisitor-general, who
should appoint one; he added that this choice should be
confirmed by the holy see, and that these new inquisitors
should be subjected every two years to a judicial censure. |

The deputies received these briefs, and immediately re-
quired the inquisitors to conform to them ; they replied that
they would await the orders of their immediate chief. The
king wrote to his uncle Don Alphonso of Arragon, Arch-
bishop of Saragossa, to enter into an agreement with the
deputies, and at the same time he sent an ambassador-extra~
ordinary to Rome to demand a revocation of the briefs. The
Arragouese then promised to levy the supply if the secretary
Prat was liberated, but protested that they would not ad-
mit any proposition contrary to the promise which the kmg
had made.

This prince instructed his ambassador to inform the Pope
of all that had passed in the Cortes of Castile, but to keep
silence on the most important circumstances, and to assure
his Holiness that no complaints had been made of the Inqui-
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CHAPTER XII.

CONDUOCT OF THE INQUISITORS TOWARDS THE
MORESCOES.

Tae New Christians of Jewish origin, flattered themselves,
st the commencement of the ministry of Don Alpbonso
Manriquez, that they should obtain the publication of the
names and charges of the witnesses, as he had supported
their request in 1516, but the inquisitors persuaded him that
such a procéeding tended to the destruction of the holy
office, and the triumph of the enemies of the faith; and that
the appearance of two new sects of Morescoes and Lutherans,
rendered a great degree of severity indispensable. .

It has been already stated, that an order from Ferdinand
and Isabella, in 1502, had compelled all those Moors whe
refused to become Christians, to quit Spain. Although this
law was executed in Castile, it did not affect the Moors.of
Arragon, as the king had yielded to the solicitations of the
nobles, who represented the immense injury which it would
do them, in destroying the population of their domains,
where there were scarcely any baptized inhabitants.

The two sovereigns renewed their promise in 1510, and
Charles V. took an oath to the same eﬂ'ect in the Cortes of
Saragossa in 1519.

A civil war soon after broke out in Arragon, similar to one
in Castile, about the same time. The factious were almost
all common people, who hated the nobles: they endeavoured
to injure them as much as possible, and knowing that the
Moors, who were their vassals, were obliged to serve them
in a more laborious manner, on account of the difference of
their religion, they baptized all the Moors who fell into
their hands. Above sixteen thousand thus received baptism ;
but as they were forced to it, many afterwards returned to
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then married to Don Ferdinand of Arragon, Duke of Cala-
bria. This princess granted a passport to twelve of their
deputies, whom they sent to court to learn the real intentions
of the emperor. They demanded a delay of five years be-
fore they became Christians, or left Spain by the port of
Alicant. These demands being refused, they offered to
become Christians, on condition that the inquisitors should
not be permitted to prosecute them for the space of forty
years ; this was also cruelly refused them.

They then applied to the inquisitor-general Manriquez,
who received them graciously, and supposing that they would
freely consent to receive baptism, he offered to employ his
influence with the emperor. On the 16th of January, 1526;
they remitted a memorial to him, in which they demanded,
1st, that during forty years they should not be liable to be
prosecuted by the holy office; 2ndly, that they might be
allowed to preserve their language, and their manner of
clothing themselves ; 3rdly, that they might have a cemetery
separate from that of the Old Christians ; 4thly, that they
might be able to marry their relations during the space of
forty years, and that the marriages already contracted should
not be interfered with; Sthly, that the ministers of their re-
ligion should continue to receive the revenues of the mosques
converted into churches; 6thly, that they might be allowed
the use of arms like other Christians ; 7thly, that the charges
and rents which they paid to their lords should not be
more burdensome than those of other Christians ; 8thly, that
they should not be obliged to pay the municipal expenses
of royal towns, unless they were allowed to hold offices, and
enjoy the honours depending on them.

These articles being submitted to the emperor, they were
granted, with a few restrictions, and the Moors were all
baptized, with the exception of some thousands who, fled to
the mountains, and resisted the royal force during the year
1526. When they were reduced, they received baptism, and
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trious nobles, as they were descended in the direct male Yine
from the Moorish kings of Grenada. They represented that
the Moors suffered much from the priests, judges, notaries,
alguazils, and other OM Christians. The emperor appéared
touched by the recital, and commissioned a bishop to go inte
the countries inhabited by the Moors and examine into the
state of religion. The bishop visited the kingdom of
Grenada, and found that the Moors had reason to complain'
but he also discovered that there were scarcely seven Catho-
lics among all these people; all the others had returned to
Mahometanism, either because they had not been pmperly
instructed, or because they were permnted to exercise their
old religion in public.

The emperor convoked a councxl which decreed that the
inquisitorial tribunal of Jaen should be transferred to
Grenada. Several other measures were adopted and ap-
proved by the emperor; the most important was a promise
of pardon to the Moors for all that had passed, and a notice
that they would be treated with the utmost severity, if they
again relapsed into heresy. The Morescoes submitted, and
obtained for eighty thousand ducats the privileges of wearing
the costume of their nation, and that the Inquisition should
not be allowed to seize their property if they relapsed.

The inquisitors of Grenada celebrated an auto-da-fé in
1528 with the greatest ceremony, in order to inspire the
Moors with more respect and fear., However no Moors
were burmt, but only baptized Jews who had returned to
Judaism.

The Moors still continued to emigrate to Africa, although
they were treated with moderation. Philip II. obtained a
brief from Paul IV., by which the confessors were autho-
rized to absolve the Moors secretly, without imposig any
penance or pecuniary penalty, on the condition that they
demanded absolution voluntarily. The system of indulgence
which had been adopted did not prevent Louis Alboadin
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CHAPTER XIII.

OF THE PROHIBITION OF BOOKS AND OTHER
ARTICLES.

Tue opinions of Luther, Zuingle, (Ecolampadius, Me-
lancthon, Muncer, and Calvin, were first promulgated
during the ministry of Don Alphonso Manriquez, the fifth
inquisitor-general. These reformers were called Protestants
after the imperial diet at Spire in 1529.

Leo the Xth had already condemned the opinions of
Luther as heretical, which induced Manriquez to enact
severe punishments for those who should openly maintain or
write in favour of them. ‘

In 1490 several Hebrew bibles and books written by Jews
were burnt at Seville; at Salamanca more than six thousand
volumes of magic and sorcery were committed to the flames.
In 1502 Ferdinand and Isabella appointed the presidents
of the Chanceries of Valladolid and Ciudad Real, the Arch-
bishops of Seville, Toledo, Grenada, the Bishops of Burgos,
Salamanca, and Zamora, to decide on all affairs relating to
the examination, censure, printing, introduction, or sale of
books. In 1521 the Pope wrote to the governors of the
provinces of Castile during the absence of Charles V.,
recommending them to prevent the introduction of the
works of Luther into the kingdom ; and Cardinal Adrian, in
the same year, ordered the inquisitors to seize all books of
that nature : this order was repeated in 1523.

In 1530 the Supreme Council wrote to the inquisitors
during the absence of Cardinal Manriquez, on the necessity
of executing the measures which had been ordained ; adding,
that information had been received that the writings of
Luther had been introduced into the kingdom under fic-
titious titles, or as works entirely composed by Catholic



Digitized by GOOS[Q



102 HISTORY OF THR INQUISITION. {Chsp. XITL.

. But the Supreme Council qualified his Colloguies, his
Eulogy of Folly, and his Paraphrase, and prohibited them
from being read. In later times, this prohibition was ex-
tended to several other books of the same author, and the
Inqguisition recommended in its edicts that the works of
Erasmus should be read with cantion.

‘The emperor Charles V. commissioned the Univernty of
Louvain to form a list of dangerous books, and in 1539 he
obtained a bull of approbation from the Pope. The index
was published in 1546 by the university in all the states of
Flanders, six years after a decree had been issued to pro-
hibit the writings of Luther from being read or bought om
pain‘of death®.

This severe measure displeased all ranks. The princes of
Germany openly complained of it, and offered to ussist
Charles in his war against the Turks, if he would allow the
people liberty in matters of religion. Charles paid no atten-
tion to their remonstrances, and this bad policy acceleratal
the progress of Lutheranism.

In 1549, the inquisitor-general, with the approbation of
the Supreme Council, added some new works to the list of
those which had been prohibited, and addressed two ordi-
nances to the inquisitors, enjoining them in the first, not to
allow any person to possess them, and in the second, com-
manding the consultors of the holy office neither to read nor
keep them, though the execution of the decrees might throw
them into their hands.

In 1546 the emperor commanded the University of Louvain
to publish the index, with additions. This work appeared
in 1550, and the prince remitted it to the inquisitor-general,
and it was printed by the order of the Supreme Council,
with a supplement composed of books prohihited in Spain ;
some time after the council framed another index, which was
certified by the secretary.

* Sandoval, Hist. Charles V. B, 24, § 28.
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Charles V. and Philip II. had regulated the circulation of
books in their American states. In 1543 the viceroys and
other authorities were commanded to prevent the
duction or printing of tales and romances. -

In 1550 a new decree obliged the tribunal of the com-
merce of Seville, to register all the books destined for the
colonies, to certify that they were not prohibited.

In 1556 the government commanded that no work re-
lating to the affairs of America should be published without
a permission from the council of the Indies, and that thoee
already printed should not be sold unless they were examined
and approved, which obliged all those who possessed any
10 submit them to the conncil. The officers of the customs
in America were also obliged to seize all the prohibited
books which might be imported, and remit them to the
archbishops and bishops, who, in this case, possessed the
same powers as the inquisitors of Spain. :

Lastly, Philip IL in 1560 decreed new measures, and the
surveillance was afterwards as strictly observed in the colo-
nies of the New World as in the Peninsula.

Although Charles V. and Philip II. neglected nothing
that could prevent the introduction of prohibited books into
Spain, several which were favourable to the Lutheran
heresy penetrated into the kingdom. In 1558 the inquisitor-
general published an edict more severe than any of the pre-
ceding ; and also drew up an instruction for the use of the
inquisitors ; importing, that all books mentioned in the
printed catalogue should be seized ; that a public auto-da-f¥
should be made of those tending to heresy ; that the com-
mentaries and notes attributed to Melancthon should be
suppressed in all the treatises on grammar where they were
introduced ; that the bibles marked as being suspected
should be examined ; that no books should be seized except
those mentioned in the list; that all the books printed in
Germany since 1519 without the name of the author should
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the books prohibited by the holy office ; and, to ensure thé
execution of this sanguinary law, the index was printed,
that the people might not allege ignorance in their defamoe. 1

A bull of 1559 enjoins confessors to interrogate their
penitents on this subject, and to remind them that they were
obliged to denounce the guilty on pain of excommunication.,
A particular article subjects the confessors to the same
punishment if they neglected this duty, even if their pem.
tents were of the highest rank.

This severe law was however mitigated in 1561, when the
Cardinal of Alexandria, inquisitor-general of Rome, pabs
lished a decree, announcing, in the name of Pius IV., that
some of the prohibitions of books had been withdrawn.
This decree also granted permission to read and possess sormé
books which had been suppressed only because they were
written by heretics.

Valdes, the Inquisitor-general of Spain, immediately
wrote tothe inquisitors of the provinces, to suspend the
execution of the edict, until he had received the orders of
the king, to whom he had represented the danger arising

“from a measure which annulled the punishment of ex~
communication; but Valdes had another motive in thig
proceeding. :

In 1559, this inquisitor had published a printed catalogue
of prohibited books, which was much more extended thsn
that of 1558, dnd in which, according to the advice of
Francis Sanchez, he had introduced all the works mentioned
in the catalogues of Rome, Lisbon, Louvain, and those of
Spain of an earlier date. He divided them into six classen,
The first consisted of Latin books; the second of those
written in Castilian; the third of those in the Teutonie
language; the fourth of German books; the fifth of French;
and the sixth of Portnguese. Valdes, in a note at the end of
his index, gave notice that there were many books subjeet
to the prohibition, not mentioned in the list, but that they
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-made on the prohibition of the great number of works which

had been unjustly enrolled in the decree of Paul IV. The
conncil appointed commissioners to examine them, and they
made a report of their labour in the last session in 1563 :
they had drawn up a catalogue of the works which they
. ‘considered necessary to be prohibited. It was submitted to
Pius V., who published it in 1564, with ten general rules
for the soluflon of any difficulties which might be discovered.
A great number of books, which had been unjustly con-
demned by Valdes, were omitted in this index, and the
Catechism of Carranza was declared to be orthodox by an
assembly of theologians who had been appointed to ex-
amine it. _

In 1565 the Doctor Gonzales Illescas published the first
part of his Pontifical History. It was immediately seized
by the holy office, and the second part, printed at Valla-
dolid in 1567, shared the same fate. A short time after,
Illescas was persecuted by the inquisitors of Valladolid ;
and, to preserve himself from becoming their victim, was
obliged to suppress his work and write another, omitting
the articles against some of the popes: this work appeared
in 1574. Although the holy office had so carefully sup-
pressed the first edition, it was inserted in the index of 1583,
as if some copies had been still in existence. _

In 1567 the council commanded the theological works of
Brother John Fero, a Franciscan of Italy, to be seized, with
the notes and corrections of Brother Michael de Medina, and
some other works of the same author, who ended his days in
the dungeons of the Inquisition in 1578, before his sentence
had been pronounced. After his death, his Apology for
John Fero was inserted in the expurgatory index.

In 1568 the Supreme Council charged the officers of the
Inquisition to watch the frontiers of Guiprescoa, Navarre,
Arragon, and Catalonia, with the greatest vigilance, to pre-
vent the introduction of prohibited books. This resolution
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published a new Proksbitory Indez. It is remarkable tAas
the Index of his predecessor Valdes is mentioned in this
Uist.

That which was published in 1584 was drawn up by
Juan de Mariane, who soon after had some of his own workw
prohibited. In 1611, a new index was formed under the
inquisitor-ge Don Bernard de Roxas of Sandoval. '

The Cardisal! Zapata, who succeeded Roxas, adopted one
more extended in 1620, and it was used by his successor,
Don Antonio de Sotomayor, in 1630. This catalogue was the
first which the inquisitors presumed to publish from their
own authority, and without being commissioned by govern-
ment, Don Diego Savimiato Valladares, inquisitor-general
in 1681, began to reprint it with additions, and it was
finished by Don Vidal Marin, who published it in 1707.

Don Francis Perez del Prado, another inquisitor-general,
commissioned the Jesuits Casani and Carrasco to compoee &
new catalogue. Although these monks were not authorized
by the Supreme Council, they inserted in the list all the books
which they supposed to be favourable to the Jansenists,
Baius and Father Quesnel. Their conduct was denounced to
the Supreme Council by the Dominican Concina, and some
other monks ; the Jesuits were examined, and defended them-
selves: the council, though it could'not approve, did not
carry the affair further; it had not sufficient power to ba-
lance the influence of the Jesuit Francis Rabago, who was
confessor to Ferdinand VI.

Among the books which they prohibited were the works
of Cardinal Norris, which were held in general estimation
by the learned throughout Christendom. Benedict XIV.,
in 1748, addressed a brief to the inquisitor-general, com-
manding him to revoke the prohibition; as this order was
riot obeyed, the Pope complained to the king, but was unable
to obtain his request until ten years after, when the Jesuit
Rabago no longer directed the conscience of the monarch.
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punishment of major excommunication, and was proceeded
against by the tribunal: the result of this action was the
absolution ab cautelam.

During the last years of the eighteenth century, no person
has been imprisoned for reading prohibited books, unless he
was convicted of having advanced or written heretical pro-
positions. The punishment inflicted was merely a pecuniary
penalty, and a declaration that the individual was slightly
suspected of heresy ; it must be acknowledged that this qua.
lification was omitted, if there was any reason to suppose that
the accused had erred from motives of curiosity, and mot
from a tendency to false doctrine. Nevertheless all these
proceedings are arbitrary, and the inquisitors have the power
of pursuing the infringers of thislaw as if they were heretics.

The permission to read prohibited books, rendered all ac-
tions instituted against those who violated the law ineffectual.
The Pope granted it for a sum of money, without inquiring
if the person who demanded it was capable of abusing the
permission. The inquisitor-general of Spain acted with
more prudence ; he took secret informations on the conduct
of the solicitor, and required him to state in writing the
object of his demand, and the subject on which he wished to
consult the prohibited books. Where the permission granted
was general, the books mentioned in the edicts were .ex-
cepted. Inthis sense the works of Rousseau, Montesquieu,
Mirabeau, Diderot, d’Alembert, Voltaire, and several other
modern philosophers, among whom was Filangieri, were ex-
cepted from the privilege. During the last years of the In-
quisition, the permissions granted by the Court of Rome did
not defend the persons who received them from the inquisi- .
torial actions; they were subject to revision, and the inqui-
sitor-general did not authorize the use of them without great
difficulty, and as if the Court of Rome had never granted .
them. :

The Inquisition also prohibited pictures, medals, prints,



Digitized by GOOS[Q



114 HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION. [Chap. XIV.

is better and more perfect than that of celibacy; that there
ought to be no festivals but the sabbath, and that it is not
sinful to eat meat on Friday, in Lent, or on other fast-days.

Alphonso Manriquez also gave permission to the inquisi-
tors of the provinces to take any measures they might think
proper, to discover those persons who had embraced the
heresy of the slluminati, (alumbrados.) These people, who
were also called dejados (quietists), formed a sect whose
chief, it is said, was that Muncer who had already established
that of the Anabaptists. Some time after, the Council of
the Inquisition added several articles relative to the luma-
nait to thase already mentianed.

I am of opinion, that the first Spaniards who followed the
doctrines of Luther were Franciscan monks; for Clement
VII, in 1526, authorized the general and provincials of
the order of Minor Friars of St. Francis d’Assiz, to absolve
those of the community who had fallen into that heresy, after
, they had taken an oath to renounce it for ever. Several
monks of the same order had already represented to the
Pape, that by the privileges granted to them in the bull
mare magnwum, and confirmed by other decrees of the holy
see, no stranger had a right to-interfere in their affairs, and
that they did not recognise any judge but the judge of their
institution, even in cases of apostasy and heresy.’

Manriquez, embarrassed in his ministry by the pretensions
of the Franciscans, wrote to the Pope, who expedited, in
1535, a brief, by which the inquisitor-general was em-
powered té take cognizance of these affairs, assisted by a
monk, named by the prelate of the order, and that, in cases
of appeal from judgment, the Pope should be applied to :
but these appeals were afterwards ordered to be made before
the inquisitor-general.

Trials of several Persons.

During the ministry of the inquisitor-general Manriquez,
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geons, until they had been subjected to the abjuration (de
levi) of the Lutheran heresy, to receive the absolution of
censures ad cautelam,and to several penancés. Juan de Ver-
gara was a canon of Toledo, and had been secretary to Car-
dinal Ximenez de Cisneros,and to Don Alphonso de Fonseca,
his successor in the see of that city. Nicholas Antonio has
inserted, in his library, a notice of the literary productions
of this Spaniard, and does justice to his virtue and merit.
His profound knowledge of the Greek and Hebrew lan-
guages was the cause of his mifortune; he had remarked
some faults in the translation of the vulgate, and thus gave
the signal of persecution to some monks, who had only
studied Latin and the jargon of the schools. The chapter of
Toledo honoured his memory in placing on his tomb an epi-
taph, which is preserved by the author I have cited. Vergara
had a claim on the gratitude of this community, for having
composed the inscriptions which decorate the choir of their
church.

Bernardin de Tobar is less known, but Peter Martyr
d’Angleria mentions him among the learned men of the six-
teenth century, and John Louis Vives, a learned man of that'
age, says in writing to Erasmus: ¢ We live in a difficult
time; it is dangerous either to speak or be silent; Vergara,
his brother Bernardin de Tobar, and several other learned
men, have been arrested in Spain ¢.”

Among this number was one of whom Vives could not
give a particular account. I speak of Alphonso Virues, a
Benedictine, born at Olmedo, and one of the best theologians
of his time. He had a profound knowledge of the oriental
languages, and had composed several works. He was a
member of the commission which judged the works of Eras-
mus in 1527, and preacher to Charles V., who listened to
his discourses with so much pleasure, that he took him to

* Mayan's Life of John Louis Vives, in the introduction to the new
edition of his worke,
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One of the means employed by Virues for his defence, was
to demand that the tribunal should pay attention to the
points of doatrine which he had established, and prepared to
attack Melancthon and other Lutherans before the diet of
Ratisbon ; but this demand did not gain the object which he
had in view, which was a complete absolution, because his
enemies had denounced propositions advanced in public.
Although he proved that they were] extremely Catholic,
when examined with the text, yet he could not prevent them
from incurring the theological censure in the form given by
the denunciation: he was obliged to submit to an abjuration
of all heresies, particularly that of Luther and his adherents.
The definitive sentence was pronounced in 1537 : he was
declared to be suspected of profeseing the errors of Luther,
and condemned to be absolved from the censures ad cautelam ;
to be confined in a monastery for two years, and prohibited
from preaching the word of God for two years after his
release.

The emperor, when informed of these transactions, com-
plained to the Pope, who, in 1538, addressed a brief to
Virues, which contained a dispensation from the different
penances to which he had been condemned: it also re-in-
stated him in his office of preacher ; and declared, that what
had passed could not exclude him from any office, not even
from episcopacy.

It is surprising that the affair of Virues, and many others,
did not make Charles V. perceive the nature of the Inqui-
sition, and that he still continued to protect that institution.
However, the trial of his preacher, and several other crosses
which he experienced about that time, were the reasons why
he deprived the holy office of the royal jurisdiction in 1535,
and it was not restored until the year 1545. This favour
for Virues was so constant, that he soon after presented him
to the Pope for the bishapric of the Canaries, but the Pope
refused him, alleging that the suspicions raised against the
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replied that the circumstances were not correctly stated.
The other physician was then called, who declared, that in
cimversing with Salas on the evangelists, he heard him say,
that some of them had lied. He was asked if any one had
reproached Salas for this expression; Garcia replied, that
an hour after he had advised him to give himself up to the
Inquisition, and that he had promised to do so. The in-
quisitor then asked if he was inimical to the accused; the
witness replied in the negative. On the 16th of April the
ratification of Ramirez and Garcia took place. On the 6th
of May the prisoner presented two requisitions or means of
defence: in the first he protested against all that had been
said contrary to his declaration, and pointed out the differ-
ences in the depositions of the witnesses ; the second was an
tnterrogatory in thirteen questions, two of which tended to
prove his orthodoxy, and the others to justify the motives of
the challenge which he had presented against certain persons
who had been called upon to depose in his trial. This piece
contains, in the margin, the witnesses to be consulted for each
question. It will be seen that the prisoner took advantage
of the laws of the holy office in his defence ; but the inquisi-
tors, instead of conforming to their own regulations, erased
the names of several persons designated in the list of the
accused as witnesses on his side, and would not hear them.
Nevertheless, the facts mentioned in the interrogatory were
proved by fourteen witnesses, and on the 25th of May the
fiscal gave his conclusions.

The fact related by Ramirez; the contradictions in the
depositions of the witnesses; the difference in the report of
both, from that of the accuser; the important advantages
gained by the prisoner in justifying his challenge, in only
having two witnesses against him (who had both been pro-
secuted, one for blasphemy, the other for Judaism), and in
being accused of only one proposition ; lastly, the possibility
that the accused had forgotten many things during the space
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Then Pedro de Porras tightened the cords on the right leg,
and poured a second measure of water on the face; the
cords were tightened a second t¥me on the same leg, but Juan
de Salas still persisted in denying that ke had ever said any
thing of the kind ; and although pressed to tell the truth
several times, Ae still denied the accusation. Then the said
licentiate Moriz, having declared that the torture was BrcoN
BUT NOT FINISHED, commanded that it should cease. The
accused was withdrawn from the chevalet or rack, at which
execution, I, Henry Paz, was present from the beginning to
the end.—Henry Paz, notary.”

If this execution was but the beginning of the torture,
how was it to finish? By the death of the sufferer? In
order to understand this statement, it is necessary to know
that the instrument, which in Castilian is called escalera
(and which has also the name of burro, and is translated into
French by the word chevalet), is a machine of wood, in-
vented to torture the accused. It is formed like a groove,
large enough to hold the body of a man, without a bottom,
but a stick crosses it, over which the body falls in such a
position, that the feet are much higher than the head ; con-
sequently, a violent and painful respiration ensues, with in-
tolerable pains in the sides, the arms, and legs, where the
pressure of the cords is so great, even before the garot has
been used, that they penetrate to the bone.

If we observe the manner in which the people who carry
merchandise on mules or in carts tighten the cords by means
of sticks, we can easily imagine the torments which the un-
fortunate John de Salas must have suffered. The introduc-
tion of a liquid is not less likely to kill those whom the in-
quisitors torture, and it has happened more than once. The
mouth, during the torture, is in the most unfavourable po-
sition for respiration, so much so, that a person would die
if he remained several hours in it; a piece of fine wet linen
is introduced into the throat, on which the water from the
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lar nature, caused the St_:preme Council to publish a decree in
1558, commanding that the torture should not be admini-
stered without ar order from the council.

Letter-Orders, relating to the Proceedings.

The abuse of the secrecy of the proceedings caused a
number of complaints to be addressed to the Inquisitor-
general. He usually referred them to the Supreme Council,
which, during the administration of Manriquez, addressed
several circulars to the provincial tribunals: it isnecessary
- to make known the most important.

In oné of these writings, dated March 14th, 1528, it is
said, that if an accused person (when asked a general ques-
tion) declares at first that he knows nothing on the sub-
ject, and afterwards, when questioned on ‘a particular fact,
- confesses that he is acquainted with it (in case the inquisi-
tors think proper to take down the second declaration, to
make use of it against a third), they should insert the first
question and the answer of the accused in the same verbal
process, because it might assist in determining the degree of
confidence to be placed in his declarations.

On the 16th of March, 1530, another instruction of the
council appeared. It directed that the facts related by the
witnesses in favour of the prisoner should be mentioned as
well as those against him. This direction, however just, has
not been strictly followed, since it was never obeerved in
the extract of the publication of the depositions given to the
accused and his defender ; consequently, no advantage could
be derived by the prisoner from the declarations in his
favour. ’

Another circular of the 13th of May in the same year,
says, that if an accused person challenges a witness, he must
be interrogated on the foundation of the proceedings, as he
might have facts to depose against the accused.

On the 16th June, 1531, the council wrote to the tribu-
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tic or not, the name of the defunct, his house, and other
details, should be communicated to the witnesses, that they
might be enabled to recollect the event, and to assist them
in making their declaration.

Yet the council, on the 30th August, 1537, decreed that
the time and place of the events should be inserted in the
extract of the publication of the depositions, because it was
of consequence to the interests of the accused ; it would be
done even in supposing that he would learn from it the names
of the witnesses. -

This rule is too contrary to the inquisitorial system, not
to inspire a wish to seek for the principle and the cause; it
may be found in the bad reputation which the Inquisition
had acquired by the proceedings against Alphonso Virues,
which induced Charles V. to deprive it of the royal juris-
diction : but although the council registered the order of the
sovereign, he decreed, on the 15th of December, in this year,
and on the 22nd of February, 1538, that the extract should
not contain any article which could make known the wit-
nesses; thus annulling the order_imposed in the preceding
year. During the last years of the Inquisition, neither the
time nor place were indicated in the act of the publication
of the depositions.

In June, 1537, the council being consulted by the Inqui-
sition of Toledo, decreed, as general rules—1st, that all who
calmly uttered the blasphemies, I deny God, I abjure God,
should be punished severely ; but those who uttered these
words in anger, should not be subject to prosecution: 2nd
to punish all Christians accused of bigamy, if the gmlty
person supposed it permitted; and in the contrary case to
abstain from prosecution ; 3rdly, to ascertain, in cases of
sorcery, if there had been any compact with the devil; if the
compact had existed, the Inquisition was directed to judge
the accused, if it had not, they were to leave the cause to
the secular tribunals.
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trial, the inquisitors adopted the custom of writing each act,
declaration, and deposition, on separate sheets of paper. As
in these tribunals they did not make use of stamped paper,
and as the pieces of the process were not numbered, it often
happened that those which they wished to conceal from the
council, the diocesan in ordinary, or other interested parties,
were changed or suppressed. This manceuvre was employed
by the inquisitors in the affair of the Archbishop of Toledo,
Carranza, and I have myself seen several attestations of the
secretary changed at the request of the inquisitors of Madrid.

The circular of the 11th of July in the same year is more
remarkable, and had more success than the preceding. The
inquisitors of the provinces were directed to refer to the Su-
preme Council all sentences pronounced without the unani-
mity of the inquisitors, the diocesan and the consulters, even
supposing that there was only one dissentient voice. The
inquisitors were afterwards obliged to consult the council on
all the judgements which they passed; and I must confess
that this measure was extremely useful, because, in a differ-
ence of opinion, the decisione of the supreme were much more
just than those of the tribunals of the provinces, from being
composed of a greater number of enlightened judges.

The council displayed the same love of justice in 1536,
when it decreed that those convicted of making use of gold,
silver, silk, or precious stones, should be punished by pecu-
niary fines, and not by fire, although they had been prohibited
from so doing on pain of being relared.

The decree most contrary to the wisdom which ought to
have animated the council, was that of the 7th of December,
1532, in which it was ordained that each provincial Inqui-
sition should state the number and rank of the persons
condemned to different punishments within their jurisdictions,
since their establishment, and to deposit in the churches those
San-benitos which had not been placed there, without even
excepting those of persons who had confessed and suffered
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Pope Adrian VI. (who had been’ inquisitor-general in
Spain), published a bull on the 20th July, 1523, in which he
says, that in the time of his predecessor Julius II. a
numerous sect had been discovered in Lombardy, which
abjured the christian faith, and abused the ceremonies of
religion and the eucharist. These sectarians acknowledged
. the devil as their patron, and promised obedience to him.

They sent maladies to animals and destroyed the fruits of
the earth by their enchantments. An inquisitor having
attempted to arrest and bring them to punishment, the. eccle-
siastical and secular judges opposed him, which led Julius II.
to declare that these crimes were within the jurisdiction
of the Inquisition, as well as all other heresies. In con-
sequence Adrian VI. reminded the different inquisitions
of their duty in this respect.

This bull was not necessary in Spain, as the Inquisition of
Arragon had taken cognizance of magic and sorcery, since
the pontificate of John XXII,

It appears that the Inquisition of Calahorra, burnt more
than thirty women as sorceresses and magicians in the year
1507. In 1527, a great number of women who practised
magic were discovered in Navarre.
~ These crimes increased so much in the province of Biscay,
that Charles V. found it necessary to notice it. Per-
suaded that the ignorance in which the people were left by
the priests, was the cause of these superstitions, he wrote in
December, 1527, to the Bishop of Calahorra, and to the
provincials of the Dominicans and Franciscans, to select a
number of able preachers from their communities, to teach
the doctrine of the christian religion on this point. But
these ministers of the gospel, even those who had acquired a
reputation for learning, believed as well as the enchanters
in these illusions.

Nevertheless, Father Martin de Castanaga, a Franciscan
monk, composed in that time, a book in Spanish, entitled,
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Secondly, If he had studied judicial astrology to discover
the future, by observing the conjunction of the stars at the
birth of persons.

Thirdly, If any person in order to discover the future, had
employed geomancy, hydromancy, aéromancy, piromancy,
onolffiiecy, necromancy, or sorceries by beans, dice or wheat.

Fourthly, Ifa Christian had made an express compact with
the devil, practised enchantments by magic, with instruments,
circles, characters, or didbolical signs; by invoking and con-
sulting demons, with the hope of a reply, and placing con-
fidence in them; by offering them incense, or the smoke of
good or bad substances; by offering sacrifices to them; in
abusing sacraments or holy things; by promising obedience
to them, and adoring or worshipping them in any manner.

Fifthly, Ifany one constructed, or procured mirrors, rings,
phials, or other vessels, for the purpose of attracting, en-
closing, and preserving ademon, who replies to his questions,
and assists him in obtaining his wishes; or who had endea-
voured to discover the future, by interrogating’the demons in
possessed people; or tried to produce the same effect by
invoking the devil under the name of Aoly angel, or white
angel, and by asking things of him with prayers and hu-
mility; by practising other superstitious ceremonies with
vases, phials of water, or consecrated tapers; by the in-
spection of the nails, and of the palm of the hand rubbed
with vinegar; or by endeavouring to obtain representations
of objects by means of phantoms, in order to learn secret

things, or which had not then happened.
Sixthly, If any one had read or possessed, or read or

poesessed at present, any manuscript or book on these mat-
ters, or coneerning all other species of divination, which is
not performed by natural and physical effects.

Although the edicts and punishments for sorcery were
extremely severe, they have appeared from time to time in.
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touched it with his hand, and that he did not dare to look
towards the earth for fear of fainting.” .

The Doctor Eugene Torralba, was born in the town of
Cuenga. In an examination he stated that at the age of
fifteen he went to Rome, where he was made a page of Don
Frangis Soderini, Bishop of Volterra, who was made a car-
dinal in 1503. He studied medicine under several masters,
who in their disputes attacked the immortality of the soul,
and though they did not succeed in convincing him, caused
him to incline to pyrrhonism. Torralba was a physician in
1501, at which period he became intimately acquainted with
Master Alphonso of Rome, who had renounced the law of
Moses for that of Mahomet, which he quitted for the Chris-
tian doctrine, and finished by preferring natural religion.
Alphonso told him that Jesus Christ was only a man, and
supported his opinion with several arguments : this doctrine
did not entirely eradicate the faith of Torralba, but he no
longer knew on which side the truth lay.

Among the friends he acquired at Rome, was a monk of
St. Dominic, called Brother Peter. This man told him one
day that he had in his service one of the good angels, whose
name was Zequiel, so powerful in the knowledge of the
fature, that no other could equal him; bat that he abhorred the
practice of obliging men to make a compact with him; that
hewasalways free, and onlyserved the person who placed con-
fidence in him through friendship, and that he allowed him
to reveal the secrets he communicated, but that any constraint
employed to force him to answer questions made him for
ever abandon the society of the man to whom he had attached
bhimself. Brother Peter asked him if he would not like to
have Requiel for his friend, adding that he could obtain that
favour on account of the friendship which subsisted between
them; Torralba expressed the greatest desire to become
acquainted with the spirit of Brother Peter.

Requiel soon appeared in the shape of a young man, fair,
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The greatest part of the information which 2equiel com-
municated to Torralba related to political occurrences,
Thus, when Torralba returned to Spain in 1510, being at
the court of Ferdinand the Catholic, Zequiel told him that
this prince would soon receive disagreeable news. Torralba
hastened to inform the Archbishop of Toledo, Ximenez de
Cisneros, and the great captain Gonzales Fernandez de Cor-
dova, and the same day a courier brought letters from
Africa, which announced the failure of the expedition
against the Moors, and the death of Don Garcia de Toledo,
son of the Duke of Alva, who commanded it.

Ximenez de Cisneros having learnt that the Cardinal de
Volterra had seen Zequiel, expressed a wish to see him also,
and to become acquainted with the nature and qualities of -
this spirit. Torralba, to gratify the archbishop, entreated
the angel to appear to him under any human form : Zequiel
did not think proper to do so; but to soften the severity of
his refusal, he commissioned Torralba to inform Ximenez de
Cisneros that he would be a king, which was in a manger
verified, as he became absolute governor of the Spains and
the Indies.

Another time when he was at Rome, the angel told him
that Peter Margano would lose his life if he went out of the
city. Torralba had not time to inform his friénd, he went
out and was assassinated.

Requiel told him that Cardinal Sienna would come to a
tragical end, which was verified in 1517, after the sentence
which Leo X. pronounced against him.

‘When he returned to que in 1513, Torralba had a great
desire to see his intimate friend Thomas de Becara; who was
then at Venice. Requiel, who knew his wish, took him to
that city, and brought him back to Rome in so short a time,
that the person with whom he was in the habit of associating,

. did not perceive his absence.

‘The Cardinal de Santa Cruz, in 1516, commissioned Tor-
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and guided through the air by a cloud of fire. Torralba
really went to that city, where Cardinal Volterra and the
grand prior requested him to give up his famtltar spirit to
them. Torralba proposed it to Zequiel, and even entreated
hkim to consent, but without success.

. In 1525 the angel told him that he would do well if he
returned to Spain, because he would obtain the place of
physician to the infanta Eleonora, queen dowager of Por-
tugal, and afterwards married to Francis I. King of France.
The doctor communicated this affair to the Duke de Bejar,
and to Don Stephen-Manual Merino, Archbishop of Bari;
they solicited and obtained for him the place which he
aspired to.

Lastly, on the 5th of May in the same year, Zequiel told
the doctor that Rome would be taken by the imperial troops
the next day. Torralba entreated his angel t6 take him to
Rome to witness this important event; he complied, and
they left Valladolid at the hour of eleven at night: when
they were at a short distance from the city, the angel gave
Torralba a knotted stick and said to him, Skut your eyes, do
not fear, take this in your hands, and no evil will befal you.
When the moment to open his eyes arrived, he found himself
#0 near the sea, that he might have touched it with his
hand; the black cloud which surrounded them was suc-
ceeded bya brilliant light, which made Torralba fear that he-
should be consumed. Requiel perceiving his fear, said,
Reassure yourself, fool ! Torralba again closed his eyes, and
when Zequiel told him to open them, he found himself in the
tower of Nona in Rome. - They then heard the clock of the
Castle St. Angelo sound the fifth hour of the night, which is
midnight according to the manner of computing time in
Spain, so that they had been travelling one hour. Tor-
ralba went all over Rome with Zequiel, and afterwards
witnessed the pillage of the city; he entered the house of
the Bishop Copis, a German who- lived in the tower of
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he had told him of it several times, desiring him not to go
to Cuencga, because he would meet with a misfortune there,
but that he thought he might disregard this advice.- He
also declared that there was no compact between them, and
that every circumstance had passed as he had related it.

The inquisitors considered all these details to be true,
and after taking a new declaration from Torralba, they
suspended his trial for the space of one year, from motives
of compassion,and with the hope of seeing if this famous
necromancer would be converted, and confess the compact
and sorcery which he had constantly denied.

A new witness recalled the memagy of his dispute, and
his doubts of the immortality of the soul, and the divinity
of Jesus Christ, which caused another declaration of the
Doctor in January, 1530. The council being informed ofit,
commanded the Inquisition to commission some pious and
learned persons to endeavour to convert the accused.
Augustin Barragan, prior of the Dominican Convent at
Cuenga, and Diego Manriquez, a canon of the cathedral,
undertook this task, and exhorted him vehemently. The
prisoner replied that he sincerely repented of his faults, but
that it was impossible for him to confess what he had not
done, and that he could not follow the advice given him, to
renounce all communication with Zegquiel because the spirit
was more powerful than he was; but he promised that he
would not desire his presence, or consent to any of his
propositions.

On the 6th of March, 1531, Torralba was condemned to
the usual abjuration of all heresies, and to suffer the punish-
ment of imprisonment and the San-benito during the plea-
sure of the inquisitor-general ; to hold no further com-
munion with the spirit Zequiel, and never to attend to any
of his propositions ; these conditions were imposed on him
for the safety of his conscience and the good of his soul.

The inquisitor seon put an end to the punishment of Tor~
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Estremadura, Saragosea, Valencia, Barcelona, Majorca, in
the Canaries, at Cuenga, in Navarre, Grenada, Sicily, Sar-
dinia, in Tierra Firma, and the isles of the American Ocean.
The Inquisition of Jaen had been united to that of Grenada.

The Inquisition had afterwards three tribunals in Ame-
rica, at Mexico, Lima, and Carthagena. In the Indies they
had been decreed but not organized.

By omitting the tribunals of America, Sardinia, and
Sicily, we shall find that there were fifteen in Spain, which
respectively burnt, annually, about ten individuals in person,
five in effigy, and subjected fifty to different penances; so
that in all Spain one hundred and #fty persons were burnt
every year; sixty-five in effigy, and seven hundred and fifty
suffered different canonical penances, which, multiplied by
the fifteen years of the administration of Manriquez, shews
that two thousand two hundred and fifty individuals were
burnt, one thousand one hundred and twenty-five in effigy,
and eleven thousand two hundred and fifty condemned to
penances ; in all fourteen thousand, six hundred and twenty-
five condemnations. This number scarcely deserves to be
mentioned in comperison with those of preceding times, but
still it appears enormous, particularly if the excessive abuse
of the secret proceedings is considered.

CHAPTER XVI.

OF THE TRIAL OF THE FALSE NUNCIO OFP PORTUGAL,
AND OTHER IMPORTANT EVENTS DURING THE TIME OF
CARDINAL TABERA, SIXTH INQUISITOR-GENERAL.

Quarrels of the Inquisition with the Court of Rome.

Cuarres V. appointed &rdinal Don Juan Pardo de Ta-
bera, Archbishop of Toledo, to succeed Cardinal Manriquez,
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Urban VIII., in the condemnation of the works of the Jesuit,
John Baptist Poza, which had been pronounced at Rome ;
and under Benedict XIV., when the inquisitor-general, Don
Francis Perezdel Prado, Bishop of Teruel, refused to enter
upon the proktbitory indez, the works of Cardinal Noris, in
opposition to the request, and even the formal demand, of
that great Pope.

Although the inquisitors of Spain pretended that their an-
thority was canonical and spiritual, and had been delegated
to them by the sovereign pontiff, who is infallible when he
pronounces ez cathedrd, yet they always opposed this infal-
libility in fact, and refused to submit to his decrees, when
contrary to their particular system. The inquisitors would
have acted differently, if they had not been certain that by
applying to the king and interesting his policy, they would
force the royal authority te take a part in their quarrels, and
_dppose the measures of the pontiff, who, if they had not pos-
sessed that powerful support, would have treated them as
rebels, and degraded them to the rank of simple priests by
depriving them of their employments.

History of the Viceroys of Sicily and Catalonia.

In 1535, Charles V., had deprived the Inquisition of the
royal jurisdfction, and it was not restored to them till 1545;
consequently, in 1543, they had not the privilege of trying
their officers, familiars, or other secular attendants of the
holy office, for matters not relating to religion. This royal
decree was known to the Captain-general of Catalonia, Don
Pedro Cardona, when he commenced proceedings against the
gaoler, a familiar and a servant of the grand-serjeant of the
Inquisition of Barcelona, for carrying arms, which was pro-

hibited in his government.
The inquisitors of Barcelona had become insolent, from

having always prevailed in affairs of this nature, and they
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Philip of Austria, Prince of Asturias, the eldest son of
Charles V., then aged sixteen, governed the Spanish do- -
minions during the absence of his father; and as he was not
less superstitious, his conduct towards the Marquis de Terra-
nova was the same as that of the emperor to Don Pedro
Cardona. I consider it necessary to give the letter of the
Prince to the Marquis de Terranova ; it was as follows :—
¢I, the Prince. Honourable marquis, admiral and consta-
ble, our dear counsellor : you know what happened when you
commanded -two familiars of the holy office to be whipped,
(while you were governor of this kingdom, and not well in-
formed of the affair.) So great a contempt for that holy
tribunal has been the result, that it has been impaossible for
it to command anything with the saccess which it formerly
obtained. On the contrary, several persons of this kingdom
have presumed to insult and use violence towards the officers
of the Inquisition, and to prevent and disturb them in the
xercise of their office, according to the complaints and infor-
mations which we have received on this affair. The reverend
Cardinal of Toledo, inquisitor-general, and the members of the
council of the general Inquisition, have deliberated with his
majesty, and it has been found proper and convenient that
you should do penance for the fault you have committed ;
saving that it should be gentle and moderate, in consideration
of the services you have rendered his majesty. In consequence,
the inquisitor-general and the council, guided by their esteem
for your person, have commanded the inquisitor Gongora to
speak to you, and represent your fault, that you may accom-
plish the penance imposed, which (according to the nature
of the fact, and the evil which has been the result) ought to
have been much more severe, as you will learn from what
the inquisitors have been commanded to sy to you. As to
the rest, this has only been decreed for the glory of God, the
‘honour of the holy office, and the good of your conscience.
‘We require and charge you, for the ke of the good example
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Feijoo quotes, contains fables, but it also contains truths
belonging to the history of the Inquisition. It is necessary
to enter into the details of this history : I shall first relate
the facts according to the narrative which Saavedra wrote
for the Cardinal Espinosa in 1567; I shall afterwards esta--
blish the truth on some points which that impostor contrived
to obscure.

Juan Perez de Saavedra was born at Cordova. His father
was a captain in a regiment of infantry, and a perpetual
member of the municipality of that city, from a privilege -
acquired by his family ; his mother, Anne de Guzman, was
descended from a family as noble as that of her husband.
Saavedra, who was possessed of great talents and informa-
tion, employed himself for some time in.forging apostolical
bulls, royal ordinances, regulations of councils and tribunals,
letters of change, and the signatures of a great number cf
persons: he imitated them so perfectly, that he made use of
them without exciting any doubts of their authenticity, and
passed for a knight commander of the military order of St.
Jago, and received the salary, which was three thousand
ducats, for the space of a year and a half. In a short time,
by means of the royal orders which he counterfeited, he ac-
quired three hundred and sixty thousand ducats, and the
secret of this great fortune would never have been revealed
(as he expresses himself in his confession)_if ke kad not
clothed himself in scarlet, that is, if he had not taken it into
his head to feign himself a cardinal, in order to exercise the
functions of a legate @ latere.

He says, that being in the kingdom of Algarves, a short
time after the institution of the Jesuits had been confirmed
by Paul III., a priest of that society arrived in the country,
furnished with an apostolical brief, which authorized him to
found a college of the order in the kingdom of Portugal;
that having heard him preach on St. Andrew’s Day, he was
80 pleased with him, that he invited him to dinner, and kept
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gave out that they were the familiars of a Cardinal from
Rome, who would pass through the city in his way to
Portugal, to establish the Inquisition by the order of the
Pore; they also announced that he would soon arrive, as he
travelled post.

At the appointed time Saavedra appeared at Badajoz,
where his servants publicly kissed his hand as the Pope’s
Legate. He left Badajos for Seville, where he was received
into the archiepiscopal palace of Cardinal Loaisa, who re-
sided at Madrid in the guality of apostolical commissary-
general of the holy crusade. He received the greatest marks
of respect and devotion from Don Juan Fernandez de Te-
mifo, the vicar-general. He remained eighteen days in this
city, and during that time obtained, by false obligations, the
sum of eleven hundred and thirty ducats from the heirs of
the Marquis de Tarifa. He afterwards took the road to
Llerena (where the Inquisition of Estremadura had been
established) after going to different towns in the province ;
he was lodged in part of the buildings of the Inquisition,
which was then occupied by the Inquisitors Don Pedro Al-
- varez Becerra and Don Louis de Cardenas, to whom he said
that he meant to visit the Inquisition of Llerena in his quality
of legate; and, after having fulfilled that part of his mission,
he should proceed to Portugal, where he should establish
the holy office on the plan of that of Spain.

Saavedra then returned to Badajoz, from whence he sent
his secretary to Lisbon with his bulls and papers, that the
ocourt being informed of his arrival, might prepare to re-
ceive him. The mission of this agent caused great doubts
and agitation at the court, where such a novelty was little
axpected : nevertheless the king sent a nobleman to the
frontier to receive the Cardinal Legate, who made his entry
into Lisbon, where he passed three months, and was treated
with every mark of respect: he then undertook a long
journey into different parts of the kingdom, going over the
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both parties, decreed that the alcaldes should remain in pos-
session of the person of Saavedra, and proceed against him .
for his exactions, forgeries, and other politiéal crimes, and
that the holy office should take cognizance of.the crimes
against the faith which he had been guilty of, under the title
of a cardinal.

The inquisitor reflected that Saavedra was a man of great
talent, and that he therefore should be treated with mode-
ration; besides that, he had always conducted himself like a
real Judge, except that he only condemned the accused to
pay fines.

" Saavedra declared that these reasons made the lllqulSItOl‘-
general wish to be personally acquainted with him; that he
caused him to be brought before him, heard him with interest,
and offered to protect him, promising to give him fora judge
any one that he named : that he then expressed a wish to be
judged by Doctor Arias, inquisitor at Llerena; this was
granted, and caused great murmurs against the cardinal and
the'court at Madrid, where it was whispered that Tabera
had appropriated the ninety thousand ducats which had been
taken from Saavedra: that Doctor Arias condemned him to
serve ten years in the king’s galleys; that, after a detention
of two years, the'alcaldes of Madrid pronounced his definitive
sentence, one of the principal parts of which was, that after
having fulfilled the inquisitorial sentence, he could not be set
at liberty, or quit the galleys without the permission of his
majesty, on pain of death; that he was sent to the galleys in

1544; that in 1554, although the period of his punishment
had expired, he could not obtain his liberty: then, persuaded
that his affair depended more on the Inquisition than the al-
caldes of the court, he endeavoured to interest the Pope in
his fate, representing that he had done several things ex-
tremely useful to religion and the state, in the exercise of his
false legation; that Paul 1V. sent him a brief, which was
addressed to the inquisitor-general Don Ferdinand Valdes,
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induced him to enter into the intrigue with the Jesuit; or
when he said that he sustained his part for three months at
Lisbon, and during three months which he employed in visit-
ing different towns in the kingdom.

Besides, the number and names of the disciples of St.
Ignatius were known at that period; and it is certain that
before the bull of approbation was obtained, the founder of
the order had appointed St. Francis Xavier and Simon
Rodriguez, a Portuguese, to preach in Portugal ; and that
these monks left Rome on the 15th of March, 1540, with
the Portuguese ambassador; that on their arrival at Lisbon,
John III. wished to receive them into his palace; that
they refased that honour, and lodged in the hospital ; that
St. Francis Xavier embarked for the East Indies, with the
new governor, on the 8th of April, 1541, and that Ro-
driguez remained in Portugal to preach, as he had already
done, to the great satisfaction of the inhabitants, who had a
high opinion of his virtues: these circumstances render it
improbable that the Jesuit would ask for a forged brief,
and enter into an intrigue with a layman.

Saavedra says, that the court of Lisbon was disturbed at
the news of the arrival of a nuncio in Portugal. This would
not be extraordinary, as neither the Pope nor any other person
had written to the court on the subject, and as the Pope had
appointed Don Henry, archbishop of Braga, the king’s
brother, inquisitor-general in the preceding year. But if
the arrival of the legate caused so much surprise, it was
natural that the king should write to the pope, whoee answer
would bave arrived two months afterwards, and Saavedra
would have been detected before the end of the third month,
and thus there would have been no necessity for the king of
Spain to arrest him.

It is-not more certain that Saavedra established the In-
quisition in Portugal. The expulsion of the Jews took place
in 1492 ; many of them retired to Portugal: among them
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quisitors, the Bishops of Coimbra, Lamego, and Ceuta ; and
decreed at the same time, that another bishop or priest of the
king’s nomination should be associated with them. The Pope
granted to each inquisitor the power of proceeding against
heretics and their adherents, in concert with the diocesan in
ordinary, or alone, if he refused to assist; they were likewise
obliged for the first three years, in the proceedings against
heretics, to conform to the manner of proceeding in cases of
theft or homicide, and after that period to the rules of com-
mon law; the practice of confiscation was abolished, and the
heirs of the condemned could inherit as if he died intestate.
Lastly, the Pope commanded that a sufficient number of tri-
bunals should be instituted, for the execution of these mea-
sures®. The king appointed Don Diego de Silva, bishop of
Ceuta, first inquisitor-general.

Such was the origin of the Inquisition in Portugal, four
years before Saavedra arrived in that country. In 1539,
the Pope appointed Don Henry, archbishop of Braga, to
succeed the first inquisitor-general. The third grand inqui-
sitor was Don George de Almeida, archbishop of Lisbon.

All that I have now stated is taken from authentic docu-
ments. I conclude from them that Juan Perez de Saavedra
forged his brief of cardinal d latere, presented it in December,
1540, and succeeded in concealing his forgery; that what he
related of the Jesuit was not true, or happened differently ;
that seeing the Inquisition established in a manner contrary
to his opinions, he insinuated that it would be better to take -
that of Spain as a model, which was well known to the inqui-
sitors of Llerena, and that he would visit the different parts
of the kingdom, to facilitate this design; that he travelled
through part of the kingdom in the month of December, and
continued his journeys in January in the following year, when
he was arrested, before the court of Lisbon received informa-

* Don Antonio Cajetan de Souza has inserted this bull in his genealo-
gical History of the Royal House of Portugal; Vol. II.
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pedited his bulls of confirmation on the 18th of February,

. 1546, and he died on the 22nd of April, in the same year.
In 1546, Charles V. resolved to establish the Inquisition
*at Naples, although his grandfather had failed in the attempt
" in1504and 1510. He commissioned his viceroy, Don Pedro
de Toledo, Marquis of Villa Franca del Bierzo, to- select
inquisitors and officers from among the inhabitants, to send
to the government a list of the persons chosen, and all the
necessary documents, that the inquisitor-general might be
able to delegate the necessary powers to the new inquisitors;
when these measures had been taken, the tribunal was to be
established with all the forms of the inquisiterial jurisdiction.

Frederic Munter, professor of theology in the literary
academy at Copenhagen, has supposed that the intrigues of
Don Pedro de Toledo were the causes of the introduction of
the Inquisition ; but he was not able to consult the original
documents, which are now inmy hands, and thisimpossibility
was the cause of his errors in his history of the Sicilian In-
quisition.

The efforts of Charles V., to establish the Inquisition at
Naples, arose from the progress which Lutheranism made in
Germany, and his fear that it would penetrate into other
countries. His inclinations were fostered by Cardinal Loaisa,
and the councillors of the Inquisition: the only part that
Don Pedro took in this affair, was, that he was the first
peraon to whom the emperor confided his intentions, and the
only one who had sufficient wisdom to advise his master to
relinquish his designs, when he found the evil they would
cause. The orders of the emperor were executed without
meeting any opposition, but scarcely was it known that some
persons had been arrested by the new Inquisition, than the
people rebelled, crying, ¢ Long live the Emperor! Perish
. the Inquisition I” The Neapolitane flew to arms, they com-
‘pelled the Spanish troops to retire to the fortresses, and
Charles V. was obliged to abandon his enterprise.
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Inquisition, and their rebellion in 1535, compelled Charles V.
to revoke the privileges which he had granted, and deprive
it of the royal jurisdiction for five years.

.. This measure humiliated the inquisitors, but they con-
trived to re-establish their authority in 1538, when the in-
quisitor Don Arnauld Albertius was viceroy ad interim : his
presence emboldened them to persecute all who offended
them; but their despotism was not of long duration. The
viceroy returned to Sicily, and finding that the aversion of
the inhabitants for the Inquisition was still the same, he -
communicated it to the emperor, who, as an indispensable
measure, prolonged the suspension of “their privileges for a
fresh term of five years. The aversion inspired by the holy
office was not without a cause, as will be seen in the follow-
ing affair, which happened in 1532.

Antonio Napoles, a rich inhabitant of the island; had been
thrown into the secret prisons of the Inquisition; Francis
Napoles, his son, applied to the Pope, and described this
act of authority as the result of a miserable intrigue of some
men of the lowest class, of whom the inquisitors had been
the dupes, and had granted them a degree of confidence
which nothing could justify, since his father had acted like
a good Catholic from his infancy. He represented that the
dean of the inquisitors had leagued with his father’s enemies,
and detained him in prison five months, to the scandal and
discontent of the inhabitants of Palermo, and without afford-
ing him any means of defence ; Francis entreated his holiness
not to allow the inquisitor to judge his father. The Pope
referred the affair to his commissioners in Sicily, Don
Thomas Guerrero and Don Sebastian Martinez. Scarcely
had the inquisitors of Madrid received information of this
event, than they pressed the emperor and Cardinal Manriquez
to write to the Pope, and represent to him that the existence
of this commission destroyed the privileges of the Spanish
Inquisition, on which that of Sicily depended. The weak
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Among the prisonsrs of the Inquisitian, was an unfortunate
creature who had inspired the Marchioness of Pescara, the
wife of the viceroy, with some interest. The inquisitors,
thinking it necessary to conciliate the first magistrate of the
island, remitted his punishment at the mequest of the mar-
chioness, but at the same time informed the inquisitor-general
of the circumstance, ta ayoid all reproach. The Supreme
Council having deliberated on the affair, addressed a severe
veprimand ta the inquisiters, for having assumed a right
which they did not possess, becauss, in affawrs of that nature,
iglarcession cauld not ba admiitied.

Wheun the Island of Malta helopged to the Spanish man-
archy, it was subject ta the Iaquisition of 8icily ; but when
it was given to the knights of St. John of Jerusalem, it
wauld have heen cantrary to the dignity of the grand-master
to permit the exercise of foreign jurisdictien in it, after hav-
ing received that of eoclesiastical power from the Pope.

A man was arrested in the Island as an heretic, and.the
Inquisition of Sicily took informations on the affair. The
grand-master wrote to demand them; the inquisitars con-
sulted the council, which directed them, in 1475, not only to
refuse them, but to claim the prisoner. The grand.master,
zesalved to defend his privileges, caused the man to he tried
in the island, and he was acquitted. This act displeased the
inquisitars, who, to revenge themselves, toak advantage of
an occurrence which took place in the following year.

Don Pedro de la Roca, a Spaniard, and a knight of Malts,
killed the first alguasil of the Bicilian Inquisition in the city
of Messina. He was arrested and conducted to the secret
prisons of the holy office. The grand-master claimed his
knight, as he alone had a right to try him. The council
being consulted, commanded the inquisitors te condemn and
punish the accused as an homicide. The inquisitor-general
oommunicated this resolution to Philip II., who wrote to the
grand-master to terminate the dispute.
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CHAPTER XVIII.

OF IMPORTANT RVENTS DURING THE FIRST YEARS OF THE
ADMINISTRATION OF THE EIGHTH INQUISITOR-GENERAL ;
RELIGION OF CHARLES V. DURING THE LAST YEARS OF
HIS LIFE.

Trials during the first years of the mz'nislry of Valdés.

Don FerpiNaND VALDES was the successor of Cardinal
Loaisa in the archbmhopnc of Seville, and the office of
inquisitor-general. - At the time of his appointment he was
bishop of Siguenta, ‘and president of the royal Council of
Castile, after having been successively a member of the grand
College of St.Bartholomew de Salamanca, of the Council
of Administration for the archbishopric of Toledo, for
the Cardmal Ximenez de Cisneros, visitor of the Inquisition
of Cuenga and of the Royal Council of Navarre, a member
of the Council of State, canon of the metropolitan church
of .Santiago de Galicia, counsellor of the Suprenie Inquisi-
tion, bishop of Elna, Orensa, Oviedo and Leon, and presi-
dent of the Royal Chancery of Valladolid. So many honours
could not render him insensible to the mortification of not
being & cardinal like his predecessors, and of seeing Bartho-
lomew Carranza elevated to ‘the see of Toledo. This was
the true cause of his cruel persecution of Carranza.

The Pope approved the nomination of Valdés in January,
1547, and he took possession of his office in the following
month. Valdés displayed an almost sanguinary disposition
during his administration. It led him to demand from the
Pope the power of condemning Lutherans to be burnt, even
though they had not relapsed, and had desired to be recon-
ciled. I shall here make known the most illustrious of the
victims sacrificed before the abdication of Charles V., as it is
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. give them a different sense from what they would otherwise
have had ; they took advantage of the favour he shewed to
Rodrigo Valero in 1640 during his trial, and of some other
circumstances, to injure him.

BEgidius was taken to the secret prisons of the holy office in
1550: he made use of this opportunity to compose his apo-
logy, which rendered the storm his enemies had raised still
more violent. His simplicity had made him, in his apology,
establish as certain principles, some propositions which the
scholastic theologians looked upon as erroneous, and tending
to heresy. The conduct and morals of Egidius were so pure,
that the emperor wrote in his favour, the chapter of Seville
fellowed his example, and (what is still more remarkable)
the licentiate, Correa, Dean of the inquisitors, was touched
by his innocence, and undertook to defend him against his
colleague, Pedro Dias, who bore the greatest hatred to the
accused. This circumstance was particularly mortifying to
Egidius, as his enemiy had formerly possessed the same
opinions, and had likewise studied in the school of Rodrigo

Valero.

-~ The interest which Egidius bad inspired induced the inqui-
siters to accede to his propossl of a discussion between him
and some learned theologians. Brother Garcia de Arias, of
the cenvent of St. Isidore of Seville, was chosen, but his opi-
mion was not deemed sufficient, and Juan Gil demanded that
the Dominican friar, Dominic Soto, should be summoned
to the conference. This incident retarded the trial, but Soto
arrived at Seville. -
. According to Gonzales de Montes, this theologian held the
same opinions as Egidius; but to prevent the suspicions
which might arise from this circumstance, he persuaded
Bgidius to draw up a sort of confession of faith. They agreed
that both should write their opinions, and only communicate
them to each other in public. This author states that these
wous of faith were compared, and found to accord
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was not undeceived, until some of his fellow-prisoners in-
formed him of the difference of his articles with those of
‘Soto, and the treachery of that monk.

Egidius took advantage of the short interval of. liberty
which followed his imprisonment to go to Valladolid, where
he had an interview with Doctor Cazalla and other Luthe-
rans in that city ; on his return to-Seville he fell sick, and
died in 1556. The tribunal being informed of his intercourse
with heretics, instituted another trial, and pronounced that
he died an heretic ; his body was disinterred, and burnt with
his effigy, in a solemn auto-da-fé, his memory declared in-
famous, and his property confiscated : this sentence was exe-
cuted in 1560. :
- It will be necessary here to quotea letter of Don Bartho-
lomew Carranza to Brother Louis de la Croix, a Dominican,
and his disciple. The archbishop mentions as a well-known
circumstance, that his catechism having been presented to the
holy office, Brother Melchior Cano and Dominic Soto had
been commissioned to censure it, and that they had judged
unfavourably of his work. He complained much of this con-
duct in Soto; he said he could not comprehend such scruples
in a man who kad been so indulgent to the Doctor Egidius
who was considered as an heretic, while, on the contrary, the
author of the Catechism: had combated the opinions of the
heretics of England and Flanders ; that Soto had judged the
book of a Dominican monk no less favourably, while he
treated an archbishop, whom he was bound to respect, with-
out consideration ; that he would, in consequence, write to
Rome and Flanders, where he hoped that his ptopositions
‘would be more favourably received than at Valladolid ; but
‘that, at all events, Pedro de Soto, confessor to the emperor,
.would write to Dominic, and he hoped that the Almighty
would allay the tempest which had been raised around him.

Brother Pedro wrote to Dominic Soto, and a correspond-

ence ensued between.him and the archbishop Carranza, on
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demned to be delivered over to secular justice, if the inquisi-
tors had not persisted in believing him to be mad, and if his
disciple Egidius, whose opinions were not then known, had
net undertaken his defence. Nevertheless he was condemned
in 1540 as an heretic and falee apostie ; he was admitted to
reconciliation, deprived of his property, condemned to the
San-benito, to perpetual imprisonment, and to assist on every
Sunday at the grand mass of St. Saviour of Seville.

Several times, when he heard the preacher advance pro-
positions contrary to his own, he raised his voice, and re-
proached him for his doctrine :- this boldness confirmed the
mquisitors in the opinion that he was deprived of reason :
he was shut up in a convent in the town of San Lucar de
Barrameda, where he died st the age of fifty. Gonzales de
Montes considers him as a man miraculously sent by God
to preach the truth: he adds, that his San-bentto was sus-
pended in the metropolitan church of Seville, where it ex-
cited great curiosity, as he was the first person condemned
as & false apostle.

_ Although, during the period of which I have related the
history, there were fewer Judaic heretics than in former
times, yet there were mamy more than might be supposed.
Of this number was Mary de Bourgogne, who was born
at Saragossa: her father-in-law was a native of Burgundy,
of Jewish extraction. A New Christian slave, (who had
renounced the law of Moses, to obtain his liberty, and
was afterwards burnt for having relapsed,) in 1562, de-
nounced Mary de Bourgogne, who resided in the city of
Murcia, and had attained her eighty-fifth year. This man
deposed that, before his conversion, some person asked him
if be was a Christian ; he replied that he was a Jew, and that
Mary then said to him: You are right, for the Christians
have nevther faith nor law. It will no doubt appear incre-
dible, but the trial proves that in 1557 she was still in
prison, waiting until sufficient proof was found to condemn
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in his retreat, the opinions of the German protestants; that
in his last illness he confessed himself to Constantine Ponce
de la Fuente, his preacher, who was afterwards known to
be a Lutheran; that after his death Philip II. commissioned
the inquisitors to examine the affair, and that the holy office
took poesession of the emperor’s will, to examine if it con-
tained anything contrary to the true faith. These statements
compel me to enter into some details which will elucidate
this point of history.

To ascertain that the report on the religion of Charles V.
is only an invention of the protestants and the enemies of
Philip IL., it is sufficient to read the life of that prince, and
that of his father, composed by Gregorio Leti. Although
this historian has made use of the least authentic documents,
in his work, he is entirely silent on this point. He enters
into a minute detail of the life and occupations of Charles V.
in his retreat, and he relates many decisive proofs of his
attachment to the catholic faith, and his zeal in wishing that
it might triumph over the Lutheran heresy; and though no
dependance can be placed on what he says concerning the
conversations of the emperor with the Archbishop Car-
ranza, (since there is nothing ‘relating to them in his trial,
which 1 have read,) yet it must be confessed that his recital
is otherwise very exact.

It is not true that Constantine Ponce de la Fuente attend-
ed the emperor in his last moments, either as his preacher,
(which office he had filled in Germany,) or as a bishop, since
he did not possess that dignity, as foreign authors have asserted
without any foundation, or as his confessor, since he had
never directed his conscience, though the emperor had
always |looked upon him as one of the most learned and
respectable priests in his kingdom. Lastly, Ponce de la
Fuente could not assist Charles V. in his last moments, since
it appears from his trial before the Inquisition of Seville,
that he wasin the secret prisons of the holy office long before
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ties, or rank, or quality of the persons; and that my inten-
tions may have their full and entire effect, I desire him to
protect the holy office of the Inquisition, for the great num-
bers of crimes which it prevents or punishes, remembering
that I have charged him to do so s» my "will, that he may
fulfil his duty as.a prince, and render himself worthy that
the Lord should meke his reign prosperous, conduet his
affaire, and protect him againgt his enemies, to my consola-
tim ..”

I have already stated, that no dependance can be placed
- on the account given by Gregorio Leti of the conversations
of the emperor with Don Bartholomew Carransa de Miranda,
archbishop of Toledo. It is certain that the emperor had a
great esteom for Carranza, which induced him to give him
the bishoprio of Cusco in America, in 1542, and of the
Canaries in 1549 ; to send him as theolagian of the emperor
to the Council of Trent, in 1545 and 1551 ; and to London
with his son Philip II., king of Naples and England, in 1554,
to preach against the Lutherans. Nevertheless, when he was
informed, in his retreat at Yuste, that Carranza had ac-
ocepted the archbishopric of Toledo, to which King Philip had
appointed him, he began to feel less esteem for him, because
he did not know that Carranza had refused that dignity, and
vamed three persens whom he considered more worthy to
ocoupy it. Philip was not only displeased at this refusal,
but he commanded him to obey the will of his sovereign, and
wrote to the Pope, who supported his order by a particular
brief addressed to Br. Bartholomew.

Charles V., at this period, had Br. Juan de Regla, a
Jeronimite, and a learned theologian, for his confessor. He
had assisted at the Council of Trent with Carranza, whom
he always treated as an enemy, because he was jealous of his
great reputation. I sha]l hereafter prove the disposition of
Juan de Regla towards Carranza; at present I shall only

* Sandoval's History of Charles V. vol. IL
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The first denunciation took place on the 9th of December:
it imported, that on the day before the death of the emperor,
the archbishop of Toledo kissed his majesty’s hand, and left
the room ; that he soon ’after returned ; and that he did so
several times, though the emperor shewed very little desire to
see him, and that he gave him absolution before he confessed
him ; which Juan de Regla imputed to the archbishop as a
sign of contempt or neglect of the sacrament : that in one of
these visits he said to the emperor, Your majesty may be
Jull of confidence, for there is not, nor ever has been any sin,
the death of Jesus having sufficed to efface it; that this dis-
course appeared bad to him,and that there were present Br.
Pedro de' Sotomayor and Br. Diego Ximenez, Dominicans,
Br. Marc Oriols de Cardona and Br. Francis Villaba, monks
of St.Jerome: the last was his majesty’s preacher; the Count
de Oropesa and Don Diego de Toledo his brother ; Don
Louis d’Avila Zufiga, grand commander of the military order
of Alcantara, and Don Louis de Quixada, major-domo to
the emperor. »

The inquisitor-general would not admit the Dominican
monks as witnesses, because he supposed them subject to the
archbishop : the evidences of Count Oropesaand his brother
were likewise rejected, because they were his friends. The
monk of St. Jerome declared that thc archbishop arrived at
Yuste on a Sunday, two days before the death of the
emperor ; that this prince would not see kim or allow him to
enter, but his major-domo, Don Louis de Quixada, undertook
to introduce him ; that Carranza threw himself on his knees
in the chamber, and that the emperor, without saying a word
to him, fixed his eyes upon him, like a person who wishes
to express himself by a look: that the persons who were
present retired : that when the archbishop came out of the
chamber he appeared discontented, and he the witness be-
lieved that he was so, having heard fromr William, the
emperor’s barber, that on the day when the news of the
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fundis; that Don Lonis d’Avila afterwards requested him to
speak to the emperor, and that he made him an exhortation.
When examined on the subject of the words and the seandal,
he replied that he did not hear or see anything that could
offend him. ’

Dot Louis d’Avila y Zufiiga cited the entrance of the
prelate ; and that he took a crucifix and knelt down, saying
with a loud voice, bekold Aim who answers for all ; there ¥s
no longer any sin, all vs pardoned. The witness did not
recollect if the archbishop sald, and kowever numerous the
sins may be, they are all pardoned : that these words did not
appear proper to him, and he requested the emperor’s
preacher to make him an exhortation, who afterwards told
him that his majesty appeared satisfied.

Don Louis de Quixada deposed that the archbxshop was
with the emperor three times before his death, that he saw
him take a crucifix, and that he pfonounced some words on
the subject of Jesus Christ dying for our sins, but he could
not recollect them, because his employment as major-domo
occupied him at the time.

These circumstances shew that Charles V. was far from
being inclined to Lutheranism at his death. It is equally
false that the inquisitors took his will, to examine if it con-
tained any sentiments tending to heresy. I have read or con-
sulted a multitude of books and papers in the archives of the
Inquisition, and could not discover anything to support the
opinion; so that nothing now remains but to seek the origin
of this fable.

A number of circumstances may have caused the Inquisi-
tion to be mentioned in relating the death of Charles V. The
first is, that Carranza, who attended him at his death, was
soon after arrested by the holy office ; the second, that his two
preachers, Constantine Ponce and Augustine Cazalla, were
condemned by that tribunal ; the third, that his confessor,
Juan de Regla, was obliged to abjure certain propositions ;
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He commenced the proceedings against Charles V.and Philip,
by the preparatory instruction, to shew that they were ene-
mies of the holy see, particularly in protecting the families of
Sforza and Colonna, whose hatred for the Pontiff was well
known. .

- To these reasons it was to be alleged that Charles V. was
a favourer of heretics, and suspected of Lutheranism, since
the publication of the imperial decrees at the diet of Augs-
burg, in 1554. The fiscal of the apostolical chamber then
demanded that the Pope should declare Charles V. to be
deprived of the imperial crown, and that of Spain and its
dependencies, and Philip of the throne of Naples; that bulls
of excommunication should be issued against them, and the
people of Germany, Spain, Italy, and particularly of Naples,
released from their oath of fidelity. Paul IV. suspended the
trial at this stage of the proceedings, to continue it when he
judged it convenient. He revoked at the same time all the
bulls which his predecessors had expedited in favour' of the
Spanish monarchs, for the collection of the annual subsidy
imposed on the clergy, and for the funds destined for the
holy crusade. The Pope was not content with this hostile
measure ; he entered into an alliance with Henry II., King of
France, to make war upon the house of Austria, until its
princes were deprived of their kingdoms.

- Charles V. was then- at Brussels, occupied in ceding the
empire of Germany to his brother Ferdinand, King of Hun-
gary and Bohemia, and in making over the crown of
‘Spain and the countship of Flanders to his son. This policy
was useful to Charles V., as it threw the weight of the em-
barrassment on Philip, who had just arrived from England
to receive his father’s instructions how to govern Spain. The
circumstances in which they found themselves required the
greatest prndence, for they not only had to fear the abuse
which the Pope might make of his apostolical and temporal
power, but also the consequences of the alliances which his
holiness had just signed with the King of France.
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in respect to our persons, on account of the great scandal
which would be caused by our confessing ourselves guilty,
since we are not o, and the great sin which we should com-
mit in so0 doing. In consequence, it has been decided, that
if I am interdicted from certain things, I am not obliged to
deprive myself of them, as those do who are excommunicated,
although a censure may be sent to me from Rome, according
to the disposition of his holiness. For after having destroyed-
the sects in England, brought this country under the in-
fluence of the church, pursued and punished the heretics
without ceasing, and obtained a success which has always
been constant, I see that his holiness evidently wishes to
ruin my kingdom, without considering what he owes to his
dignity ; and I have no doubt that he would succeed if we
consented to his demands, since he has already revoked all
the legations which Cardinal Pole received for this kingdom,
and which had produced so much benefit. These reasous,
" other important considerations, the necessity of preparing
for all events, and of protecting our people from being sur-
prised, have induced us to draw up, in the name of. his
majesty, and in our own, an act of recusatjon in form, of
which I intended to send you a copy; but as this piece is
very long, and the courier is setting out for France, it could
not be done, and I will send it by the courier going by sea, who
will soon set out. When you receive it, you must write to
the prelates, the grandees, to the cities, universities, and the
heads of orders, and inform them of all that has passed :
you must direct them to look upon the censures and inter.
dict sent from Rome as non-existent, because they are null,
unjust, and without foundation, for I have taken counsel on
what is permitted in these circumstances. If any act of the
Pope should arrive in the interim, it will be sufficient to
prevent it from being received, accepted, or executed; but
to preclude the necessity of coming to this extremity, you
must cause the frontiers to be strictly guarded, as we have
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pressed by the cardinals and people, demanded an armistice,’
which was granted. Instead of - taking advantage of this
favour to make peace on reasonable terms, the Pope con-
firmed his alliance with Henry II., and raised a war between
that monarch and the King of Spain, although Charles V.
had, in 1555, signed a truce of five years with that prince.

Henry, having lost the famous battle of St Quentm, on the
10th of August, 1557, the Pope became so alarmed, that he
demanded a peace at the time when the Duke of Alva was
preparing to enter Rome at the head of his army. The
viceroy renounced his design, but had the boldness to tell
the Pope that he would not make peace until he had asked
pardon of the king, his master, for having treated him with
so little respect. This message increased the alarm of the
old pontiff, who had recourse to the mediation of Venice.
The Pope refused to negotiate with the Duke of Alva, but
said, that he would consent to any propoeal from the King
of Spain, as he was persuaded that he would not impose any
condition on him contrary to his honour, or to the dxgmty of
the holy see.

The Duke of Alva wrote to Philip to request, that in this
instance, he would display the severity necessary to prevent
new divisions. But this-prince (who had signed on the 10th
of July, 1556, the excellent letter already quoted) had no
person in the following year to inspire him with sufficient
energy to follow the advice of his viceroy. He wrote to
command him to conclude a peace immediately, ¢ as he
would rather lose the privileges of his crown, than infringe
those of the holy see in'the slightest degree.”

The Duke of Alva was extremely displeased at tlus reso-
lution, but he immediately obeyed his master, and this sin-
gular peace was signed on the 14th of September, 1557, by
the Duke of Alva, and Cardinal Carafa, nephew and pleni-
potentiary to the Pope. The envoy made no reparation to
Philip 1L, and the following singular article is part of the
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to conform rigorously to the rules of the holy office of Spain.
in prosecuting the accused, although it was represented to
him that they had hitherto only known those of Ferdinand V.,
which were less severe.

Philip did not treat his Flemish subjects with less rigour.
In 1522 Charles V. appointed Francis de Hult, & lay couyn-
aellor of Brabant, inquisitor-general for the etates of Flan-
ders; and Adrian V1. invested him with the apostolical jurie-
diction, on the condition that he had priests and theologians
for assessors. Soon after three provincial inguisitors were
appointed, the averseer of the regular canans of Ypres for
Flanders and its dependencies ; the overseer of the clergy of
Mons for Hainsult, and the Dean of Louvain for Brabaut,
Holland, and the other provinces. The inquisitors-general
appointed by Clement VII. were Cardinsl Everard de la
Marche, Bishop of Liege, and Francis de Hult, before men-

“tioned. This measure did not deprive the other inquisitars
of their privileges ; those of Louvain in 1527, celebrated
several autos-da-fé, and condemned sixty persons to different
punishments. In 1529 terrible edicts were issued against
heretics, which were renewed in 1531, but with some miti-
gation.

At the death of the Dean of Louvain, Paul III., in 1537,
appointed as inquisitor-general for the Low Country the
successor in the deanery, and the canon Douce; they were
approved by Charles V. In 1555 Julius I1I. authorized the
sub-delegates of the dean and canon; Paul IV. did the
same in 1560 for the overseer of Valcanet, and the theolo-
gical doctor of Louvain, Michael Bayo. All these men took
the title of ecclesiastical ministers from the year 1550, when
Charles V. prohibited them from ever taking the name of
inquisitors, because it was obnoxious to the people. The
Flemish Inquisition was extremely severe in the first period
of its existence ; it inflicted the same punishments as that of
8pain, but applied them to a greater number of cases.
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diminish the power of the holy see. The Milanese imme-
diately protested against the introduction of a tribunal, of
which they had formed the most unfavourable opinion. The
bishops of Lombardy were not less averse to it, as they
knew that in Spain the bishops were not only deprived of all
power, but had fallen into contempt from the despotism of
the inquisitors, who had taken possession of the episcopal
privileges, and enjoyed them in peace under the protection
of the sovereign, who had no adviser in these affairs but the
inquisitor-general. '

The city of Milan sent deputies to the' Pope (who was a
native of that place), to entreat him to preserve his country
from the danger which threatened it. They also sent
deputies to Madrid to demand that things should remain in
the same state, and applied at the same time to the Milanese
bishops at the Council of Trent to support their cause before
that celebrated assembly. Pius IV. told the deputies that
he would never allow the Spanish Inquisition to be esta-
blished in Milan, as he knew its extreme severity, and pro-
mised that their tribunal should be dependant on the Court
of Rome, whose decrees were extremely mild, and gave the
accused every facility in their defence.

During the course of this negotiation, the Duke de Sesa,
wishing to execute his master’s private orders, established
the tribunal of the Inquisition in the city of Milan, of which
he was the governor, and published the names of the sub-
delegated inquisitors. This declaration displeased the Mi-
lanese, who began to excite popular commotions, and cried
Long live the king ! perish the Inquisition!

The Milanese bishops at the Council of Trent disinclined
all the Italian prelates to the Spanish Inquisition; the
legates of the Pope who presided at the council, declared in
favour of the Milanese, and Cardinal S. Charles Borromeo
pleaded the cause of his countrymen in the college of car-
dinals, and placed them under their protection. The Duke

-
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those of Spain, which obliged the prince to renew his orders
in 1549. Philip II. undertook to organize the tribunal on
the plan of that of Spain. In 1653 and 1565 he renewed
his father’s injunctions to leave the Indians under the juris-
diction of the bishope; and in 1569 he published a royal
ordinance, importing that the inquisitor-general had ap-
pointed inquisitors, and commanding the viceroys and go-
vernors to give them every assistance in their establishment.
These inquisitors were received with great ceremony at
Panarma and Lima, when they first formed the tribunal.

In 1570 Philip II. appointed an Inquisition at Mexico,
and in 1571 established three tribunals for all America; one
. ot Lima, one at Mexico, and the other at Carthagena,
assigning to each the extent of territory which they were to
poesess, and subjecting them to the authority of the inqui.
sitor-general and the Supreme Council.

The first auto-da-fé in Mexico took place in 1574 ; it was
celebrated with so much pomp and eplendour, that eye-
witnesses have declared that it could only be compared to
that of Valladolid in 1559, at which Philip II. and the royal
family attended. A Frenchman and an Englishman were
burnt as impenitent Lutherans ; eighty persons were recon-
ciled, and subjected to different penances. The Inquisition
of Carthagena was not established at this period; it was
founded in 1610 by Philip III.

The great fleet of the Catholic league against the Emperor
of Constantinople, which gained the famous battle of
Lepanto, inspired Philip II. with the project of creating an
Inquisition for heretics who might be found in ehips. As
the authority of the inquisitor-general did not extend be-
yond the dominions of the King of Spain, it was considered
necessary to apply to the Pope, who in 1571 granted the
brief, which was demanded, authorizing the inquisitor-
general to create the new tribunal, and appoint judges and
officers. It was first known by the name of the Inquisition
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prosecuted by the Inquisition, they had agreed, lst, to
communicate reciprocally everything which might interest
the Inquisition; 2nd, to arrest in their respective jurisdic-
tions those subjects who were designated; 3rdly, to keep
them prisoners, and to claim the writings of the trial, be-
cause this measure was less inconvenient than the exchange
of the prisoners. ’

This convention was obscured several tim@s; but in 1588
the inquisitors of Lisbon sent a requisition to those of Valla-
dolid, to deliver up to them Gonzales Baez, who had been
arrested at Medina del Campo: they replied that this
demand could not be admitted, as it was contrary to the
convention. The inquisitors of Portugal acknowledged the
justice of this claim ; but those of Spain, who in 1568 found
themselves in the same situation, refused to conform to the
measure, because they had at their head Cardinal Espinosa,
who was all-powerful with Philip. The cardinal informed
Don Henry that he had not ratified the convention, and that
he considered it more proper that the prisoner should be
given up to the tribunal which had instituted the trial. He
requested Cardinal Henry to apply to both their sovereigns,
and promised to propose to the King of Spain a measure
which should be a general rule for all cases in future.

Don Henry commissioned Francis Pereira, the Portuguese
ambassador at* Madrid, to terminate this dispute with Car-
dinal Espinosa. While this affair was being negotiated,
-several Spaniards who had been condemned by the tribunal
of Llerena to be burnt in effigy as contumacious, were
arrested in Portugal by the inquisitors of Evora, who im-
-mediately demanded the writings of the trial according to
‘the convention of 1544. The tribunal of Llerena replied
.that it was impossible not to follow the example of Cardinal
Espinosa. Almost at the same time these inquisitors
arrested some Portuguese who had escaped from their
country. The Bishop of Portalegre, inquisitor of Evora,
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pation of the Jews. Don Francis de Castro died, and it was
necessary to appoint another inquisitor-gemeral; but the
bulls of confirmation were not less difficult to obtain than
those for bishops, as the Pepes, Urban VIII., Innocent X.,
and ‘Alexander VII., avoided declaring in favour of either
the King of Spain or the Duke of Braganza. At last Portu-
gal triumphed over the efforts of Spain, and the Inquisitions
of the two kingdoms seldom had any communication. '

That I may not pass over any event tending to prove the

attachment of Philip II. for the Inquisition, I shall here
mention a project for a military order of the holy office,
which would never have been conceived, if the partiality of
the monarch for this tribunal had: net been generally
known.
- Some fanatics thought to please him by founding a new
military order under the nameof St. Mary of the White Sword.
The object of this institution was to defend the Catholie
religion, the kingdom of Spain, its frontiers, and forts, from
any invasion ; to prevent the ingress of Jews, Moors, and
heretics ; and to execute any measures which the inquisitor
might command. To be a member of this order it was neces-
sary to produce proofs and witnesses that they descended
neither from Jews, Moors, or any Spaniard- condemned and
punished ‘'by the holy office ; mobility was not necessary.
The members of this association were independent of the
jurisdiction of the bishops and civil authorities; they were
all to take the field and fight in defence of the frontier
towns, but they acknowledged o chief but the mqnuitor.
general. :

This scheme was adopted by the provineet of Castile, Leon,
the Asturias, Arragon, Navarre, Galicia, Guipuscoa, Alava,
Biscay, Valencia, and Catalonia. ‘The statutes of the order
received the approbation of the inquisitor-general and the
Supreme Council; the ‘founders and the representatives of
the metropolitan churches of Toledo, Seville, Santiago, Gre-
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of the inquisitor-general, who might follow their example ;
he therefore commanded that the proceedings should be
suspended, and the interested persons informed that it had
not been found necessary to create a new order.

CHAPTER XX.

THE INQUISITION CELEBRATES AT VALLADOLID, IN 1559,
TWO AUTOS-DA-FE AGAINST THE LUTHERANS, IN THR
PRESENCE OF SOME MEMBERS OF THE ROYAL PAMILY.

First Auto-da-fé.

* Tag trial of Juan Gil, Bishop of Tortosa, so much alarmed
many Lutherans, that they quitted the kingdom.  Of this
number were Cassiodorus de Beina, Juan Perez de Pineda,
Cyprian de Valera, and Julian Hernandez ; the three first
published catechisms, translations of the Bible, and other
works written in the Castilian tongue, in foreign countries *.
Juan Perez published his at Venice in 1556, and they were
soon after introduced into Spain by Hernandez, who was
arrested by the Inquisition. The citations and inquiries
made in consequence of the trial of Hernandez, in order to
discover the religious opinions of the persons with whom he
associated, caused an infinite number of trials to be instituted -
during the fifteen years following, in all the tribunals of
Spain, particularly in those of Seville and Valladolid. In
1557 and 1558, the Inquisition arrested a great number of
persons distinguished by their birth, their offices, or their
doctrine. Some indications found in the writings of the
trials, of a vast scheme tending to the propagation of the

* Pellecyr, Fnsago de Biblioteca de T'raductores Espaiioles. Amcles,
Reina, Perez, and Valera. :
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the same time executed the dispositions of another bull,
which granted to the holy officé; on account of its inéreased
éxpenses in travelling and maintaining so great a number of
prisoners, the revenues of a canonship in each metropolitan
¢hurch, cathedral, and college, i the kingdom. Anothér
btief granted them a subsidy of one hundred thousand-ducats
" of gold, to be imposed on the ecclesiastical revenues of the
kingdom, to pay the debts contracted from the same cause.
It is surprising that after eighty years of confiscation, the
éstablishment should complain of distress. These bulls how-
ever were not sufficient to procure money, owing to the re-
sistance of several chapters, particularly that of Majorca.
11 1574 they still remained unexecuted, when Gregory XIIL.
¢onfirmed them, and the King of Spain was obliged to force
the rebel canons to submit.

* The arrest and trial of so great a number of Spaniards
necesearily caused an auto-da-fé to be celebrated in many
tribunals; but as the victims in those of Valladolid and
8eville were persons distinguished, some for their nobility,
éthers for their doctrine, and all for the purity of their lives,
the ceremonies in these cities were more noted than the others:
and I do not hesitate in affirming that all that has been writ-
tén against the Spanish Inquisition in Germany and Ffance
was only caused by the treatment of the Lutherans at Se.
ville and Valladolid (for, until then, scarcely anything had
been written on the subject), though the number of Lutherans
who perished was small, when compared to the enormous
dnd almost incredible number of those who had suffered as
Jews or Mahometans.

The first solemn auto-da—fe of Valladolid, was celebrated
on the 2lst of May, 1559, in the grand square, and in the
presence of the Prince Don Carlos, and the Princess Juana,
of the civil authorities, and of a considerable number of
the grandees of Spain, besides an immense multitude of
people. - The arrangement of the scaffolds and seats have
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on the 4th of March, was conducted to the dungeon where
it was to be inflicted, butitdid not take place, as the prisoner
promised to make a confession. He gave it in wntmg_, and
ratified -it on the 16th, acknowledging that he was a
Lutheran, but denied having taught the doctrine. He ex-
plamed the motives which had prevented him from making
this declaration before; and promxsed to be a good catholic
for the future, if reconciliation was granted him: but the
inquisitors did not think proper to spare him the capital
punishment, as the witnesses affirmed that he had dogma-
tized. . Cazalla, however, continued to give every possible
proof of conversion until his execution : when he saw that
death was inevitable, he began to preach-to his companions
in misfortune. Two days before his death, he related some
particulars of his life. He was born in 1510 : at the age of
seventeen he had Bartholomew Carranza de Miranda, for his
confessor, in the college of St. Gregory at Valladolid ; he
continued his studies at Meala de Henares, where he re-
mained till 1536. In 1545 Charles V. made him his preacher,
in the followmg year he accompamed that prince to Ger-
many, and stayed there till 1552, prem.hmg against the
Lutherans; he returned in that year to Spain, and retired
to Salamanca, where he lived for three years, going. some-
times to Valladolid. He once attended, by the emperor’s
order, af an assembly where Don Antonio Fonseca, presi-
dent of the Royal Council of Castile, presided, and at which
the Licentiate Otalora, the Doctors Ribera and Velasco,
auditors of the council and chancery, and Brothers Alphonso
de Castro, and Bartholomew Carranza, assisted. The object
of the meeting was to decide on the course to be pursued on °
the occasion .of certain briefe which the Court of Rome had
expedited against those who approved of the decrees of the
Council of Trent, which continued to assemble in that city,
though the Pope had commanded that it should be trans-
ferred to Bologna. Cazalla declared that all the members
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Francis de Vibero Cazalla, brother to Augustin, a priest,
and Curate of Hormigos in the diocese of Paléncia, at first
denied the charges, confessed them when tortured, ratified
his confession, and demanded to be admitted to reconciliation:
This was refused, as it was supposed that he had only con-
fessed from the fear of death. In fact he ridiouled [his
brother’s exhortations on the scaffold, and expired in the
flames without shewing any signs of repentance. "He was de-
graded from the priesthood, as well as hn brother, beforé he
ascended the scaffold.

Donna Beatrice de Cazalla, sister to the above-mentioned
persons, and Alphonso Perez, at fivst denied the charges,
confessed during the torture, demanded reconciliatxon, but
were strangled and burnt.

Don Christobal de Ocampo, of Seville, a knight of the
order of Bt. John, and almoner to the Grand Prior of Cas:
tile and Leon, and Don Christobal de Pudilla, a knight :and
inhabitant of -Zamora, were condemned to the same punish:
mefit for Lutheranism.

The licentiate: Antonio H‘errezuelo, a lawyer of thecity of
Toro, condemned as & Lutheran, died without any signs of
repentance. Doctor Cazalla addressed some words to him in
particular ; Antonio ridiculed his discoursé, although he' was
already fastened to the stake. One of the archers, furious at
# much cotrage, plunged his lance into the body of Herre-
suelo ; he died without uttering a word.
¢ Juan Garcia, & goldsmith of Valladolid, and the licentiate
Perez de Herrera, judge of the court dgainst smugglers, in
Logrono, suffered as Liatherans. Gonzalez Baes, the Por
tuguese mentioned in the preceding chnpter, suﬂ'ered as a
Judaic heretie.

" Donna Catherine de Ortegn, widow of the commander
Loaisa, and daughter to Hernand Diaz, ‘fiscal ‘of the Royal
Council of Castile, was condemned as & Lutlieran, and made
her confession. She suffered the same fate with Oathierine
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- Don Juan de Ulloa Pereira, a knight commander of the
order of St. John of Jerusalem. He was son and brother
to the Lords de la Mota, who were soon after made Mar-
quisses, and an inhabitant of Toro. He was condemned, for
Lutheranism, to wear the San-benito, to be imprisoned for
life, and to be deprived of his property. - He was declared
infamous, incapable of obtaining dignities, stript of the habit
and cross of his order, and banished from Madrid, Valla-
dolid, and Toro, but was prohibited from quitting the king-
dom. In 1565, Ulloa represented his situation to the Pope,
reminding him of his services in fighting against the Turks,
particularly when he took five ships of the pirate Caramani
Arraez; he added ‘that the inquisitor-general had remitted
the continuation of his penance for more. than a year, but
that he wished to regain his rank as a knight, as he was still
capable of serving. The Pope granted a brief in favour of
Ulloa, rehabilitating him in his privileges as a knight, with
a particular clause, stating that what had passed could not
prevent him from attaining the superior dignities of his order,
provided the inquisitor-general and the grand master of
Malta approved the decree. Ulloa was then reinstated in
his commandery.

Juande Vibero Cazalla, a brother of Augustm, and Donna
Juana Silva de Ribera, his wife, were condemned as Lu-
therans, to be deprived of their liberty and their property,
and to wear the San-benito. ’

Donpa Constance de Vibero Cazalla, sister of Augustin,
and widow of Hernand Ortiz, was condemned to wear the
San-benito, to perpetual imprisonment, and the confiscation
of her property. When Augustin saw his sister pass, he
turned to the princess governess, and said to her: Princess,
I entreat your highness to have.compassion on that unfor-
tunate woman, who will leave thirteen orphans.

- .Eleonora de Cisneros, aged twenty-four, the wife of Anto-
nio Herrezuelo, and Donna Francisca Zuiiiga de Baeza, were
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and sixteen admitted to recenciliation, The king was ac-
companied by his son, his sister, the Prince of Parma, three
smbassadors from France, the Arehbishop of Beville, the
Bishops of Palencia and Zamora, and other bishops eleot ;.
there were also present, the constable and admiral, the Dukes
de Naxara and d’Arcos, the Marquis de Denia, afterwards
Duke of Lerma, the Marquis d’Astorga, apd the Count
de Uregna, afterwards Duke of Ossuna, the Count de Be-
navente, the Copnt de Buendia, the last grand-master of the
military order of Montesa, Don Louis Borgia, the Grand
Prior of Castile and Lean, a knight of the arder of St. John
of Jerusalem, Don Antonio de Toleda, san and brother to
the Dukes of Aloa; severa] other grandees.of Spain, not
pamed in the verbal-process of this execution, and many per-
sons of lower rank; the Countess de Ribadabia, and other
ladies of distinction, besides. the counals the tribunals, and
other authorities.

The sermon on the faith was preached by the Bishop of
Cuenga: the Bishops of Palencia and Zamora degraded the
eondemned priests; and theinquisitor-general, the Archbishop
of Seville, demanded and received from the king the same
cath which had been admmutered to Don Carlos. The can-
demned persons were :—

Don Carlos de Seso, a noble qf Verona,son to the Bntop
of Placenza in Italy, and of one of th t noble families in
the country ; he was forty-three years of age, passed for s
learned man, who had rendered great services to the em-
peror, and had held the office of Corregidor of Toro. He
* married Donna Isabella de Castilla, daughter of Don Francis
de Castilla, who were descended from the king Don Pedro
the Cruel. After his marriage he settled at Villamediana,
near Logroio, He there openly preached heresy, and was
the principal author of the progress of Lutheranismat Valla-
dolid, Palencia, Zamora, and the boroughs depending on
those cities. He was arrested at Logroiio, and taken to the
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of Bartholomew Carranza. His father was the Marquis de
- Poza, who had two children punished in the first auto-da-fe’.
Brother Dominic was forty years of age. He was taken at
Calahorra disguised as a layman ; he had taken the habit to
conceal himself from the agents of the Inquisition, until he
could escape to Flanders, after an interview which he wished
to have with Don Carlos de Seso. He made his first decla-
ration before the Holy Office, on the 13th of May, 1558 ;
he was obliged to make several others, because he retracted
in one what he advanced in another; he was condemned to
the torture for these recantations. Brother Dominic in-
treated that he might be spared the horrors of the question,
as he dreaded it more than death. This request was grauted
on condition that he would promise to reveal what he had
hitherto concealed ; he consented, and added several new
declarations to the first; he afterwards demanded to be re-
conciled. On the 7th of October, he was exhorted to prepare
for death, he then made some discoveries in favour of persons
against whom he had spoken in the preceding examinations;
but he refused to confess, and when he descended from the
scaffold of the auto-da-fé, he turned towards the king, and
exclaimed, that he was going to die for the true faith, which
was that of Luther. Philip II. commanded that he should
be gagged. He was still in that situation when he was fast-
ened to the stake ; but when they began to light the fire his
courage failed, he demanded a confessor, received absolution,
and was strangled.

Juan Sanchez, a servant of Pedro de Cazalla and Donna
Cathenne Hortega ; he was thirty-three years of age The
to Valladolid, in orderto escape tothe Low Countries, under
the forged name of Juan de Vibar. The inquisitors were
informed of his intention by his letters written at Castrour-
diales, addressed to Donna Catherine Hortega, while she was
in prison. The inquisitors gave information to the king,
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1541 allow the sentence of death to be revoked if the cri-
minals repent before they are given up to secular justice.
the inquisitor-general sent Don Alphonso Giron a second
* time to his cousin, to exhort her to confess all, and avoid
death. This conduct of Valdés displeased the inquisitors of
Valladolid, who spoke of it as a singular and scandalous pre-
ference. Valdés applied to the Supreme Council, which
commanded that the visit should be made in the presence of
one or two inquisitors, This last attempt did not succeed
better than the first; Marina persisted in her declaration,
and was burnt.

Donna Catherine de Reinoso, a nun in the same convent,
Donna Margaret de St."Etienne, and Donna Maria de Mi-
randa, nuns of Santa Claraat Valladolid were likewise stran-
gled and burnt as Lutherans.

Pedro de Sotelo and Francis d’Almarzo suffered, the
same punishment for Lutheranism, with Francis Blanco a
‘New Christian, who had abjured Mahometanism, and had
afterwards fallen into error.

. Jane Sanchez, of the class of women called Beates, was
condemned as a Lutheran; when she was informed of her
sentence she cut her throat with a pair of seissors, and died
impenitent some days after in the prison.” Her corpse was
taken to the auto-da-fé on a bier, and burnt with her effigy. "

Sixteen persons were condemned to penances. I shall

only mention those distinguished for their rank or the nature
of their trials. ’
.. Donna Isabella de Castilla, the wife of Don Carlos de
Seso, voluntarily confessed that she had adopted some of her
husband’s opinions; she was condemned to wear the san-
benito, to be imprisoned for life, and to be deprived of her
property. .

Donna Catherine de Castilla, the niece of the above, suf-
fered the same punishment.

Donna Francisca de Zuiiga Reinoso, sister to Donna Ca-
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these persons: the trial of Carranza Archishop of Seville
was the origin of a great number against bishops and other
distinguished individuals. I have confined myself to those
of which I could consult the papers; it would be a task be-
yond the strength of one man to read all that have accumu.
lated in the archives.

CHAPTER XXI.

HISTORY OF TWO AUTOS-DA-FE, CELEBRATED AGAINST
THE LUTHERANS IN THE CITY OF SEVILLE.

AN auto-da-fé¢ was celebrated on the 24th of September,
1559, in the place of St. Francis, at Seville, not less cele-
brated for the rank of the condemned, than for the naturg
of their trials. Four bishops attended at it; the coadjutor
of Seville, those of Largo and the Canaries, who happened
to be in the city, and of Tarrazona, whom the king had au-
thorized to reside at Seville as vice-inquisitor-general.

" The inquisitors of the district of Seville were Don Michel
del Carpio, Don Andrea Gasco, and Don Francis Galdo;
Don Juan de Obando represented the archbishop. I make
this remark, to shew that none of the judges were named
Pargas, as the author of a romance entitled Cornelia Bo-
rorquia, has asserted.

This auto-da-fé was celebrated before the royal court of
justice, the chapter of the cathedral, some grandees of Spain,
and a great number of titled persons and gentlemen; the
Duchess of Bejar was present with several ladies, and an
immense concourse of people. Twenty-one persons were
relazed, with an effigy of a contumacious person, and eighty
persons condemned to penances, the greatest number of whom
were Lutherans; I shall mention the most remarkable in-
stances.
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He was condemned as an impenitent Lutheran : he at first
denied the charges, but confessed during the torture: the
inquisitors sent a priest, with whom he was well acquainted,
to persuade him that it would be to his advantage if he con-
fessed the truth. Ponce was deceived, and made the con-
fession they required; but on discovering his mistake, the
day before the auto-da-fé, he made one truly Lutheran, and
treated the priest who attended him with contempt. Gon-
zalez de Montes pretends that he persisted in his sentiments,
but he is mistaken, for Ponce confessed when he was fastened
to the stake, and was strangled before he was burnt.

Don Juan Gozalez, a priest of Seville, and a celebrated
preacher of Andalusia, embraced Mahometanism at twelve
years of age, because his parents were Moors, but he was
reconciled by the Inquisition. Some time after he wasim- -
prisoned as a Lutheran, but obstinately persisted in refusing
to confess, even when tortured ; affirming that his opinions
were founded on the Holy Scriptures, and that, conse-
quently, he could not be a heretic. This example was imi-
tated by his two sisters, who suffered in the same auto-da-f¢.
When the gags were taken from their mouths, Don Juan
told them to sing the 106th psalm. They died (say the Pro-
testants) in the faith of Jesus Christ, and detesting the errors
of the Papists. A

‘Brother Garcia de Arias (surnamed the White Doctor, on’
account of the extreme whiteness of his hair) was a Jeroni-
mite of the Convent of St. Isidore, at Seville; he was con-
demned as an impenitent Lutheran, and perished in the

* flames. He had professed the doctrines of Luther for several
ears, but his sentiments were known only to the principal
partisans of the heresy, such as Vargas, Egidius, and Con-
stantine ; his prudence was so great, that he was looked
upon as an orthodox theologian and of the greatest piety :
he even carried his dissimulation so far as to profess to be an
enemy to the Lutherans. He was several times employed to
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Maria Bohorques, also perished in this auto-da-f¢é. They
were all young, and of the highest class of nobility. The
history of the last of these ladies ought to be made known,
on account of some circumstances in her trial, and because a
Spaniard has composed a novel under the title of Cornelia
Bororquia, which he affirms to be rather a history than a
romance, although it is neither the one nor the other, but
a collection of scenes and events badly conceived, in which
he has not even given the actors their true names, from not
having understood the History of the Inquisition by Lim-
borch. This historian has mentioned two of the ladies by the
names of Cornelia and Bohorquia, which means Donna Maria
Cornel, and Donna Maria Bokorquia. The Spanish author
has united these names, to designate Cornelia Bororquia, an
imaginary person. He has supposed a love intrigue between
her and the inquisitor-general, which is absurd, since he was
at Madrid. He 'has also introduced examinations, which
never took place in the tribunal ; in short, the intention of
the author was to criticise and ridicule the Inquisition, and the
fear of being punished for it, induced him to fly to Bayonne.
A good cause becomes bad when falsehood is employed in
its defence: the true history of the Inquisition, is sufficient

. to shew how much it merits the detestation of the human

.race, and it is therefore useless to employ fictions or satire.
The same may be said of the Gusmanade, a French poem,
containing assertions false and iujurious to the memory of St.
Dominic de Guzman, whose personal conduct was very pure,
though he may be blamed for his conduct to the Albigenses.

Donna Maria de Bohorques, was the natural daughter of
Pedro Garcia de Xerez Bohorques of one of the first fami-
lies of Seville, and from which sprung the Marquises de
Ruchena, grandees of the first class. She was not twenty-one
years of age when she was arrested as a Lutheran. She had
been instructed by the doctor, Juan Gil (or Egidius), was
perfectly acquainted with the Latin language, and under-
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babbler : she added, that it was no longer a time to dispute,
and that the few moments they had to live ought to be em-
ployed in meditating on the passion, and death of their
Redeemer, to reanimate the faith by which they were to be
justified and saved. Although she was so obstinate, several
‘priests, and a great number of monks, earnestly entreated that
she mlght be spared, in consideration of her extreme youth and
surprlsmg merit, if she would consent to repeat the Credo.
The inquisitors granted their request; but scarcely had
Maria finished it, than she began to interpret the articles on
the catholic faith, and the judgment of the quick and the
dead, according to the opinions of Luther: they did not
give her time to conclude, the executioner strangled her,
and she was afterwards burnt. Such is the true history of
Maria Bohorques, according to the writings of the Inquisition.
Paul IV. died at Rome on the 18thof August, 1559, a few
days before the auto-du-f¢ at Seville. When the people learnt
this event, they went in crowds to the Inquisition, set all
‘the prisoners at liberty, and burnt the house and the archives
of the tribunal. It cost much money and trouble to prevent
the enraged populace from burning the convent De la Sa-
pienza of the Dominicans, who conducted all the affairs of
the Roman Inquisition. The principal commissioner was
‘wounded, and his house burnt. The statue of Paul IV. was
taken from the capitol and destroyed ; the arms of the house
of Carafa were everywhere defaced, and even the mortal re-
wains of the Pope would have been abused, if the Canons of
the Vatican had not interred him secretly, and if the guards
had not defended the pontifical residence®*. This revolt of
the Romans did not alarm the inquisitors of Spain, where the
. people had been brought up by the monks in different prin-
ciples from those professed by their ancestors under the reign
of Ferdinand, and the first ten years of that of Charles V.

" * Fleury, Hist. Eccles. liv. 154, ann. 1559,! No. 14,
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it, and assured that he would triumph over the competitors.
This, in fact, took place in 1556, in opposition to the appeals
and intrigues of the only person who had the courage to
compete “with him. While Constantine continued to enjoy
general esteem, the declarations of a great number of pri-
soners who were arrested for Lutheranism, caused his arrest
in 1558, some months before the death of Charles V. During
the time that he was preparing his defence, an accident hap-
pened which rendered it useless.

- Isabella Martinez, a widow of Seville, was arrested as a
Lutheran. Her property was sequestrated ; but it was soon
found, that Francis Beltran, her son, had concealed several
chests of valuable effects before the inventory was taken.
Constantine had committed some prohibited books to the
care of this woman, who concealed them in her cellar. The
inquisitors sent Louis Sotelo, the alguazil of the holy office,
to Francis Beltran, to claim the effects which he had con-
cealed. Francis, on seeing the alguazil, did not doubt that his
mother had declared the concealment of the books given to her
care by Constantine, and without waiting until Sotelo should
tell him the cause of his visit, he said, Sezior Sotelo, I suppose
-that you come for the things deposited in my mother's house.
If you will promise that I shall not be punished for not giving
tnformation of them, I will shew you what there is hidden
there. Beltran then conducted the alguazil to his mother’s
house, and pulled down part of the wall, behind which the
Lutheran books of Constantine had been concealed ; Sotelo,
astonished at this sight, told him that he should take pos-
session of the books, but that he did not consider himself
bound by his promise, as he only came to claim the effects
which he bhad concealed. This declaration increased the
alarm of Beltran, and he gave everything up to the alguazil,
on condition that he might remain free in his house. This
denunciation had been made by a servant, who hoped to ob-
tain the benefit of the act of Ferdinand V., which assigns the
fourth part of the concealed effects to the informer. .
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entire figure with the arms spread, as Constantine was ac-
customed to do when preaching, and was clothed in garments
which appeared to have belonged to him. After the auto-

da-f¢, this figure was taken back to the Holy Office, and a
common effigy was burnt with the bones of the condemned.

- Another prisoner died in the dungeons of the Inquisition ;
he was (according to Gonzalez de Montis) a monk of the
Convent of St. Isidore, named Ferdinand. The same author
affirms, that one Olmedo, a Lutheran, was likewise carried
off by an epidemic disease which ravaged the prisons, and that
he uttered groans similar to those of Constantine when he
was dying. I have not found that any Inquisition in Spain
has, of late years, condemned any person to this sort of
dungeon, unless the torture was decreed ; the inquisitors of
that time cannat be pardoned for making them a common
prison. :

- The Doctor Juan Perez de Pineda, whose effigy was the
third in the auto-da-fé, was born at Montilla in Andalusia:
he was placed at the head .of the College de la Doctrine, in
which the young people of Seville were educated.

. He made his escape when he was informed that the inqui-
sitors were about to arrest him as suspected of Lutheranism.
Proceedings were instituted against him as contumacious, and
he was condemned as a formal Lutheran heretic. He had
composed several works : the Index prohibited the following :
The Holy Bible, translated into the Castilian tongue;a Cate-
chism, printed at Venice in 1556, by Pedro Daniel : The
Psalms of David in Spanish; and a Summary of the Christian
Doctrine. Juan Perez had attained a great age when he
was condemned. Of the fourteen persons who were recon-
ciled in the second auto-da-fé, the most remarkable were :—

Julian Hernandez, surnamed the Ltttle, a native of Villa-
verde. The wish to promulgate Lutheran books in Seville
induced him to go to Germany. He gave the books to Don
Juan Ponce de Leon, who undertook to distribute them.
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that the vessel did not belong to him, and that it could not
be included in the confiscation ; but his efforts to recover it
were useless.

Two other foreigners shared the fate of Burton. One was
an Englishman named William Brook, born at Sarum, and a
sailor; the other was a Frenchman of Bayonne, named
Fabianne, whose trade required his presence in Spain.

The Beata protected by Francis Zafra, who had recovered
her senses, but persisted in her heresy, was burnt in this
auto-da-fé, with five women of her family. Thirty-four
persons were condemned to penances. The most remarkable
instances were :— ' ' :

John Fronton, an Englishman of the city of Bristol, who
came to Seville, where he was informed of the arrest of
Nicholas Burton. He was the proprietor of a considerable
part of the merchandise taken from Burton, and after prov-
ing this fact by documents which he brought from England,
he claimed restitution. He was subjected to great delays
and expenses, but as it was impossible to deny his rights, the
inquisitors promised to restore the merchandise; in the mean
time they contrived that witnesses should appear and depose
that John Fronton had advanced heretical propositions, and
he was taken to the secret prisons. The fear of death induced
Fronton to say everything that the inquisitors required, and
he demanded reconciliation. He was declared to be violently
suspected of the Lutheran heresy. This was sufficient to au-
thorize the inquisitors to seize his property, and he was
reconciled, condemned to forfeit his merchandise, and to
wear the san-benito for the space of one year. This is a re-
markable proof of the mischief produced by the secrecy of
the inquisitorial proceedings. If the affair of John Fronton
had been made public, any lawyer would have shewn the
nullity and falsehood of the ¢mstruction. Yet there are
Englishmen who defend the tribunal of the holy office, as a
useful institution, and I have heard an English Catholic priest
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Maria Gonzalez, a servant of this man, was condemned
$o receive two hundred stripes, and to be banished for ten
years. Her crime was, having received money from some
prisoners, and having permitted them to see and converse
with each other.

Donna Jane Bohorques was declared innocent. She was
the legitimate daughter of Don Pedro Garcia de Xeresy
Bohorques, and the sister of Donna Maria Bohorques, who
perished in a former auto-da-fe. She had married Don
Francis de Vargas, lord of the borough of Higuera. She
was taken to the secret prisons, when her unfortunate sister
declared that she was acquainted with her opinions, and had
not opposed them ; as if silence could prove that she had
admitted the doctrine to be true. Jane Bohorques was six
months gone with child ; but this did not prevent the inqui-
sitors from proceeding in her trial, a cruelty which will not
surprise, when it is considered that she was arrested before
any proof of her crime had been obtained. She was de-
livered in the prison, her child was taken from her at the
end of eight days, in defiance of the most sacred rights
of nature, and she was imprisoned in one of the common
dungeons of the holy office. The inquisitors thought they
did all that humanity required in giving her a less incomve-
nient cell than the common prison. It fortunately happened
that she had as a companion in her cell a young girl who was
afterwards burnt as a Lutheran, and who pitying her situa-
tion, treated her with the utmost tenderness during her
convalescence. She soon required the same care ; she was
tortured, and all her limbs were bruised and almost dislo-
dated. Jane Bohorques attended her in this dreadful state.
Jane Bohorques was not yet quite recovered, when she
was tortured in the same manner. The cords with which
Rer still feeble limbs were bound penetrated to the bone,
and several blood vessels breaking in her body, torrents of
blood flowed from her mouth. She was taken back to her



Digitized by GOOS[Q



228 _ HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.  [Chep. XXIL

this measure has not been, and is not well observed. In
order to prevent any difference for the future, in the conduct
of the tribunals, and the forms which should be followed, it
has been resolved, after communicating and consulting with
the council of the general Inquisition, that the following
order shall be obeerved by the tribunals of the holy office:—

1st. When the inquisitors admit an information, which
shews that propositions have been advanced which ought to
be denounced to the holy office, they must consult theolo-
gians of learning and integrity, and capable of qualifying the
said propositions; they shall give their opinion in writing,
accompanied by their signature.

2nd. If it is certain from the opinion of the theologians
that the object of their examination is a matter of faith, or
if it is apparent without consulting them, and the denounced
fact is sufficiently proved, the procurator-fiscal shall denounce.
the author of it, and the individuals implicated, if there are
any, and shall require that they be arrested*.

3rd. The inquisitors shall be assembled to decide if impri-
sonment should be decreed; in doubtful cases, they shall
summon consultors, if they find it necessary +.

4th. When the proof is not sufficient to cause the arrest
of the denounced person, the inquisitors shall not cite him to
appear, or subject him to any examination, because experi-
ence has shewn, that an heretic who is at liberty will not con-
fess, and this measure only makes him more reserved and
attentive in avoiding everything that may increase the sus-
picions or the proofs brought against him.

* The informer is admitted as a witness, in contempt of the rule of.
right, and the punishment due to a false witness is not inflicted, if he is
discovered to be such.

+ They never found this measure necessary. The old bulls and the
Cortes had provided that the interlocutory act of arrest should be con-
sented to, and signed by the inquisitor in ordinary of the diocese. Reason
dictated this measure, because the decrce for an arrest does mot permit
the summons, :
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be dangerous for him to be in possession of ; he shall not allow
him to have any communication, either by speech or writing
with the other prisoners, without receiving permission from
the inquisitors. He shall remit all the effects found upon the
person of the prisoner to the goaler, and shall take a receipt,
with the date of the day on which the remittance took place.
The goaler shall inform the inquisitors of the arrival of the
prisoner, and he shall lodge him in sych amanner, that he can-
not have at his disposal anything which might be dangerous
in his hands, unless they are confided to him, and he is obliged
to be responsible. One of the notaries of the holy office shall
be present, and shall draw up the verbal process of the de-
cree of imprisonment and its execution ; even the hour when
the prisoner entered the prison must be mentioned, as this
point is important in the accounts of the cashier.
11th. The goaler shall not lodge several prisoners together,
he shall not permit them to communicate with each other,
unless the inquisitors allow it.
12th. The goaler shall be provided with a register, in
which all the effects in the chamber of the prisoner, with
the clothes and food which he receives from each detained
person, shall be noted ; he shall sign the statement with the
“recorder of the sequestrations, and shall give notice of it to
the inquisitors; he shall not remit any food or clothing
to the prisoners without examining them with great atten-
tion, to ascertain if they contain letters, arms, or anything
of which they might make a bad use. '
13th. When the inquisitors think proper, they shall order
“the prisoner to be brought into the chimber of audience ;
they shall cause him to sit on a bench or small seat, and take
an oath to speak the truth, at this time, and on all succeeding
audiences ; they shall ask him his name, his surname, his
age, his country, the place where he dwells, his profession
and rank, and the time of his arrest ; they shall treat him
_ with hqmanity, and respect his rank, but without derogating
from the authority of judges, that the accused may net in-
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. pect that they have been deceived by the witnesses, and that
they shall be so by the accused, and that they should not
take either side; for, if they adopt an opinion too soon, they
‘will not be able to act with that impartiality which is suit-
able to their station, and on the contrary will be liable to
fall into error.

17th. The inquisitors shall not speak to the accused during
the audience, or at other times, of any affair not relating to
his own. The recorder shall write down the questions and’
replies ; and, after the audience, he shall read it to the ac-
cused, that he may sign it. If he wishes to add, retrench,
alter, or elucidate, any article, the recorder shall write after
his dictation, without suppressmg or certifying the articles
already written.

18th. The fiscal shall present lns act of accusation within
the time prescribed by the ordinances; he shall accuse the
prisoner of being an heretic in general terms, and afterwards
mention, in particular, the facts and propositions of which he
is charged. The inquisitors have not the right of punishing
an accused person for crimes which do ot relate ‘to matters
of faith; but if the preparatory instruction mentions any, the
fiscal shall make it the object of an accusation, because this
circumstance, and that of his general good or bad conduct,
assists in determining the degree of credence to be given to
his replies, and serves for other purposes in his trial.
- 19th. Although the-accused may confess all the charges
brought against him in the first audiences of admonition,
yet the fiscal shall draw up and present his act of accusation,
because experience has shewn, that it is better that a trial,
caused by the denunciation of a person who is a party in
the cause, should be continued and judged at the prosecution
of the denunciator ; that the inquisitors may be at liberty
to deliberate on the application of punishments and penances,
which would not be the case if they proceeded officially.

20th. Whenever the accused shall be admitted to an
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has the right of being present when the witnesses take their
oaths. .
24th. The recorder shall read to the advocate all that the
aocused has declared relating to himself, but shall omit all
that he has said concerning others; this communication is
necessary to the advocate, that he may establish the defence
of his client. If he wishes to make any additions to his
declaration, the advocate must be obliged to retire.

25th. If the accused has attained the age of twenty-five
years, a guardian shall be appointed for him before the a¢-
cusation is read. The advocate may fill that office, or any
other person of known honour and integrity. The prisoner,
with the approbation of his guardisn, shall ratify all that he
has declared in former audiences; and he shall afterwards
be attended by the same person in all the circumstances of
the trial.

26th. Where the proof has been admitted, the fiscal shall
announce in the presence of the socused, that he reproduces
and presents the witnesses and the proofs which existed in
the writings and the registers of the holy office; he shall
demand that they proceed to the ratification of the witnesses
who have been examined in the preparatory instruction,
that the witnesses shall be confronted and the depositions
published. If the accused or his advocate speak at this
time, the recorder shall write down all that they say.

-27th. If the accused confesses himself guilty of another
crime, after the proof is admitted, the fiscal shall accuse
him of it, and he shall be prosecuted according to the ordi-
nary forms. If the proof of the first crime is increased, it
will be sufficient to inform the prisoner of the circumstance.

28th. In the interval between the proof and the publica-
tion, the prisoner may demand audiences, through the
gaoler. The inquisitors must grant them without delay,
in order to profit by the inclination of the accused, which
may change from day to day.
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that those already made are more extended-than in their
" own declarations; and although such circumstances may
have occurred, and the accused has denied the charges, they
" shall cause the delay of the formalities and the conclusion of
" the trial. )

32nd. The inquisitors shall fulfil the form of the publica-
tion, dictating to the recorder all that is to be written in the
presence of the accused, or they shall write it themselves
and sign it. This writing shall be dated with the year, the
- month, and the day, when the witnees deposed, provided that
it is not inconvenient to do so; it would be improper if the
" deponent was in prison. They shall also mention the time
and place when the facts occurred, because this is useful to
the accused in his defence; but the place must only be
designated in general terms. In the copy of the deposition
the third person shall be used, although the witness spoke in
the first. Thus it must be said : The witness has seen-or
heard the accused conversing with an individual, &c.*

33rd. If an accused, who has made declarations in several
sittings, reveals crimes committed by persons whom he
named, and afterwards makes new declarations, only cites
these persons in a vague and general manner, employing for
example, the words, all those whom I have named, or a
" similar expression; these accusations cannot be. brought
against any accused person, asthey do not apply in a direct
manner ; this must oblige the inquisitors to pay attention
to the prisoner who speaks of different individuals, and
cause him to name them one after the other, and afterwards
* tostate the facts or words which he imputes to them.

34th. Although the accused has denied the charges, the
publication of the depositions must be read to him, that he

® This form is very prejudicial to the prisoner, when the ‘conversation
takes place with one person, because the manner of relating the fact
supposes three, the accused, the interlocutor, and the individual who has
seen or heard. .
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his defence, he shall be furnished with paper : but the sheets
shall be counted and numbered by the recorder, that the
accused may give them back again either writtén upon or
blank. When his work is finished, he shall be allowed to
converse with his advocate, to whom he may communicate
what he has written, on condition that his defender restores
the original without taking a copy when he presents his
address to the tribunal. When theré is an examination in
the defence of the prisoner, he shall be required to name, on
the margin of each article, the witnesses he wishes to eall,
that those who are the most worthy of credit may be ex-
amined. - He must also be required to name as witnesses
none but Christians of ah ancient race, who are neither his
servants nor relations, unlese it is a case when the questions
can only be answered by them®. Before the address is
presented by the advocate, if the accused requires it, it shall
be communicated to bim, and the inquisitors shall desire the
advocate te confine himself to the defence of the accused in
what he has to say, and to observea strict silenes on every-
thing said in the world, as experience has shewn the incon-
venience of this sort of revelations, even in respect to the
aecused persons ; they shall cause him to restore all the
papers, without taking copies of them, or even of the
address, of which he must give up the notes, if there
are any.

'37th. Whenever the prisoner is admitted to an audience,
the fiscal shall examine the state of the trial, to ascertain if
he has declared anything new of himself or others; he shall
receive his declaration judicially, and mark the names of the
persons of whom he has said anything, and all the other
points which might elucidate the affair, in the margin.

* The New Christians, the relations, the servanta, malefactors, in-
famoug persons, in fact every man, a wife, a child, are admitted to depose
against the accused, and he cannot call as a witness any person who is a
relation or a servant !
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vations which he thinks proper in giving his vote, without
being interrupted or prevented. If the inquisitors give dif-
ferent votes, they shall explain their motives, to prove that
there is nothing arbitrary in their conduct. The recorder
shall write each opinion in a register prepared for the pur-
pose, and shall afterwards join it to the trial, to give
testimony of it. )

41st. When the accused confesses himself guilty, and his
confessions have the required conditions, if heis not relapsed,
he shall be admitted to reconciliation; his property shall be
seized; he shall be clothed in the habit of a.penitent, ora
San-bensto (which is a scapulary of linen or yellow cloth,
with two crosses of St. Andrew of another coléur), and he
shall be confined in the prison for those who are condemned
to perpetual imprisonment, namely, that of Mercy. As to
the colours of the habit he is to wear, and the confiscation of
his property, there are Fueros and privileges existing in
some provinces of Arragon, and other rules and customs
which must be conformed to, in acquitting the criminal, and
restoring his ordinary garments to him, according to the
sentence. If it is proper that he should remain in prison for
an unlimited time, it shall be said in his sentence, that his
punishment shall last as long as the inquisitors think proper.
If the accused has really relapsed, after abjuring a formal
beresy, or is a false penitent when he has abjured as violently
suspected, and is convicted in the present trial of the same
heresy, he shall be given up to the common judge according
to the civil law, and his punishment shall not be remitted,
although he may protest that his repentance is sincere, and
his confession true in this case.

42nd. The abjuration must be written after the sentence,
and signed by the accused; if he is incapable of signing it,
this ceremony must be performed by an inquisitor and the
recorder; if the condemned abjures in a public auto-da-f¢,
the abjuration must be signed the next day, in the chamber
of audience.
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reveal anything in being tortured .as a witness, he shall
nevertheless be condemned as an accused ; but if the question
forces liim to confess his crime, and that of another person,
and he solicits the indylgence of his judges, the inquisitors
shall conform to the rules of right.

46th. If only a semi-proof of the crime exists, or if ap.
pearances will not admit of the acquittal of the prisoner, he
shall make an abjuration as being either violently or slightly
suspected. As this measure is not a pumshment for the past,
but a precaution for the future, pecuniary penalties shall be
imposed ; but he shall be informed that if he again commits
the crime for which he was denounced, he will be considered
as having relapsed, and be delivered over to the seculas
judge; for this purpose he shall sign his act of abjuration.

47th. In cases whére only the semi-proof, or some indications

of a crime exist, the accnsed has been sometimes permitted
to clear himself canonically before the number of persens
appointed in the ancient instructions; the inquisitors, the
ordinary, and the consultors, may therefore allow it if they
think proper, but they must observe that this proceeding is
very dangerous, not often used and can only be employed .
with great caution®.

48th. The third manner of proceeding in this case is to
émploy the question. This measure is thought to be dan-
gerous and not certain, because its effects depend upon the
physical strength of the subject; consequently no rule can

* It was not often used, becanse the inquisitors were unwilling to re-
veal the secret of their m-egular proceedings ; they considered it danger~
ous, because it was favourable to the accused, in the few cases where it
had been employed ; they wished it to be used with great caution, because
they felt that those who are not inquisitors act like judges. The canoni-
eal proof takes place in the presence of twelve persons, who declare upon
oath whethér they believe the accused to be innocent or guilty. They
were a kind of jury, to whom the inquisitors were obliged to show the
original process, and thus the wcmd depended more upon the jury than

\ the inquisitors.
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in the tribunal, the first shall abstain from performing his
office, and the second shall take his place, after the council
has been informed of the circumstance. If there is only one
inquisitor in the tribunal, the proceedings shall be suspended
until the decision of the Supreme Council has been received ;
the same course shall be pursued if there are several inqui-
sitors, and they are all challenged.

53rd. Twenty-four hours after the accused has been put
to the question, he shall be asked if he persists in his decla-
rations, and if he will ratify them. The notary of the
tribunal shall appoint the time for this formality, and like-
wise that for the application of the question. If at this
moment the accused confesses his  crimes, and afterwards
ratifies his declarations in such a manner that the inquisitors
may believe him to be converted, repentant, and sincere in
his confessions, he may be admitted to reconciliation, not-
withstanding the article in the ordinance of Seville, in 1484.
If the accused retracts his declarations, the inquisitors shall
proceed according to rule.

- 54th. When -the inquisitors, the ordinary, and the con-
sultors decree the question, they shall not decide on what is
to be done after it has been administered, as the result is
uncertain, nothing being regulated on this point. If the
accused resists the torture, the judges shall deliberate on the
nature, form, and quality of the torture which he has suf-
fered, on the degree of intensity with which it was inflicted,
on the age, strength, health, and vigour of the patient; they
shall compare all these circumstances, with the number, the
seriousness of the indications which lead to the supposition
of his guilt, and they shall decide if he is already cleared by
what he has suffered; in the affirmative they shall declare
him free from prosecution, in the other case he shall abjure
according to the nature of the suspicion.

55th. The judges, notary, and the executioners shall be
* present at thetorture; when it is over, the inquisitors shall
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memory and property; and, if there is cause to pursue the
trial of the deceased, a copy of the depositions and the act of
accusation shall be remitted to them, and all that they ad.
vance in defence of the accused shall be received.
60th. If the mind of an accused person becomes deranged
before the conclusion of the trial, a guardian or defender
shall be appointed for him ; if the children or relations of
the accused present any means of defence in his favour to the
tribunal, when he is in possession of his senses, the inquisitors
shall not permit them to be joined to the other writings of
the process, because neither the children nor relations of the
accused are lawful parties; yet in a distinct and separate
writing they may decree what they think fit, and take mea-
sures to discover the truth, without communicating with the
prisoner, or the persons who represent him.
61st. When sufficient proof exists to authorize prooeedings
against the memory and property of a deceased person, ac.
eording to the ancient tnstruction, the accusation of the fiscal
shall be signified to the children, the heirs, or other interested
persons, each of whom shall receive a copy of the notification.
If no person presents himself to defend the memory of the
accused, or to appeal against the seizure of his goods, the
inquisitors shall appoint a defender, and pursue the trial,
oonsidering him as a party. If any ope interested in the af-
fair appears, his rights shall be admitted, although he should
be a prisoner in the holy office at the time; but he shall be
_. obliged to choose a free person to act for him. Until the
#iffair is terminated, the sequestration of the property cannot
- "take place, because it has passed into other hands: yet the
possessors shall be deprived of it, if the deceased is found
guilty.
62nd. If a person is found not liable to prosecution, this
resolution of the tribunal shall be announced in the auto-da-fé
by a public act, in any manner most suitable to the interested
perty ; the errors with which he was charged shall not be
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definitive sentence on their. own votes, and that of the ordi-
nary, unless the importance of the case compels them to
apply to the council, even if .the inquisitors, the consultors,
and ordinary are unanimous®. _

67th. The secret notaries shall draw up as many hteral and
certified copies of the declarations of ‘the witnesses, and the
confessions of the accused, gs there are persons designated as
guilty, or suspected of the crime of heresy, that there may
be a separate proceeding against each; for the writings which
contain the original charges are not sufficient, since experi-
ence has shewn that it always causes confusion, and the pre-
scribed method has been employed several times, although it
increases the labour of the notaries.

68th. When the inquisitors are informed. that any of the
prisoners have communicated with other detained persons,
they shall ascertain the truth of the fact, inform themselves
of the name and quality of the denounced persons, and if they
are accused of the same species of ‘crime. - These details shall
be, mentioned in the process of each prisoner. In these
cases little credit can be given to any subsequent declarations
made by these persons, either in their own cause, or in the
trial of another.

.69th. Where a trial has been suspended by the i mqmsxtors,
if another commences, though for a different crime, the
charges of the first shall be added to those of the second, and
the fiscal shall maintain them in his act of accusation, be-
cause they aggravate the new crime of which the prisoner is
accused.

70th. When two or more prisoners have been placed in
the same prison, they shall not be afterwards separated, or
.introduced to other companions ; if extraordinary circum-
-stanices make it impossible to comply with this order, they
shall be stated in the process of each person, and this incident

* It was afterwards regnlnted that this.should be done in all definitive
schtences, .
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73rd. When an inquisitor visits the towns of the district
of his tribunal, he shall not undertake any trial for heresy,
or arrest any denounced person, but he shall receive the de-
clarations, and send them to the tribunal. Yet if it is the
case of a person whose flight may be apprehended, he may
be arrested and sent to the prisons of the holy office; the
inquisitor may also decide upon affairs of small consequence,
such as heretical blasphemies, which may be judged without
arresting the parties. The inquisitor shall not exercise this
authority without being empowered by the ordinary.
* 74th. In the definitive sentence pronounced against an
individual declared guiity of heresy, and condemnéd to be
deprived of his property, the period when he first fell into
heresy shall be indicated, because this knowledge may be
useful to the steward of the confiscations ; it shall likewise
be mentioned if this declaration is founded on the confession
of the accused, on the depositions of the witnesses, or on
both. If this formality is omitted, and the steward démands
that it shall be fulfilled, the inquisitors shall comply ; if it
cannot be done by all together, it shall at least be executed
by one of them, or the consultors.

75th. An account shall be given by the gaoler of thé
common and daily nourishment of each prisoner, according
to the price of the eatables; if there is in the prison a
person of quality, or who is rich and has several domestics,
he shall be supplied with the quantity of food which he re-
quires, but only on condition that the remnants be distri-
buted to the poor, and not given to the gaoler.

76th. If the prisoner has a wife or children, and they require
to be maintained from his sequestrated property, a certain
sum for each day shall be allowed them, proportioned to
their number, age, quality, and the state of their health, as
well as to the extent and value of these possessions. If any
of the children exercise any profession, and can thus provide
for themselves, they shall not receive any part of the allowance,
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and if they are well treated. In those places where there
is no perpetual prison a house shall be provided instead,
for without this precaution it is impossible to inflict the
punishment of imprisonment on those who are condemned
to it, or to ascertain if they faithfully accomplish their
penances.

81st. The San-benitos of all those persons who have been -
condemned to relazxation, shall be exposed in their respective
parishes, after they have been burnt in person or in effigy;
the same shall be done with the San-benitos of the reconciled
persons, after they have left them off : no San-benitos shall
be suspended in the churches for those individuals who have
been reconciled before the term of grace, as they have not
been condemned to wear them. The inscription for the
San-benito shall consist of the names of the condemned
persons, a notice of the heresies for which they were
punished, and of the time when they suffered their penance,
in order to perpetuate the disgrace of the heretics and their
descendants.

As this formulary is still in force in the tribunals of the
holy office, it appeared to me useless to follow minutely the
details of the events of the reign of each inquisitor-general,
since the nature of the institution may be known by the
picture I have given of its laws and ordinances, and by the
observations which I shall have occasion to make. in the re-
mainder of the history.

I shall only say, that Don Ferdinand Valdés was, in 1566,
succeeded by Don Diego Espinosa, Bishop of Siguenza and
President of the Council of Castile. Espinosa died on the 5th
of September, 1572. Don Pedro Ponce de Leon, Bishop of
Placentia and Estremadura, was the next inquisitor-general,
but he died before he had entered on his office.

The king appointed the Cardinal Gaspard de Quiroga,
Archbishop of Toledo, to be the eleventh inquisitor-general :
he died on the 20th November, 1594,
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forty-three were reconciled. On the 12th of February,
1559, thirty victime were burnt with five effigies, and forty-
three were reconciled. On the 14th February, in the
same year, 1560, fourteen persons were burnt, and twenty
effigies : twenty-nine persons were subjected to penances.

On the 8th of September, in the same year, sixteen indi-

viduals perished in the flames, and forty-eight were con-
demned to penances:
- On the 15th of March; 1562, another auto-da-f# took
place, composed of twenty-three persons, who were burnt,
and of sixty-three who were condemned to penanees. They
. were all purished as Judaic heretics; among the first may
be remarked, Fray Louis de Valdecagnas, a Franciscan,
descended from the ancient Jews; he was condemned for
having preached the law of Moses; Juan de Santa-Fé, Al-
bert Xuarez, and Paul d’Ayllon, aldermen or sheriffs;
Pedro Gutierrez, a member of the municipality; and Juan
de Leon, syndic of the city.

An auto-da-fé was celebrated in the same town on the
20th of May, 1563 ; seventeen persons were burnt in person,
snd four in effigy ; forty-seven others wére subjected to pe-
ndances. I shall mention those distinguished by their rank or
some particularity in their trials.

Don Philip of Arragon, son of the Emperor of Fez and
Morocco, came to Spain while he was very young, and be-
¢ame a Christian; he had for his godfather Ferdinand of
Arragon, Viceroy of Valencia, Duke of Calabrid, and eldest
son of the King of Naples, Frederic 1II. Neither his rank,
as the son of an emperor, nor the advantage of having a prince
for his godfather, were sufficient to prevent the inquisitors
from exposing him to the disgrace of appearing in a solemn
auto-da-f¢ ; he was introduced in the ceremony with the
paper mitre on his head, terminated by long horns, and
covered with figures of devils. In this state he was admitted
to public reconciliation, after which he was to be imprisoned
for three years in a convent, then banished for ever from the
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Judaism. When he wasset at liberty, he conversed with several
persons on the subject, repeated the confession he had made,
and some other circumstances. This was the crime for which
he was condemned to receive two hundred stripes, and to be
imprisoned for life!

- Francis Guillen, a merchant, of Jewish origin, appeared in
the auto-da-fé, with several persons condemned to be relazed,
in virtue of a definitive sentence confirmed by the Supreme
Council, which was to be read during the ceremony, with
the charges against him. In the midst of the auto-da-fé
Francis announced that he had ngw declarations to make.
Jmmediately Don Jerome Manriquez (son of the Cardinal of
that name, and who was afterwards inquisitor-general,) de-
scended from the tribunal, took off the insignia of relazation,
and gave Francis those belonging to a person intended to be
reconciled. '

The history of this trial proves the arbitrary conduct, and
the disorder with which the inquisitors pursued ard judged
the causes, and executed their sentences.

More than twenty witnesses deposed that Francis Guillen
had attended assemblies of the Jewsin 1551, and the follow-
ing years. He was sent to the secret prisons, and his sen-
tence of relazation was pi'onounced inDecember, 15661. The
process having been sent to the Supreme Council, the Council -
remarked that two new witnesses having been heard before
the end of the trial, their depositions had not been communi-
cated to the condemned; in consequence they commanded
that this formality should be fulfilled, and that the votes
should be afterwards given, according to law. The inquisi-
tors obeyed, but they did not agree on the sentence; some
voted for relaxation, the others, that the trial should be sus-
pended, and that the accused should be induced to acknow-
ledge that which was admitted to be true, from the state of
the depositions. Francis had three audiences, in which he
confessed several other facts which related to himself, or con-
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the accused into making new declarations. The visitor com-
manded that Francis should be reconciled and taken to the
prxson of the Penitents, likewise called that of Mercy.

' Prancis, who was probably a little deranged, declared se-
veral times that he had deceived the inquisitors by accusing
some persons as heretics who were innocent, because he hoped
that he should escape death by this proceeding. These words
tere reported to the inquisitors, and Francis was taken to
the secret prisons., There was an act of accusation against
him; he acknotwledged all the articles of the fiscal, and**uf-
firmed upon cath that all his declarations were true; he rati-
fied them, and begged that he might be pardoned. On the
19th of January, 1564, he was condemned to appear in the
auto-da-f¢ with the gag, to receive two hundred stripes, and
to pdss three years in the house of Penitence. Francis suf-
fered the stripes, but they did not render him more prudent,
for he declared, even in the prison, that he was unjustly
treated, for all that he had said was false and dictated by
fear.

In 1565, the Inquisition of Murcia received the visit of a
new commissary, who obliged Francis to appear before him
as a witness, to ratify a declaration which he had made against
Catherine Perez, his wife, for Judaism. The following dia-
‘logue took place between the visitor and the witness:—

Do you remember making a declaration against Catherine
Perez, your wife?—Yes.

What was that declaration?—It will be found in the
writings of the trial. (The declaration was here read to
Francis.)

Is what you have just heard true ?—No.

Why then did you affirm that it was so?—Because I heard
an inquisitor say it.

Are the declarations against other persons true?f—No.

Why did you make them?—Because I perceived in the
auto-da-f¢ at which I assisted, that the contents were read
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the affair stopped here, and Francis had been sufficiently
punished for his indiscretion to render him more cautious for
the future.

The ,irregularity and disorder of the proceedings of this
tribunal may be seen still more clearly in another trial before
the Inquisition of Murcia, about the same time, and which
was undertaken in consequence of the depositions of Guillen.
It was instituted against Melchior Hernandez, a merchant
of Toledo, which he afterwards left to establish himself at
Murcia. As he was descended from the Jews, he was sus-
pected of being attached to the religion of his ancestors. After
being taken to the secret prisons from the informations of
seven witnesses, he had his first audience of admonition on
the 5th of June, 1564 ; he was accused of having frequented
a clandestine synagogue in Murcia, from 1551 to 1557, when
the assembly was discovered ; and of having acted and dis-
coursed in a manner that proved his apostasy. Two wit-
nesses afterwards appeared, and the accused having denied
all the charges, the publication of the nine deponents was
given to him: he persisted in his denial, and by the advice
of his defender, alleged that the evidence of the witnesses
could not be admitted, as they contradicted each other, and

- several of them were known to bé his enemies.

‘To prove this, and to challenge some other persons, he
presented a memorial which was admitted, although it was
afterwards considered to have failed in disproving the charges.

A new witness was heard, when Melchior fell dangerously
ill. On the 25th of January, 1565, he made the sacramental
confession, and on the 29th demanded an audience, when he
said that his memory was bad, but he remembered being in
a house in 1553, where a number of persons, whom he named,
were assembled ; he denied having uttered anything concern-
ing the law of Moses, and that the only thing he could re-
proach himself with, was not having declared that the others
had made it the subject of conversation.
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garb of the relazed persons, when perceiving that his con-
fessions were not sufficient to save him, he demanded an
audience, and mentioned the persons designated in the in.
formation, as forming part of the assembly, besides twelve
other individuals who had not been named to him; but he
added that he did not approve of their doctrine. '
- Some minutes after, finding that the marks of condemna-
tion were not taken from him, he added the names of two or
three accomplices, declared the name of the person who had
preached on the Law of Moses, and even confessed that he
approved of some of the things which he had heard.

Lastly, when his confessions did not produce the effect he
wished, he said, that he really believed in what was preached
in the synagogue, and persisted in this belief for a year ; but
that he had not confessed, because he thought there was no
proof of his heresy in the depositions of the witnesses. The
inquisitors decreed that Melchior should not appear in the
auto-da-f¢ of this day, and that they would consult on the
‘praper measures to be taken.

On the 14th of December, Melchior ratified his proposi-
tions of the 9th, but on the condition that all that had passed
should not separate him from the Catholic communion, or
-cause him to be considered as a Judaic heretic. On the 18th
he desired another audience, and again confessed that he
believed in the Law of Moses. Yet on the 29th of June, -
1566, he declared that the Holy Scriptures were read in the
sssembly, that he believed part.of what he heard, and had
consulted a priest on the subject; that the priest told him
it ought to be held in contempt, and that this decision had
regulated his subsequent conduct.

On the 6th of May, 1366, the tribunal assembled to
decide whether the definitive sentence pronounced against
Melchior should be executed. Two of the consultors voted
in the affirmative ; the inquisitors, the ordinary, and the other
consultors agreed that Melchior had confessed enough to
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before. But when he found that he was to be arrayed in the
habit of a relaxed person, he declared that he could name
other accomplices. The inquisitor went to the prison, and
Melchior designated another house where the Jews assembled,
and named seven persons, whom he said he had seen there ;
he also wrote a list of seven synagogues, and of fourteen per-
sons who frequented them. He afterwards named another
house of Judaic heretics.

He was conducted to the auto-da- fé with the other persons
condemned to be burnt; when he arrived at the place of
execution, he demanded another audience, in which he nanted
two other houses, and twelve heretics ; on being told that this

. declaration was not sufficient to confirm the result of the trial,
he said he would endeavour to recollect others, and a few
minutes after he denounced seven persons. Before the con-
clusion of the auto-da-fé¢, he desired to make a third con--
fession, and named two houses and six individuals; the inqui-
sitors then agreed to suspend the execution, and to send
Melchior back to the prison. This was what he wished, and on
the 12th of June he signed his ratification, but when told
that he was suspected of having other accomplices, he re-
plied that he did not remember any other.

On the 13th, Melchior declared that he was mistaken in
naming a certain person among his acomplices, but pretended
to remember another house, and two persons whom he
named. :

The procurator-fiscal again spoke in favour of the re-
lazation of the ccused, alleging that he had been guilty of
concealment ; . Melchior, supposing that his death was re-
solved upon, demanded an audience on the 23rd of June,
and endeavoured to excite the compassion of his judges.
¢ What more could I do,” he exclaimed, ¢ than accuse my-
self falsely. Know that I have never been summoned to
any assembly, that I never attended them for any purposes
but those of commerce.’ -
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Jhe trial was sent to the Supreme Council, which con-
firmed the sentence of relazation for the third time, and
wrote to reprimand the tribunal for having summoned the
accused before them after passing the sentence, since an
audience should only take place at the request of the
accused.

Instead of submitting to this opinion, the inquisitors called
Melchior before them on the 31st of May, and asked him if
he had nothing else to communicate; he replied in the
negative : they then represented to him that his declarations
contained many contradictions, and that it was necessary for
the good of his soul, that he should finally make a confession
of the truth, respecting himself and all, the guilty persons
he was acquainted with.

These words shew the cunning of the inquisitors; their
object was to induce the accused to retract his last declara-
tion: but Melchior, knowing the character of the inqui-
sitors, replied, that if they wished to know the truth, they
wauld find it in the declaration which he made before the
" Sefior Ayora, when he visited the tribunal. This writing
was examined, ‘and it was found that Melchior had said,
that he knew nothing of the subject on which he was ex-
amined. The following conversation then took place :—

¢ How can thisdeclaration be true, when you have severa)
times declared that you have attended the Jewish assem-
blies, believed in their doctrines, and persevered in the
belief for the space of one year, until you were undeceived
by a priest 2’—1 spoke falsely when I made a declaration
against myself.”

¢ But how is it that what you have confessed of yourself,
and many other things which you now deny, are the'result
of the depositions of agreat many witnesses ?"’—¢Ido not know
if that is true or false, for I have not seen the writings of the
trial ; but if the witnesses have said that which is imputed to
them, it is because they were placed in the same situation as
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~ Some doubts may be entertained of the sincerity of the
last declarations of Melchior Hernandez, but the extreme
irregularity of the proceedings of the tribunal must be
evident to every one. The intervention of the Supreme
Council proves that the same system was pursued in the
other tribunals, since it approved of their proceedings, and
exercised the rights of revocation and censure.

- In 1564 another auto-da-fé took place at Murcia, one
person and eleven effigies were burnt ; there were also forty-
eight penitents, but the following circumstance was the
cause of this ceremony being more particularly remembered.
Pedro Hernandez had been reconciled in 1561, as suspected
of Judaism. In 1564 he fell sick, and through the media-
tion of his confessor demanded an audience of the inquisitors.
One of them went to his house, and Pedro told him that he
had denied the crime of which he was accused, and had after-
wards made a confession, alleging as an excuse for this
conduct, that a French priest had given him absolution.
He now confessed that this was not true, and that he wished
to relieve his conscience by acknowledging it before he died.
The inquisitors presented this declaration to the tribunal,
which immediately caused Pedro to be taken from his bed,
and conveyed to their prisons, where he died three days

. after.

Three other autos-da-fé took place at Murcia in the
years 1565, 1567, and 1568, in which thirty-five persons
were burnt, and a considerable mimber condemned to
penances.
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Lutherans, others the Faithful ; there was a third class
called Huguenaos, after Huguenots. :

Although the Inquisition of Toledo celebrated as many
autos-da-f¢ as the other tribunals, I do not find any persons
of distinction among the victims, until the auto-da-fé of the
4th of June, 1571, when two men were burnt in person, and
three in effigy, for Lutheranism, and thirty-one individuals
were condemned to penances. One of the men who were
burnt ought to be particularly mentioned. He was called the
Doctor Sigismond Archel, of Cagliari, in Sardinia. He had
been arrested at Madrid, in 1562, as a dogmatizing Luthe-
tan, and after remaining for a long time in the prisons at
Toledo, he contrived to make his escape. He had not time to
get out of the kingdom; descriptions of his person were
sent to all parts of the frontier, and he was again arrested,
and fell into the hands of his judges. He persisted in de-
nying the facts imputed to him, until the publication of the
witnesses, when he confessed, and maintained not only that
he was not a heretic, hut that he was a better Catholic than
the Papists. He was condemned tobe burnt, but per-
severed in his system, and declared that he was a martyr;
he insulted the priests when they exhorted him, and was then
‘gagged until he was fastened to the stake. The archers
perceiving that he pretended to the glory of martyrdom,
pierced him with their lances, while the executioners were
lighting the fagots.

Inguisition of Saragossa.

The Inquisition of Saragossa also celebrated an auto-da-f¢
every year, when several people were burnt, and about
twenty reconciled. Most of these were Huguenots who had
quitted Bearn, to establish themselves as merchants in Sara-
gossa, Huesca, Barbastro, and other cities. The progress
which the Calvinistic doctrines had made in Spain, is proved
bv an ordinance of the Supreme Council, in which we read,
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bought horses to send to France, for the use of the Protest-
ants. Besides these motives of religion, the zeal of the
_inhabitants was excited by the promise of a reward.

In 1575, the punishment of whipping was decreed for this
crime ; but though the law is expressed in general terms, the °
following event shews that it was only inflicted on those
whose power and credit were small. In 1576, a Commis-
sary of the Inquisition met a servant of the viceroy of
Arragon going into France with two horses ; he seized the _
horses, but allowed the servant to go away. He gave an
account of his proceedings to the inquisitors, who approved
of his conduct in not arresting the servant ; their opinion was
confirmed by the Supreme Council. The inquisitors were on
the point of writing to the viceroy, to demand .an explana-
tion of the conduct of his servant, and the destination of the
horses, when the council ordered them to desist, if they
‘thought it would be disagreeable to the viceroy.

This law was afterwards applied to those who were sus-
pected of smuggling, and to those who favoured the practice,
In 1607, Philip III. ordered the inquisitors to offer rewards
to those who intercepted this trade, and the people were at
last inspired with so great a horror of it, and those who
practised it became so odious, that the government was
obliged to declare that the misfortune of being convicted
and punished for this crime, did not exclude a person from
enjoying honours and offices.

The inquisitors, always eager to extend their jurisdiction,
wished to have the right of undertaking the trials for smug-
gling saltpetre, sulphur, and gunpowder ; this attempt did
not succeed, and was in fact the gause of their being deprived
of the powers bestowed on them by Philip, respecting the
introduction of horses into France.

Inguisition of Grenada.
In the yearly autos-dq-fé of the Inquisition of Grenada,
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1568, enjoining them to redouble ‘their vigilance, in pre-
venting the introduction of heretical books, and informed
them, that Don Diego de Guzman, ambassador to England,
had written that the Protestants of that country, boasted
that their doctrine was well received in Spain, particularly in
Navarre, and that it was even preached there.

While the inquisitors of Logrofio were preparing for the
the auto-da-fé of 1570, they had the mortification of being
blamed for their conduct in two instances by the Supreme
Council. One was in the case of Lope de Arguinamz, and
the other in that of Juan Floristan Maestuz, who were
eccused of Judaism. Arguinaraz denied the fact, was tor.
tured, and then confessed having committed the actions, but
asserted that he did not do them with the sentiments and
belief that he was accused of. He ratified his confession
some days after, and demanded reconciliation. The judges
when they assembled to vote for the definitive sentence,
resolved to refer the case to the Supreme Council, which
pronounced, that they had not sufficiently éxamined the
accused on the sentiments and intentions which he enter-
tained in committing the actions he had confened and com-
manded them to feturn to that stage of the trial and vote
according to the result. The inquisitors sent an account of
the motives of their conduct, and gave notice that they should
wait until the council had considered their observations,
before they proceeded further. The reply to this message
enjoined the inquisitors to execute the orders they had re-
ceived, immediately, and harshly reproached them for not
having obeyed them in silence, and for having failed in their
duty, in the interrogation; when they ought to have ex-
amined the accused on his doctrine. _

In the other affair of Juan Floristan Maestnz, the conncil
expressed its surprise, that the inguisitors did not examine
the accused on some heretical propositions which were proved
against him, though he refused to confess even during the
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years as a common soldier in the galleys of Spain, and with-
out the liberty of going out of the Goletta, in Malta. He
had not been there a month, before he contrived to escape,
and returned to Sardinia; the inquisitor-general then or-
dered him to be again arrested, and doubled his punish-
ment; Minuta was taken back to the Goletta, whence he
escaped a second time, and fled to Rome. He represented
to the Pope that he was not guilty of bigamy, and that the
manner in which the inquisitor-general had treated him, was
unjust, since he had left the fort with the permission of the
governor. Don Francis demanded, and obtained of the
Pope, two briefs of commission: the first for the examina-
tion of the principal question, that of bigamy ; the other to
judge of the reasons which he advaneed against the sentence, .
which prolonged his detention. In the interim, the inquisi-
tor of Sardinia, declared him a contumacious fugitive,
and condemned him to eight years labour in the galleys.
The apostolical judge required the inquisitor to suspend the
proceedings, he informed the inquisitor-general, who applied
to the king; whose interference they had never requested in
vain. Philip II. wrote to Don Juan de Zuiiga, his ambas-
sador at Rome, to demand a revocation of the briefs® of com-
mission, and to obtain permission for the inquisitor of the
island to continue the prosecution, or that it might at least
be referred to the inquisitor-general, to whom the right of
judging the cause belonged. The Pope revoked his bulls to
please the King of Spain, and the unfortunate Don Francis
Minuta, experienced the fate which he might have expected ;
for in cases of this nature, the inquisitor-general always dele-
gates one of the members of the accused tribunal, to be the
examining judge, on pretence that they are in possession of
the writings of the trial.

Don Andrea Minuta, brother to Don Francis, was also
condemned to the same punishment for three years. He fled
to Rome, and appealing to the Pope, obtained a brief of
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the freedom of opinion would be opposed by such theological
oensures, as the qualifiers of the holy office have established
in modern times. They have had .great influence on the
prohibition of books, and even on the oondemnation of
their authors. They are employed againet the first, on pre-
ten¢e that they contain propositions favourable to Aeresy, sl
sounding, savouring of heresy, fomenting Aeresy, or tending
to Aeresy ; aguinet the authors in declaring them suspected
of having adopted heresy in their hearts.

In the present time the qualifiers have extended the pro-
hibitions, by saying that the books contained propositions
offensive to persons of high rank, seditious, tending to dis-
turb public tranquillity, contrary to the government of the
state, and opposed to the obedience which has been taught by
Jesus Christ and his apostles. '

These censures are generally. passed by scholastic theolo-
glans. The work of Flangiert, ‘entitled, The Science of
Legislation, was censured by Pray Joseph de Cardenas,
a Capuchin, who thought himself competent to do it, though
he had only read the first volume of the Spanish translation,
which contained only half of that of the original.

The prohibition applies most to those books which treat
of theology, and the canonical laws, particularly if they aré
well written, and contain the doctrines taught by the fathers,
the councils, and even by the popes who reigned in the seves
first conturies, but which have been forgotten or opposed by
the theologians of the barbarous times, who wished to esta-
blish the system of the union of the two powers in the peraoﬂ
of the sovereign pontiff.

The theological censures likewisc attack works on philo-
sophy, on civil and natural law, and on the people. Thosé
books which have been published on mathematics, astronomy,
physic, and other subjects which depend upon these, have
not been more highly favoured. The Spaniards have, conse-
quently, been deprived of the advantages which other nations
have derived from all the recent discoveries.



Digitized by GOOS[Q



280 HISTORY OF THER INQUISITION. [Chap. XXIV.

ject of this memoir was to induce the king to refuse the per-
mission which the Jesuits had requested, to change the Im-
perial College of Madrid into a university.

The Jesuits denounced the work, and qualified some of the
propositions as erroneous, offensive to pious ears, scandalous
and tnjurious to the government, and to the regular ecclesi-
astics of the Society of Jesus.

The council caused the memoir to be examined by qualifiers,
who declared that it did not merit theological censure, and
the council abandoned the affair. The Jesuits then employed
the influence of the Count Duke d’Olivarez with the king,
but the attempt was unsuccessful. The other work which is
attributed to Balvoa, is perbaps that which was printed at
Rome in 1636, in the printing-office of the apostolic chamber.
It is written in Latin in quarto, and bears the name of Al-
phonso de Vargas de Toledo, with this title, An Exposition
made by Alphonsa de Vargas to the Christian Kings dnd
Princes, of the Stratagems and political Artifices which the
Members of the Society of Jesus employ to establish a umi-
versal Monarchy in their favour, a Work which proves the de-
ceit of the Jesuits towards the Kings and Nations who Aave
recetved them favourably ; their Perfidy and Disobedience,
even to the Pope, and the immoderate Desire of Innovation
which they have always shewn in Matters of Religion. It
has been said that this work was printed at Frankfort, with
the exception of the justificatory pieces. The author ad-
vances and proves heavy charges against the Jesuits.

Bails (D. Benedict), professor of mathematics at Madrid,
and author of a work on that science, used in the schools.
The Inquisition instituted his trial towards the end of the
reign of Charles I11., as suspected of atheism and materialism.
Bails was deprived of the use of his limbs, and incapable of
attending to his affairs; yct he was arrested and taken to the
prisons of the holy office, with one of his nicces, who obtained
permission to share his captivity, that she might continue to
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in 15568, for approving the doctrine of the Catechism of Don
Bartholomew Carranza. He allayed the storm by retracting,
when he recejved the king’s order to do so, and by sending
his recantation to the Pope, when the Archbishope of Gra-
nads and Santiago, and the Bishop of Jaen adopted. that
Ineasure. - ’
. Belando(Fray Nicolas de Jesus), Franciscan: he was pro-
secuted om account of his Civsl History of Spath. 1a this
work he gives an account of all the events from the accession
of Philip IV. to 1733. The inquisitors prohibited this book
entirely from political motives, and not from anything re-
lating to doctrine; their judgment against Belando wasgiven
on the 6th of Dec. 1774. The inquisitors hid norespect either
for the.license at the beginning of the book, the dedication
to Philip V., or for the favourable opinion of an enlightened
member of the Oouncil of Castile, who was commissioned by
his ‘majesty to examine it, before he allowed it to be dedi-
cated to him. The author appealed against the sentence and
demanded to be heard: he offered te reply to all the observ-
ations, and to make any alterations or suppressions in his
work, which the tribunal should suggest. This uttempt of .
Belando to defend his book was considered as a crime, and
he was confined in the dungeons of the holy office, where
‘he suffered the harshest treatment. He only. left them to
‘be imprisoned for life in a convent, and he was prohibited
from ever composing another work. He wus stripped of the
honours which' distinguished him in’his order, and more se~
vere penances were inflicted on him than if he had been an
‘heretic. ‘ ‘
Berctal (Clement Sanchez del), priest, archdeacon of Val-
deras, and dignitary of the church of Leon. He was prose-
cuted and punished in the time of Charles V. for Lutheranism.
He was condemned for some propositions in a work called
Sacramental. In 1559, the inquisitor-general Valdez placed
this book in the Indez. ' I -
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one of the most learned men of his time; he understood
Hebrew, Greek, Arabic, and other eastern languages; he
wrote Latin with the greatest elegance, and enjoyed a high
reputation among the literati. The learned Alvaro Gomez
de Castro says, in his History of Cardinal Ximenez de Cis-
neros, that he had formed the design of destroying the bad
scholastic taste which reigned in the universities. This en-
terprise cost Cadena dear: those who were attached to the
opinions of the schools denounced him to the Inquisition of
Toledo, as suspected of Lutheranism ; the archbishops Xime-
nez de Cisneros and Fonseca, who protected the persecuted
‘members of the university of Alcala, were no more, and Ca-
dena was obliged to follow the example of his uncle, and fly
to Paris to escape the dungeons of the holy office. He was
Teceived as a doctor in the Sorbonne, and died a professor
in that celebrated house. :

Campomanes.  See following Chapter.

Cano (Melchior), Bishop of Canary. See Chapter 29.

Caituelo (Don Louis), advocate of the king’s council
during the reign of Charles III. He was subjected to a
penance, and abjured, de levt, for baving inserted certain
propositions in some numbers of a periodical work called
The Censor, which nppéared without the name of the author.
Caiiuelo often published declamations against superstition in
the Censor, in which he proved the evil which might be pro-
duced by a blind and vain confidence in the indulgences and
pardons obtained by those who wore the scapulary of our
.Lady of Mount Carmel, in reciting neuvaines, and in the
other outward exercises of devotion, which he said’ were de-
trimental to the purity of religion. He aleo presumed to
ridicule the pompous titles given by the monks to the saints
of their orders: thus St. Augustine was called the Eagle of
Doctors; St. Bernard, Honted ; St, Thomas, Angelic; St.
Buonaventure, Seraphic ; St. John de la Croix, Mystic ; St.
Francis, Cherubim ; and St. Dominic, Burning. He one
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manner, the remittance of the work and the manuscript.
It was afterwards printed several times in other countries,
which is mentioned by M. Peignot in his, Dictionnaire Ori-
tique, Littéraire et Bibliographique des Livres remarqu-
ables qui ont 6té brulés, supprimées ou censurés. Casas
died at Madrid in 1566 at the age of ninety-two. He had
the pleasure of seeing another of his works in favour of the
Americans, approved by the censors, although it had been
ariticised by Juan Gines de Sepulveda. Charles V. oidered
this writing to be suppressed, although it was favourable to
the royal authority: he likewise made several ordifiances
in favour of the Americans, and if they had been executed,
fewer reproaches would have been bestowed on the ‘Spani-
ards who governed the new world. ~

Castillo (Fray Ferdinand del), 2 Dominican and ohe of.
the most illustrious men of his order. He was implicated
in the prooeedings against the Lutherans at Valladolid in
the year 1569. Fray Dominic de Roxas, Pedro Cazalla,
and Don Carlos de Seso, wishing to prove that their opiniond
on sustification were orthodox, declared that they were the
same as those of Fray Ferdinand del Castillo, who was unia
versally acknowledged to be eminent for virtue and visdom ;
he had been a member of the College of Bt. Gregory at
Valladolid, afterwards professor of philosophy and theology
at Grenada: he was at this time a preacher of great eniinence
at Madrid. The three witnesses ratified their declarations
on the 3rd, 4th, and 5th, of October, 1559 ; they were to be
burnt on the 8th of the same month. Fortunately for Fray
Ferdmand the three witnesses had not positively asserted
that he had maintained the doctrine of justification in the
manner that they did, or in the same sense, but that he had
expressed himselfin such a manner that it might be supposed.
Fray Ferdinand was ordered to repair to Valladolid, where
he wae confined in the College of St. Gregory,and was sum-
moned to appear before the tribunal. He cleared himself
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or materailism), at the same time that others accused him of
being a Lutheran and a Jansenist.. The great reputation
enjoyed by the accused, the protection which the Count de
Florida Blanca, first secretary of state, afforded him, the
fear that hatred, envy and resentment had induced the accu-
sers to invent calumnies, and the impossibility that Centeno
could be at the same time an atheist and a Lutheran, pre-
vented the tribunal from sending him to their dungeons; they
therefore confined him in the Convent of St. Philip, where he
dwelt, commanding him to appear before the tribunal when
summoned. His great knowledge of doctrine, enabled him
to defend himself with advantage : if his discourse had been
printed, his fame must have much increased by it ; yet he
was condemned as violently suspected of heresy, and was
compelled to abjure and perform different penances. Thig
treatment plunged Centeno into a profound melancholy,
which alienated his reason ; he died in this state in the con-
vent of Arenas, where he was confined.

The principal accusations against him were, lst. That he
had disapproved of the Novenas, the rosaries, processions,
stations, and other pious exercises. This charge was supported

" by a quotation from the funeral oration of a nobleman, in
which he had said, that beneficence was the favourite virtue
of the deceased ; that it was in the constant practice of it,
that true devotion consisted, and not in the mere exterior
exercises of religion, which required neither care nor trou-
ble, or any sacrifices of money, or other things. 2d. That
he denied the existence of limboes, places destined to receive
the souls of those who die before the age of reason, without
receiving baptism: the argument brought to support this
charge was the suppression of the question and answer on the
article Limbo, which he had obliged the author of the Cate-
chism to make. This work had been printed for the use of
the charity-schools at Madrid, of which he had been ap-
pointed censor ; the accused replied to the first accusation, by



Digitized by GOOS[Q



290 HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.-  (Chap.XXV

bishop of Toledo, and which were found ameng the papers
of that prelate, with the copies of his replies. In one of these-
letters dated from Rome, on 17th of February, 1569, he gives
him an account of his proceedings in his favour, and allowed:
himself to speak ill of the inquisitor-general and the Inquis
sition of Spain. Cespedes was a great literati, & great paintety
and poet, and a very clever modeller in wax: he composed &
poem, in stanzas of eight verses, on Repentance. Juan de
Verzosa and Francis Pacheco, (both mentioned with appres’”
bation by Nicolas Antonio, have highly praised this poem.
Cespedes continued to reside at Rome, and thus the inquisi-
tors of Valladolid could not execute their projects of venge-
me.. ' : ’ . . . ) . .

- Chumacero (Don Juan de). See the following Chapter.

- Clavijo y Fazardo (Don Joseph de), principal director of
the museumn of natural history at Madrid, and a learned
man, who had a great taste for science. The Inquisition of
the Court tried him on the suspicion that he had adopted the’
sntichristian principles of modern philosophy. He was con-
firied to the city of Madrid, ‘which was fortunate for him, as
he thas preserved his honour and his office: he appeared
privately before the tribunal, and was only condemned to:
private penances ; he also made his abjuration, de levt, with
closed doors, in the hall of the tribunal. It is true that the
proofs against him were weak, and he gave to his proposi<
tions an air of Catholicim. He had lived for some time
in -Paris, where he had been intimate with Buffon amd-
Voltaire. He edited a journal, called, The Thinker. M.
Langle, in his - Travels in Spain, says, that this work is
without. merit; if this author judged truly, it would, per-
haps, be the only truth in his book. Clavijo was appointed
editor of the Mercury, hy the government, he also published
a translation of ¢ Buffon’s Natural Historj," with notes. As'
this book is written with great purity of style, and without
gellicisms, it is an important acquisition to those who seek
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acquired some knowledge of the affair, in his conversitions
with Melchior Cano, and with one of the condemned Lu-
therans whom he had exhorted. Ftay Louis was arrested in
the month of June, 1559, and on the 7th of August he drew
up a writing of six pages, in which he made many confessions.
He soon became subject to fits of insanity, owing to his
anxious thoughts during his trial. In June, 1560, he was
removed to the ecclesiastical prison of the bishop, that he
might be taken care of. It was impossible to prove any of
the charges against him, yet the Inquisition kept him in pri-
son until Carranza was released. At last, after five years of
captivity, he abjured, de levy, and was sentenced to a seclu-
sion of a few years as a penance.

* Cuesta (Don Andrea de la). See Chapter29.

Cuasta (Don Antonio de la), archdeacon of the cathedral
of Avila. The Inquisition of Valladolid ordered him to be
arrested in 1801, as suspected of Jansenism and heresy; but
be fied to Paris, where he lived during the five years of
his trial : it would have been much longer if government had
not interposed, as will be seen in the following article.

Cuesta (Don Jerome de la), penitentiary canon of the
cathedral of Avila. He was arrested for Jansenism, and
heresy, while his brother Antonio was pumued, to whom he
furnished the means of flight, at the ‘expense of his own
safety. He passed five years in the prisons of the Inquisition,
and he would have been detained for a much longer time,
but for the solicitations addressed to Charles I'V., by persons
of the highest rank, who obtained permission to cause the
original writings of the trial to be laid before his majesty.
Don Jerome proved that the prosecution of himself and his
brother originated in the intrigues of Don Raphael de Muz-
quiz, bishop of Avila, and formerly confessor to the queen,

_and archbishop of Santiago, and of Don Vincent Soto de
Valcarcel, bishop of Valladolid. When the depositions of
"the witnesses were read to Don Jerome, ‘his great penetra-
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ignorant and prejudicial monks, of whom he had made ene-
wies by the arguments in his Critical Theatre against false
devotion, false miracles, and some superstitious customs. It
was fortunate for the author that the council of the Inqui-
sition was well acquainted with the purity of his principles
and Catholicism. Although the progress of knowledge has
been extremely slow in Spain, it must be confessed that it

~ has even penetrated into the interior of the Holy House during
the last part of the eighteenth century.

Fernandes (Juan), doctor of theology, prior of the cathe-
dral of Palencia. He was prosecated from the declarations of

. some Lutherans who were executed in 1559, particularly
that of Fray Dominic de Roxas, who quoted several propo-
sitions of Fernandez, in which he pretended to find, espe-
cially on the subject of justification, the same opinions as his
own. The fiscal presented Fray Dominic as a witness in the
trial of Fernandez : he persisted in his declaration (he was
already condemned to relazation, but did not know it), and
-expected to be reconciled as a penitent. Fernandez, how-
ever only received a reprimand for not having observed in
his discourse, the prudence which became a doctor of theo-
logy, at a period when heresy was so common in the kingdom.

Frago (Don Pedro), bishop of Jaca. See Chapter, 29.

Gonzalo (Don Vittoriano Lopes), bishop of Murcia. Ibid.
. Gorrionereo (Don Antonio), bishop of Almeria, Ibid.

Guerrero (Don Pedro), archbishop of Grenada. Ibid.

Grenada (Fray Louis de), 7bid.

Gracian (Fray Jerome), Carmelite, born at Valladolid, and
tho son of Diego Gracian, secretary to Charles V., and Jane
Dantisque, daughter of the ambassador of Poland, at the
oourt of the emperor. He was a doctor of theology, and
professor of philosophy, at the university of Alcala. He
wrote several works of a mystical nature, and some others on
literary subjects, which are mentioned by Nicolas Antonio.
He was prior of a convent of barefooted Carmelites at
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fit-to acquit him; they declared him to be slightly suspected :
he abjured and obtained absolution in private, the penance

- imposed was likewise private, and few persons knew that he
had been tried. . Don Thomas Iriarte, had two brothers, one
called Don Dominic, who concluded a treaty of peace with
the French Republic at Basle; and the other, Don Bernard,
counsellor of the Indies, and knight of the order of Charles
111 '

Isla (Francis de), Jesuit. He was the author of several
works, during the reign of Charles III.; and also published
under a feigned name, the History of the famous Preacher
Fray Gerund de Campazas otherwise called Zotes, written at
Madrid in 1750 and 1770, by the Licentiate Don Francis
Lobon de Salazar. This work is a fine satire, in two volumes,
against the preachers who make a bad use of texts by quot-
ing them in the wrong place, and distorting their meaning
to support an extravagant proposition. This work produced
very beneficial effects in Spain; all the preachers dreaded
the epithet of Fray Gerund. This fictitious hero might
be called the Don Quixote of the pulpit, since the effects of
this romance were the same as those of Don Quixote de la
Mancha, which was intended to cure the Spaniards of their
ridiculous mania for books of chivalry. The monks united
against this work ; they declared it to be impious, injurious to
the ecclesiastical state, and the author suspected of all the
heresies of those who speak with contempt of mendicant
friars. The holy office received an infinite number of de-
nunciations against this work. The qualifiers were of opi-
nion that it ought to be prohibited, because the author, in
ridiculing those who made a bad use of the sacred text, had
fallen into the same error in composing the sermons preached
by his hero.- These volumes were consequently forbidden,
but a publisher at Bayonne reprinted them with a third
volume composed of the different essays which had appeared
in Spain, either for or against the history of Fray Gerung.
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of Toledo, which continued .the trial without imprisoning
Fray Juan, who was only cenfined to his college. Fray
Juan. declared that he had not perceived the heresies in
Larranza’s work, for that relying on the learning, virtue,
and zeal of the author, he had read it without examining it
particularly ; he added, that as he had not fallen into any
error knowingly, which he acknowledged as such, he abided
by the censures of the qualifiers. He abjured de levi; a
small private canonical penance was imposed on him to.be
performed in secret, and he received the absolution ad
cautelam. o )

. Leon (Fray Louis de), an Augustine. He was born in
-1527, of Lope de Belmonte, a judge and member of the
chancery of Grenada, and-of Donna Inez de Valera, his
wife. He distinguished himself by the purity of his lan-
guage and the beauty of his verses, which are looked upon
s models of elegance. He took the monastic habit at Sala-
manca in 1544. His. discernment was very great, and his
knowledge of theology was so profound, that he was not
surpassed by any of his contemporaries, and had very few
rivals. He understood the Greek and Hebrew languages
sufficiently- to read them, and wrote Latin with peculiar
elegance. He composed several works in verse and prose,
which are mentioned by Nicolas Antonio. Experience has
shetvn that it is impossible to possess superior talents with-
out exciting envy; it is not therefore surprising that he was
denounced to the holy office of Valladolid as being suspected
of Lutheranism, at the time that he was professor of theo-
logy at Salamanca. Although he was innocent, he was
kept in prison for five years. The sohtude in which he lived
during this period was so painful to him, that he could not
help commemorating it in one of his works, taking for his
text the 26th Psalm. Having been acquitted, he resumed
his professorship ; but his long captivity, the inaction in
.yyhich he had lived, and his grief at being dishonoured, had
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by Charles ITI. Charles I'V. promoted him to the office of
the king’s attorney in the royal Council of Castile, the cham-
ber of the alcades of the royal house and of the Court of
Madrid. He was the Spanish Anacreon of the nineteenth
century, and the fame of his odes will last while good poetry
is made. One of these gave rise to several denunciations in
1796, and Melendez was accused of conversing like a man
who had read prohibited books, such as Filangieri, Puffen-
dorf, Grotius, Rousseau, Montesquieu, and others. This
attack failed . from want of proof. In 1808 Melendez
was barbarously treated by assassins of the same description
as those who massacred the Marquis de Perales and the
intendant Truxillo, at Madrid ; the Marquis del Socorro, at
Cadiz ; the Count del Aguila, at Seville ; the Count de Torre
del Fresno, at Badajoz, and many distinguished Spaniards in
other places. Melendez survived almost by a miracle,
and sought safety in the French army. King Joseph ap-
pointed him a counsellor of state. Melendez accepted the
place for the same reasons as Joven de Salas; he afterwards
incurred the same fate, and died at Montpellier in 1817.
The Mercury of France and the other Parisian journals
have published his panegyric. I shall therefore only add
that at Valladolid in 1788 he gave me a small poem of his
own composition to read; it was called The Magistrate.
When the second edition of his poems appeared, this poem
was inserted, and on my inquiring the reason, he gave me
the following account of it. ¢ As I was always much occu-
pied in composing poetry, even after I was appointed judge
*of the royal court of appeal, some of my colleagues harshly
censured my conduct, saying that the composition of lyric
and amatory verses was very unbecoming the dignity of the
magistracy : one of them said maliciously, that 1 might per-
haps know what a troubadour was, but not what a magis-
trate should be. 1 then composed this poem, and intended
to publish it, but afterwards changed my mind, that it
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be favourably received if it was printed. The sentence of
the king was more lenient than he could have expected,
after having, in his dedication to that monarch, shewn him-
self the advocate of the regicide, disguised under the name
of the tyrarinicide. He did not escape so well from the
inquisitors : they made some retrenchments in his work on
the Exchange of Money, and it was prohibited until he bad.
been punished. A penance was imposed on the author, and'
he was confined a long time in his college. He died at
Toledo in 1623, at the age of eighty-seven. Nicolas An-
tonio mentions other works by the same author. In the
Dictionnaire of Peignot there are some details which might
be interesting to a literary person.

Medina (Fray Michel de). See Chapter 29.

" Meneses (Fray Philip de), Dominican, and professor of
theology at Alcala de Henares ; he gave a favourable opi-
nion of the Catechism of Carranza. The Inquisition of
Toledo received from that of Valladolid the writings of his
trial, summoned Fray Philip, and condemned him to the
same punishment as Fray Juan de Ludefia. _

Merida (Pedro de), canon of Palencia: he was coms
missioned by Carranza to take possession of the see of To-
ledo in his name, and administer to the archbishopric. He
was mentioned by Pedro Cazalla and others, as partaking
their sentiments on the subject of justification. He corre:
sponded with Carranza, and in his trial the Inquisition took
advantage of several letters in which he spoke ill of the holy
office. He was arrested at Valladolid, abjured de levt, was
subjected toa penance and a pecuniary penalty. :

Mo#ino (Don Joseph). See the following Chapter.

Molina (Don Michel de), bishop of Albaracin. See
Chapter 29.

- Montanus (Benedict Arias). Ibid.

Montemayor (Prudence de), Jesuit, born at Ceniecros,
in Rioja, and professor of theology at Salamanca. He com,
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a Dominican, declared in the pulpit, that there existed in
one of the first houses in the capital a conventicle of Janse-
nists, protected by a lady of distinction : they took care to
speak of her in such a manner that the person could not be
mistaken. The nuncio of the Court of Rome informed the
Pope of all these circumstances, and his Holiness immediately
addressed letters of thanks to these two preachers and some
other individuals, for the zeal they had shewn in de-
fending the faith. These letters were, in a manner, the
signal for a denunciation against all persons suspected of
Jansenism, and did not fail to produce that effect. Besides
the suspicion of Jansenism, the Countess of Montijo was ac-
oused of holding a religious and literary corrspondence with
Monsignor Henri Gregoire, then bishop of Blois, and one
of the most catholic and learned men in France, a Member of
the Institute, and author of several works, one of which was
a Letter to the Inquisitor-general of Spain, in which he
invites him to propose the suppression of the Inquisition of
which he is the head. The accusers supposed Monsignor
Gregoire to be the head of the Jansenists in France; but
they concealed the fact that this bishop had several times
exposed himself to death to give the victims of the revolution
the last spiritual aid, and to maintain the Catholic religion
when Robespierre endeavoured to destroy it. The accusers,
who dwelt upon the mention which had been made of the
Countess in the national council of France, held by the
bishops who had taken the oaths, and of which Monsignor
Gregoire was a member. The inquisitors received secret
informations of this affair; but no facts or heretical propo-
sitions were proved, and they had not courage to issue the
orders for an arrest. The rank and birth of the accused
gave them the means of putting an end to the persecution: a
sort of court intrigue, however, caused the Countess to be
sent from Madrid. She retired to Logroiio, where she died
in 1808, with the reputation of being virtuous, and chari-
table to the poor.
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of Molinos; that he confessed some of the charges, asked
pardon, and implored his judges to be merciful ; and that a
penance was imposed on him in 1574, as being suspected de
vehementi. The sincere repentance which he shewed in-
duced the inquisitor-general, Quiroga, to shorten the duration
of his penance ; I must add that the purity of Ripalda’s faith
and morals after this event were such as to render him .
worthy of the esteem and respect of mankind.

Ribera (Don Juan de). See Chapter 30.

Roda (Don Manuel de.) See following Chapter.

Rodrigalvarez (Don Juan Antonio), priest, canon of St.
Isidore at Madrid, afterwards archdeacon of Cuenga, and
provisor and vicar-general of that diocese ; he wrote several
historical works. Rodrigalvarez was implicated in the de-
nunciation of Don Balthazar Calvo, his colleague, who
giving way to personal considerations; and instigated by the
ex-jesnits lately arrived from Italy, inflicted such cruel
mortifications on Rodrigalvarez and Posada his colleague,
that they were obliged to] complain to the Prince of Peace,
and to implore his assistance. The trial begun by the Inqui-
sition did not furnish sufficient proof of their guilt, and it was
not continued. The trialsof Don Antonio Posada, and Don
Joachim Ibarra, mentioned in the article Montzjo, finished in
the same manner.

Roman (Fray Jerome), an Augustine, born at Logroio.
He was very learned in the oriental languages, and directed
his attention towards the study of sacred and profane
history. In prosecuting this design, he travelled over a part
part of Europe, examining the different archives, and making
extracts of all that appeared likely to increase the success of
the great works which he had projected. Being appointed
historian to his order, he published the history of it from
the year 1569: in it he gives an account of the lives of the
saints and illustrious men who had belonged to it, with many
interesting details. His wish to publish the historical facts
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He replied in a satisfactory manner to all the allegations,
snd the qualifiers did not find anything in his writings which
deserved theological censure. The judges not only acquitted
him, but on being informed that Father Poveda,a Dominican,
bad intrigued against him, thought that he had a right-to a
public reparation. On the 22pd of October, in the same
year, they sent their sentence and the writings. of the trial,
together with the considerations and the points of doctrine
on which they were founded, to the Supreme Council, at the
same time expressing their opinion on the right of Salas to a
reparation.

Father Poveda, by his intrigues, caused the trial to be sent
back to the inquisitors, with an order to make fresh inquiries,
which was done, but the qualifiers and judges persisted in
their first sentence. The-intrigues again began in the council,
which returned the trial to the Inquisition a second time,
with an order to make another inquest extraordinary: a
third qualification, and a third sentence were the result,
confirming the innocence of Salas. This was not what was
intended, the accused had a powerful enemy in the council:
this was Don Philip Vallejo, archbishop of Santiago, and
governor of the Council of Castile; he had been inimical to
Salas, from having had certain literary disoussions with him
at the university of Salamanca, when he was bishop of that
see. The trial was suspended, to afford time for the arch-
bishop to procure new denunciations, to add to those he had
already obtained. Salas requested that his imprisonment
might be ameliorated, and that he. might only be confined to
the city of Madrid. The couneil refused this favour; he
then demanded permission to apply to the king, but this was
also refused. He was at last condemned. to abjure de levi;
received the absolution and censures ad cautelam; and was
banished from the capital. He retired to Guadalaxara, and
there complained to his sovereign of the injustice of the Coun-
cil of the Inquisition.  Charles 1V.'ordered the writings of
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covering it by chance, he immediately set off for Madrid,
where Don Eugene Llaguno, the minister of justice, and his
friend and countrymen, privately arranged his affairs with
the inquisitor-general.

Samaniego (Don Philip). See following Chapter.

Santo Domingo (Fray antonio de),. Dominican, rector of
the college of St. Gregory at Valladolid, was prosecuted by
the Inquisition of that city in 1559 and 1560. The proceed-
ing was founded on several accusations; in 1558, he had ap-
proved of some reprehensible propositions in the Catechism
of Carranza: he was also accused of having said in 1559, that
the arrest of this prelate was as unjust as that of Jesus Christ;
that the prosecutions of the tribunal were of the same cha-
racter ; that Fray Melchior Cano ought to die first, because
he was the most guilty; and that his death would be as agree-
able to God as the sacrifice of mass. The accused was im-
prisoned, and a penance was imposed on him.

Santa Maria (Fray Juan de), barefooted Franciscan, and
confessor to the Infanta Maria-Anne of Austria, Empress of
Germany, and daughter to Philip IV. 1In 1616 he published
a work called Christian Republics and Politics, which he
dedicated to Philip III. Having occasion to say in this work
that the Pope Zachariah had deposed Childeric, King of
France, and crowned Pepin in his place, he added ; ¢ It is
from this time that we date the right which the Popes have
arrogated to themselves of deposing and establishing kings.”
The Inquisition receiving information of it, reprimanded the
author, and altered the sentence as follows: ¢ It 1s from this
time that the Popes have made use of their right of deposing
and establishing kings.”

Sese (Don Joseph de.) See following Chapter.

Siguenza (Fr. Joseph de), Jeronimite of the Convent of
the Escurial ; he was born in the town of that name. He
was one of the most learned men of the reigns of Philip 1I.,
and Philip I11., and well versed in history and the oriental



Digitized by GOOS[Q



314 HISTORY OF ‘THE INQUISITION. [Chap. XXV.

tion addressed to him in 1799, concerning the validity of
marriages contracted before the civil authority, as in France.
The piety and erudition of Tabira are displayed in this writ-
ing. Tt was impossible that the ex-jesuits should not employ
the influence of their party to persecute » prelate who gave
the preference to a decision given by the church legally as-
sembled in a general council, te a bull expedited by its chief.
Calvo, Guerrero,and other Jesutts of the short robe,attacked
Tabira as a Jansenist; they denounced him to the holy office,
but did not succeed in their attempt, since they could not
impute to him any fact tending to heresy.

Talavera (Don Ferdinand de), first archbishop of Grenada.
See Chapter 10.

Tobar (Bernardine de). See Chapter 14.

* Tordesillas (Fray Francis de), Dominican, member of the
college of St. Gregory of Valladolid, and pupil of Carranza :
he was a learned theologian. Tordesillas was imprisoned a
short time after his master, on the suspicion that he enter-
tained the same opinions.” He appears to have justified this
suspicion, by the care which he took to copy all his treatises
on theology, and other works. He abjured de lert, sub-
" mitted to a penance, and was obliged to relmqmsh giving
lessons on theology. ‘

Tormo (Don Gabriel de), bishop of Orihuela. See
Chapter 26.

Urqnqo (Don Marianno Louis de), secretary of state
under Charles IV. See Chapter 43.

Valdés (Juan de), author of some works which are men-
tioned by Nicolas Antonio; one of them, the Commentary
on the First Epistle of St. Pawl to the Corinthians, is pro-
hibited in the Index. He was tried on account of this
treatise and another, which was found among the papers of
Carranza, and which was at first supposed to be his composi-
tion; this work is called Thoughts on the Interpretations of
the Holy Scriptures. Valdés also composed another called
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him. He had been in the prison more than a year when the
auto-da-f¢é was celebrated.

Villagarcta (Fray Juan), Dominican, a pupil of Car-
ranza, and his companion during his travels in Germany,
England, and Flanders. He was one of the greatest theo-
logians of his age. His arrest took place at Medemblick,
in Flanders, at the same time as that of the Archbishop of
Torrelaguna, in Spain. He was imprisoned at Valladolid,
on the 19th of September, 1559. Several letters were found
among his papers, and those of the archbishop, from Fray
Louis de la Cruz, and Fray Francis de Tordesillas, in which
they gave an account of all that they could learn concerning
* the trial of the archbishop. The same errors were imputed
to Villagarcia as to Carranza, principally because he had
copied part of the prelate’s MS. works. Some person
having told him that Carranza’s Catechism would be better
in Latin than in the vulgar tongue, he occupied himself in
translating it, during hisstay in England. This was the source
of another accusation, and a consultation took place to de-
cide if he ought not to receive the question 17 caput alienum,
in order to make him confess certain facts brought against the
archbishop, but without any proof concerning his having
read the works of (Ecolampadiusand other prohibited books.
The opinions were different, and the council decreed, that
Villagarcia should first be formally examined on some other
propositiéns. His replies were so favourable to the arch-
bishop, that he could not have answered more conclusively for
himself. Villagarciaremained four years in prison ; he abjured,
and was subjected to several penances, one of which was,
never again to teach or write on theology.

Villalba (Fray Francis de). See Chapter 29.-

Villegas (Alphonso de). See Chapter 13.

Virues (Don Alphonso de). See Chapter 14.

Yeregui (Don Joseph de), secular priest, doctor of
theology and canon law, born at Vergara de Guipuzcoa : he
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by one of the Parties to the royal Authority. He wrote
some other works recorded by Nicolas Antonio. Some
priests, who thought it heresy to defend the privileges of
the king against the power of the clergy, denounced Ze-
ballos to the Inquisition of Toledo. The members of this
tribunal did not arrest him, but sent him the heads of the
accusations against the two works already mentioned; he
justified himself completely, and they were permitted to be
in circulation. Some time after the Inquisition of Rome
placed them on its Index, and that of Spain suppressed
some passages, which are not found in the modern editions.

. This list might have been augmented by the names of
many less distinguished men, and I did not think it neces-
sary to include those Spaniards whose works have been
prohibited, but who were not personally attacked by the
holy office. Those already mentioned ere sufficient to shew
the danger of attempting to introduce the taste for good
literature in Spain.

Charles III., wishing to be made acquainted with the
affairs of the Jesuits, and some other circumstances relating
to them, assembled a council in 1768, composed of five arch-
bishops and bishops; they were occupied in consulting upon
the tribunal of the Inquisition, and particularly of the pro-
hibition of books. Don Joseph Moiino, Count de Florida-
Blanca, and Don Pedro Rodriguez de Campomanes, Count
de Campomanes, the king’s procurators in the Council of
Castile, made a report to the assembly. Some extracts from
it will be interesting in this part of the history.

Speaking of the clandestine introduction of a brief re-
lating to the Jesuits on the 16th of April, 1767, and of
another concerning the affairs of the Duke of Parma, on the
30th of January, 1768, these ministers thus express them-
selves : ¢ The council is not ignorant of the intrigues em-
ployed by the nuncios with the Inquisition, to gain their
ends by clandestine means. During the first fifteen een-
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Society of Jesus have had the greatest influence in the holy
office, since the minority of Charles II., when the Jesuit
Juan Everard Nitardo, confessor to the queen-mother, was
inquisitor-general . .... The last general expurgatory index,
published in 1747, is still remembered. * Casant and Carrasco
(both Jesuits) so falsified and confused it, that it was a dis-
grace to the tribunal: the fact is so well known, and had
such important consequences, that that circumstance alone
furnished sufficient motives to suppress the Inquisition en-
tirely, or at least to reform it, since it only uses'its authority
to injure the state, and the purity of morals and the Chris-
tian religion..... It may be said that the expurgatory
index drawn up in Spain is more injurious to the rights of
the sovereign and the instruction of his subjects, than that
of Rome. In that court the qualifiers are well chosen, the
prohibitions moderate, and the interests of individuals are
never considered . . . . We cannot forbear to mention the me-
moir presented by Monsignor Bossuet to Louis XIV., against
the inquisitor-general Rocaberti, on the subject of a decree
of the Inquisition of Toledo, in which the doctrine, refusing
to the Pope the direct or indirect power of depriving sove-
reigns of their kingdoms, is declared to be erroneous and
schismatic . . .. The procurators cannot conceal from them-
selves that the tribunals of the Inquisition compose the most
fanatical body in the state, and the most attached to the
Jesuits, who have been banished from the kingdom; that
the inquisitors profess the same doctrines and the same
maxims; lastly, that it is necessary to accomplish a reform
in the Inquisition.”

In their conclusion, the procurators proposed, that in
consideration of the edict of 1762, and to ensure its execu-
tion, the holy office should be compelled to hear the defence
of the authors of the works before they are prohibited, ac-
cording to the provision of the bull Sollicita et Provida, of
Benedict X1V.; that the tribunal should only condemn those
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would not be received in any court either in Italy, France,
or even at Venice. The Pope wrote to that Republic to
prevent the work from being reprinted, but it was, never-
theless, published not only then against the Pope’s command,
but afterwards, with a dedicatory epistle to his Holiness. ...
1 have seen, in the library of the Vatican, a printed procla-
mation of the Inquisition of Spain in 1693: this tribunal
condemns two autl}orl, called the Barclayos, because their
books contained two propositions which the Romans consider
heretical : one was, that the Pope has no authority over the
~ temporalities of kings, and can neither depose them, nor re-

lease their subjects from their oath of fidelity ; the other, that
the authority of the general council is greater than that of
the Pope.” .

The same minister, in 1776, wrote a letter from Aranjuez
to Don Philip Bertrand, inquisitor-general. Speaking with
approbation of his intention to correct the Spanish expur-
gatory index, he says, ¢ A thousand absurdities were com-
mitted in the last expurgatory (confided in 1747 by the
Bishop of Teruel to two Jesuits), and it is necessary to cor-
rect them; the fact is proved by the denunciations and
printed notes of Fray Martin Llobet. But the appendix,
or catalogue of authors called Jansentsts, is the most into-
lerable; the names are all taken from the Bibliothéque
J ameuiste of Father Colonia, a Jesuit, which was condemned
by a brief of Benedict XIV. Instead of placing this work in-
the Index, as it ought to have been, the names are copied

-from it. You know the brief addressed by that Pope to the
Bishop of Teruel, on the 31st of July, 1748, and in which
he disapproves of the insertion of the works of Cardinal
Noris in the Index. His Holiness also addressed five letters to
Ferdinand VI. on the same subject, but neither the Popes
nor the king could get the name of Norts erased from the
Index for ten years: at that time the Bishop of Teruel (who
had at last consented) died, and the king dismissed his con-
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tion which led them to endeavour to establish their domi-
nion thioughott the world by fear.

The Inquisition presents ta our view a tribunal, whose
judges have neither obeyed the laws of the kingdom in which
it was established, the bulls of the Popes, the first constitu-
tions of the tribunal, nor the particular orders of its chiefs ;
which has even dared to resist the power of the Pope, in whose
name it acts, and has disowned the king’s authority eleven
different times; which has suffered books to circulate, fa-
vouring regicides and the authority of the Popes to dethrone
kings, and at the same time condemned and prohibited works
containing a countrary doctrine, and defending the rights of
the sovereign; which acted in this manner in circumstances
_ entirely foreign to the crime of heresy, which was the only
one they were competent to judge. Some examples will be
given of the contests for jurisdiction which have so much
injured Spain.

In 1553, the inquisitors of Calahorra excommunicated and
arrested the licentiate [zquierdo, alcalde-major:of Arnedo,
for having attempted to prosecute Juan Escudero, a familiar
of the holy office, who had assassinated a soldier. They also
ordered divine service to cease at Arnedo. The Chan-
cery of Valladolid demanded the writings of the trial, but
the inquisitors eluded two of their ordinances. In the mean
time the culprit was left at liberty in the town of Calahorra,
and afterwards made his escape, so that the crime remained
unpunished.

In 1567, the inquisitors of Murcia excommunicated the
Chapter of the Cathedral, and the municipality of that city;
their -competence was contested, and the Supreme Council
decided that some members of the chapter and munici-
pality should make public reparation in the capital of the
kingdom, and receive absolution ; they received it in public,
and in the character of penitents, before the altar.

- In 1568, a royal ordinance prescribed the execution of the
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order of nobility, who were counts or grandees of Spain ;
two gentlemen of illustrious birth to represent the second
class of nobility; and two for the third class, selected from
the most distinguished citizens.

In 1588, the inquisitors. of Toledo excommunicated the
licentiate Gudiel, alcalde of the king's house, and judge of
the royal court of justice at Madrid : this magistrate had
prosecuted Ifigo Ordoiez, secretary of the holy office, for
having wounded Juan de Berrgos, who died in consequence,
and for having wilfully fired a pistol at the Canon Den
Francis Monsalve. The Council of the Inquisition pleaded
the cause of the culprit before the king, and excused the use
of censures, alleging that such was the usual proceeding of
the holy office.

In 1591, violent contests took place between the Inquisi-
tion of Saragossa and the chief justice of Arragon. Two
seditions were the result, and several grandees of Spain,
many gentlemen, and a still greater number of private indi-
viduals, were condemned to death. An account of the in-
trigues of the inquisitors in this affair will be {given in the
trial of Antonio Perez.

In 1598, the Inquisitors of Seville went to the metropolitan
ehurch, with the president and members of the royal court
of justice, to attend the funeral of Philip II.; they pre-
tended that they ought to precede the judges, who resisted,
and the inquisitors excommunicated them in the church. The
king’s attorney protested against this act, and the scandalous
scene which ensued may be easily conceived. The jndges re-
pairing to the place where they held their sessions, declared
that the inquisitors had used violence in proceeding against
the law, and passed a decree commanding the inquisitors to
take off the excommunication. The inquisitors did not obey
the order, and the judges repeated it, with the threat of
- depriving them of all civil rights, and condemning them to
banishment and confiscation. Philip I1I, disapproved of the
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pulpits of Madrid. The inquisitorsalso excommunicated the
Curé of St. Catherine,. who refused to submit to this inter-
dict without an order from his bishop. The king and the
Pope were at last obliged to.interfere, they re-established the
bishop in his rights; but this act of justice did not destroy thé
cause of the evil which was complained of.

In the same year, the Inquisitors of Toledo excommuni-
cated thesub prefect of that city,who had seized and sentenced
a butcher as a thief, and convicted him of having sold bad
meat with false weights : -the inquisitors pretended that the
culprit came under their jurisdiction, because he furnished
the holy office with meat, and they accordingly required that
the prisoner and the writings of the trial should be given up
to them. . Their demand was refused, because the offence
was committed in the exercise of a public profession. Thé
inquisitors then published the excommunication in all thé
" churches of Toledo; they imprisoned the usherand the porter

of the sub-prefect for having obeyed their master, and they
remained in prison several days; they were then subjected to
- the punishment of having their beardsand hair shaven, which
was at that time considered infamous, and to appear in the
chamber of audience without their shoes and girdles; they
were examined on their genealogy, to discover if they were
descended from the Moors or Jews; they were made to re-
peat the catechism as if they were heretics, and were then
condemned to perpetual banishment; the inquisitors even
refused to give them a certificate, to shew that they had not
been condemned for:heresy. The compassion excited by the
fate of these.unfortunate men was so general, that the people
rose against the Inquisition ; but some persons of high rank,
and who were devoted to the public good, succeeded in ap-
peasing the tumult. The king being informed of what had:
passed by the Council of Castile, appointed an extraordinary
commission of eleven members selected from his councils;
they passed several resolutions against the inquisitors, which:
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the Council of Castile, which (after giving an account of
evils arising from the system of the inquisitors) recommended,
that he should allow the other tribunals to proceed against
them for abuse of power. This advice was addressed to the
king by his councils, in the consultations of the years 1634,
1669, 1682, 1696, 1761, and in several others, when the
Inquisition of Spain prohibited works in which the privileges
of the crown were defended, particularly that of Don Joseph
de Mur, president of the royal court at Majorca. It was
printed in that island in 1615, and called, Allegations in
favour of the King, on the Conflicts for Jurisdiction twhick
Rave arisen between the Royal Court of Justice and the
Tribunal of the Inquisition of Majorca.

In 1634, another contest took place on the subject of com-
petency, concerning certain taxes which had been received
from an inhabitant of Vicalboro, near Madrid. The inqui.
sitors of Toledo excommunicated a judge of the royal court,
and of the king’s court, and committed the greatest excesses
against the authority of the Council of Castile, which, im-
pressed with a sense of its dignity, as the Supreme Senate of
the nation, commanded the Dean-inquisitor of .Toledo to
repair to Madrid, to answer in person the charges brought
against him, and threatened, in case he refused, to deprive
him of his property and temporal rights. It also condemned
a priest, the secretary of the holy office, to banishment and
eonfiscation, and ordered thelnquisitor of Madrid to give up
the prisoners and the writings of the trial to the chamber of
judges of the court. The council made an address to the
king, requesting him to forbid the inquisitors the use of cen-
sures, and to deliver his people from the oppression under
which they suffered. The king merely renewed the prohi-
bition of employing excommunication without an absolute
necessity, and decreed that it should never be employed
against judges without a particular permission. This ordi-
nance shews the neglect or contempt into which the Conven-
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consultation addressed to the king; that the condemnation of
it should be published, and the authors should be proceeded
against. The council of the holy office intending to act ac-
cording to circumstances, represented all that had passed to
the king, referring to the judgment of the theologians. The

- king, with the carelessness which was natural to him, merely
told the inquisitor-general that he had failed in his duty, in
approving a proceeding so contrary to the honour and dignity
of the senate of the nation. The effects of the obstinacy and
violence of the inquisitors was felt for some time after. In

- 1643, the king obliged Don Antonio de Sotomayor to give: m
his resignation.

" In America, the ordmanoes of the king, and other regu-
latlons, could not prevent violent quarrels from arising be-
tween the civil tribunals and those of the holy office. But
in all these affairs the viceroys shewed more firmness, and
repressed the arrogance of the inquisitors with more success
than was displayed in the Peninsula. This is not surprising,
because in distant countries the inquisitors are not supported
by an inquisitor-general, who, possessing the king’s favour,
may influence him in private conversations. Besides this,
the viceroys, jealous of the power with which they are in-
vested, are careful that it shall meet with no obstacles or
contradictions.

In 1686, a quarrel arose between the inquisitors of Car-
thagena in America, and the bishop. The inquisitor Don
Francis Barcia, after excommunicating the prelate, caused
his decree to be read in all the churches. The bishop replied,
and shewed by his manner to the inquisitor, his contempt for
the excommunication. Don Francis (in ¢oncurrence with his
consultors) arrested and threw into prison the bishop and
many respectable persons of the cathedral and the city, who
had spoken freely on the subject. The Pope being informed
of this affair on the 13th February, 1687, commanded the in-
quisitor-general, Don Diego, Sarmiento de Valladares, to
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the immunities of the clergy and of the ecclesiastical tri-
bunals, and called the public attention to the fatal effects of
increasing the number of monks and other societies. The
qualifiers, in judging his works, clearly shewed the spirit of
hatred and revenge which actuated them. In the trial of
Macanaz, one of his works, called 4 Critical Defénce of the
Inquisition, is mentioned ; the inquisitors qualified it as tront-
cal, because they found some things in it which were not
true. They were confirmed in their opinion some time after,
by another work of Macanaz, called, An Apology for the De-
Sence of Fray Nicolas Jesus de Belando, in Favowr of the
Civil History of Spasn, unjustly prokibited by the Inquisition.

Although the inquisitors treated him with so much severity,
Ferdinand VI., and the inquisitor-general Don Emmanuel
Quintano Bonifaz, permitted Macanaz to return to Spain,
and the king sent him to Aix-la-Chapelle as his ambassador.

In 1768, the ingnisitors endeavoured to obtain the right
of trying persons for polygamy: Charles III. ordered that
the cognizance of this offence should belong to the secular
judge, except when the criminals thought that it was per-
mitted. It was his pleasure that the inquisitors ¢ should only
punish heresy and apostasy, and, above all, that none of his
people should be subjected to the disgrace of an arrest, if
they had not been previously convicted of a crime.”

In 1771, the Council of the Inquisition represented to the
king, that the simple fact of marrying another person, while
the first wife was alive, was sufficient to create a suspicion
that the persons guilty of it erred in faith on the article of
marriage. For this reason the inquisitors continued to re-
ceive the denunciations on this pretended crime, and to take
cognizance of it.

In 1781, the inquisitor-general commanded that the con-
. fessionals in the convents of nuns should be placed within
sight of the persons in the churches. This was done by the
inquisitors, without consulting the archbishops and bishops
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Raynal. He concealed his name under that of Eduardo
Malo de Lugue, which is the anagram of El Duque de
Almodovar. He presented some copies of his book to the
king, but though he had taken this precaution, and had sup-
pressed.some articles, he was denounced to the Inquisition as.
being tinctured with the opinions of the incredulous phi-.
losophers. The inquisitors endeavoured to find out how the.
duke conversed in society with, learned men ; but they did
not learn enough to authorize an accusation, as it almost
always happened, during the 'reigns of Charles 1II. and
Charles IV., when they wished to attack the literati.
Aranda (Don Pedro-Paul Abarca de Bolea y Ximenez
d'Urrea, Count d’), grandee of Spain. He rendered himself
more illystrious by his talents and learning than he was by
his birth and high offices. As a soldier he attained the rank .
of Captain-general, which is equivalent to that of Field-
marshal : his diplomatic talents obtained the office of am- -
bassador to Paris; his knowledge as a statesman, that of
ime-minister, seci'etary of state, under Charles IV.; and
for his talents as a politician he was made president of the
Council of Castile. In these four branches of the art of
governing he was always truly great. He was president in
the royal council extraordinary, assembled by Charles III.
to consider the affairs of the Jesuits. Although the mem-
bé&rs of this assembly deliberated in secret, the public were
informed not only of its objects in general, but the particu~
lar opinions of each councillor. The Count d’Aranda was
denounced to the holy office as being suspected of professing
the sentiments of the philosophers of the eighteenth century,
because his political opinions were extremely liberal. The-
ordinance signed by Charles III. in 1770 (forbidding the
inquisitors to take cognizance of any crime but heresy) was
thought to be the work of the Count d’Aranda, and the in-
quisitors hated him in consequence. The trial of Don Paul
Olavide, which took place about this time, furnished
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narchy. Even the king was obliged to submit to the
decisions of this magistrate in all constitutional affairs. In
order to prevent disputes between the two powers, the
chief justice and his tribunal were independent of the king
in the criminal proceedings. The inquisitors of Saragoesa, re-
gardless of these regulations, commenced proceedings against
the chief justice, and in 1591 threatened to excommunicate
him. Some account of this affair will be given in the trial of
‘Antonio Perez. _

Buiiiielos (Don Vincent), was excommunicated by the
Inquisition of Toledo, for endeavouring to defend the juﬁl-
diction of the civil tribunal in a trial for homicide.

Barcelona. See the preceding Article.

Barrientos (the Commandant), knight of the military
order of 8t. James, and Corregidor and Sub-prefect of Lo-
grofio, was obliged, in 1516, to go to Madrid, and appeat
before the inquisitor-general and the Supreme Council, to
ask parden for having refused to lend assistance to the
archers of the holy office in arresting some monks. He was
“subjected to the lesser auto-da-fé, attended mass, standing
with a torch in his hand, and received some slight strokes of
& whip from the inquisitor ; this ceremony was cencluded by
a solemn absolution from all censures.

Benalcazar (the Count de) was excommunieated and
‘menaced with an arrest by the inquisitors of Estremadura in
1500. The same threat was made to the governor of the
fortress of Benalcazar; their offence was having defended
‘their temporal power against the pretensions of the holy
office, in the case of a woman who twas arrested for having
uttered some words against the faith. ' '

Campomanes (Don Pedro Rodrigues ‘de Campomanes,
Count de) was, perhaps, the most eminent literary man in
‘8pain, during the reign of Charles III. and Charles IV.
‘He is the author of several works mentioned in the Spanish
Library of the time of Charles I11. published by Don Juan



Digitized by GOOS[Q



340 HISTORY OF THR INQUISITION. {Chap. XXVI.

order to force them to retract, on pain of excommunication
and imprisonment.
. Cordova (Don Pedro Fernandez de), Marquis de Priego,
member of the municipality of Cordova, was persecuted by
the Inquisition in.1506. See Chapter 10. :
. Cordova (Don Diego Fernandez.de), Count de Cabra, and
also a member of the municipality of Cordova, was treated
in the same manner. Ibid.

Godoy (Don Emanuel), Prince of Peace, Duke of Alcndn.,
secretary of state to Charles IV. See Chapter 43.

Gonzalez (Don Mathias). See the preceding Article.

Gudiel (the Licentiate). JIbid. :

Gudiel de Peralta (Don Louis). Ibid.

Guzman (Don Gaspar de), Count-Duke d’Olivarez, prime
minister to Philip IV. See Chapter 37. .

Izquierdo (the Licentiate). See the preceding.Article.

Jovellanos (Don Gaspard Melchior de), Secretary of State
in the department of grace and justice under Charles IV.,
was one of the most learned men in Spain ; he wrote several
pamphlets on politics and different branches of literature.
In 1798 he resolved to reform the mode of proceeding in the
holy office, and intended to take advantage of a memorial
which I had composed in 1794, according to the orders of the
inquisitor-general Abad-la-Sierra; but from a secret court
intrigue he was denounced to the Inquisition as a Jansenist
and an enemy to the tribunal. Charles I'V. was persuaded
first to banish him to his native place Gijon, in the Astu-,
rias, and afterwards to confine him in the Chartreuse, in the
island of Majorca, where he was informed that he was to
study the Christian doctrine. This treatment was extremely.
unjust, for Jovellanos was not only a good Catholic, but a .
just and irreproachable man, whose memory will do honour
- to Spain. . A

Juan (D. Gabriel de), president of the royal Court of
Appeal at Majorca, was excommunicated in 1531 ; he main-
tained the rights of the sovereign against the inquisitors.
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tribunal against the holy office, composed, in 1615, & work on
competency, in which he supported the royal jurisdiction
against the ecclesiastical power in all contests not rélating to
spiritual concerns. The holy office made the author suffer
much, and inserted his work in the Inder. Philip IV
caused it to be erased in 1641, at the request of thb Council
" of Castile.

Ossuna (the Duke of). See Chapter 37

Olavide (Don Paul), born at Lima, in Petu, Assistant;
that i, Prefect of Seville, and director of the towns and vil
lages recently built in the Sierra-Morena and in Andalusid,
was arrested in 1776, and taken to the secret prison# of the
Inquisition of Madrid; on the suspicion that he possesded
impious opinions, particularly those of Rouseeat and.
Voltaire, with whom he maintained-an intimate correspond-
ence. Itappeared from the trial, that Olavide had, in the
tlew towns which he governed, uttered the opinians of thede
philosophers, on the exterior worship which is rendered to
God. in this country. The accused denied many of the
words :snd uotions imputed to-him; he explamed others
which:might not have been understood by the witnesses, but
he confessed endugh to induce the inquisitors to believe that
bo seotbtly held the: same- opinivtis as his two friends. Olavide
ssked: vpardon for his impruderice; but declared that he conld
sotdo so ‘for the crimie of heresy, s hé had never lost his intes
ridy: faith, | O the 24th of Novembet; 1778, #n auto-da-f¢
Was' celebrated with closed -dobrs; in-the hall of the Taquisi-
tiop of Madiid, in the preserice of sisity persons'of high 1k
Dot Paul Olavide appeated before thern; ‘it ‘the habi of
petiftent, and hoMing in' his hand aif extingbishedt’ thteh:! - The
denitonen detlitad him to be convicted Of fornal herdsy's T
oughit to have appented it the Sah-beniro, with a'tott tohne
his neck, but this was -dispensed with; as-well ds the' dbligstive
ofj tvearing the Sun-bénito afterwitrds. - He - wad condemhed
0. paes-dighiv yedrs in & convent; il to livd ascordibi to it
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tutor of Charles II. and president of the Sovereign Council
of the Indies, composed some treatises on politics, which are
mentioned by Nicolas Antonio. In these writings he main-
tains the prerogatives and independence of the sovereigns
against the indirect powers of the Popes, the abuses of the
Court of Rome, and the ecclesiastical judges in the holy office.
The Count de Francos suffered much persecution, and his
works were prohibited; if Philip I'V. had not protected him,
he would have been arrested, and his books burnt.
Ricla (the Count de), minister of war, and lieutenant-
general in the army under Charles II]., was denounced to
. the holy office as having adopted the opinions of the philo-
sophers of the eighteenth century. There was not sufficient
proof against him, and the trial was suspended. o
. .Roda (Don Manuel de), Marquis de Roda, minister and
secretary of state in the department of grace and justice,
under Charles III. He had been a celebrated advocate at
Madrid, and minister-plenipotentiary at Rome ; his talents
and learning made him of the greatest use to Charles IIL. in
the important affairs relative to the expulsion of the Jesuits.
The imputation of Jansenism, incurred by the archbishops and
bishops of the Council extraordinary, was also brought
- against this minister, who had made many enemies by ad-
vising Charles III. to reform the six great colleges esta-
~ blished at Salamanca, Alcala, and Valladolid. This denun-
ciation failed, because it contained no particular proposition
which deserved to be censured. , }
Salcedo (Don Pedro Gonzalez de), procurator to the king
in the Council of Castile, published a treatise On Politscal
- Law, and some other works, in which he attacked the
abuses committed by the judges of the privileged tribunals,
and the pretensions of the inquisitors and other ecclesiastics
to the royal jurisdictions. He was persecuted, and his
works were condemned, but Philip IV. revoked the prohi-
bition; however some passages were afterwards retrenched,
and they are not found in the later editions.
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Sardinia (the viceroy of) was excommunicated in 1498,
and punished by the inquisitors for having lent assistanoe to
the Archbishop of Cagliari in taking a criminal from the
prisons of the holy office to those of the archbishopria, )

Sesé (Don Joseph de), president of the royal Court of
Appeal of the kingdom of Arragon. This magistrate wrote
a work, in which he had collected many definitive sentences
which had been pronounced in trials for competency ; they
were all favourable to the secular power. The author
was the victim of his zeal ; he was persecuted, and his work:
prohibited, but Philip IV. caused it to be revoked..

Solorzano (Don Juan de), member of the Sovereign Couns.
cil of the Indies. He was the author of a work on Indian
Politics, and several others of the same natyre. They were
written in the same spirit as those of Salgado; Solorzano.
and his works shared his fate.

Sotomayor (Don Guiterrez de), knight commander of the
order of Alcantara, brother of the Count de Benalcazar,
and governor of the fortress of that name. See Benalcazar..

Terranova (the Marquig de). See Chapter 16.

Toledo (the royal judge of) was excommunicated, im-
prisoned, and received much ill treatment from the inquisi-
tors in 1622, in a contest for jurisdiction.

Valdés (Don Antonie), member of the royal Oeuncil of
Castile. He was excommunicated by the inquisitors in 1639,
because he refused to exempt the familiars of the holy office
who possessed land, from paying a contribution.

Valencia (the viceroy of), captain-general, was obliged
in 1488, to appear before the Supreme Council of the Inguie
sition, and ask pardon and absolution for having sét at li-
berty a soldier who was detained in the prisons of the holy
office. He had the mortification of being obliged to appeat
in a lesser auto-da-f¢. .

Vera (Don Juan-Antonio de). See Chapter 36.

Rarate (Diego Ruiz de), chief alcade of Cordovi, whs
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crime was an act of benevolence. The assassination of Pedro
Arbues, the first inquisitor of Arragon, which took place in
1485, obliged many of the principal inhabitants of Saragosea
_to take flight. One of these persons went to Tudela de
Navarre, where the Infant of Navarre resided, and asked
and obtained an asylum in his house for several days, until
he could make his escape into France. The inquisitors being
informed of this humane action, arrested and took Don James
to their prisons in 1487, as an enemy to the holy office. He
was condemned to hear a solemn mass, standing in the pre-
sence of a great concourse of people, and of his cousin Don
Alphonso of Arragon (a natural son of Ferdinand V. and
Archbishop of Saragossa), and to receive absolution from
the censures which he was supposed to have incurred, after
submitting to be scourged by two priests, and having gone
through all the ceremonies prescribed in such cases by the
Roman ritual. . . L
In 1488, the Inquisition tried John Pic de la Mirandola
and de Concordia, a prince who was considered a prodigy of
science, from the age of twenty-three years. Innocent VIII.
instigated them to this measure by a brief addressed to Fer-
dinand and Isabella, dated the 16th of December, 1487, in
which he said, that he had been informed that John Pic
was going into Spain, with the intention of maintaining, in
the universities and other schools of the kingdom, the erro-
neous doctrine of several theses which he had already
" published at Rome, and had abjured, which rendered him
still more culpable. His Holiness added, that he was most
afflicted in perceiving that the youth, the pleasing manners
and agreeable conversation of the prince would gain him
many partisans ; he said that these considerations had induced
him to request the two sovereigns to arrest the prince when
he arrived in Spain, as the fear of corporal punishment might
have more effect than the anathemas of the Church. De la
Mirandola doubtless received information of what awaited
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up this prince to him, resolved to secure him by means of
the Inquisition.

It has been already stated that the inquisitors did net
prosecute the memory of Charles V. ; but in 1565, they were
concerned in the proceedings against Jane d'Albert, the
hereditary Queen of Navarre, and against her son, Henry de
Bourbon, afterwards Henry 1V. of France, and his sister,
Margaret de Bourban Albret, who married the sovereiga
Duke of Bar. The holy office, however, did not take an
active part in this affair. After Ferdinand V: had taken pas.
ssmian of the five districts of the kingdom of Navarre, called
Merindades, be refused to recognise either Jane or Heary
de Bourbon as sovereigns of Navarre. These princes were
deprived of all their dominions, except the sixth Merinidade
of Navarre, by a papal bull in 1512; the Court of Rome
also refused to grant them the title of Kings of Navarre until
the year 1561. The first to whom it was given was Anthony
de Bourbon.

Charles V. bad ordered in his will that the right of hig
successors to the crown of Navarre should be examined, and
that it should be restored to its rightful owners if it had been
unjustly seised. In 1661, Philip 11., who had net yet
thought of executing the intentions of his father, perceiving
that the king, Anthony de Bourbon, inclined towards Cale
vinism, entered into a negotiation with him on this subject.
In order to attach him to the Catholic party, Philip pros
mised to obtain a dissolution of his marriage with Jane, who
was a heretic, to induce his Holiness to excommunicate her;
and give her states to him, with the consent of the Kinge of
France and Spain ; to restore Navarre, or to give the nlend
of Sardinia in exchange for it, and to negotiate a marrisge
between him and Mary Stuart, Queen of Scotland. Anthony
accepted this offer, but died before it could be executed,
Philip then, through the intrigues of his agents at Rome,
obtained the excommunication of Jane d'Albret, and that
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were Huguenots, and that as they encouraged this heresy in
their states, it might spread into Spain. Espinosa (who pre-
tended that Philip was ignorant of his proceedings) informed
the council that it was necessary to impart this circumstance
to his majesty, and entreat him to do all in his power to
- prevent Jane from persecuting the Catholics. . ,

Philip secretly directed the affairs of the Leaguein France,
by means of communications with the chiefs of the party;
and according to his orders the inquisitor-general formed a
plot to carry off the Queen of Navarre and her two children,
and confine them in the dungeons of the Inquisition of Sa.
ragossa. He hoped to succeed in this enterprise, through
the assistance afforded him by the Cardinal de Lorraine, and
the other chiefs of the League.

Those French historians who wrote after this period (such
as the Abbé St. Real, Mercier, and others) have endea-
voured to throw all the odium of this plot on Philip II.and
the Duke of Alva; but as truth is the first duty of
historians, I am compelled to say, that the de Guises were the
authors of it. Nicolas de Neuville, Lord of Villeroy, mi- -
nister and first secretary of state during the reigns- of
Charles IX., Henry III.,, Henry IV., and Louis XIII., has
left details of this affair, in a Memoir which was found after
his death among his papers, and which has been printed with
many others, under the title of Secret Memoirs of M. de
Villeros. This author, who was a contemporary, and ac-
quainted with the secrets of the government, scems to be
more deserving of confidence than any other.

Philip II. took advantage of the attempt, though it en-
tirely failed ; and wrote to represent to the Pope, that his
subjects in the neighbourhood of France might imbibe the
heresy, and demanded and obtained an order to separate
from ‘the bishopric of Bayonne the villages of the
valley of Bastan, and those of the arch-priesthood of Font-
arabia,
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this event, the Inquisition of Spain having received witnesses
to prove that the infallible oracle of the law was a favourer
of heretics, condemned the Sextine Bible, as they had
already condemned those of Cassiodorus de Reyna, and
many others.

A preparatory instruction was commenced against Don
John of Austria, a natural son of Philip IV., but the pro-
ceedings were suspended by the king. This event was eaused
by the intrigues of the inquisitor-general, John Everard Ni-
tardo, who was the mortal enemy of Don John; and some
persons were found base enough to aceuse the king'sbrother
of Lutheranism, in order to flatter him.

The Grandees of Spain may be numbered among the
princes, since Charles V. declared them to possess that
title, and that they were equal in rank to the sovereigns of .
the Circles of Germany ; they had likewise the privileges of
being seated and covered in the presence of the king, as, for
example, when the emperor was crowned.

Among the princes humiliated by the Inquisition, the fol-
lowing persons must be included. The Marquis de Prugo,
the grand-master of the military order of Montesa, the
Duke de Gaudia, St. Francis de iBorgia, the Blessed Juan
de Ribera, the venerable Don Juan de Palafox, and many
others, among whom were several ladies. None of these
triale had any serious result ; the denounced persons enly re-
ceived a severe remonstrance, except in the case of the
Dowager Marchioness d’Alcagnices, who was imprisoned in.
the Convent of St. Catherine, at Valladolid. ‘These persons
were all innocent ; the only foundation for the accusations
was, their intimacy with the Doctors Pedro and Augustin
Cazalla, Fray Dominic de Roxas, and Don Pedro Samiento
de Roxas: they were also accused of having heard conver-
sations on justification, and of not having denounced them.

Y
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Council of Trent. He was prosecuted by the Inquisition of
Valladolid, for the favourable opinion he expressed in 1558,
of the Catechism of Carranza, and for the lettérs he wrote
to him in the following year. It was also known that he
voted for the archbishop, in the commission employed by the
Council of Trent to examine his book, and likewise in the
perticular congregation of that assembly, which approved
his conduct in 1563. Guerrero averted the danger by re-
tracting his opinion in 1574, when he was informed of the
inclinations of Philip on this subject. He then gave & new
opinion, entirely different from the first, persuaded that it
would be sent to Rome, which in fact was done, in order to
strengthen the charges against Carranza: this is proved by
the letter of the Supreme Council to Philip IL., in which it
announces that the censures which his majesty had demanded
of the Archbishop of Granada were prepared, and that it
was absolutely necessary to send them to Rome, because it
was to be apprehended that the affair would be soon con-
cluded, that the trial went on quickly®, and tRat it was ne-
cessary to send this document, on account of the high esteem
in which the opinion of the archbishop was held 1n Rome.

It would be difficult to give a just idea of the intrigues
which were employed to obtain so contrary an opinion from
Guerrero. The Pope commanded, in a particulat brief, that
those censors who had been favourable to the catechism should
examineand censureitagain,and afterwards give their opinions
of theinedited works of Carranza. On the arrival of this brief,
the Cardinal Quiroga, who was in the king’s confidence, de-
spatched persons whom he could depend upon, to the Arch-
bishop of Granada, to induce him to renew his censure,
without saying that he had done it before, to conform to the
king’s intentions, but as if he only did it in obedience to the

" orders of hisholiness. This intrigue is proved by the private

- ® The trial began in 1558; it had aiready lasted] more than fifieen
years, yet the council said that it went on quickly !

t
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the arrest of Carranza, to know if he had given a favourable
opiuion of his catechism. The Bishop replied in the affirm-
ative, and sent him a copy of his opinion. Valdés- kept this
Ppaper; but could not make any use of it. “As the Archbishop
of Toledo had then been arrested, the trial of the Bishop of
Leon was begun, and the inquisitor-general resolved to sum-
mon him to Valladolid.. Valdés informed the king of this
resolution, and he wrote to Cuesta, saying, that all that was
to be done was in the cause of God, and the service of his
majesty. The Bishop of Leon submitted without resistance,
and on the 14th of October, 1559, he was examined in the
Council of the Inquisition, and in the presence of all its
-members. The opinion which he had given of the catechism,
in 1558, was shewn to him, and he acknowledged it to be
his, but said that if he examined it again, he should be able
to judge differently of Carranza’s doctrine. He returned to
his diocese, and sent another favourable opinion of the cate-
chism to the inquisitor-general; it was founded on many
doctrinal considerations and reflections, which he had not
made in that which he sent to Carranza. His letters, declara-
tions, and opinions, shew a bold and strong mind, which
may induce one to believe that he was not provoked to re-
tract in 1574, or that his trial recommenced at that period;
for the inquisitor-general and the Supreme Council finding
in 1560 that the trial of Carranza caused them much trouble
and embarrassment, resolved to suspend the trials of the other
bishops, until the result of the first was known.

Don Antonio Gorrionero, bishap of Almeria, was prose-
cuted for his favourable opinion of the catechism, and some
letters which he wrote on the subject. He howeverattended
the third convocation of the Council of Trent, which took
place in 1560, and the following years.

Don Fray Melchior Cuno, born in Tarracon, in the pro-
vince of Cuenga: he had resigned the bishopric of the Ca-
naries, and attended the second session of the Council of
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poets of his age. 'He was appointed theologian to Charles
V., for the first convocation of the Council of Trent; he as-
sisted at it in 1545, and when the second assembly took place
in 1551, he preached a Latin sermon to the fathers, on As-
sumption-day: this discourse forms part of the collection of
documents relating to the council. In 1561, Philip II,
created him Bishop of Alger in Sardinia, and he attended
the third convocation of the council in that quality. Don
Pedro was made, first, Bishop of Jaca, in 1572; and in the
following year, when he was sixty-four years of age, the
Council of the Inquisition commanded the inquisitors of Sa-
ragossa to take informations against this worthy prelate, as
suspected of heresy, because he had been denounced as mot
being known to confess himself, and that he had no regular
confessor; he was likewise accused of net celebrating mas
with sufficient solemnity. It is surprising that the council
should admit these charges, since a bishop is not ebliged to
have a regular confessor, and it is not necessary for any per-
son to confess, so that the public may be informed of it. The
other charge brought against an old man of sixty-four, shews
that there was nothing more serious to accuse him of.
Philip II., to reward his services, gave Don Pedro the bi-
shopric of Huesca, in 1577, where he founded an episcopal
seminary. He died in1584. He held a synod at Huesca, in
which he established constitutions, which he had drawn up
and caused to be printed; he also composed a Journal of the
most remarkable events in the Council of Trent, from the
year 1542 to 1560, and much Latin poetry.

Among the doctors of theology of the Council of Trent,
who were persecuted or punished by the Inquisition, the
most celebrated is Benedict Arias Montano, perhaps the
most learned man of his age in the oriental tongues.

Several towns in Spain have disputed the honour of being
the place of his birth. Montano understood Hebrew,
Chaldee, Syriac, Arabic, Greek, Latin, French, Italian, -
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Castro, a secular priest, professor of the oriental languages
at Salamanca, because he did not consult the university, and-
employ him in the work. The certainty that he should be
protected by the Jesuits induced him to denounce Arias
Montano to the Inquisition of Rome. This denunciation
was in Latin; he addressed another in Spanish to the Su--
preme Council at Madrid. Leon de Castro accused him -of
having given the Hebrew text of the Bible according to the-
Jewish MSS., and of having made the version accord with
the opinions of the Rabbis, without regarding those of the-
fathers of the church. He also qualified him as suspected of
Judaism, because he affected to take the title of Rabbi,
master ; this, however, may be looked upon as a calurony,
for in a copy of this Bible, which I have seen, his super-.
scription is that of Thalmud, which means disciple. Other
accusations were brought against him by the Jesuits, Leon
de Castro, impatient to see Arias arrested, wrote on the
9th of November, 1576, to Don Fernando de la Vega
Tonseca, a.counsellor of the supreme, and renewed his de-
nunciation, shewing by his letter that he was only actuated
by resentment, at finding his pretended zeal ‘so’ill repaid.
. There is no doubt that Arias would have been arrested, if he
had not been protected by the king, and if the Pope had not
signified his approbation of his Bible by a special brief: he,
however, thought it necessary to go to Rome to ‘justify. .
himself. :
Leon de Castro circulated copies of his denunciation, and
the Jesuits did the same. He was attacked by Fray Luis
Estrada, in a discourse addressed to Montano, in 1574, and
his denunciation was also refuted by Pedro Chacon, another.
learned Spaniard, who proved the injury that would accrue
to the Christian religion, if it was admitted that the Hebrew
MSS. were falsified. De Castro published a reply, which
he called Adpologetic. .
. Arias returned from Rome, and he could depend upon
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ing prosecuted their general, and they contributed to his
dismission in 1566. Diego Lainez, who was at Rome, suc-
ceeded in evading the jurisdiction of the Inquisition of
Spain,

Fray Juan de Regla, a Jeronimite, who had been®con-
fessor to Charles V,, and provincial of his order in Spain,
theologian of the Council of Trent at the second convoos-
tion, was arrested by the Inquisition of Saragosss, on the
denunciation of the Jesuits, as suspected of Lutheranism :
he abjured eighteen propositions, was absolved and subjected
10 a penance. : :

Fray Francisco Villalba, a Jeronimite of Montamarta,
‘born at Zamora, was one of the theologians at the second
Council of Trent, and preacher to Charles V. and Philip II.
He attended the emperor at his death, and pronounced his
funeral oration. Philip II. had often consulted him. The
Inquisition of Toledo began an action against him as a
Lutheran, and being descended from the Jews. This arose
from the envy of some monks of his order, who denounced
him. The general of his order, and his coadjtiton, made
inquiries on the genealogy of Villalba, and discovered that
he was not descended either from the Jews or any. persons
punished by the Inquisition. The protection of the king
prevented the Inquisition from obtaining witnesses soon
enough to substantiate the charges, and they did not dare
to arrest him without further information. At this period,
in 1575, Villalba died at the Escurial, leaving, among honest
Spaniards, the reputation of being a good Catholic.

Fray Michel de Medina, a Franciscan, was a theologian
of the third convocation of the Council of Trent. He was
born at Benalcazar, and became a member of the college of
8t. Peter and St. Paul at the university of Alcala, and
guardian of the convent of Franciscans at Toledo; he died
in 1578, in the secret prisons of that city, after having been
sentenced as suspected of professing the opinions of Luther.
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commissioned him to examine and censure the Catechism of
Carranza: he noted two hundred propositions, as heretical,
tl-sounding, or favouring the heretics.  The archbishop being
informed of his conduct, wrote to Pedro de Soto in Septem-
ber, 1558, to complain of Fray Dominic, and begged that he
would take his part and defend him. An epistolary corre-
spondence was the result of this letter, and when Carranza
was arrested, the letters were found among his papers:
among them was one which deserves particular attention ; in
it Fray Dominic speaks of the trials he had been put to by
the inquisitors of Valladolid, and the violence which was
used to make him censure the Catechism as he had done,
although he had said that he thought it good and according
with sound doctrine. These words were the origin of his
trial, and it is certain that he would have been arrested and
taken to the secret prisons; but he died on the 17th of De-
cember, 1560, when his trial began to assume a dangerous
aspect. - ' ' o
"Fray Juan de Ludeia, Dominican, born at Madrid, prior
of the convent of St. Paul at Valladolid, and the author of
several controversial works against the Lutherans.” He was
prosecuted by the Inquisition of Valladolid in 1559 for Lu-
theranism, because he gave a favourable opinion of the Cate-
chism of Carranza. He was not taken to the prisons, but ap-
peared at the audiences of the charges in the hall ofs the tri-
bunal. He justified himself by declaring that he had only
read the work through rapidly, on account of his great con-
fidence in the virtue of the author, and because he did not
discover any error indoctrine: he was condemned to a private
penance, which was not at all humiliating. This precaution,
which prevented his trial from becoming public, gave him
the liberty of attending the third convocation of the Council
of Trent in the quality of procurator to the Bishop of Si- -
guenza, and of preaching before the fathers of that assembly
on the first Sunday in Advent, 1563. If Ludeiia had had the
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Jesuits and some friends of the Inquisition denounced
Arellano as a Jansenist, because he expressed opinions fas
vourable to temporal power, and defended the royal and
civil authorities against the holy office. The inquisitors
could not take any advantage of the denuntiation, because
lt did not express any particular proposmon

" Buruaga (Don Thomas Saenz de). He was archbishop
of Saragossa, and incurred the same danger as Arellano.

Muzquiz (Don Raphaél de), born at Viana in Navarre.
He was almoner and preacher to Charles ITI. and Charles
IV., confessor of the Queen Louisa, successively bishop of
Avila and archbishop of Pantiago. He was implicated in
the affairs of Don Antonio de la Cuesta and his brother, and
this was sufficient to induce the inquisitors to prosecute him.
This prelate was one of the persecutors of the two brothers,
Charles IV, having ordered the writings of the trial to be
submitted to him, discovered the intrigue, and condemned
the archbishop to pay a considerable fine, and receive a
reprimand.

Acuiia (Don Antonio), bishop of Zamora, commander of

one of the armies of Castile, which were raised by the
people for the war of the Commons against the oppression
of the Flemings, who governed Spain in the name of Charles
V. That prince wished that the bishop and the priests who
engaged in the war, as soldiers, should be punished by the
Inquisition as suspected of heresy, because they acted in
opposition to the spirit of peace taught by Jesus Christ and
his Apostles, and contrary to the spirit of the Catholic
Church. "'Leo X., however, pretended that it would be a
scandal if the bishop was punished by the holy office, and
that it would be sufficient if he was judged at Rome, and
the priests by their diocesan prelates.
" "La Plana-Castillon (Don Joseph de), bishop of Tarragona,
He was a member of the council-extraordinary convoked by
Charles . III. 'The inquisitors noted him as a Jansenist for
the same reasons as Arellano,
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they wrote to cause an inquest to be made of the words and
actions which caused a suspicion that he was one of the
Tlluminatr.

But it is not proved that Ignacius quitted Spain to escape
from punishment ; it appears that he only fulfilled his in-
tention of studying theology at Paris. The humility of the
saint was so great, that when he was denounced a second
* time in that city, to Matthew d’Ory, the apostolical inqui-
sitor, he surrendered himself voluntarily, and had no diffi-
culty in proving his orthodoxy.

It is not more certain that he went to Rome at that time,
since he was still at Paris in 1535, and he afterwards
returned to Spain, where he remained a year without being
molested, though he preached in several provinces. He then
embarked for Italy, went first to Bologna, and - then to
Venice, where he was a third time denounced as an heretic,
but justified himself to the papal nuncio, and was admitted
into the priesthood in that city. Ignacius arrived in Rome
in 1538.

It cannot be proved that he was acquitted at Rome be-
cause he had no accuser, since any criminal may be prosecuted
by the minister of the public and punished. It is true that
there was not at that time a particular tribunal of the Inqui-
sition at Rome; but the civil judges could punish heretics,
and the procurator-fiscal impeached the criminals. St.Ignacius
was again denounced by a Spaniard named Navarro. The
informer deposed that Ignacius had been accused and con--
victed of several heresies in Spain, France, and Venice, and
charged him with some other crimes. Fortunately his three
judges knew his innocence, and he was acquitted. His ac-
cuser was banished for life, and three Spaniards who had
supported his evidence were condemned to retract.

Thus it appears that Melchoir Cano was misinformed
when he wrote, ten years after, that Iiiigo was acqmtted be-
cause 10 accuser appeared. :
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doctors, who conspired against him. They circulated defama-
tory libels: concerning him, during a whole year, and the
affair was carried so far, that a monk prayed for his conver-
sion publicly in the church of Valencia. Ribera was de-
nounced to the Inquisition, as a heretic, fanatic, and one of
the Illuminati.

St. Juan de Ribera would not demand the punishment
of his slanderers; but the procurator-fiscal being informed
that Onuphrius Gacet, a member of the college, was the
principal author of the intrigue, denounced him to the pro-
visor and vicar-general of the archbishop. Gacet being
convicted, was imprisoned. The archbishop did not think it
proper that a judge belonging to his own household should
take cognizance of offences which concerned him personally,
and in order to remove all suspicion of partiality, he wished
that the trial should be transferred to the Inquisition of Va-
lencia, as some of the libels and texts of Scripture werp
employed in so scandalous a mauner, that they came under
the jurisdiction of the tribunal.

St. Juan de Ribera communicated his design to the Cardinal
Espinosa, inquisitor-general, who commanded the inquisitors
of Valencia to continue the trial. The inquisitors had already
begun the preparatory instruction against the archbishop ac-
cording to the denunciations; witnesses were found to sup-
port them, which is not surprising, since every accuser caused
the men devoted to his party to sign his deposition as wit-
nesses. The trial, however, took a sudden turn; instead of
proceeding in the usual forms, the inquisitor caused a decree
to be read in all the churches of Valencia, enjoining every
individual to denounce all those who employed passages of the
Holy Scriptures in a scandalous manner, on pain of excom-
munication. The informations began, and the inquisitors ar-
rested both priests and laymen. The affair was carried onasa
matter of faith; some of the accused were already condemned,
and others on the point of being so, when the procurator of
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the dlscxple of Juan d’Avila; he was of the order of St.
Dominic, and left several works on religion. He was im-
plicated 'in the trial of the Lutherans at Valladolid; Fray
Dominic de Roxas defended his opinions, by saying that they
were the same as those of Fray Louis de Grenada, Carranza,
and other good Catholics. The procurator-fiscal made Fray
Dominic renew his declaration, with the intention of pro-
ducing ‘him as a witness in the trial of Fray Louis: Fray
Dominic was burnt five days after. A sentence condemmng
some of his works was also brought against Fray Louis.

He was denounced a third time as one of the Iluminati,
but was acquitted. Fray Louis died in 1588. His works
are well known : it is singular that the Index in which his
condemnation was published, was afterwards prohibited by
‘the inquisitor-general Quiroga.

The venerable Don Juan de Palafox y Mendoza, the na-
tural son of Don James Palafox, afterwards Marquis de
Hariza and of Donna Maria de Mendoza, (who soon after
became a Carmelite); he was born in 1600. He was made
‘Bishop de la Puebla de los Angelos, in America, in 1639 ;
afterwards Archbishop and Viceroy of Mexico, and lastly,
Bishop of Osma, in Spain,in 1653. He died in 1659, leaving
‘'several works on history, devotion, and mysticity, and with
8o great a reputation of sanctxty, that his canonization is
pending at Rome.

Don Juan had great disputes with the Jesuits in America,
‘on account of the privileges of his rank, of which the
Fathers wished to deprive him. The most important of his
‘writings, is his letter to Pope Innocent X., who terminated
their disputes, to a certain degree, by a brief, in 1648. - The
Jesuits did not consider themselves vanquished; they de-
nounced the archbishop as one of the luminali and a false
devotee, at Rome, at Madrid, and at Mexico. The provin-
cial inquisitors of the last city applied to the Supreme
'Couneil, and the venerable Palafox suffered everything from
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have examined the archives of the Council of the Inquisition
and others, and I, in consequence, affirm, that Don Carlos was
never tried or condemned by the Inquisition; an opinion
only was given against the prince by the councillors of
state, whose president was the Cardinal Espinosa, who at
that time was the king’s favourite. The circumstance of the
cardinal being inquisitor-general may have been the cause
of the mistake ; the deaths of the Count de Egmont and other
noblemen, and the intention of establiéhing the Inquisition
in the Low Countries, may have tended to confirm the
general opinion.

. -Don Carlos lost his life in consequence of a verbal sentence
approved by his father, and the holy office was not concerned
in it. AsI write only the history of the Inquisition, this
fact renders it unnecessary to say more on the subject; but
as almost all the historians of Europe have said that the in-
quisitors condemned Don Carlos, the best way of disproving
it, is to relate the facts as they occurred. )

Don Carlos was born at Valladolid, on the 8th of July in
1545, and lost his mother, Maria of Portugal, four days
after his birth. Charles V. scarcely ever saw him until the
year 1557, when he abdicated and retired to the monastery
of St.Juste in Estremadura. He visited his grandson id
passing through Valladolid. It is not true that Charles V.
educated Don Carlos, and formed his mind ; but during his
various journeys he gave him good preceptors. The young
prince was nine years old, and his father was on the point of
embarking for England, when the emperor wrote a letter
from Germany, dated the 3rd of July, 1554, in which he
speaks A (among other tutors intended for his grandson) of
Don Honoré de Juan, one of the greatest humanists of his
age, and afterwards Bishop of Osma®*. Itis evident that
-Don Carlos was not fond of learning, by a letter from his

*® Father Kircher has inserted this letter in his work called Principis
Christigns dirchetipon Politicum, ‘
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Emperor, and Jane of Austria. They paid the greatest atten-
tion to the health of Don Carlos, but neglected to repress his
violent inclinations, and confided the care of forming his cha-
racter to his governor, his master, and his principal chaplain.

The secret preliminaries only preceded the definitive treaty
of peace, which was concluded at Cambray on the 8th of
April, 1559. Mary, Queen of England, died during the in-
terval, and Philip I1., being then a widower, and only thirty-
two years of age, while Don Carlos was scarcely fourteen,
Henry II. thought it better to marry his daughter to the
king. The marriage of Isabella to Philip was therefore
agreed upon in the twenty-seventh article, and the secret
article in the preliminiaries was not mentioned.

The marriage was celebrated at Toledo, on the 2nd of Fe-
bruary, 1560. The general Cortes of the kingdom was then
held: the members took the oaths of fidelity to Don Carlos,
and acknowledged him as the successor to the crown, on the
22nd of the same month. The young queen could not at-
tend this ceremony, as she was attacked by the small-pox a
few days after her marriage. Don Carlos had also fallen sick
of the quartan fever, some time before the arrival of the
queen in Spain. Although this disorder did not prevent him
from riding on horseback, and attending at the assembly of
the Cortes, it appears, from cotemporary writers, that it
rendered him thin, weak, and pale. This circumstance makes
it 1mprobable that he was handsome, and renders the j journey
which Mercier pretends that he made to meet the queen at
Alcala, extremely doubtful. :

When she became convalescent, lsabella must certainly
have been made acquainted with the neglected education of
Don Carlos, his bad principles, and his msupportable pride.
She could not be ignorant how ill he treated his attendants ;
that when he was angry he broke anything he could seize;
and she was probably informed of his behaviour to the Duke
of Alva, at the assembly of the Cortes. The duke had the
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was said that many miracles had been performed. This
body was laid on that of Don Carlos, and as he began to re-
eover from that time, it was attributed to the protection of
8t. Diego, who was canonized a short time after, at the re-
quest of Philip II. It must be observed, that the prince was
attended by the celebrated Don Andrea Basilio, the king’s
physician, who opened his skull, freed it from a considerable
quantity of water which had accumulated, and thus saved
his life; but he never entirely recovered, and was subject to
pains and weakness in the head, which prevented him from
studying, and by producing a disorder in his ideas, rendered
his character still more insupportable.

Don Carlos returned to court in 1564, emancipated from
his masters: Philip recompensed Don Honoré de Juan, by
making him Bishop of Osma. The solid piety and amiable-
ness of this prelate had inspired Don Carlos with an affec-
tion, which their separation did not interrupt: this is proved
by his letters, which do not give a very advantageous ides
of his capacity or information. He often left sentences im-
perfect, and a different meaning might be inferred from them
from what he wished to express. The following is a letter
addressed to the prelate :—
¢ To my master the bishop.——My master: Ihave received
your letter in the wood : I am well. God knows how much
I should have been delighted to go to see you with the
queen* : let me know how you were, and if there was much
expense. I went from Alameda to Buitrago, which appeared
to me very well. I went to the wood in two days; I re-
tarned here in two days, where I have been from Wednes-
day till to day. T am well; I finish. From the country,
June 2d. My best friend in this world. I will do every
thing that you wish : I, the Prince.” He finishes another
letter, dated on St. John’s day, in the same terms. °

® This refers to the queen's journey to Bayonne, to confer with her
mother on the political affairs of the League. It took place in 1565,
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dares to oppose me, and prevent Cisneros from doing as I
wish? By the life of my father, I will kill you!” He would
have done so, if some grandees who were present had not in-
terposed, and if the president had not retired *.

Don Alphonso de Cordova, brother of the Marquis de
Nava, and the prince’s chamberlain, slept in his apartment.
It once happened that he did not wake soon enough to attend
the prince when he rung his bell; Don Carlos quitted his
bed in a fury, and attempted to throw him out at the win-
dow. Don Alphonso, fearing to fail in respect to the prince
in resisting him, cried out, and the servants immediately came
in; he then repaired to the king’s apartment, who, on being
informed of what had passed, took him into his own servicet.

He often struck his servants. His boot-maker having un-
fortunately brought him a pair of boots which were too small,
he had them cut to pieces and cooked, and forced the man to
eat them, which made him so ill that he nearly lost his life.
He persisted in going out of the palace at night contrary to
all advice, and in a short time his conduct became extremely
scandalous and irregular. It is scarcely possible that the
queen could be ignorant of all these occurrences; and if she
was acquainted with them, it cannot be reasonably supposed
that she could have any inclination for Don Carlos.

In 1565, Don Carlos attempted to go secretly to Flan-
ders, contrary to the will of his father; he was assisted in
this enterprise by the Count de Gelbes and the Marquis de
Tabera, his chamberlain. The prince intended to take his
governor, the Prince d’Evoli, with him (not considering
that he was in the confidence of the king); he thought his
presence would make it supposed that he travelled with the
king’s consent. His flatterers procured fifty thousand crowns
for him, and four habits to disguise themselves when they

* Wander-Hamer: History of Philip IL., p. 115, Cabrem: Prudence
of Philip II., b. vii. chap. 22.
+ Cabrera, Ibid. chap. 28,
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of this scene, which could not but be disagreeable if the king
was informed of it*. -

The vices of Don Carlos could not destroy the affection of
the Emperor of Germany, his uncle, or that of the Empress
Maria, his aunt. These sovereigns wished to marry him to
~ Anmne of Austria, their daughter: this princess had been
known to Don Carlos from her earliest years, as she was
born at Cigales in Spain in 1649. Philip consented to this
marriage ; but fearing, perhaps, to make his nieée miserable
if the character and morals of Don Carlos did not change,
he proceeded in the affair with his usial tardiness. On the
contrary, as soon as the prince was informed of what was in
contemplation, he wished to marry his cousin immediately;
and for that purpose resolved to go to Germany without the
consent of his father, hoping that his presence at Vienna
would induce the emperor to overcome all difficulties. Full
of this idea, he employed himself in the execution of his
design, and was assisted by the Prince of Orange, the Mar-
quis de Berg, the Counts Horn and Egmont, and by the
Baron de Montigny, the chiefs of the conspiracy in Flan-
ders. Don Carlos must be also included among the victims
of this conspiracy+.

The Marquis de Berg and the Baron de Montigny were
gent to Madrid as the deputies of the provinces of Flanders,
with the consent of Margaret of Austria, then governess of
the Low Countries, to arrange some points relative to the
establishment of the Inquisition, and other circumstances
which had caused disturbances. These deputies discovered
the prince’s intention ; they endeavoured to confirm him in
his resolution, and offered to assist him : it was necessary to
make use of an intermediate person in this affair, and they
had recourse to M. de Vendome, the king’s chamberlain.
They promised Don Carlos to declare him chief governor of

* Estrada: Wars of Flanders, Decade i. b. 7.
-#-Cabrera: Hist. Philip II. B. vii. Chap, 8.
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Martin de Gaatelu. He says that he had only received six
thousand ducats on all the promises and letters of change
which had been negotiated in Castile, and that he wanted
six hundred thousand for the plan in question. In order to
procure this sum he sent him twelve blank letters, signed by
himself, and with the same date, that he might fill them up
with the names and surnames of the persons to whom they
were remitted : he also ordered him to go to Seville, and
make use of these letters®.

As the hopes of succeeding in his plan increased, Don Carlos
gave way to more criminal thoughts, and before Christmas
in the same year he had formed the design of murdering his
father. He acted without any plan or discretion, and by the
little pains he took to conceal his secret and secure himself
from danger, proved that his resolution was that of a mad-
man, rather than of a villain and a conspirator.

Philip 11. was at the Escurial, and all the royal family at
.Madrid ; they were to confess and take the sacrament on
Sunday the 28th of December, which was Innocents’ Day.
This was a custom established at the Court of Madrid, to
_obtain a jubilee granted to the kings of Spain by the
Popes. Don Carlos confessed on the 27th to his confessor in
ordinary, Fray Diego de Chaves (afterwards confessor to the
king.) The prince soon after told several persons, that having
declared his intention of killing & man of very high rank, his
confessor had refused to give him absolution, because he
would not promise to renounce his intention. Don Carlos
sent for other priests, but received the same refusal from
them all. He then endeavoured to exact a promise from Fray
Juan de Tobar, prior of the Convent of the Domlmcans of
Atocha, to give him an ‘uficonsecrated wafer at the sacra-
ment; he wished to make it appear that he could approach
the altar as well as Don John of Austria, Alexander Farnese,
and the rest of the royal family. The prior perceived that

Wander-Hamen : Life of Don John of Austria, Book i.
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The prince communicated his intentions to Fray Piego de
‘Chaves, who endeavoured to dissuade him, but without -
suocess. Don Carlos went to make a visit to the wife of
Don Louis de Cordova, the king’s master of the horse. This
lady discovered, from some expressions which dropped from
Don Carlos, that he was prepared to depart, and immedi-
ately informed her husband, who was at the HEscurial with
the king, and who gave the letter to his majesty. At last,
on the 17th January, 1568, Don Carlos sent an order to Don
Ramon de Tasis, director-general of the posts, to have eight
horses ready for him on the following night. Tasis, fearing
that this order covered some mystery, and lknowing the
prince’s character, replied that all the post-horses were en-
gaged, and gained sufficient time to inform the king. Don
Carlos sent a more peremptory order, and Tasis, who dreaded
his violence, sent all the post-horses out of Madrid, and
repaired to the Escurial. The king went to the Pardo (a
castle about two leagues from Madrid), where Don John
joined him. Don Oarlos, who was ignorant of his father’s
removal, wished to have a conference with his uncle, and went
as far as Retamar®*, whence he sent for him to come to him.
The prince recounted all the arrangements for his journey.
Don John replied that he was ready to set out with him, but
as soon as he left him, he returned to the king to tell him
all that he had heard. The king immediately went to Madrid,
where he arrived a few minutes after Don Carlos +.

The arrival of the king altered the measures of Don Carlos,
and prevented him from insisting upon having horses that
night. Louis Cabrera has given some details of the circam-
stances of his arrest, but er imerting the account of
the affair, which was writtx;( the usher a few days after.

_ “The prince, my master,” says he, ‘* had been for some

. ® Retamar is a pldce situated half-way between Madrid and the Pardo.
+ Cabrera, Book vii. Chap, 28.—Wander-Hamen: Life of Don John

f Austria, Book i.
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thing went wrong ; the prior of the Convent of Afocka took
the prince aside, and endeavoured to learn the quality of the
person he wished to kill. He replied that he was a man of very
high rank, and said no more. At last the prior deceived him,
mying, ‘ My Lord, tell me what man it is; it may, perhaps,
be possible to give you absolution according to the degree of
satisfaction your highness wishes to take.’” The prince then
declared that it was the king, his father, whom he hated, and
that he would have his life. The prior then said, calmly,
¢ Does your highness intend to kill the king yourself, or to
employ some person to do it? The prince persisted so firmly
in his resolution, that he could not obtain absolution, and
lost the jubilee. This scene lasted until two hours after
midnight; all the monks retired overwhelmed with sorrow,
perticularly the prince’s confessor. The next day I accom-
panied the prince on his return to the palace, and informa-
tion was sent to the king of all that had passed.

*¢ The monarch repaired to Madrid on Saturday® ; the next
day he went to hear mass in public, accompanied by his
brother and the princest. Don John, who was ill with
vexation, went to visit Don Carlos on that day, who ordered
the doors to be shut, and asked him what had been the sub-
ject of his conversation with the king. Don John replied
that it was about the galleys}. The prince asked him many
quéstiom to find out something more, und when he found
that his uncle would not be more explicit, he drew his
sword. Don John retreated to the door’; finding it shut, he
stood on his defence, and said, ¢ Stop, your highness.’ Those
who were outside having heard him, opened the doors, and
Don John retired to his hotel. The prince feeling indis-

¢ This was not the Saturday following, which was the Srd of January,
1568, but on the 17th of January, the day before Don Carlos was arrested.

+ The princes of Bohemia and Hungary, then at Madrid, also Don
John of Austria and Alexander Farnese.

1 Some galleys which were then being prepared under the command of
Don John d
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and amuse the prince; do not do anything he commands you
without first snforming me. I order you all to guard Aim
Saithfully, on pain of being declared traitors.’ At these
words the prince began to utter lond cries, and said, ¢ Fox
had much better kill me, than keep me a prisomer; stis a
great scandal to the kingdom : if you do not do i, I shall -
know how to kill myself’ The king replied, ¢ that he muss
take care not to do so, because such acts were only committed
by madmen.’ The prince said, ¢ Your majesty treats me so
i, that you will force me to come to that emtremity, either
Jrom madness or desperation.’ Some other conversation
pnued between them, but nothing was decided on, bocmq
neither the time nor place permitted it.
¢ The king retired ; the duke took the keys of the doors,
and sent away the valets and ether servants of the prince
He placed guards in the cabinet, four Monteros &’ Espinosa,
four Spanish Halberdiers, and four Germans with their
Keutenant. He afterwards came to the door where I was,
and placed there four Monteros, and four guards, and told
* me to retire. The keys of the prince’s escrutoires and trunks
were then taken to the king; the beds of the valets were
taken away. The Duke de Feria, the Count de Lerma, and
Don Rodrigo, watched by liis higlness that night; he was
afterwards watched by two chamberlains, who were relieved
every six hours. The persons appointed by the king for this
service, were the Duke de Feria, the Prince of Evoli, the
prior, Don Antonio de Toledo, Louis Quijada, the Count
de Lerma, Don Fadrique Enriquez, and Don Juan de Va-
lesco* ; they did not wear arms for this service. - The guards
did not allow us to approach either night or day. Twe
chamberlains prepared the table; the major-domo came to
fetch the dinner in the court. No knives were allowed, the
meat was taken in already cut up. Mase was not eaid in

* Son of Don Gabriel, Count de Siruela.
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- Philip II. saw very plainly that an event of this nature
could not long remain concealed, and would not fail to
excite the curiosity of the public. He therefore thought it
necessary to give notice of it to all the civil and ecclesiastical
authorities, to the Pope, the Emperor of Germany, to several
sovereigns of Europe, to .Catherine of Austria, Queen of
Portugal, widow of John III., sister of Charles V., aunt
and mother-in-law of Philip 1I., grandmother of the unfor-
tunate prisoner, and aunt and grandmother of Anne of Austria,
to whom he was to have been married. This relationship is
the reason why Philip calls her in his letter the mother and
mistress of all the family. Louis Cabrera says, that this

"letter was addressed to the Empress of Germany, his sister,
to whom he - also wrote, but the Queen of Portugal was the
only one to whom the title could be applied.

_ In the letter addressed to the Pope, and dated from Madrid
on the 20th of January, the king says, that though he is af-
flicted, he has the. consolation of knowing that he had done
his utmost to procure a good education for his son, and had
shut his eyes to all that might arise from his physical orga-
nization ; but that the service of God and his duty to his
subjects would no longer permit him to tolerate his conduct.
He finishes by promising to inform his holiness further of the
affair, and asks his prayers for a happy result. On the same
day Philip wrote another letter to Queen Catherine, his
aunt, in which he imparts all his paternal grief. He reminds
her that he had already informed her of some preceding cir-
cumstances which caused fears for the future, and tells her
that the arrest would not be followed by any other punish.
ment, but that it had been decided on to put a stop to his
irregularities: the letter to the empress is in much the same
"terms.

" In that which the king addressed to the cities, he said,
- that if he only had been a father, he should never have de-
cided upon such a determination, but that as a king he could
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tion for his own son. 8o great a proof of love must compel
your majesty’s subjects to testify their gratitude by their
submission and fidelity. This city, which has always been
distinguished for its zeal, will, at this time, give a greater
‘proof -of it in immeédiately obeying your majesty’s com-
mands. @od preserve the royal and Catholic person of
your majesty! In the municipal council of Murcia, Fe-
bruary 16th, 1568.”

Pius. V., and all the other persons to whom Philip had
written, replied, by interceding for his son. They said it
might be hoped that so striking an event would be a check
to the prince, and induce him to alter his conduct. No one
made more earnest intercessions than Maximilian II.; it is
true that he was more interested on account of the marriage
~ intended for his daughter. He was not satisfied with writ-
ing, but sent the Archduke Charles to Madrid, for the pur-
pose of interfering. The journey which the archduke was
obliged to make into Flanders and France, was the osten-
sible motive for that to Madrid. Philip was inflexible ; he
not only detained the prince as a prisoner, but proved, by the
following ordinance, that he intended to keep him so. It was
eonfirmed by the secretary Pedro del Hoyo, and the execu-
tion of it confided to the Prince of Evoli, who was appointed
his licutentant-general in everything relatmg to the pnnee.
Et was as follows :—

¢“The Prince of Evoli is the chief of all the persons em~
ployed in the service of the prince, in guarding, supplying
him with food, and in his health, and other ways. He shall
cause ‘the door to be fastened b* latch, and not locked,
either night or day, and he shall not allow the prince
to come out. His majesty appoints toguard, serve, and keep
the prince company, the Count de Lerma, Don Francis
Manriquez, Don Rodrigo de Benavides, Don Juan de Borgia,
Don Juan de Mendoza, and Don Gonzalez Chacon. No
other individual (except the physician, the barher, and the
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shall take the food for his table into the first saloon, to be
served to his highness by the noblemen : a montero shall take
the dishes in the second chamber. The monteros shall be
employed, and serve night and day, according to the regu-
lations of Rui Gomez de Sylva. Two halberdiers shall be
placed in the porch of the hall, leading to the court; they
shall not allow any person to enter, without the permission of
the Prince d’Evoli. In his absence, they shall ask it of the
Count de Lerma, or of any one of the others, who is appointed
to act as chief in their absence. Rui Gomez de Sylva is
commissioned to command, in the name of the king,A the lieu-
tenant-captains of the Spanish and German guards, to place
eight or ten halberdiers outside the porch. These men shall
also mount guard at the doors of the infantas; two shall be
placed in the apartment of Rui Gomez, from the time when
the great gate of the palace is opened, until midnight, when
the prince’s chamber shall be closed, and the monteros
commence their service. Each nobleman is permitted to
have a servant for his own use; he shall select from his people
the one he has most confidence in. Allthese personsshall make
oath, before the Prince d’Evoli, to execute faithfully the
regulations contained in this ordinance. Rui Gomez, and
the noblemen under his orders, shall inform the king of any
negligence in this respect. The said Rui Gomez is com

manded to supply all that shall be considered necessary in the
service, and which has not been stated in this ordinance. As
all the responsibility rests upon him, his orders must be ex-
ecuted by the people under him.”

The secretary Hoyo read thiggprdinance to all the per-
sons employed, and -to each in particular; they all took the
oath requited.

It has been shewn by the recital of the usher, that Philip
gave orders for the trial of hisson. The king having pro-
ceeded to the interrogation of the witnesses, by means of the
secretary Hoyo, created a special commission to examine
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represented that his highness had no longer either friends or
partisans, and reminded him of several scandalous sceues
which bad increased the number of his enemies; he finishes
his letter in the following terms : *“Your highness may easily
imagine all that will be said when it is known that you da
not confees, and when many other terrible things are dis-
ocovered; some are 9o much so, that if it concerned any other
person than your highnesss, tAe Aoly office would be entitled
to snquire if you are really a Christian. I declare to your
highness, with all truth and fidelity, that you only expese.
yourselftd lose your rank, and (what is worse) your soul.
I am obliged to say, in the grief and bitterness of my heart,
that there is no remedy, and the only advice I can give you,
is to return towards God and your father, who is his repre-
sentative on earth. If your highness will follow my advice,.
you will apply to the president, and other virtuous persons,
who will not fail to tell you the truth, and conduct you in
the right way.” This letter had no more success than any
of the other attempts ; the prince still refused to confess.
The despair which Don Carlos soon fe]t, made him neglect.
all regularity in taking food and rest. He became so heated
by the rage which preyed on him, that iced water (which he
used continually) had no effect on him, He caused a great
quantity of ice to be put into his hed, to temper the dryness
of his skin, which was become insupportable. He walked
about naked, and without shoes or atockings, on the pave.
ment, and remained whole nighta in this state. In the month
of Jupe, he refused all nourishment but iced water, for
eleven days, and became 80 wealgthat it was suppoesed he
bad not long to live. The king being informed, went to
visit him, and addressed some words of consolation to him,
the result of which was to induce the prince to eat more
than was proper for him in his weak state, and this excess
brought on & malignant fever, accompanied by a dangerous
dysentery. The prince was attended by Doctor Olivares,
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fice, to suffer the laws to take their course; but considering
that the health of Don Carlos was in such a state that there
was no hope of prolonging his life, he thought it would be
better to suffer him to satisfy himself in his inclinations in
eating and  drinking, since, from the disorder of his ideas, he
would not fail to commit some excess, which would lead him
to the tomb: that the only thing which concerned him, was
the necessity of persuading his son that his death was inevit-
able, and that in consequence he must confess himself to en-
sure salvation; that this was the greatest proof of affection
which he could shew to his son and the Spanish nation.

- 'This decision of the king is not mentioned in the writings
of the trial. There was no sentence written or signed; but
the secretary Hoyo, in a note, says, that at this period of the
trial the prince died of his malady, and this was the reason
why no sentence was pronounced. The proof of the fact
exists in other papers, in which the curious anecdotes of the
time have been related. ‘Although these documents are not
authentic, they merit attention, as they were written by pers
sons employed in the king’s palace, and accord with what
some writers have insinuated. It is true that they did think
proper not to speak plainly on such delicate mbjects, but they
have said enough to lead to the truth.. »

Cardinal Espinosa and the Prince of Evoli t.llought that
they should fulfil the intentions of Philip in hastening " the
death of Don Carlos; they agreed that the physician shoald
inform the prince of his condition, without saying anything
of the king’s displeasure or of the trial, and that he should
prepare him to receive the exhortations which would be
made for the benefit of hissoul: by these means they hoped
to induce him to confess and prepare himself for death,
which would put an end to his misfortunes.

The Prince of Evoli held a conference with the Doctor
Olivares. He spoke to him in that mysterious and important
manner which persons versed in the politics of courts know
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ether errora on the authority of hia two inforwants®. It is
not moare surprising that the authors cited by Gregorio Leti
hvc stated things which appear to be written by the pen of
 novelist ar romance writer, because the death of the
prince being occasioned by a mysterieus medicine, adminis-
tered according to @ private onder, no one dowbted that it
. was caused by vialence, and endeavoured to conjecture how
it wag dane.

But the truth is always discovered sooner ar later, and
after ‘a cemtury and & balf, we find so many isolated facta
and accounts of this event, that they produce conviction, and
shew that the death of Don Carlos had the external appear-
ances of a natural death, and that he himself considered it to
beso. Theacgcounts of some foreign historians, of the result
of the medicine, have been refuted by authentic documents:
those of the writers, who have composed romances under the
names of higteries, are equally disproved. I shall therefore
proceed, ta relate the facta gs they eccurred.

Don Carlos, an being informed by Olivares that death was
approaching, desired that Fray Diega de Chaves, his con-
fessor, wight be sent for: his arders were executed on the
2lst of July, The prince commissioned the monk to ask
pardon of his father, in his pame : the king sent to tell him,
that he granted it with all his heart, ag well as his bleming,
and that he hoped his repentance would obtain pardon from
Ged. . On the same day he regeived the sacraments of the
Euchasist and Extreme Unction with great devotion. He
also, with the king's consent, made & will, which was written
by Mastia de Gatzelu, hig secretary. ‘On the 220d and 23rd
he was ins dyiag state, and tranquilly listened to; the exhor-

~ tationa of his confessor and Doctox Suarez de Toledo. The
ministera proposed to. the king that he should see his son, and
give him his blessing in person, as it would be a cansolation
to him ¢n his death-bed. Philip asked the opinion of the

*De 'Thou : History of his Time, in Latin, vol. ii, b. 43,
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dinary to Madrid, with compliments of condolence to the king,
who was really inconsolable for the loss of his expected heir,
Juan Lopez del Hoyo, in 1569, published a faithfu) account
of the illness and death of the queen; and some circumstances
which he mentions seem incompatible with the use of poison,

". which is said to have occasioned her death. It is evident

that the Prince of Orange suffered himself to be misled by
hatred and revenge. The reality ofa crime caniot be believed
when neither the end nor motives for it can be perceived, and
Philip was certainly interested in the queen’s life. Some
writers, after having supposed that the crime was committed,
have endeavoured to discover the cause, and some romance-

writers have thought that they discovered it in the pretended
intrigue with Don Carlos. Supposing it to be true, there are

. historical proofs that it could not have commenced till after

his return from Alcala, and at that time he ardently wished
to marry his cousin, Anne of Austria. This princess became
the fourth wife of Philip, and the mother of his successor,
Philip 1II.

Philip 11.), wishing to commemorate the justice of his con-
duct towards his son, ordered that the writings of the trial,
with the original, and translation from the Catalonian tongue
of that of Don Charles, Prince of Biana, should be collected
and preserved. Don Francis de Mora, Marquis de Castel
Rodrigo, who became the king’s confidant after the death of
Ruj Gomez de Sylva, in 1592, deposited these writings in a
green coffer, which the king afterwards sent shut, and with-
out a key, to the royal archives of Simancas, where it isstill,
if it has not been carried away by the order of the French
government, as it has been reported in Spain.
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the arts, which was confined to some general ideas of
logic, metaphysics, and phyaics. In 1520 he took the habit
of a Dominican, in the Convent of Venalec, in the Alcarria,
which was afterwards transferred to the city of Gugdalazara.
As soon as he had professed, he was sent to study theology
in the Cellege of St. Btephen of Balamanca; and in 1535 he
was placed in that of St. Gregory of Valladolid.

A proof of the rapid progress of Bartholomew may be
soen in his trial. Fray Michel de 8t. Martin, a Dominican
monk, and a professor in the same college at Valladolid, de-
mounced him to the hely office, in 1530, deposing that, two or
three years before, he had had several conversations with
Carranza, on subjects coneerning his conscienee; that he had
remarked that he limited the power of the Pope, relating to
the ecclesiastical ceremonies ; and that he had reprimanded

"him for so erroneous an opinion. Carranza was also de-

nounced in 1530, by Fray Juan de Villamartin, as having
been the ardent defender of Erasmus, even on the subject of
the sacrament of penance, and the frequent confession of per-
sons who are only in a state of venial sin; that having op.
posed to him the example of St. Jerome, he maintained that
it was impossible to support the fact by the authority of any
respectable eoclesiastical historian; that Carranza also said
Erasmus ought mot to be contemned, for saying that the
Apoealypse was not the work of 8t. John the Evangelist,
but of another priest, who bore the same name.

. "Phese denunciations were nat made use of until the instruo-
tion of the trial of the archbishop was far advanced, when
every method was employed to find materials for acousations;
the demunotaiions and suspended trials were then looked
over, and those above.mentioned were found. They were
noted as declarations of witnesses, under the numbers ninety.
four, and ninety-five ; while, according to the dates, they
ought to have been the firet.

As these denunciations were not known out of the holy
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ment of confessor to Philip II., then prince of the Asturias,
and in 1549 declined accepting the bishopric of the
Canaries. He was elected in the same year prior of the
Dominicans of Palencia, which he accepted. In 1550 he was
made provincial of the Convents of Castile, and visited his
Pprovince.

 The Council of Trent being again convoked in 1651,
Carranza was commanded by the emperor to attend it, and
farnished with full powers by the Cardinal Archbishop of
Toledo; he assisted at the different assemblies until 1552,
when he-was suspended the second time. Among the dif-
ferent commissions confided to him, was that of preparing an
Index. On his return to Spain, the period of his provincial-
ship had expired, and he re-entered his College of St.
Gregory of Valladolid.

‘The alliance between Philip II. and Mary, Queen of Eng-
land, being fixed, Fray Bartholomew, in 1554, went to
England, in order to assist Cardinal Pole in preparing the
kingdom to return to the Catholic faith. Carranza passed
the greatest part of his time in preaching, and succeeded in
converting a great number of heretics. When théd king left
Eggland to go to Brussels, Carranza remained with the
queen, to whom he was useful in supporting the Catholic
doctrine in the universities, and arranging other affairs of
the greatest importance. He revised, by the order of Car-
dinal Pole, the canons which had been decreed by a national
council, and caused several obstinate heretics to be pu-
nished, particularly Thomas Cranmer, Archbishop of Canter-
bury, and Martin Bucer; his zeal often exposed him to
great danger. .

In 1557 he went to Flanders, where he caused all books
infected with the heresy of Luther to be burnt. He did the
same at Frankfort, and also informed the king that many of
these books were introduced into Spain by way of Arragon.
Philip, in consequence, gave the necessary orders to the in-
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He afterwards returned to Spain, and assisted several
times at the Councils of ' Castile and the Inquisition. About
the middle of September he went to the monastery of St.
Juste, to make a report to Charles V. of some affairs con-
fided to him by Philip II., and to pay his respects to the em-
peror, who was then ill, and died two days after. An
acoount has been given in the eighteenth chapter of what
passed at this visit. He then repaired to hie archbishopric,
where be remained six months, and then went to Alcala de
Henares, with the intention of visiting his diocese. During
the six months that he passed in the capital, his conduct was
exemplary, passing his time in preaching, distribating alms,
visiting the prisoners and the sick, and'in causing prayers to
be said for the dead. He employed himself in the same
manner in all the places he passed through, until he arrived
at Torrelaguna, where he was arrested by the Inquisition on
the 23nd of August. He was taken back to Valladolid, and
imprisoned in a house belonging to the eldest branch of the
family of Don Pedro Gonzalez de Leon, where Don Diego
Gonzalez, an inquisitor, was appointed to guard him.

Carranza liad made enemies of sevetal bishops, when he
published his treatise. On the Restdence of Bishops: the
reputation which he acquired for learning in the Council of
Trent, at the expense of several individuals who considered
themselves superior to him, rendered them also his enemies,
or at least his rivals. Of this number were Melchior Cano,
" who -has been already mentioned ; their rivalry was changed
into open jealousy on his part, and on that of Fray Juan de
Regla, when Carranza was appointed Archbishop of Toledo.
This hatred became common to others, when, after refusing
the archbishopric, Fray Bartholomew recommended the
three persons before-mentioned to the king: among them
were Don Ferdinand Valdes, inquisitor-general; Don Pedro
de Castro, Bishop of Cuenga, a son of the Count de Lemos;
and a man of much greater merit, and Don Antonio Augus-
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tween the opinions of Carranza and Cazalla ; which succeeded
sowell, that a partisan of Cano had the audacity to announce
from the pulpit, when Cazella was arrested, that an order
had been issued to arrest the Archbishop of Toledo.

On the 25th of April, 1558, Donna Antoinetta Mella de-
posed, that Christopher de Padilla had given her a MS. con-
taining Lutheran doctrines, which he said was written by -
Carranza. This declaration was not communicated to the
archbishop, because the work was composed by Fray
Dominic de Roxas. On the 17th of the same month, Pedro
de Sotelo made a similar declaration.

On the 29th of April, Donna Anne Henriquez d’Almanza
deposed, that she asked Fray Dominic de Roxas if he should
treat of points of doctrine with the archbishop, and that he
said he should not, because Carranza had just written a book
against the Lutherans. She added that she had heard Francis
de Vibero say, that the archbishop would burn in hell, be-
cause knowing better than any person that the doctrine of
Luther was orthodox, he had condemned several persons to
the flames in England, for professing it. Francis de Vibero,
on being interrogated, declared that he did not remember to
have used these words, and that he thought it doubtful, be-
cause Carranza had always been a Roman Catholic.

Donna Catherine de Rios, prioress of the convent of St.
Catherine, at Valladolid, deposed, on the 24th of April, that
she heard Fray Dominic de Roxas say, that Don Bartholomew
had declared that ke did not find any evidence of the existence
of purgatory in the Holy Scriptures: she added however, on
the following day, that she was persuaded that Carranza did
believe in purgatory, because<he always exhorted his monks
to perform masses for the dead; she deposed, that having
asked Donna Anne Henriquez, if the archbishop held the
same opinion, that she did, she replied, that on the contrary
he bad written a book in refutation of them; that Donna
Bernsrdina de Rozas told her that she had learnt from Fray
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the 27th June, replied that Don, Bartholomew had told him
that he ought to believe in the existence of purgatory, and
that if he was not obliged to depart, he would answer his
arguments in a satisfactory manner ; that Pedro Cazalla was
the only person to whom he had communicated his conversa-
tion with Carranza ; that he had reason to believe his pre-
sent summons was occasioned by the declaration of Cazalla,
who had not spoken the truth. On the 20th and 23rd, Fray
Dominic declared that Carranza had always spoken of
purgatory like a good Catholic. Thus it appears that the
declarations of Cazalla were proved to be false, before the
order for an arrest was issued.

_On the 7th of May, 1559, the inquisitor, William, remitted
a letter from _Carranza, in ‘which he mentions Don Charles
de Seso, and says that he did not denounce him, because he
thought he had only been led into error; which was proved
by the reply of Seso, when reprimanded by him, that he
would only believe that which was really commanded by the-
Catholic religion, and that he then told him he could not
do better. .

Garcia Barbor de Bexega, an alguazil of the Inquisition
of Calahorra, deposed on the 12th of May, that he arrested
Fray Dominic de Roxas, when he endeavoured to fly from
Spain, and that when conversing with him on the increase of
the number of Lutherans, he asked if his master Carranza
was of that sect; Roxas replied in' the negative ; that he was
not going to seek him in Flanders for that redson, but to ob-

tain from the king the favour of not being degraded. This
declaration as not communicated to the archbuhop in the.
publication of the depositions.

On the 13th of May, Fray Dominic de Rozas declared that
Fray Francis de Tordesillas had expressed pity for him, when
he heard him speak of justification, and make use of phrases
in his discourses tinctured with Lutheranism ; that this also
happened to Carranza. Fray Francis, on being examined,
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the author had taken so much erudition? Fray Juan re-
plied that it was contained in a work of Luther, and that
the book could not be confided to every person, because the
good was too often mixed with evil in those authors. Fray
Juan de Villagarcia being interrogated on this subject, re-
plied that it was a work of (Ecolampadius, and that the
archbishop always kept it concealed ; that it was true that
he had taken from it materials for the treatise in which he
explained the prophecies of Isaiah; but he was accustomed
.to say that no confidénce could be placed in the heretical
authors; that the archbishop had been seduced by them, but
always defended the Catholic religion. It has been already
stated that Paul III. granted him permission to read pro-
hibited works; the brief was found among his papers.

On the 3rd of July, Elizabeth Estrada deposed, that Fray
Dominic de Roxas had told her, that it depended upon Don
Bartholomew to make her sister the Marchioness d’ Alcafices
adopt the errors of Luther, and that he hoped to see that
event take place, because then the king and all Spain would
embrace that religion. The deponent also said that Fray
Dominio told her that Don Bartholomew had read the
works of Luther. Fray Dominic, being examined, replied
that he often spoke in that manner to the nuns who were of
his opinions, and to other individuals of his society of Lu-
therans, adding that Carranza thought as he did on justifica-
tion and purgatory; that he (Roxas) composed an Ezpla-
nation of the articles. of faith, according to his own creed,
and attributed it to Carranza, to give it more consequence ;
that he always said the archbishop approved the doctrine of
Luther to persuade those persons to persevere in the faith,
but that he never said that Don Bartholomew had read the
works of Luther, because he did not know that he had. The
deponent declared that the changes in his situation induced
him to confess the truth; that the archbishop had never

" adopted such doctrines, and that he always gave a Catholic
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nunciation of the merit of his good works, because he relied
solely on those of Jesus Christ, and that he considered his
sins as nothing, because Jesus had expiated them; Dominic
added, that Don Louis de Roxas, his nephew, related the
same thing, as having occurred at his return from Flanders
in the king’s suite, and that all these expressions did not
make him consider the archbishop as a Lutheran, but as a
good Catholic; because the heretics denied that the good
works of the creature could expiate sin, and attributed the
expiation to the merits of Jesus Christ, while Carranza only
asserted, that the expiation by the good works of a sinner
was so little when compared with the infinite merits of our
Redeemer, that the sinner might regard them as nothing if
he fervently prayed for the application of the merits of our
Saviour dying on the cross. There seems to be no doubt that
Fray Dominic was the author ofthe denounced proposition ; he
explaineditto the advantage of the accused during the torture.

On the 8th of September, Fray Dominic declared that
Don Bartholomew had said, that the expression, say the mass,
was not exact, that it would be more correct to say perform
the mass, from the Latin, facere rem sacram, and thathe used
this expression in the pulpit and in his writings. This ac-
cusation was certainly not sufficient to authorize a decree
of arrest. .

On the 23rd of September, Doctor Cazalla declared, that
ten or twelve years before, he heard Fray Dominic de Roxas
say, that Don Bartholomew held the doctrines of the Lu-
therans. Fray Dominic on being examined denied the fact,
but afterwards, on being tortured, confessede that he had
often declared that Don Bartholomew believed in the doc-
trines of the Lutherans, to give weight to his own opinions,
and acknowledged that he did not speak the truth.

The same Doctor Cazalla (being examined on the evidence
of Donna Frances de Zuiiiga, who said he had instructed her
in the doctrine of Luther) declared, that Donna Frances,
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the accused never knew that he had given it. Itis thus
that the inquisitors in their proceedings violate matural
right, in concealing all that may be taken advantage of by
a defender.

On the 9th of December, Fray Juan de Regla voluntarily
denounced Carranza, for some expressions used by him to
"Charles V., on the forgiveness of sins. This affair has already
‘been mentioned in the thirteenth chapter. On the 23rd
Fray Juan again denounced Don Bartholomew, for having
‘supported the arguments of the Lutherans, in the second
session of the council of Trent; concerning the holy sacrifice
of mass ; and for having dared to say ego Aero certe, which
‘scandalized sevetal fathers of the council; he admitted that
_ the accused afterwards explained his words, but said it was
‘without energy. This monk was the only witness who de-
posed to this fact. Don Diego de Mendoza, ambassador of
Spain to the council, who had been punctual in attending
‘the sessions, declared that he did not remember the circum-
stance, which had not been denounced before by any of the
numerous rivals of Carranza. Fray Juan was extremely
mortified that he could not obtain a bishopric, and we
may suppose that nothing but jealousy could inspire him
‘with such scruples, sixteen years after the event. It must be
observed that he had been condemned by the Inquisition of
Baragossa, that he had abjured eighteen propositions, and
"had been pursued by the Jesuits, of whom he and Cano had
shewn themselves the most violent adversaries, while Don
Bartholomew was their friend. Cano and de Regla there-
fore endeavoured to mortify Carranza, and persecated him
as being secretly attached to the Jesuits.

" The licentiate Hornuza, judge of appeals of the district
of Santiago, states in a writing annexed by the fiscal to the
trial six weeks after the arrest of the archbishop, that this
prelate, having presented to the Council of Trent some
arguments in favour of Luther, he acknowledged that they
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ther author.

. Notes on the Explanation of the verse dudi filia of the

44th Psalm, by Juan d’Avila, 83.

. Explanation of Psalm 83.

. Explanation of Pealm 129.

. Explanation of Psalm 142.

. Explanation of the Prophet Isaiah.
. Explanation of the Epistle of St. Paul to the Romans.
. Ditto Galatians.

. Ditto Ephesians.

. Ditto Philippians.

Ditto Colossians.

Explanation of the Canonical Epistle of St. John.
Treatise on the Love of God to Man.

Ditto on the Sacrament of the Order, with notes on the

same subject.

. Ditto on the holy Sacrifice of Mass. “
. Ditto on the Celibacy of Priests.

. Ditto on the Sacrament of Marriage.

. Ditto on the Utility and Efficacy of Prayer.
. Ditto on the Tribulation of the Just.

. Ditto on the Christian Widow.

. Ditto on Christian Liberty.

Remarks on the Commandments of God and the Sins
of Mortals.

. Apology for the Commentaries on the Catechism.
.- Proofs taken from Holy Writ for the defence of the

publication of a Catechism in the Spanish language.

. Abridgment of the Commentaries on the Catechism.
. Sermons for all the Year.

. Ditto on the Love of God.

. Ditto, Super flumina Babylonis.

. Ditto on the Manner of hearing Mass.

. Ditto on Holy Thursday.
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Treatise on Prayer and Meditation, which appears to have
been written by some other Lutheran author.

Explanation of the Book of Job, of which Carranza only
wrote the notes, which refute the text in several places.

Explanation of the verse dud: filia, explanatory notes only
by Carranza,

Several papers which Fray Dominic de Roxas and Chris-
topher de Padilla had distributed, maliciously attribut.
ing them to Don Bartholomew, although they belonged
to Fray Dominic, and other Lutherans.

As to the Ezposition of the Canonical Epistle of St. Jokn,
the archbishop declared that, in the state in which it was, he
did not acknowledge it as his work ; that he had only given
it verbally to his pupils, and that, doubtless, one of them had
written it from memory; that although the foundation of it
was what he had taught, the errors which it contained could
not be imputed to him,

The grand inquisitor was at first only acquainted with the
Catechism of Carranza, the censure of which was confided to

-Cano and others. Cano, whose heart was full of hatred,

wanted no incitements to condemn it; of the inclinations of
the others we may judge by letters, in which Fray Dominic
de Soto speaks of his embarrassment at being obliged to
censure some propositions which he considered very ortho-
dox. Of all the works of Carranza, those only were marked
with the theological censure which are numbered 3, 4, 13,
27, 28, 29, and 30. The Master Charles, and afterwards
Cano and Cuevas, were empldyed in this work.

As there were among the Lutherans many persons intimate
with the archbishop, and even some who had been his pupils,
he wished to be informed of the state of their affaire. Fray
Juan de la Pefia, Fray Francis de Tordesillas, aud Fray Louis
de ‘la Cruz, sent the details to Flanders to Fray Juan de
Villagarcia, the companion of the archbishop, and by this



Digitized by GOOS[Q



432 HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION, | [Chap. XXXII,

Fray Mancio del Corpus, professor of Alcala; besides
many other Doctors of Salamanca, Valladolid, and Alcala.

While the archbishop was at Valladolid in 1558, he de-
manded that the theological censures of his works should be
communicated to him, that he might reply to them, and give
any satisfaction required of him. He thought he had a right
to. this concession, for several reasons: first, as he was the
author; secondly, as the primate of Spain; and thirdly, as
a man who might expect such an act of deference from the
holy office, in consideration of his labours in its cause. But
the grand-inquisitor Valdés (who was his enemy, though he
pretended to be his friend) would not grant his request,
alleging that it was not the custom to hear an author on
the qualification of his works. Carranza then endeavoured
to avail himself of the approbations he had obtained from
the illustrious theologians already mentioned, who were
almost all of them fathers of the council of Trent; but they
were not received, and he experienced the same rejection
from the Supreme Council. The mystery which shrouded all
the proceedings of that body was impenetrable, and he de-
parted from Valladolid in ignorance of the causes of his trial.

He however afterwards obtained information, that some
witnesses had been examined on his personal faith, and that
the censurers of his work noted it, as containing Aeresies,
propositions savouring of heresy, fomenting heresy, tending
to heresy, and capable of causing it. Some idea may be
formed of the state of his mind from his application to the
king and the pope, to whom he sent an account of all that
had passed between him and the grand-inquisitor, and im-
plored their protection ; the minutes of this account, and the
letters which accompanied it, were afterwards found among
his papers.

On the 20th of September, he arrived at Yuste, in Estre-
madura. His misfortune, it may be presumed, rendered him
prudent in his exhortations to Charles V.; it is not likely
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this exists in the procedure : he was favourably disposed to-
wards the archbishop, till Valdés and the counsellors of the
Inquisition persuaded him that Carranza was an hypocritical
heretic. The absolute inactivity .of this prince’s character,
and the formidable and continual activity of Valdés, were
the cause of the misfortunes of Carrarza.. '

The archbishop now thought it would be better to submit
in order to avoid the infamy, and without waiting for replies
from Brussels and Rome, on the 21st of September, 1558, he
addressed a petition to Don S8anche Lopez de Otalors, eoun-
sellor of the Inquisition, in which he consented that his Cae~
techism should be placed in the Index, provided his name
Was not mentioned, and that the prohibition did not extend
beyond Spain, because the work was in the Spanish language.
He hoped by these means to preserve the reputation of being
a Catholic author, the only fame of which he was ambitious.
In November, he sent letters to the grand-inquisitor and
others, and remitted petitions to the Supreme Coun¢il, ear-
nestly requesting, that in order to terminate all difficulties as
‘soon as possible, his Catechism might be printed in Spanish,
and given to him to be revised, corrected, and translated
into Latin. His efforts were unsuccessful; the grand-inqui-
sitor, far from wishing to serve him, obtained from the Pope
~ the brief which completed his disgrace. He then perceived

that he ought to have followed the advice which had been
‘given to him in Flanders, to repair to Rome, instead of
Spais. The Bishop of Orense gave him to understand shat
‘there were in his case some things savouring of heresy, when
ke made the following reply :—Unless this orime entered by
‘the sleeve of my habit, I am, thank God, jinnocent of any
thing of the kind. I shall therefore allow the affasr ta take
the common course.

On the 7th of June, 15658, Paul IV. declared in full con-
‘sistory, *“ that being informed that the heresies of Luther,
‘spd some others, had been propagated in Spein, he lad
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had given the same advice to several other persons employed
in the palace. This deposition was followed by those of the
countess his wife, their chaplain, and seven of their servants.

On the same day, Fray Dominic de Roxas deposed, that
the Marquis de Boza, his father, asked Carranza if he should
cause a thousand masses to be said for his soul during his
" life, or after his death, and that the archbishop replied, « If
my lord the marquis will believe me, he will say the masses
during his life’' The deponent further said, that the arch<
bishop, in going to Trent to attend the second convocation
of the council, was in company with some Lutherans who
were with the King of Bohemia ; that he disputed with one
of them in the presence of the Bishop of Segovia,and though
he appeared to have the advantage in the argument, he after-
wards said privately to the deponent: ¢¢ I was never so
much embarrassed as to-day ; although I am a master of
theology, yet I am not so learned in the Scriptures as this
Lutheran, who s only a layman.” The witness also said,
that the archbishop had read and approved his ezplanation
of the articles of the faith,and that he had even inserted part
of it in his Catechism. Ithas been already stated, that Fray
Dominic recanted all his depositions before his death. .

On the 5th of May, Donna Catherine de Castilla, who
was a prisoner of the holy office, declared that she believed
the archbishop to be a Lutheran; but repenting, she re.
tracted her declaration, and said that she knew that Car-
ranza had maintained to Don Carlos de Seso, her husband,
that he committed a fatal error in denying the existence of
purgatory. She persisted in her recantation.

I appeal to my readers, if thestate of the trial and the depo-
-sitions of the witnesses were sufficient allegation: Canino the
fiscal, reserving to himself the right of accusing him with more
formality hereafter, demanded that the person of the arch-
bishop should be seized, that he should be imprisoned, and
his goods and revenues sequestrated, to be at the disposal of
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Sancheg, a Lutheran, in which he says that ke was going to
Flanders, because he Aoped to be well received by Carranza.

- As these formalities were all fulfilled in one day, it is not
to be doubted that it was a soncerted schema between the
grand-inquisitor, some members of the council, and the
fiscal : if this had not been the case, three days would haye
been necessary for these ceremonies. On the 13th of May,
the grand-inquisitor and the council determined that Car-
tanza should be c:ted to appear, and reply to the aocnntxom
of the fisoal.

- When the king had given his consent that the amhbuhop
shodld be prosecuted, he required that he should be treated
with the respact due to kis dignity : this he repeated in a letter
to Oardinal Pacheco, who informed him that Carranza had
demanded that his affair should be judged at Rome. The
king also wrote two letters to Carranza on the 30th of March,
and the 4th~April, in which he promised to protect him. The
letter to Cardinal Pacheco induced the grand-inquisitor te
write to the king on the 19th of May, when he informed
him of the measure which had been decreed, adding, that he
thought a citation to appear more moderate, less h_uuﬁliat-
ing, and more private than an arrest by alguazils. The
‘king, however, had still some regard for Carranza, since he
did not approve of what had been done. At this period Don
Antonio de Toledo, who continued to correspond with Car-
i'anza, informed lum, that though he did not think the affair
had taken so favourable a turn as might be wished, yet he
thought he still perceived some marks of attachment for him
in the king, in spite of the evil report made of him.

* At last, on the 26th of June, the king sent an answer to
the inquisitor-general, in which he gives his consent to what
"had been resolved upon ; adding, that he hoped the execution
‘'of this measure would be attended with all the consideration
‘due to the merit of Carranza, and the dignity with which he
‘was thvested. The prelate was informed of this event, in &
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the cause of Carranza to be judged by the holy office of
Spain, alleging that its members were swayed by hnman
motives, and not from zeal to religion : it is not certain if
this petmon reached the Court of Rome, but the chapter
behaved to the prelate with great generosity.
¢ The regent wrote a letter to the archbishop on the 3rd of
-August, in which she says, that before the arrival of the king,
which would soon take place, she wished to communicate
some affairs to- him, and therefore begged him to repair
immediately to Valladolid, adding, that as the least delay
might occasion very disagreeable consequences, she should
be pleased if he came as soon as possible, even if without.
ceremony or equipage, and that she sent Don Rodrigo de
“Castro that he might not looe time, and might inform her of
his arrival.

This Don Rodrigo de Castro was the nephew of the Bishop
of Cuenga, the first denouncer of Carranza: he departed
from Valladolid on the 4th of August; on the 6th he deli-
vered the letter to the archbishop, who, on the next day,
replied to the princess that he would obey her orders. He
immediately sent his equipages and part of his household to
“Valladolid, but followed slowly, that he might visit the
towns and villages of his diocese, which he was to pass
through.

- During this interval, Don Rodrlgo wrote several letters to
‘Valdés, one dated the 4th of August, from Arevalo, and
four from Alcala de Henares, dated the 7th, 9th, 10th, and
"14th, from which the inquisitor-general concluded that
the delay of eight days was too long, and cancealed some
‘bad design : he pretended to think that Carranza intended to
make his escape to Rome, yet Don Rodrigo de Castro lodged
in the same house, and never lost sight of him. This pre-
text, futile as it was, gave Valdés the opportunity of issuing
a mandate on the 17th, appointing Don Rodrigo and Don
‘Diego Ramirez de Sedefio inquisitors of the districts of Toledo
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Carranza, as the motive for it. He added, that the arch-
bishop appeared to be informed of his proceedings ; an insi~
nuation which might have injured Don Antonio de Toledo,
whose correspondence he had read.

CHAPTER XXXIII.

" CONTINUATION OF THE TRIAL UNTIL THE ARCHBISHO®
: WENT TO ROME,

Tun enemies of Carranea procured new witnesses, in order

- to justify their conduct. - Valdés and his ooadjutors feared
that public opinion would be against them, if, when they
pronounced the definitive sentence, the arehbishop was not
proved, to all Europe, to be  guilty of heresy.

To attain this end, the inquisitors examined ninety-six wit-
nesses, who, most of them, unfortunately, added nothing to
what had been already deposed ; some of them attested the
purity of Carranza’s faith, and the few who were against him,
deposed only what they had heard from other persons, who
either did not confirm, or denied the facts. It is worthy of
remark, that the greatest number of the witnesses who spoke
in favour of the archbishop, were in the dungeons of the
Inquisition, and made their depositions during, or after the
torture, and when they were liable to have it renewed, and
to be subject to the cruel treatment of the judges, whose
schemes they frustrated. While these miserable people
.shewed so much courage, the bishops, archbishops, and theo-
logians, who aspired to the episcopacy, basely retracted their
first and true opinion, and qualified as violently suspected of
Lutlm'anim, the man whom they had before considered
almost as an apostle, and that in the same trial and for the
same work. :
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delegate his powers; he announced that he should attend
with the Council at the sessions of the tribunal: he attended
on the 4th, and required Carranza to take the oath to speak
the truth, either against himself or any other person, inform-
ing him that if he confessed all he knew, he would be treated
with clemency, but in the contrary case he would be used
with all the rigour of justice : he also told him that if he was
reluctant to reply in the presence of the Council, he would
be permitted to do so before two counsellors, or the inqui.
sitors of Valladolid. Carranza made the same reply as on
the preceding day, adding, that he was not certain that truth
had been spoken in soliciting the brief from the Pope, since
at that time there were no Spanish prelates suspected of he-
resy ; that if they had him in view, he was not in Spain at
the time, but in Flanders, occupied in labouring for the
defence of the Catholic religion, and converting heretics;
that he exerted himself todestroy all the heresies, and for that
purpese informed the king that heretical books were sold
_even at his palace-gates, and that the king, in consequence,
gave the necessary orders to prevent the evil, which would
be proved by the testimony of the king and the noblemen of
his court. A
Not satisfied with these arguments, the archbishop chal-
lenged the grand inquisitor for reasons which he explained
at the same session, and in his presence: on the 5th and the
following days he continued to give the motives for his
challenge in writing; his charges against Valdés were nu-
merous, and very serious. He mentions persons, times,
subjects, and reasons, which authorized him to represent
.Valdés as a perfidious, envious, vindictive man ; to maintain
that he continually abused his authority in order to satisfy
his vengeance, which could be proved by some writings
which were registered: he particularly applied himself to
shew that Valdés concealed his hatred to him, under the
mask of an hypocritical zeal for religion; that this enmity
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were very remote from all communications in 1661 there
was & great fire at Valladolid, which consumed four hun-
dred houses in the quarter nearest to the prison of.the
archbishop, yet he heard neither the cries of the people;
nor the roise which must have been occasioned by such ag
event, and only learnt that it had happened a long time after,
when he was at Rome, This privation of air and exercise
produced in the archbisliop a tertian fever, whieh weakened
kim oonsiderably; but the inquisitors had not sufficient hus
mianity to remove him to a more suitable place. They
treaded that he would appeal to the Pope; or the king, on
whotn however it would not have had atty effect, as Valdés
had contrived to persuade him, in some privite conversations,
that Catranza was really an heretic; and that a1l that he
had done in England and Flanders was intended to eoneesl
his opinions. - -

_ Although Valdés persisted in maintaining that he had the
righit of delegating his powers to prosecute the archbishop;
yet as several counsellors, and particularly Baco de Castro,
held & contrary opinion, he was obliged to appeal to the
Pope. Paul IV. was dead, and had been succeeded by
Pius IV., who, on the 23rd of February, confirmed to Valdés
the powers granted to him by his predecessor, and that of
delegating confidential persons to proceed in the trisl of the
Archbishop of Toledo. This brief was of no use, because
the arbittators had declared on the same day that the
inotives for the challenge were just and valid; his holiness,
in consequence, expedited another special brief, confirming
all that had passed, provided that the proceedings had been
lawful, and authorizing Philip Il. to ehoose judges in his
own narie, to whem he gave from that moment the power of
.eontinuing the trial antil it was in a state to be terminated,
for the space of two years, beginning from the 7th of
-January, i561. This brief was interpreted at Madrid to be
‘s permission to pess & definitive sentence.. The Pope being
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Chabes, who had been the confessor of Don Carlos, and af-
terwards of the king; to Fray Juan d’Ybarra, and to Fray
Rodrigo de Vadillo, and Fray Juan de Azoloros, who were
afterwards the bishops of Cephalonia and the Canparies.
These qualified as heretical some propositions contained in
works not written by Carranza, but found among his papers;
others were qualified as approaching to heresy, and likely to
cause it; and the author was declared to be violently sus-
pected of being an heretic. The edicts condemning the Ca-
techism, and the Explanation of the Canonical Epistle of St.
John, had been already published.

The Council of Trent having been convoked for the third
tlme, Valdés feared that the Fathers might take notice of
the uffairs of Carranza, and he persuaded the king that it
was important to the rights of the crown to prevent them
from taking cognizance of the trial. Philip had appointed
the Count de Luna to be the ambassador to the council, and
on the 30th October, 1562, he sent him instructions, in which
he says, that he has been informed that it was intended to
form a general indez of the prohibited books contained in
the tndex of Paul IV., which had occasioned much expostu-
lation. The king added, that he could not allow this measure
to extend its influence into Spain, which had an tndez, and
particular regulations; that this exception might also apply
to other Christian countries, since books, which were danger-
ous in one, might not be so in others. The king commanded
his ambassador to oppose such a resolution in the council,
because he could not receive into Spain books approved by
the council which had been prohibited in that kingdom, and
some persons suspected that this project concealed particular
views; that he had already commanded his ambassador at
Rome, and the Marquis of Pescara, to use every effort, con-
sistent with prudence, to baffle the scheme.

These instructions shew very plainly that the Court of
Madrid were afraid that the council would approve the Cate-
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The resolution of the Pope appeased the fathers of the
council for the present; but they soon began to discuss am
affair equally displeasing to the King of S8pain. The bishops
and theologians commissioned to examine books, pronousced
the doctrine of the Catechism of Carranza to be Catholic.
They communicated their decision to the Archbishop of
Prague, who was president of the congregation of the /ndes,
who, together with the theologians composing it, approved the
Catechism, and resolved to send an act of their approbation
to Carranza, that he might make make use of it in his de-
fence. The decree of approbation was to be confirmed by
the general assembly, but violent measures were employed to
prevent it. The Pope permitted the Catechism to be printed
at Rome on the 26th of June.

The Spanish ambassador vehemently protested againet this
resolution ; he said that as the Catechism was prohibited by
the Inquisition of Spain, it was an insult to his master and
the Supreme Council to declare it orthodox, and he de-
manded that the decree of the congregation should be re-
voked. Don Antonio d’Augustine, Bishop of Lerida, was a
member of the congregation of the /ndez, and had not been
present on the 2nd of June, when the members approved
the Catechism. This circumstance induced him to support
the Count de Luna. His enmity to Carranza, and his desire
to please the king, made him go so far as to say that tAe con-
gregation approved heresies, since the Catechism contained
them. The Archbishop of Prague, anxious to defend his
honour and that of his colleagues, addressed to the papal
legates a formal complaint against the Bishop of Lerida, de-
manding in their names and his own a public reparation for
- the injury they had received, and protesting that if it was
refused, they would not attend the assemblies. The cardinal
" succeeded in reconciling the two parties, by proposing to
maintain the decree of approbation, but to forbid a literal
copy to be given, and to commission the Count de Luna to



Digitized by GOOS[Q



452 HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION. ([Chsp. XXXUI.

Bishop of Lerida, and to Doctor Pedro Zumel, canon of Ma-
laga, commissary of the Inquisition ; that in consequence, the
Bishop of Lerida and the Bishop of Caba had appealed against
the decree of the congregation, and demanded that it should
be annulled ; that he could still make a remonstrance in full
synod, but that he found it necessary to renounce that inten-
tion, as it might be the occasion of great inconveniences® :
and that the only cause for this event was that the Cardinal
de Lorraine, the Archbishop of Braga, the Bishop of Modena,
and several others, defended Carranza to the Pope.

The fathers of the council could not succeed in their
attempt to cause the trial of Carranzato be transferred to
them.- When the assembly was dissolved, the grand-inquisi-
tor, who had now only the Pope to contend with, commissioned
the Council of the Inquisition to request the king to obtain a
brief to allow the trial to be terminated in Spain; repre-
senting to him that he might say that it would be useful in
alarming those Spaniards whe had adopted heretical . opi-
nions; that the King of Spain merited such a favour, because
he was the only prince who had used every means to ex-
tirpate heresy ; that the ancient canons permitted that the
trial should take place where the crime was committed ; that
if that of Carranza was transferred to Rome, the names
of the witnesses would be revealed, which would occasion
serious consequences ; that the trial must be translated into
Latin or Italian, which would take much time, and that
none but Spaniards could understand the strength of the
expressions of the witnesses; that the procurator-fiscal would
be obliged to go to Rome, where he would have the morti-
fication of not being heard or well received, because many
persons of high rank had heen zealous in the cause of the arch-
bishop ; that the crimes were committed before he was raised

" * These expressions shew that the Count furesaw that the resolution of
the council would be favourable to the Catechism ; and in that case the
Aoly office of Spain would be dishonoured.



Digitized by GOOS[Q



454 NISTORY OF THE INQRUISITION,  [Chap. XXXIIL

given to him until the period allowed for the reply had
pearly expired ; that the archbishop might render his de-
tention longer by demanding fresh deluyc, or might rbply
without reflection ;

s+ That works had been imputed to lnm, of whieh he vas

not the author ;

That consequently he did wot expect to be tried fmrly
unless the process was transferred to the throne ; A
. That the king ought not to listen to his flatterers; that

- all Spain murmured at the treatment the archbishop had

received, and that it was spoken of still more severely than
in other countries. _ ‘
" He then goes on to accuse the judges of partimlity, and
says that their boldness in preferring their judgment to that
of the Council of Trent, resembles that of the Lutherans who
were prosecuted by them.

The advocate continues, « These judges are so offended at
this decision, (concerning the Catechism,) that one of them
waid to my two colleagues and myself: Al the council could
not defend two propositions contained in that book ; he quoted
one, which I immediately proved to be Catholic, and told
him that if I had the authority of the grand inquisitors, I
should perhaps denounce him, for I thought there was as
much heresy in looking upon a Catholic proposition as here-
tical, as in thinking an heretical opinion Catholic; besidesi
is certain that it is heretical, to suppose that the council can
approve & doctrine as Catholic, which is not so0.”

That the Lutherans, when they found that the king had
more confidence in the Inquisition of Spain than in the sove-
reign Pontiff, would take advantage of the circumstance, to
persist in their opposition to the holy see, and would say
that his majesty’s faith was subordinate to his interest;

That he liad been informed in a confession, that the real
destgn of these men was to let the archbishop die in prison,
‘without concluding his tial; that such proceedings lead to
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decision of the Pontiff, yet the means of succeeding in so just
an enterprise ought not to be neglected: therefore ‘the per-
sons who have most influence in the affair must be gained -
over by any means which may appear most convenient.”

Don Rodrigo de Castro succeeded in obtaining the required
permission. On the 13th of July, 1565, Pius IV. appointed
as judges, the Cardinal Buoncompagni (afterwards Pope Gre-
gory XII1.) with the title of Legate; the Archbishop of
Rosano (afterwards Pope Urban VIL.), the auditor of the
Rota, Aldobrandini, and the general of the Franciscans (af- .
terwards Sextus Quintus). The Pope informed Philip of
. these nominations in a brief, dated the 2lst of August fol-
lowing. '

The papal envoys arrived in Spain in the month of No-
vember. Philip went to Alcala to meet the legate, and re-
ceived him in the most flattering manner, to induce him to
consent that the counsellors of the Inquisition should be as-
sociated with the papal judges: this, the legate, who was
aware of the inexpedience of the measure, refused. Many
powerful intrigues were by the king’s order employed to
obtain his wish, but they were in vain ; and the Pope dying
on the night of the 8th of December, Buoncompagni, who
wished to assist at the conclave, immediately set off for
Rome, without even informing the king of his intention, and
leaving the archbishop and his trial in exactly the same state
as in the year 1562,

On the 17th of January, 1566, Pius V. was - elected.
Buoncompagni was informed of this event while he was on
the road, and stopped at Avignon. Philip sent a courier to
the new Pontiff, to entreat him to confirm the arrangements
of his predecessor, which was complied with ; his Holiness
at the same time commanded the cardinal to return to Spain;
he replied that he thought it necessary to have a private con-
ference with his Holiness, before he obeyed his orders, and
therefore continued his journey. As soon as he arrived at
Rome, he proved to the new Pontiff that the trial of Carranza
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in the trial of Carranza, with a menace of the same penalties,
the absolute revocation of all the powers intrusted to them ;
and a positive order, on pain of excommunication in its
Jull extent, to set Carranza immediately at libérty withont
delay or protestation, and even without requiring any se-
curity from him ; to place all the papers of the trial in the
hands of the nuncio, to be by him transferred to Rome ; to
subject the detainers of the papers to the same censures, if
they did not give them up immediately ; to inform the arch-
bishop, when set at liberty, of the order to repair to Rome,
and to permit him to appoint an administrator for his see.

" Nothing, however, was done as the Pope had ordained.
‘The archbishop was not liberated; the king sent a detach- -
ment of his guards to escort him ‘to Carthagena, where he
was to embark. He was detained at Valladolid so long by
the preparations for his departure, that he only reached
Rome on the 29th of May in the following year.

The nuncio was obliged to issue fresh menaces of excom-
munication, before he could obtain the papers, which de-
tained the Archbishop at Carthagena for four months. The
ignorance of the nuncio concerning the affair was taken ad-
vantage of, and only part of the proceedings were remitted
to hjm, the rest being claimed when the deficiency was disco-
vered at Rome, and thus the delay of a whole year occurred ;
in short, it was evident that the inquisitors wished to defer
the conclusion of the trial till after the death of Carranza.
The members of the Chapter of Toledo were remarkable for
their courageous devotion to their chief; they appointed two
of their body to attend him during his detention, and to
render him every service in their power, charging them never
to leave him during his voyage and his residence at Rome.

Carranza left his prison on the 5th of December, 1566, after
seven years, three months, and fourteen days’ captivity,
which he had passed in two rooms, from which he could see
reither the country nor the street, and without conversing
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take exercise, and he enjoyed a view of the country. His :
health became better, and his strength returned; he was also
allowed three more domestics.  The Pope forbade any per- -
son to speak to him of his trial, and while it lasted he was
not permitted to take the sacrament, or to say mass. In
Spain he was not suffered to confess, but in Rome he was -
allowed to do so four times in a year.

Pius V. appointed sixteen consultors for the trial; these -
were Cardinals Reviva, Pacheco, Gambaya, and Chiesa; the
Archbishop of Tarragona ; the Bishop of Ciudad Rodrigo;
the Bishop of Pati in Sicily; the Bishop of Chefalu; Don
Pedro Fernandez de Temifdo, counsellor of the Spanish In- -
quisition ;- Fray Thomas Manriquez,a Dominican ; the Arch-
bishop of St. Severin ; the Bishop of St. Agatha; the Bishop
of Arezzo; the Bishop of Fiesol, and Doctor Artimo, auditor
of the causes of the apostolical palace. The Pope also
appointed the fiscal of the Supreme Council to the same
office; two Italian secretaries, and the two who came from
Spain. -The rest of the year 1567, and part of the following,
were employed in translating the trial into Italian.

The Canons of Toledo presented a letter to the Pope, en-
treating him to take into consideration the merit of the arch-
bishop and his high rank, as well as the honour apd consola-
tion of their church, which had been deprived of. its pastor
for eight years, and soliciting him to shew him as much
favour as was compatible with religion and justice. This his
Holiness promised to do, and expressed great satisfaction at
the noble sentiments contained in the letter, and the tender
interest the chapter displayed in the welfare of their pastor.

The works and MSS. of the archbishop remained in Spain;
they were claimed and sent to Rome in 1570 : this circum-
stance caused fresh delays. When the translation was finished,
the fiscal required that no conferences of the consultors should
take place unless the Pope was present, which prolonged the
affair excessively, as his Holiness was often unable to attend.
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not at first supposed to be occasioned by malevolence, since
all the rest had been sent ; but it was afterwards discovered
~ that the papers were retained to be made use of on some
other opportunity, which in fact occurred; and to give occa-
sion for fresh delays if they were claimed by the Pope.

‘Pius V. prepared the definitive sentence; but he did not
pronounce it until he knew the inclinations of Philip, whom'
he did not wish to offend. In his judgment he declared that
the accusation of the fiscal was not proved, and acquitted the
prelate. He commanded that the Catechism should be re-
stored to the author, to be translated into Latin, and that
he should insert the necessary corrections, and explain the
censured propositions in a Catholic sense; secondly that the
prohibition of that work should be held to be valid, until
the explanations were furnished ; that that of the ezplanation
of St. John should remain, and that none of the manuscript
works of Carranza should be printed or published, until he
had made the necessary corrections.

The Pope sent this sentence to the King of Spain, by
Alexander Casali, his chamberlain. He was persuaded that'
Philip would be pleased to see that he had acknowledged the
innocence of Carranza, and that he would be satisfied with
the measures taken to prevent the books from being danger-
ous. The Pope did not understand the character of Philip II.,
who considered himself as much dishonoured as the holy
office, by the exoneration of Carranza. He wrote te his Holi-
ness, to prove that it was impossible that the works of the
prelate could contain so many errors of Luther, if he was
not an heretic. He thereforc requested the Pope to defer
the judgment until the return of his chamberlain, to whom
he would give important documents proving the truth of his
statement.

The king ordered a Refutation of the Apology for the
Catechism of Carranza, published by Alpizcueta and
Nelgado, to be composed, and also another work by the
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. The first who fell into the snare was a man truly respect-
. able for his learning, his virtues, his birth, and many eminent
qualities; . but his great age, and his dread of the dungeons
of the Inquisition may be considered as an excuse for his
weakness, as well as for that of the venerable Osius.

On the 30th of March, 1574, the archbishop qualified as
erroneous, seventy-five propositions of the same printed Ca-
techism, which he had before pronounced to be orthodox; he
however added, that the errors were owing to the Castilian
language in which the work was written, and that if it was
published in Latin, it would be necessary to suppress, cor-
rect, or explain thirty-one propositions. The prelate also
declared, that there were two hundred and ninety-twa errors
in the MSS., numbered, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7, and sixty-
six in the explanations and sermons (of which a list has been
given in a former part of this work), and from thence he

_ concluded that the author was violently suspected of heresy.

Serrano, the reporter of the Supreme Council, who had
taken these works to the Archbishop of Grenada, returned
full of triumph to Madrid. The Supreme Council in a letter
to the king, expresses great satisfaction on this account, and

_ says, “It is absolutely necessary to send this qualification to
Rome, because the activity with which the affair is proceeded
in makes it likely that it will soon be concluded, and this
measure is the more important as the opinion of the ‘Arch-
bishop of Grenada will have much influence.”” This letter
was accompanied by a false estimate of the censures, plainly
shewing the animosity of the council towards Carranza.

Serrano then repaired to Don Francis Blanco, then Bishop
of Malaga. This prelate, on the 29th of April, retracted
the opinion he had given in 1558. He censured sixty-eight
propositions of the Catechism, although he had formerly
praised the work. Serrano immediately informed the coun-
cil of it, and that the bishop had pronounced Carranza to be
violently suspected of heresy. The Archbishopric of San-
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This extraordinary change was attributed by the prelates
to a love of justice, to conscience, zeal for religion, and a
wish to please God.

The declarations of flve new witnesses of so much con-
sequence, entirely changed the appearance of the trial. Gre-
gory XIII. fell into the snare, which it was indeed difficult to
avoid, since the intrigue which produced it wasconducted by so
powerful a sovereign as Philip, and so formidable and able a
body as the Spanish Inquisition. Gregory had discovered
the intrigues when at Madrid, and informed 8t. Pius V. that
it would be impossible even for foreign judges to terminate
the trial in an equitable ‘manner in Spain; but he was far
from supposing that the animosity of Carranza’s enemies
would be still more active at Rome. '

The Pope loved justice, and thought he was obeying its
dictates, in commanding, on the 14th of April, 1576, that
the Archbishop of Toledo should abjure all heresies in ge-
neral, and particularly the sixteen Lutheran propositions
which he was violently suspected of believing. He was sus-
pended for five years from performing his archiepiscopal
duties, and condemned to be confined during that time in the
dominican convent of Orvietta in Tuscany, and for the present
in that of the Minerva at Rome, where some penances were
also imposed, one of which was to visit in one day the seven
churches of St. Peter, St. Paul, St. John de Lateran, St.
Croix of Jerusalem, St. Sebastian, St. Mary Major, and St.
Laurence. The prohibition of the Catechism by the holy
office was maintained.

The sixteen Lutheran propositions abjured by Carranza,
were the following :—

1. Works performed without the spirit, of whatever nature,
are sins, and offend God.

2. Faith is the first and principal means of obtaining
justification.

3. Man is formally justified by the justice of J esus Christ ;
by that, Christ bas merited for us.
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ing any of the sixteen propositions considered as Lutheran,
I do not hesitate to say that this sentence cannot be ap-
proved by upright men.

The archbishop heard his sentence with humnhty, and was
absolved ad cautelam ; he performed mass on the four first
days of the holy week, and on the 23rd of April he per-
formed his penance of visiting the churches. He refused
the letter which the Pope offered him,as a public testimony
of his esteem and interest in his fate. He celebrated mass
on another day in the church of St. John Lateran, for the
last time in his life ; he expired at three o’clock in the morn-
ing of the 2nd of May, 1576, aged seventy-two years,
eighteen of which he had passed in prison.

The Pope being informed of his illness, on the 30th of
April, sent him a general absolution and exemption of the
penance imposed on him; the holy father did this for the
consolation of Carranza, who in fact shewed great satisfac-
tion, and received extreme unction with tranquillity, and
even with some demonstrations of joy.

He made his will in the presence of one of the secretanes
of his trial, and appointed as his executors his faithful fnend
Don Antonio de Toledo ; the doctors d’Alplzcueta and Del-
gado, who never forsook him ; Don Juan de N avarrey ‘Men-
doza, chanter, dxgmta.ry, and canon of the cathedral of Toledo,
(he was the son of the Count de Lodoza, and descended in
the direct male line from the kings of Navarre); Fray Fer-
dinand de San Ambrosio, his procurator, always faithful to his
cause ; and Fray Antonio d’Utrilla, a model of fidelity and
affection, who voluntarily shared his captivity for eighteen
years. He had not obtained the permission which was
necessary for bishops, to make a will; but as the Popes at
that time disposed of the revenues of the stewardships, he
approved and confirmed the pious arrangements of the
archbishop.

On the 30th of April, after the prelate had received abso-
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that I never fell inta any of the errers of which I have been
suspeoted, from having different meanings attributed ta my
wardas ta what I gave them myself; I awear hy all that [
have already said, hy that God to whom I have appealed aa
my judge, that the errors I have mentioned or these reparted
in my trial never entered inta my mind; that I never had
the least doubt on any af thesa points of doctrine, but on the
eantrary I have professed, written, taught, and preashed tha
haly faith, with the same firmness aa I new believe and pre-
foss it at the hour of my death.

¢ Nevertheless I aclinawledge my sentenoe ta be just, bes
eause it was pronouneed hy the vicar of Christ; I have
received and regarded it as such, because ta the quality of
vioar of Jesus Christ the persan wha pronounced it joins the
character of ap upright and prudent judge. I pardon, at
the hour of my death, as I have always done, all offences, of
whatever mature, which have been committed against me;
I alse pardon those who have shewn themselves against me
inmy trial ; also those who have taken the smallest part in
it. 1have never felt any resentment against them ; en the
aontrary I have always recommended them to God ; I do so
at this mement, loving them with all my heart, and [ pro~
mise that if I go to that place where I hope to be by the
meroy of our Lord, that I will not ask anything against
them, but pray to God for all."

The oorpse of the archbishop wus deposited, on the
3rd of May, in the choir of the convent of tke Afimerva,
between two cardinals of the family of Medicis. The Pope
caused an insoription to be engraved on his tomb, in which
he calls him a man tllusirious by Ais dootrine and his sers
mons. From this it appears probable that he did mat con.
sider his works full of heresies; but, perhaps, it was ec-
casioned by the protestation of Carranza before hia death.
Seolemn obsequies were performed at Rome, and those
celebrated at Toledo, seme time after, were still mere

agnificent. .
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making his escape to Arragon, where he hoped to live in
tranquillity under a government which only allowed the
sovereign to have an accusing fiscal in the tribunals. It is
not necessary to relate all that Perez suffered at Madrid
during twelve years before he made his escape ; these details
may be found in a work published by this minister, under
the title of Relations, in the recital which Antonio Valla-
dares de Sotomayor inserted in the Seminario erudito, and
in a volume in octavo which appeared in 1788, entitled The
Trial of Antonio Perez.

Antonio Perez having retired to Arragon in 1590, Philip
issued an order for his arrest, which took place at Calatayud.
Perez having protested against this measure, and claimed the
privilege of the manifestados, he was conducted to Saragossa,
and confined in the prison of the kingdom, or of liberty. The
prisoners were there free from the immediate authority of
the king, and only depended on an intermediate judge called
the chief justice of Arragon. It was also called the prison of
the Fuero or Constitutional, because the constitution of the
king alone was named the Fuero d’Arragon ; it was some-
times named the prison of the mantfestados; no persons
were received into it, except those who presented themselves,
or claimed the benefit of the constitution, in order to avoid
the royal prison, and declared that they submitted to the
laws of the kingdom, and invoked the support of its pri-
vileges: those of a prisoner in the case of Perez consisted in
not being put to the torture; in being set at liberty, after
taking an oath to present himself to reply to the charges,
and being allowed, even if condemned to death by any other
judge, to appeal to the tribunal of the chief justice of Arra-
gon*, who examined if the execution of the sentence was

» The chief justice of Arragon was an intermediate judge between the
king and his subjects, and independent of him as an officer of justice, be-
fore whom the king only was the pleading party. This magistracy had

been established by the constitution of the kingdom ; the person invested
with it was authorized to declare, at the demand of any inhabitant, that the
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twice for the same crime before two different tribunals ; that
he had been tried at Madrid in 1582 ; that he then submitted
to much ill-treatment, rather than justify himself by divulg-
ing the private letters of the king, which he had in his
possession ; lastly, that though the papers useful in his de-
fence had been obtained from his wife by fraudulent means,
yet he had still documents enough to justify himself entirely.

Perez had, in fact, retained several notes in the king’s own
hapd-writing, which were sufficient to exculpate him: he
sent copies of them to the Marquis d’Almenara and athey
persons attached to the king, and told them that having been
jinformed that his majesty was vexed that his letters had been
exposed in the trial, he wished to spare him the pain of see-
ing other original documents presented, which containegd very
important secrets relating to different people; but if the
disposition to persecute him continued, he would produce
them, because he was no longer capable of making useless
saarifices to the prejudice of his wife and seven children.

The inqyest was then given up, and Perez demanded his
liberty on his parole, or at least on giving security ; this was
refused by the regent; he then appealed to the privileges
of the kingdom against force, before the tribupal of the
chief justice, who did not shew him more favour,

It appears that Perez then, with his companion in mjsfor-
tune, Juan Francis Mayorini, formed a plan ta espape inte
Bearn. Thglr design was discovered at the moment they
were about ta execute it, but Perez conducted himself with
80 much address, that he reduced his part in the transaction
to a simple suspicion.

The depositions of the witnesses before the regent, furs
nished the Inquisition with a pretext to prosecute Perez ;
this event was very agreeable to the Court, because no means
to prolong the inquest could be invented.

On the 19th of February, 1591, the regent wrote to the in-
quisitor, Molina, that Perez and Mayorini intended to escape
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was the cousin of the Marquis d’Almenara, and the other an
intriguing and immoral man, who wished to obtain a bishop-
ric at any price. For this reason the marquis placed more
confidence in him than in his cousin, who was less learned,
and too good to become a persecutor. In fact, Don Juan
avoided, as much as possible, taking any part in this trans-
action, and even obtained leave to remove to another tribu-
nal. Molina received the letter of the regent, and the de-
positions which accompanied it; but instead of communicat-
ing them to the tribunal, he sent them by the first courier
to Quiroga, the inquisitor-general. The Marquis d’Almenara
gave information of the event to the Count de Chinchon,
who communicated it to the king ; after having consulted the
cardinal, Philip commanded him to take proper measures to
prove the heresy of Perez, and to punish him accordingly.
On the 5th of March, Quiroga ordained that Molina alone
should receive the depositions; that the inquisitors should
examine them without the concurrence of the diocesan and
consultors, and send them immediately to Madrid.

On the 20th of March ten witnesses were examined :
Diego Bustamente, the servant of Perez, and Juan de Ba-
sante, a teacher of Latin, who often saw him in prison,
quoted sentences which, in the original, did not prove any-
thing against him, but which, on being separated from the
others, had a meaning which gave an appearance of justice
to the meassre employed.

The tribunal remitted the information to Quiroga, who
sent it to Fray Diego de Chabes, who qualified four propo-
sitions imputed to Perez, and one to Mayorini. .

The latter was reduced to some indecent oaths, used by
Italians, which had escaped Mayorini in losing at play, and
were qualified as Aeretical blasphemies ; this was sufficient to
authorize his imprisonment. i

First proposition, taken from the testimony of Diego de
Buctamente.—sw one told Perez not to speak ill of Don



Digitized by GOOS[Q



478 HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.  (chep xXXV.

sures, decreed on the 21st of May, that Perez and Mayorini
should be arrested and confined in the secret prisons of the
Inquisition, that they should be strictly watched, and ar.
rested so promptly, that no one should have any suspicion
of it.

On the 24th of May, the inquisitors sent an order to the
grand alguazil of the holy office, to seize the persons of the
accused. The gaoler of the prison of the kingdom declared,
that he could not give them up without an order from the
chief justice, or one of his lieutenants. The inquisitors wrote
ou the same day to the lieutenant, and commanded him on
pain of excommunication, and ap enalty of a thousand ducats,
to give up the prisoners in the space of three hours, without
allowing the Fuero of the manifestation to be any obstacle,
since it could not be applied to a trial for heresy; and for
that reason the tnquisitors revoked and annulled any such
tnterpretation of the Fuero, as preventing the free exercise
of the holy tribunal.

" The secretary presented these letters to the chief justice,
Don Juan de 1a Nuza, in a public audience, in the presence
of five judges who formed his council, and of all the persons
employed in his tribunal. The chief justice submitted to the
order of the inquisitors, and the prisoners were conducted to
the Inquisition in separate carriages. It was afterwards
known that the courier, who brought the order from Ma-

. drid, also brought letters from the Count de Chinchon to
the Marquis d’Almenara, who, in a private conversation with
the chief justice, persuaded him not to insist upon his pri-
vileges ; and that the two letters of the inquisitors were writ-
ten on the same night, though they were dated the 24th,
because they were previously informed by the marquis of
what would take place.

Perez, who foresaw his danger, had imparted his fears to
the Count d’Aranda and other nobles, who resolved to op-
pose this measure as an infraction of the most valuable pri-
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many of the first noblemen of Arragon. At last, finding that
the danger increased, he appeared to yield, and announced
that he would not set the prisoners at liberty, but would
give them for the prison of the holy office that of the king-
dom, and they were removed thither on the same day.

The inquisitors were left in a critical situation, and did
not dare to arrest any one; they addressed several letters
to the commissioners of the holy office, some of them ac-
companied by the order to the lieutenants and their decree,
to shew that they had not violated the prison of the kingdom,
but had only received the persons given up to them by the
chief justice: the others were sent with the bull of Pius V.,
dated 1st of April, 1569, concerning those who opposed the
exercise of the holy office ; they also proposed to publish an
edict, excommunicating several persons already noted in the
registers of the Inquisition as having opposed the execution
of the orders of .the inquisitors, but they were persuaded to
relinquish the intention by the archbishop. At this period,
some persons who fled to Madrid when the revolt took place,
and who were known to be devoted to the king, were ex-
amined as witnesses ; and it appeared from their depositions,
that the Counts d’Aranda and Morata, the Barons de Bar-
boles, de Biescas, de Purray, de la Laguna, and miny others
of the first noblemen of the country, had excited the people.
to sedition, and increased the disturbance by persuading
them that the Fuero was attacked.

The members of the permanent deputation of the kingdom
thought, that being interested in the defence of the political
constitution, they might be accused of having failed in their
duty ; they therefore endeavoured to justify themselves, by
declaring that as theirs was not an armed body or a judicial
authority, they could not prevent the revolt. They also
thought proper to pronounce by a commission of juriscon-
sults, that those who had given up the prisoners to the inqui-
sitors, from the prison of the kingdom, had violated its privi-
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- The removal of Perez was to take place on the 24th of
September ; the Inquisition, the viceroy, the archbishop,
the deputation of the kingdom, the municipality,and the civil
and military governors, were all to assist. The inquisitors
had summoned to Saragossa, from the neighbouring towns,
a great number of the familiars of the holy office, and the
military governor had in attendance three thousand men,
well armed. This expedition was to have been made with-
out the knowledge of the inhabitants; but the Barons de
Barboles, de Biescas, and de Purray, and some other indi-
viduals, were informed of it. At the moment when the pri-
soners were coming out of the prison, In the presence of the
principal magistrates of the city, and while the avenues and
streets through which they were to pass- were lined with
soldiers, a furious troop of insurgents broke through the
lines, killed a great number of men, dispersed the others, put
themagistrates to flight, and seizing Perez and Mayorini,
carried them off in triumph, shouting, Live our liberty!
Live the Fueros of Arragon! Perez and Mayorini were
received into the house of the Baron de Barboles; when
they had reposed for a few minutes, they were taken out of
the town, and taking different roads, hastened away from it.
Perez repaired to Tauste, with the intention of crossing
* the Pyrenees by the valley of Rongal, but as the frontiers
were strictly guarded, he returned to Saragossa. He en-
tered it in disguise, on the 2nd of October, and remained
concealed in the house of the Baron de Biescas until the 10tk
of November. He then thought it dangerous to remain
there longer, because Don Alphonso de Vargas was ad-
vancing with an army to take the town, and punish the
rebels. This event has been related very incorrectly in
several histories. T
The presence of Perez in Saragossa was suspected by
means of some letters from Madrid, which Basante had seen,
=ud of which he had given information. The inquisitors

-
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In order to satisfy the curiosity of the Princess Catherine
and her subjects, Perez composed two little works, the first
called: Morceau Historique, sur ce quiest arrivée & Sara-
gosse &’ Arragon, le 24th Septembre, 1591: and the other:
Précis du Récit des Avantures dAntoine Perez, depuis le
Commencement, de sa premiére Detention jusqu’a saSortie des
Domatnes du Roi Catholique. These works were printed at
Pau, without the name of the author; the inquisitors ex-
amined them, and derived from them some additional charges.

Philip II. and the inquisitors offered life, offices, money,
and honours, to any condemned criminal who would kill
Perez or bring him as a prisoner into Spain. I refer the
reader for all that relates to this part of the history to the
work entitled Relations, in which Perez takes the name of
Raphatl Peregrino. Perez obtained leave from Henry IV.
to go to London, where he was extremely well received by
Queen Elizabeth and the Earl of Leicester : he afterwards
went to Paris, where he passed the rest of his life, pmmg un-
ceasingly for his wife and children.

On the 15th of February, 1592, the inquisitors declared
Antonio Perez to be a fugitive; they affixed an edict on the
metropolitian church' of Saragossa, summoning him to ap-
pear within one month ; this measure was most revoltingly
unjust, since they well knew that Perez was in a country then
at war with Spain, and the laws of the holy office allowed
even the space of a year, according to the distance the ac-
cused had to travel.

The declarations of the witnesses who were interrogated at
Madrid, after the first revolt of Saragossa in 1591, deposed
to facts to which no importance could have been attached, if
they had related to other persons and events. But Antonio
Perez was concerned in them, and that was sufficient to cause
them to be censured as audacious, and suspected of heresy.
I shall not stay to prove the insufficiency of this act, but
shall give the third of the propositions as an example of the



Digitized by GOOS[Q



486 HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION., [Chap. XXXV.

wife ; and that there was no relationship, direct or indirect,
between his family and that of Juan and Antonio Perez de
Fariza. This was afterwards fully proved by the wife and
children of Antonio Perez. It must be observed, that if the
inquisitors had wished to be truly informed, they might have
had a copy of the contract of marriage between Perez and
Donna Jane Coello, which states that his father was born at
Segovia. In that city, at Calahorra, and even in the
Supreme Council, they might have found his real genealogy.

However, the fiscal abused the privilege of secrecy, in the
accusation he brought against Perez, on the 6th of July, by
supposing that he was descended from the Jews, in order to
strengthen the suspicion of heresy, according to the ‘custom
of the Inquisition. The accusation was composed of forty-
three articles, each more vague than the others, and only
founded on words uttered without reflection, during a fit of
rage, or in extreme pain, which had no connexion with doc-
trine, and concerning which no two witnesses agreed in the
time, place, or circumstances.

On the 14th of August the fiscal demanded that the depo-
sitions of the witnesses should be published ; and on the 16th
the qualifiers again assembled to censure the propositions
already noted, and the works printed at Pau. They censured
sixteen as audactous and erromeous; some others as bdlas-
phemous and approaching to heresy, and concluded that
Antonio Perez was suspected of heresy in the most violent
degree*.

On the 18th the fiscal required that Perez should be
declared contumacious, and that the definitive sentence
should be pronounced. On the 7th of September, the
diocesan, different consultors, and jurisconsults "(among
whomi was the first informer, Don Urban Ximenez de
Aragues, regent of the royal audience), were convoked, and
voted the punishment of relazation in effigy. The Supreme

* See Relations of Perez,
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Perez wrote again to Sosa in 1611 concerning this affair ;
the bishop replied, and his letter determined Perez to in-
form him that he was ready to surrender to the Inquisition as
soon as the safe conduct was sent to him ; he sent at the same
time to his wife, a petition addressed to the Supreme Coun- -
cil, in which he renewed his promise. His wife presented
it, and added to it one from herself, to interest the judges in
her husband’s favour. The attempt was fruitless, and Perez
died at Paris on the 3rd of November, in the same year,
after giving many proofs of his Catholicism, which were
afterwards useful to his children in obtaining the revocation
of the sentence given at Saragossa in 1592, and in rekabs-
litating his memory.

CHAPTER XXXVI.

OF SEVERAL TRIALS OCCASIONED BY THAT OF ANTONIO
PEREZ.

Tre trial of Antonio Perez was the cause of a great number
of prosecutions against persons who had taken part in the
tumults and the flight of Perez and his companion. The
censures and penalties of the bull of Pius V., destined to
punish those who opposed the exercise of the m:mstry of
the holy oﬂice, were applied to them.

On the 12th of November, 1591, Don Alphonso de Vargas
entered Saragoesa at the head of his army ; this expedition
" re-established the inquisitors, and they secretly informed
against the instigators of the rebellion.

On the 8th of January, 1592, the fiscal of the holy office
gave in a complaint against the rebels in general, as sus-
pected in matters of faith; and he composed a list of the
authors of the sedition, and of those who were suspected of
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their rights were infringed by the entrance of the troops
into Arragon, and that every Arragonese was bound to resist
and prevent them. Circulars were then sent to all the

“* towns, and to the permanent deputation of Catalonia and

Valencia, to demand the aid stipulated by the treaties, in
case either country was invaded. The chief justice, whom
the laws of the kingdom called to the command, was ordered
to place himself immediately at the head of the troops.
When the Castilians came within six miles of Saragossa, the
chief justice found himself almost deserted, and consequently
retired and left the passage free to the troops, who entered
the town. _

On the 28th of November, Don Francis de Borgia, Mar-
quis de Pombay, arrived at Saragossa; he was commissioned
to treat with the permanent deputies and the principal
gentlemen of the kingdom concerning the points on which
it was asserted the privileges had been infringed. Several
conferences took place without any result, because the de-
puties declared that the Fueros did not permit them while
the country was occupied by foreign troops.

Philip II. appointed the Count de Morata to be viceroy
in the place of the Bishop of Teruel, who had retired to his
see, alarmed at the danger he had incurred. The viceroy
made his public entry into Saragossa, on the 6th of December,
to the great joy and satisfaction of the inhabitants; but their
joy was of short duration. On the 18th of the same month,
Don Gomez Velasquez arrived with a commiseion to arrest
a great number of persons, and with a positive order to be-
head the chief justice of Arragon, as soon as he entered the
town ; this order was obeyed with so much expeditien, that
on the 28th Don Juan de la Nuza was no longer in existence.
All Arragon was filled with consternation at the news of this
execution. It is impossible to express how much La Nuza
was respected by the people on account of his high office,
which had been filled by the illustrious members of his fa-
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prison of the kingdom, he.declared himself his protector, ac-
cording to a promise he had given to the wife of Perez at
Madrid ; that he was one of the principal instigators of the
popular commotions; that he had influenced the lawyers,
who declared the act, by which Perez was consigned a second -
time to the Inquisition, to be illegal; and lastly, that he had
assisted in the military arrangements for the resistance of
the royaltroops. It has been already stated, that Diego de
Heredia accused the Count d’Aranda and Antonio Perez of
baving conspired against the life of the Marquis d’Almenara.
. This deposition is not found in the trial, but Don Diego de-
clared he had already informed the senator Lanz, while he
was imprisoned by that magistrate. But if the circumstances
independent of this conspiracy may be considered as crimes,
why did Philip after the first revolt write to request him to
lend assistance to the authorities, and afterwards to thank
him for having so well performed his mission? It must excite
indignation, to see a powerful monarch deceiving his sub-
jects, and punishing them by surprise.

The Count de Morata, Don Michael Martinez de Luna,
Viceroy of Arragon, was denounced to the Inquisition, after
the insurrection of Saragossa. It appears that he blamed
the conduct of the tribunal and the civil authorities towards
Perez. -Some witnesses supposed that he was one of the
principal instigators of the first insurrection; but that after-
wards learning that Philip had said that Perez was an un-
faithful minister, he ceased to defend him. This is certainly
an historical error, for the declaration of the king concerning
Perez was made in August, 1590, after the act by which the
king abandoned the prosecution relating to the death of Es-
cobedo, and the insurrectionsat Saragossa took place in May,
1591. The change in the opinions of Martinez de Luna must
have had some other cause. Some circumstances in his trial
lead to the belief that he was acquainted with the proceed-
ings of the council appointed at Madrid to consider the af-
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After the executions of the chief justice, the Duke de Vil-
lahermosa, and the Count d’Aranda, the king granted a ge-
neral pardon on the 2ith December, 1592, with the exception
of many individuals who had excited and directed the se-
dition. This edict saved the lives of several thousand Arra-
gonese; palliating circumstances afterwards caused the
capital punishment to be remitted to all those who were ex-
cepted in the general pardon.

The Baron de Barboles, Don Diego Fernandez de Heredia,
brother and presumptive heir to the Count de Fuentes, a gran-
dee of Spain, was to have been arrested by the Inquisition ;
but he was taken by order of Vargas, claimed his privilege,
and was taken to the prison of the Manifestados, and on the
9th of October, 1592, had his head struck off at the back of
the neck, as guilty of treason. He had made several depo-
sitions before the Senator Lanz, and all that concerned An-
tonio Perezx was communicated to the inquisitors; he had
already been examined twice on that subject as a witness of
the fiscal, and deposed to a great number of facts which
proved that he had excited the people, and kept up the re-
bellion with the Count d’Aranda and others, and that he was
engaged in the plan to assassinate the Marquis d’Almenara,
but that he repented and revoked the orders he had given con-
cerning it ; nevertheless some witnesses deposed that they had
seen him in the road encouraging the assassins. The Baron
de Burboles also declared that he was the principal author
of the complaint brought by Antcnio Perez before the ordi-
nary judge of Saragosea, against the secretary, major-domo,
and squire of the Marquis d’Almenara and several other
persons, whom he accused of having, by order of the mar-
quis, suborned several witnesses in 1591 to depose against
Perez several facts required by the inquisitors ; that he had
directed and instigated the effcrts which were made to find
witnesses to confirm by their declarations the articles of the

complaint, and that he had deposed as from himself what he
had only heard from the agent of Perez.
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The Baron de Biescas, Don Martin de la Nuza, Lord of
Sallen and the towns of the valley of Tena, fled to France,
but afterwards returned to Spain ; he was arrested in Tu-
dela of Navarre, and was beheaded. The trial before the
" Inquisition states, that besides the crimes committed like the
other rebels, the Baron de Biescas was guilty of having re-
ceived Antonio Perez into his house, and concealed him until
he could fly to France; and of entering into the Spanish terri-
tory at several points with a corps of Bearnese troops, and
declaring that he would not lay down his arms until he had
driven the Castilian army out of Arragon, and revenged the
death of his relation the chief justice.

The senator Lanz likewise condemned to dea.th many
other noble gentlemen, besides labourers and artisans. Many
who fled to France or Geneva were condemned to |death:
these individuals remained in exile till after the death of
Philip II. His successor, Philip III., permitted them to re-
turn to their country, and annulled all the articles in the sen-
tences pronounced against those who had been executed,
which were contrary to the interests of their families; the
king declaring that none of them were guilty towards the state ;
and that he acknowledged that each person had considered
himself bound to defend the rights of his country.

The cruelty of the inquisitors was not satiated by these
executions., They represented to the Supreme Council that
they did not dare to demand the prisoners of the General
Vargas, although it would be much better if they were tried
by the Inquisition: but that nevertheless they thought it
would be useful if the Baron de Barboles was given up to
them, since his execution, in that case, would strike more
terror into the guilty. The council rejected the request of
the inquisitors; they, however, retained in their prisons
many illustrious persons, among whom were some women.

. When the inquisitors published the edict of grace, more
than five hundred persons presented themselves to demand
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it remarked that the Arragonese ought not te endure the
Inquisition ‘any longer, replied: ¢ As for me, they may
burn the house, the papers, the prisons, and even the inqui-
sitors : I shall have nothing to say against jt.”

A brother of the Trinity, who, on hearing that the
Castilians wished to reduce the Arragonese, and destroy
their privileges, said, « If Jesus Christ was & Castikan, I
would not believe in him.”

Michael Urgel, procuror of the royal audience, confessed
that after he had heard the declaration of the four coun-
sellors, that it was an infringement of the Fueros ta transfer
Perez to the Inquisition, he said: ¢ We must treat the
letters of the inquisitors with contempt, and if the king
supports them, he is a tyrant: let us get rid of him and
elect a natlve king of Arragon, since we have a right to
do so.’

. These are a few instances of the pretended sins for which
absolution was demanded, and for which many persons were
arrested, but they are sufficient to shew the spirit of the
people and of the inquisitors.

. Donna Jane de Coello, the wife of Perez, and her young
children, were also victims to the events at Saragossa. They
bad been detained in the Castle of Pinto, two leagues from
Madrid, since the month of April, 1590, where that heroine
bad favoured the escape of her husband at the expense of
her own liberty. After his second flight from Saragossa,
their imprisonment became still more rigorous. It is proved
by the trial of Perez, that he often said when in prison,
that nothing should induce him to renounce the privileges
of the prison of the kingdom, except the assurance that his
wife and children enjoyed their liberty ; but that he was
certain if he gave himself up to the inquisitors he should be
sent to Madrid and executed.

This information induced the inquisitors at the end of
September, 1591, to request that Donna Jane and her chil-
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CHAPTER XXXVII

OF THR PRINCIPAL EVENTS IN THE INQUISITION DURING
THE REIGN OF PHILIP III,

Pairie I1. died on the 13th of September, 1598, and left
the crown to his son, Philip III., whose education had made
him more worthy of wearing the habit of St. Dominic, than
of governing a kingdom : the Inquisition was then as formi-
dable and powerful as before the constitutions of 1561. As
the new king wished to have an inquisitor-general of his
own choice, he took advantage of a bull, commanding all
bishops to reside in their dioceses, to invite Don Pedro
Porto-Carrero, to retire to his see of Cuenga, and appointed
as his successor, in 1599, Don Ferdinard Niiio de Guevara,
cardinal of the Roman Church, and afterwards archbishop
of Seville. This prelate retired to his diocese in 1602, in con-
sequence of an order from the king; his successor was Don
Juan de Zuiiga, bishop of Carthagena, who died in the same
year. Juan Baptiste de Acebedo, bishop of Valladolid,
took his place, and died in it in 1607,with the title of Patri-
arch of the Indies. He was succeeded by Don Bernard de
Sandoval Roxas, cardinal archbishop of Toledo, brother to
the Duke de Lerma. At his death Don Fray Louis Aliaga, a
Dominican confessor to the king, was appointed inquisitor-
general; Philip IV., on hisaccession, deprived him of his office.

Philip III., in 1607, assembled the Cortes of the kingdom
at Madrid, where they remained for more than a year. The
members represented to the king, that in 1579 and 1586,
they had required a reform of the abuses committed in the
tribunal of the Inquisition, to put an end to the right, which
the inquisitors had usurped, of taking cognizance of crimes
not relating to heresy; that Philip II. had promised to do
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did not offer any heretical propositions, though some were
qualified as audacious, scandalous, and offensive to pious
ears. - The duke was appointed Viceroy of Naples, but was
deprived of the office some years after, and imprisoned by
the king. The inquisitors seized this opportunity to renew
their charges, but they were disappointed ; the duke died in
prison before the definitive sentence was pronounced.

-+ ‘Om the 7th and 8th of November 1610, the Inquisition of
‘Logrofio celebrated an auto-da-f¢, in which six persons were
burnt, with five effigies, twenty-one individuals were recon-
ciled, and twenty condemned to different penances ; among
‘these were eighteen sorcerers®. :

* A sufficient number of the trials of the Inquisition, during
the reign of Philip IIL., have been already cited, therefore
that of Don Antonio Manriquez, count de Marata, need
only be mentioned ; in 1603 he abjured some heretical pro-
‘positions without being disgraced by an auto-da-f¢.

CHAPTER XXXVIIL

OF THE 'rnuu.s AND AUTO8-DA-FE DURING THE REIGN OF
) PHlLlP 1V,

Prrete IV. ascended the throne on the 31st of March, 1621,
and during the thirty-four years that he reigned, the follow-
ing persons filled the office of inquisitor-general : Don An-
drea Pacheco, in 1621; Cardinal Don Antonio de Zapyata
Mendozs, in 1626 ; in 1632, Don Fray Antonio de Soto-
Toayor; and in 1643, Don Diego de’Arce y Reinoso. Don
Diego died on the same day as the king.

Many circumstances had shewn the necessity of a reform
‘ln the: Inqmsmon, but the indolence of Philip IV. prevented

., ® See Chapter 15.
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image spoke to the Jews three times, and that they did not
hesitate to burn it. Solemn masses were performed at Ma-
drid and other cities in the kingdom, to expiate the sacrilege
which had been committed. _ :

On the 22nd of June, 1636, another general auto-da-fé
was held at Valladolid, composed of twenty-eight persons.
The punishment inflicted on the Jews seems entirely novel :
one hand was nailed to a wooden cross, and in that state they
were obliged to hear read the report of their trial, and the
sentence which condemned them to perpetual imprisonment
for having insulted our Saviour and the Virgin by their
blasphemies. A Beata also appeared in this auto-da-f¢;
'she was known by the name of Lorenza : her crimes were
the same as those of the other women of her class ; she pre-
tended that she had seen apparitions of the Devil, Jesus
Christ, and the Virgin Mary, and an infinity of revelations,
but she was, in fact, nothiug but a libertine woman.

Another Beata, who was more celebrated, appeared before
the tribunal of Valladolid, she was called Louisa de I’ As-
cension. M. Lavallée has spoken of the fragments of the
cross which had belonged to this woman, in his history of
the Inquisition, published at Paris in 1809. This author
(who has only added to the errors of the writers of the two
last centuries) says, that this cross was one of those which
the inquisitors suspended round the necks of the condemned.
This practice was never known in the Inquisition ; the cross
belonged to the Beata. M. Lavallée has not explained the
inscription correctly. I have seen a cross entire; on the
upper part are the letters I. N. R. 1., which are the initials
of Jesus Nazarenus Rez Judeorum ; on the mounting.and
on the arm, and towards the foot, are these words—Jesus.
La Tres Sainte Marie, congue sans péché originel. = Saur
Louise de I Ascension, esclave indigne de mon tres doux
Jesus. This Beata gave similar crosses to those who, de-
ceived by her reputation for sanctity, came to demand her
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fessor to Philip IIL, and inquisitor-general, resigned his
place by the command of Philip IV.; and a short time after
Cardinal Zapata had succeeded him, he was prosecuted by
the Inquisition of Madrid, for some propositions suspected of
Lutheranism and materialism. Aliaga died in 1626, when
his trial had not advanced further than the preparatory in-
struction. ' ‘

- In the year 1645, the Inquisition of Madrid prosecuted
Don Gaspard de Guzman, count duke d'Olivares, favourite
and prime-minister to Philip IV. This took place under the
ministry of the inquisitor-general, Don Diego de Arce, on
whom he had bestowed the bishoprics of Tui, Avila, and
Placencia. Don Diego did not forget his benefactor, and it
was to his prudence that the duke owed the favourable issue
of an affair, which, in other hands, might have had the most
fatal result. :

This minister was disgraced in 1643 : a short time after,
memorials were presented to the king, accusing him of the
most heinous crimes. The tribunal, where every false report
was received, also seized this opportunity to prosecute him:
he was denounced to the Inquisition as a believer in judicial
astrology ; and as a proof that he was an enemy to the church,
it was asserted that he attempted to poison Urban VIHL;
the apothecary at Florence, who prepared the poison, and
the Italian monk, who was to administer it, were mentioned §
in fact, proofs were offered of all the crimes he had com-
mitted. The inquisitors commenced the preparatory instruc-
tion, but their proceedings were so dilatory, that the Count
Duke died before the order for his arrest could be issued.

- The Jesuit, Count Juan Baptiste de Poza, occupied the In-
quisitions of Spain and Rome for some time with his writings,
during the reign of Philip IV., particularly from the year
1629 to 1636. I have spoken in Chapter 15 of the memorial
presented by the university of Salamanca against the Jesuits,
in order to prevent the imperial gollege of Madrid, which
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relaxed morals of his printed works, was prosecuted by the
Inquisition of Sardinia for some propositions contained in a
sermon, and was condemned to recant. The Jesuit published
his defence, and went to. Spain, where he demanded to be
tried by the Supreme Council. The Council, after taking
the opinions of several qualifiers, annulled the sentence; and
not only acquitted the Jesuit, but made him a qualifier.

_ Ali Arraez Ferrarés, surnamed the Renegado, was tried
by the Inquisition of Sicily in this reign. He was a Moor
of Tunis, and high in the favour of the king of that country:
having been taken prisoner to Palermo, he was ransomed and
sent back to Tunis. Some Christian slaves, who were in that
city, expressed their surprise that an apostate had been ran-
somed instead of being sent to the dungeons of the Inquisi-
tion. The tribunal being informed of the opinion of these
slaves, published that they were ignorant that Ali Arraez
Ferrarés had been a Christian, and that he was surnamed the
Renegado. Ali was taken a second time in 1624, and though
no other proof of his guilt existed but the report above-
mentioned, he was taken to the prisons of the holy office .A
great number of Sicilians, Genoese, and others, who had
known him at Tunis, were examined ; they all declared that
he was called the Renegado, and some added that they had
heard him say that he had been a Christian. Ali denied the
fact, but the tribunal considered him as convicted, and con-
demned him to be burnt. The Supreme Council decided
that the proof was not complete, annulled the sentence, and
commanded that the prisoner should be tortured, in order to
obtain additienal proofs, and that the sentence should then
be renewed. Ali still persisted in denying that he had been
a Christian, and found means to inform the king of Tunis of
his situation; the Moorish king received his letter at the
moment when Fray Bartholomew Ximenez, Fray Ferdinand
de Reina, Fray Diego de la Torre, and three other Carmel-
ites were brought in captive; they had been taken in going
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whose relations had founded the convent for her, was the
abbess, though only twenty-six years of age. The commu-
" nity was composed of thirty nuns, who all appeared to be
virtuous, and had voluntarily embraced the monastic life.
While the new convent enjoyed the highest reputation, the
gestures and words of one of the nuns indicated that she
was in a supernatural state: Fray Garcia exorcised her, and
on the 8th of September she was pronounced to be a demo-
niac. In a short time, the abbess and twenty-five nuns were
attacked in the same manner. Many consultations took place
on the condition of these women, between men of learning
and virtue, who believed that they were really possessed,—~-
their confeesor repeated his exorcisms every day, and even
spent days and nights in the convent to renew them. He at
last brought the tabernacle of the holy sacrament into the
room where the nuns worked, and they said the prayers of
forty hours. This singular scene lasted for three years, when
the Inquisition of Toledo put a stop to it in 1631, by arrest-
ing the confessor, the abbess, and some of the nuns. Fray
Francis Garcia was denounced as an Wluminati, and it was
said that he had corrupted the nuns, who pretended to be
possessed. The trial was terminated in 1633 ; the confessor
and the nuns were declared to be suspected of having fallen
into the heresy of the Alumbrados. They were condemned
to several penances, and sent to different convents; the
abbess was exiled, and deprived of the privilege of consulting
for four, and of voting for eight, years: when this period bad
expired, she returned to her own canvent, and was com-
manded by her superiors to demand a revision of her trial,
The abbess obeyed, declaring at the same time, that she did
it solely for the honour of her nuns and those of the other
houses of St. Benedict. The enterprise was difficult, but
the power of her relation, the prothonotary of Arragon, and
of the Count Duke d’Olivares, overcame every obstacle. In
1642 the Supreme Council acknowledged the innocence of
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he had discovered great irregularities in the trial of Villa-
nueva, and charged the inquisitor-general to observe that
the laws were more strictly followed, and the trials con-
ducted with more justice, gravity, and circumspection.

New contests soon arose between the Courts of Madrid
and Rome, and the Pope sent Francis Mancini as his nuncio
to Madrid to settle the dispute, but he could not obtain an
audience of the king, and in 1654 was obliged to apply in
the name of his Holiness to the inquisitor-general, who told
him that the Pope had offended the king in the affair above
mentioned ; he asserted that the prosecution of Villanueva
had been properly conducted, and that the Pope had
approved it. If this assertion was true, the Pope must have
expressed his approbation before he took cognizance of the
trial, for when it was transferred to the tribunal of Rome,
the injustice and defects were discovered.

CHAPTER XXXIX.

THE INQUISITION DURING THE REIGN OF CHARLES II,

Cuaries IL succeeded his father on the 17th of September,
1665, when he was only four years of age. The grand-in-
quisitors, during his reign, were, Cardinal Don Pascal
d’Arragon, archbishop of Toledo ; Father John Everard de
Nitardo, a German Jesuit; Don Diego de Sarmiento de
Valladarés, bishop of Oviedo and Placentia; Don Juan
Thomas Rocaberti, archbishop of Valencia; Cardinal Don
Alphonso Fernandez de Cordova y Aguilar; and Don Bal-
thazar de Mendoza-Sandoval, bishop of Segovia.

The infancy of Charles 11., the ambition of his brother
Don John of Austria, the imperious temper of the queen.
mother, Maria Anne of Austria, and the machiavelism of the
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of the sorcery ; if it was permanent ; if it was attached to
anything that the king had eaten or drank, to images or
other objects; in what place it might be found ; and lastly, if
there were any natural means of preventing its effects: the
confessor added several other questions, and desired the exor-
cist to urge them with all the zeal which the interest of the
king and the state required. '

The monk at first refused to question the demon, because
it is forbidden by the church; but on being assured by the
inquisitor-general that it would not be sinful in the present
circumstances, he faithfully performed all that had been
requested of him. The demon declared by the mouth of
the demoniac, that a spell had been put upon the king by a
person who was named. According to the private notes of
that time, the criminal was an agent of the Court of Vienna,
but Cardinal Portocarrero and the confessor Diaz were the
partisans of France for the succession of Spain.

Diaz was very much alarmed at this information, and re-
doubled his conjurations until he learnt some method of
destroying the enchantment. Before this operation was
concluded, Rocaberti died, and was succeeded by Don Bal-
thazar de Mendoza, who was of the Austrian party; he sig-
nified to the king that all that had taken place had arisen
from the imprudent zeal of his confessor, and that he must
be removed. The king followed his advice, and made Froilan
Bishop of Avila; but the new inquisitor-general, not con-
tented with preventing the expedition of the bulls, prose-
cuted him for having made use of demons to discover hidden
things.

Mendoza directed this attack in concert with Torres Pal-
mosa, the king’s confessor, who was as eager for the ruin of
Froilan Diaz as himself; this man communicated to Mendoza
the letters which Diaz had received from Caiigas, which were
found among his papers,

Mendoza examined witnesses, and after combining their
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Supreme Council: the inquisitors consequently declared that
there was no cause for the arrest. The inquisitor-general
then caused Diaz to be transferred to Madrid. Mendoza
afterwards charged the fiscal of the Inquisition to accuse him
as a dogmatizing arch-heretic, for having said that an inter-
course with the demon might be permitted, in order to learn
the art of curing the sick.

Charles I1. died about this time, and Philip was at first
too much engaged with the war against the Archduke
Charles of Austria, to discover the intrigues and artifices of
Mendoza. He at last submitted the affair to the Council of
Castile, on the 24th December, 1703, which decided that the
arrest of Diaz was contrary to the common laws, and those
of the holy office. The Supreme Council then decreed that
Diaz should be set at liberty and acquitted. .

It must be observed, that the demon affirmed that God
had permitted a spell to be put upon the king, and that it
could not be taken off, because the holy sacrament was in
the church without lamps or wax candles, the communities
of monks dying of hunger, and other reasons of the same
nature, Two other demons who were interrogated, only
agreed in declaring the necessity of favouring the churches,
convents, and communities' of Dominican monks; perhaps
because the inquisitor-generals Rocaberti and Diaz were of
that order.

This prince convoked the grand junta, composed of two
councillors of state, two members of each of the Councils of
Castile, Arragon, Italy, the Indies, the military ordersand the
finances, and of one of the king’s secretaries. The royalsecre-
tary informed the junta that the disputes between the inqui-
sitors and the civil judges had caused so much disturbance,
that the king had resolved to commission the assembly to
propose a plain and fixed rule, to secure to the Inquisition
the respect due to it, and to prevent the inquisitors from un-
dertaking trials foreign to the jurisdiction of the holy office.
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royal tribunals should be charged to oppose them by the
meaps in their power. 3rd. That the privileges of the in-
quisitorial juriediction should be limited, in respect to the
ministers and familiars of the Inquisition, and the relations of
the inquisitors. 4th. That measures should be adopted to.
ensure the immediate settlement of affairs relating to compe-
tence and mutual pretensions.

The Count de Frigiliana, councillor of state, added that
the inquisitors ought to be compelled to give an account of
the revenues of the holy office. These observations, and
the propositions of the junta, had no effect ; for the inquisitor-
general Rocaberti,and Froilan Diaz, succeeded in changing
the favourable inclinations of the king.

CHAPTER XL.
OF THE INQUIBITION IN THE REIGN OF PHILIP V.

PaiLte V. succeeded his uncle Charles II. on the lst of
November, 1700 ;- he died on the 9th of July, 1746. The
grand-inquisitors, during this period, were, Don Balthagar
Mendoza-Sandoval ; Don Vidal Marin, Bishop of Ceuta ;
Don Antonio Ibafiez de la Riba-Herrera, Archbishop of
Saragossa ; Cardinal Don Francis Judice; Don Joseph de
Molinoe; Don Diego de Astorga Cespedes, Bishop of Bar-
celona; Don Juan de Camargo, Bishop of Pampeluna ;
Don Andrea de Orbe Larreategui, Archbishop of Valencia ;
Don Manuel-Isidore Manriquez de Lara, Archbishop of
Santiago ; and Don Francis Perez de Prado Cuesta, Bishop
of Teruel, who was still in office at the death of Philip V.
The court had always been so favourable to the Inqui-
sition, that the inquisitors thought that a solemn auto-da-fé
in celebration of his accession would be agreeable to the
king. It took place in 1701, but Philip refused to be
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Among the pretended sorcerers condemned by the Inqui-
sition was Juan Perez de Espejo, who was punished at Ma-
drid in 1743, as a blasphemous hypocrite and a sorcerer.
This person, after taking the name of Juan de St. Esprit, is
said to have been the founder of the Congregation of Hospi-
taliers or of the Divine Shepherd, which still exists. He
was condemned to receive two hundred stripes, and to be.
imprisoned ten years in a fortress.

A number of the disciples of Molinos were also con-
demned. Don Joseph Fernandez de Toro, Bishop of Oviedo,
was condemned for this doctrine in 1721. The Inquisition of
Logrofio burnt Don Juan de Causados, a prebend of Tu-
dela, the most intimate friend and disciple of Molinos ; he
had proamulgated his mystic doctrines with great zeal and
enthusiasm. His nephew, Juan de Longas, maintained
this doctrine after his death; he is still known in Navarre,
Rioxa, Burgos, and. Soria, by the name of Brother Jokn.
The inquisitors of Logrofio condemned him, in 1729, to re-
ceive two hundred stripes, and sent him for zen years to the
galleys: he was afterwards imprisoned for life. Unfortu-
nately some monks of his order had adopted his sentiments,
and had communicated them to several nuns of the Convents
of Lerma and Corrella, which gave occasion to several autos-
da-fé.

Donna Agueda was the principal of these: she was born
of noble parents at Corella, in Navarre. In 1712 she entered
the Carmelite Convent at Lerma, with so great a reputation
for virtue, that she was looked upon as a saint. In 1713
she had already adopted the heresy of Molinos; she passed
twenty years in the convent, and her fame was continually
increased by the accounts of her ecstacies and miracles, which
were promulgated by Juan de Longas, the Prior de Lerma,
the provincial, and other monks of the first rank, who were
all accomplices in the imposture of Agueda, and interéat-ed
in her reputation for sanctity.
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the order confessed his crime, and appeared in the auto-da-f¢
with the San-densto. The other nuns who were found guilty
were dispersed in different convents.

The trial of Don Balthazar Mendoza-Sandoval, Bishop of
Segovia and inquisitor-general, was equally famous, though
from a different cause. The conduct of this bad prelate to-
wards Froilan Diag has been related in the preceding chap-
ter. When the Supreme Council refused to sanction the
enormous abuse of his powers which he meditated, Mendoza
ordered the arrest of three of the councillors who had been
the most remarkable in their opposition ; he requested of the
king, in a false representation, the dismissal of Don Antonio
Zambraxa, Don Juan Arsemendi, and Don Juan Migueles,
whom he sent loaded with chains to Santiago de Grenada,
and formed the bold design of depriving the council of the
right of intervention in the trials submitted to them, and the
members of the power of voting a definitive sentence.

This act of despotism roused the reeolution of Philip V.
On the 24th of December he submitted the affair to the
Council of Castile. On the 21st of January, 1704, the council
proposed that the Supreme Council should be re-established
in the possession of the privileges it had enjoyed since the
foundation of the Inquisition, and that the three members
should be restored to their office. . The king took this ad-
vice, and commanded Mendoza to give in his resignation and
leave Madrid.

Mendoza complained to the Pope, who wrote to the king
to remonstrate on the manner of treating one of his sub-
delegates. The king, however, maintained his resolation
with firmness, and Mendoza was obliged to. obey. ‘

The king gave another proof of his firmness in defending
the privileges of the crown, in his conduct towards the In-
quisitor-general Judice, in the affair of Don Melchior Maca-~
naz*, Philip, however, endured an insult from the Inqui.

# See Chapter 20.
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CHAPTER XLI.

QF THE INQUISITION DURING THE REIGN OF
FRRDINAND VI,

Prrvre V. left his crown to Ferdinand VI., his eldest son
by his first wife, Gabriella of Savoy. This prince reigned
from the 9th of July, 1746, to the 10th of August, 1759 ; he
died without children. He was succeeded by his brother,
Charles III. of Naples, the son of Philip V. and Isabella
Farnese, his second wife. Don Francis Perez del Prado,
Bishop of Teruel, held the office of inquisitor-general at
the accession of Ferdinand. He was succeeded by Don
- Manuel Quintano Bonifaz, Archbishop of Pharsala, who was
still in office at the death of that prince.

The rise of good taste in literature in Spain, the restora-
tion of which was prepared under Philip V., is dated from
the reign of Ferdinand VI. On this circumstance is founded
the opinion that the accession of the Bourbons caused a
change in the system of the Inquisition; yet these princes
never gave any new laws to the institution, or suppressed
any of the ancient code, and, consequently, did not prevent
any of the numerous autos-da-fé¢ which were celebrated in
their reigns. But Philip established at Madrid two Royal
Academies for History and the Spanish language, on the
model of that of Paris, and favoured a friendly intercourse:
between the literatt of the two nations.

The agreement made in 1737 with the Court of Rome,
concerning the contributions to be imposed on the clergy,
and some other points of discipline, had rendered appeals to
the Pope more rare ; and many opinions were admitted to be -
reasonable, which had been long represented as unfavourable
to religion and piety, by the ignorance and superstition of-
one side, and the malevolence of the other. The cstablish-
ment of weekly papers made the people acquainted with
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of favouring heresy. But the faction of the Jesuits pre-
vailed during the reigns of Philip V. and his successor, be-
cause their confessors were of that order.

Freemasonry was an object entirely new to the Inquisition.
Clement XII. had expedited on the 28th of April, 1738, the
bullin Eminentt, in which he excommunicates the freemasons.
In 1740 Philip issued a royal ordinance against them, and
many were arrested and sent to the galleys. The inquisi-
tors took advantage of the example, and treated the mem.
bers of a lodge discovered at Madrid with great severity.
The punishment of death was decreed against free masons,
in 1739, by the Cardinal Vicar of Rome, in the name of the
high-priest of the God of peace and mercy! Benedict XIV.
renewed the bull of Clement, in 1751. Fray Joseph Tor-
rubia, examiner of books for the holy office, denounced the
existence of freemasons, and Ferdinand published an ordi.
nanoe against them in the same year, in which it was said,
that all who did not conform to the regulations contained in -
it, would be punished as state criminals guilty of Aigh
treason. Charles III., then King of Naples, prohibited the
masonic assemblies on the same day. The following pages
contain the notice of a trial of this nature, which took place
at Madrid, in 1757.

M. Tournon, a Frenchman, had been invited into Spain,
and pensioned by the government, in order to establish a
manufactory of brass or copper buckles, and to instruct
Spanish workmen. On the 30th of*April, 1757, he was de-
nounced to the holy office as suspected of heresy by one of
his pupils, who acted in obedience to the commands of his
confessor. '

The charges were: lst. That M. Tournon had asked his
pupils to become freemasons, promising that the Grand
Orient of Paris, should send a commission, to receive them
into the order, if they should submit to the trials he should
propose, to ascertain their courage and firmness; and that
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. Have you attended them i Spain?

. No; I do not know if there are any lodges in Spain.

. If there were, should you attend them ?

. Yes.

Are you a Christian, a Roman Catholic ?

Yes; I was baptized in the parish of St. Paul, at Paris:
How, as a Christian, can you dare to attend masonic
assemblies, when you know, or ought to know, that they are
contrary to rehgxon ?

4. I.did not know that; I am ignorant of it at present,
because I never saw or heard anything there which was con-
trary to religion:

Q. How can you say that, when you know that freemasons
profess indifference in matters of religion, which is contrary
to the article of faith, which teaches us that no man can be
saved who does not profess the Catholic, Apostolic, and
Roman religion?

A. The freemasons do not profess that indifference. But
it is tndifferent if the person received into the order be a
Catholic or not.

Q. Then the freemasons are an anii-religious body ?

A. That cannot be, for the object of the institution is not
to combat or deny the necessity or utility of any religion, but
for the exercise of charity towards the unfortunate of any
sect, particularly if he is a member of the society.

Q. One proof that indifference is the religious character of
freemasons is, that they do not acknowledge the Holy Trinity,
since they only confess one God, whom they call the Great
Architect of the Universe, which agrees with the doctrine of
the heretical philosophers, who say that there is no true reli-
gion but natural religion, in which the existence of God the
Creator only is allowed, and the rest considered as a human
invention. And as M. Tournon has professed himself to be
of the Catholic religion, he is required by the respect he
owes to our Saviour Jesus Christ, true God and man, and to

OhOAORD
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Q. That is not the question; say if it is true that these
ceremonies are observed in masonic lodges ?

‘A. Yes, or no, according to the regulations of those who
are charged with the ceremonies of the initiation.

Q. Were they observed when you were initiated ? -

4. No.

Q. What oath is it neceseary to take on being received a
freemason ?

A. We swear to obeerve secrecy.

Q. On what?

A. On things whieh it may be inconvenient to publsh.

Q. Is this cath accompanied by eéxecrations?

4. Yes.

Q. What are they?

A. We consent to suffer all the evils which can afflict the
body and soul if we violate the oath.

Q. Of what importance is this oath, since it is believed
that such formidable execrations may be used without in-
decency?

A. That of good order in the society. .

Q. What pasees in these lodges which‘it might be incon-
venient to publish? -

A. Nothing, if it is looked upon without prejudice ; but
as people are generally mistaken in this matter, it is necessary
to avoid giving cause for malicious interpretations; and this
would take place if what passes when the brothers assemble
was made public.

Q. Of what use is the crucifix, if the reception of a free-
mason is not considered as a religious act?

A. It is presented to penetrate the soul with the most
profound respect at the moment that the novice takes the
oath. It is not used in every lodge, and only when particular
grades are conferred.

Q. Why is the skull used? .

A. That the idea of death may inspire a horror of

perjury.
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him to worship the stars : this confession is necessary. for the
acquittal of his conscience and the good of his soul ; because
if he confesses with sorrow for having committed these
crimes, detesting them and humbly soliciting pardon (before
the fiscal accuses him of these heinous sins), the holy tri-
bunal will be permitted to exercise towards him that com-
passion and mercy which it always displays to repentant
sinners ; and because if he is judicially accused, he must be
treated with all the severity prescribed against heretics by
the holy canons, apostolical bulls, and the laws of the
kingdom.

A. T have declared the truth, and if any witnesses have
deposed to the contrary, they have mistaken the meaning of
my words; for I have never spoken on this subject to any
but the workmen in my manufactory, and then only in the
same sense conveyed by my replies.

Q. Not content with being a freemason, you have per-
suaded other persons to be received into the order, and to
embrace the heretical superstitions and pagan errors into
which you have fallen. ~

A. It is true that I have requested these persons to be-
come freemasons, because I thought it would be useful to
them if they travelled into foreign countries, where they
might meet brothers of their order, who could assist them in
any difficulty; but it is not true that I engaged them to
adopt any errors contrary to the Catholic faith, since no
such errors are to be found in freemasonry, which does not
concern any points of doctrine.

Q. It has been already proved that these errors are not
chimerical ; therefore let M. Tournon consider that he has
been a dogmatizing heretic, and that it is necessary that he
should acknowledge it with humility, and "ask pardon and
absolution for the censures which he has incurred ; since, if
he persists in his obstinacy, he will destroy both his body
and soul ; and as this is the first audience of monitton, he is
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learn by heart the catechism of Fayher Astete, and to pre-
pare himself to receive absolution, at Christmas, Easter, and
Pentecost.
" A private auto-da-fé was celebrated in the hall of the
tribunal, in which M. Tournon appeared without the san-
benito, and signed his abjuration, with a promise never again
to attend the assemblies of the freemasons.

M. Tournon went to France, and it does not appear that -
he ever returned to Spain. -
- 'The society of freemasons has occupied the learned men,
since the middle of the seventeenth century, and the number
of fables which have been published concerning it have con-
fused the subject, and done much injury to it. The myste-
rious initiations of this order first began to attract observa-
tion in England, during the reign of Charles I., who perished
on the scaffold in 1649. The enemies of Cromwell and the
republican system then established the dignity of grand
master of the English lodges, to prepare the minds of the
freemasons for the re-establishment of the monarchy. William
ITI. was a freemason, and though the dynasty wis changed
by the accession of George I., it does not appear that free-
masonry was suspected in England. It was introduced into
France in 1723, and Ramsay, a Scotchman, established a
lodge in London in 1728, giving out that the society had
been founded in 1099, by Godfrey de Bouillon, King of.
Jerusalem ; preserved by the Knights Templars, and brought
to Edinburgh, where it was established by King Robert
Bruce in 1314. In 1729 the order was introduced into Ire-
land. Holland received it in 1731, and the first lodges were
opened in Russia in the same year: it appeared in Boston in
America in 1733, and in several other towns of the New
World, subject to England. It was also established in Italy
in that year, and two years after freemasons were found
at Lisbon. '

I believe the first severe measure against the freemasons in
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power to abolish those things which gave the inquisitors, and

other ecclesiastics occasion to say, that sacred and profane

things are mingled in the masonic ceremonies; particularly the
following, which have already appeared in printed works.

In the sixth grade, or rank, which is that of particular
secretary, (secrelaire intime,) the history of Hiram, king of
Tyre, is taken from the ninth chapter of the third book of
Kings for the masonic allegories ; and Jehovah, the ineffable
name of God, for the sacred word of freemasonry; this
custom is likewise observed with some slight differences in
several other grades. - ‘

In the eighteenth, called the Rosicrusian of Haradom of
Kilwiniug, is a representation of columns with inscriptions ;
the highest is as follows : In the name of the Holy and indi-
visible Trinity: lower down, May our salvation be eternal
in God ; still lower, We have the happiness of being in the
pacific unity of the sacred numbers. The history of the second
chapter of the first, and the nineteenth of the second book of
Esdras is made use of ; the word of order between two free-
masons of the same rank is INRI, which some persons
have supposed to be Jesus Nazarenus, Rexr Judeorum: the
word passe is added, which means Emmanuel, or God ts
with us. ’

The rank of Rosicrusiaci, in the Scotch lodges, is the per-
fection of the order ; the meaning is developed in fifteen sec-
tions. In the fifth, the allegories are the mounts of salvation,
mounts Moriak and Calvary, the first for the sacrifices of
Abraham, David, and Solomon, the second for that of Jesus
of Nagareth: other allegories relate to the Holy Spirit,
designated as the Majesty of God which descended on the
tabernacle, and on the temple at the moment of its dedication.
In the twelfth section a Aoly mountain is seen, on which is
a large church in the forfn of a cross from east to west, in the
neighbourhood of a city, which is the image of the celestial
Jerusalem; in the thirteenth, three great lights, symbols of
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of the object of the association (which was to preserve the
order, to re-establish it in its former glory, and to revenge
the deaths of the grand-master, and the knights who perished
with him) ; when the qualities of the new member were per-
fectly well known, the grand secret was to be confided to
him, after a most formidable oath. .

The secret signs were intended as a precaution against
admitting into the order those Templars who had formed a
schism during the persecution ; they retired into Scotland,
and refused to acknowledge John Larmenio as grand-master,
and pretended that they had re-established the order; this
pretension was refuted by a chapter of legitimate knights :
after this the new chief issned his diploma in 1324, and his
successors have followed his example, on attaining the dignity
of secret grand-master of the order of Templars in Prance.
The list of grand-masters until the year 1776 has been pub-
lished. Philip de Bourbon, duke of Orleans, was appointed
in 1705, Louis Augustus de Bourbon, duke de Maine, in
1724, Louis Henry de Bourbon Conde, in 1737, Louis Francis
de Bourbon Conti, in 1745, Louis Henry Timoleon de Cossé
Brissac, in 1776, and Bernard Raymond Fabre, in 1814.

The Knights Templars who retired to Scotland, founded an
establishment in 1314, under the protection of Robert Bruce;
their objects and their measures were the same, and they
were concealed under the title of architects; this was the
origin of freemasonry. They soon, however, forgot the most
criminal part of the execratory oath: since the deaths of
Clement V. and Philip the Fair, the persecutors of the
knights, deprived them of the power of revenging the execu-
tions of James de Molay and his companions, and had ne
other object but the re-establishment of the order; this in-
tention shared the fate of the first, after the deaths of the
authors of it, and their first disciples. From these facts it
appears, that the execratory oath is without a motive or
object in modern masonic lodges. ’
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nounced was sometimes induced to repair to the tribunal on
the pretext of business, and then informed of the charges
against him; he replied to them, and returned home, after
having promised to return a second time when summoned
Sometimes the proceedings were abridged, and the criminal
was only condemned to a private penance, which might be
performed without the knowledge of any person but the
commissary of the tribunal.

Several trials which were commenced against persons of
rank, were not proceeded in after the preliminary instruc-
tion; such were those of the Marquis de Roda, minister se-
cretary of state, of grace and justice; of the Count d’Aranda,
president of the Council . of Castile, and captain-general. of
New Castile, who was afterwards ambassador to Paris, and
lastly, prime-minister ; of the Count de Florida Blanca, then
fiscal of the Council of Castile for civil affairs, afterwards
successor to the Marquis de Roda, and prime-minister; of
the Count de Campomanes, fiscal for criminal affairs, and. af-
terwards governor of the same council ; of those of the Arch-
bishops of Burgos and Saragossa, and of the Bishops of
Tarazona, Albarracin, and Orihuela, who had composed the
council extraordinary, in 1767, for the expulsion of the Je-
suits. The trials of all these distinguished men had the same
origin.

The Bishop of Cuenga, Don Isidore de Carbajal y Lan-
caster, highly respectable from his family, which was that of
the Dukes of Abrantés, and from his dignity, his irreproach-
able conduct, and his charity to the poor, was less acquainted
with the true principles of the canonic law than zealous for
the maintenance of the ecclesiastical privileges. Influenced
by this motive, he was so indiscreet as to represent to the
king, that the Church was persecuted in its rights, property,
and ministers, and drew a picture of the reign of CharlesIlI.,
which*would have been more applicable to that of the Em-
peror Julian. The king commissioned the Council of Castile
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would have been exposed to great mortification from this
attack; but at this time the Inquisition found it dangerous
to be too severe, because the court had adopted the system
of vigorously opposing all the ancient doctrines which fa-
voured the pretensious of the ecclesiastics at the expense of
the royal prerogatives; and on the occasion of the publica- *
tion of some conclusions on the canonical law, which were
entirely favourable to the Pope and the eeclesiastical juris.
diction, a royal censor was appointed for each university,
without whose approbation no conclusion could be published
or maintained. -
- The perseverance of the government in the new system
prevented the inquisitors from venturing to sentence the pre-
lates of the extraordinary council ; they however thought
proper to endeavour to avert the storm, and applied to Don
Fray Joachim de Eleta, the king's confessor. This man was
an ignorant Recollet; and known for his blind attachment to
the Court of Rome. The prelates declared that they con-
demned several propositions advauced by the two fiscals in
their work calledz4n Impartial Judgment of the Monitory
of Parma, which was written by the king’s order, because
they thought they tended to the infringement of the privi-
leges of the church. After this declaration, the prelates used
every means to make the confessor persuade Charles III.,
that the printed copies ought not to be published, and that
the work should be reprinted, after the suppression of seve-
ral propositions. The inquisitor-general and the Supreme
Council being informed of this circumstance, the affair took
another turn, and the faction of the Jesunits became more calm.
These events exposed to great danger a person who had
entered into them without being aware of it. M. Clement,
a French priest treasurer of the cathedral of Auxerre, and
dfterwards bishop of Versailles, arrived at Madrid in 1768;
at the time when the event above-mentioned occupied every
mind. He held several conversations on this subject with
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advice, and though he had intended to go to Portugsl, he
returned immediately to France, to avoid the Sbirri of the
holy office, who might have arrested him on his return from
Lisbon, if the system of the court was changed. In facta
great number of charges were brought against him after his
departure, but they were not made public, and he wrote his
travels without knowing anything of the plots against him.,

All that passed on the occasion of the apostolical prohibition
of the catechjsm of Mesengui was made public: Charles III.
had ordered that it should be made use of in the religious in-
struction of Charles I V.; and the inquisitor-general was openly
and justly blamed, for having published the brief of prohibi-
tion, without waiting to obtain the consent of the king. This
proceeding was the cause of the exile of the inquisitor-
general. His disgrace might have rendered him more pru-
dent, but in his reply to the king, in 1769, concerning some
measures taken by the extraordinary council of five prelates,
he advanced as certain, several propositions concerning the
Inquisition, which might have been proved to be false, if
the Marquis de Roda had consulted the registers of the
Supreme Council. He said that the Inquisition had met
with nothing but opposition from the beginning; that it
was conspired against in the most cruel manner ; that all
the proceedings of the council were made public, except the
trials for heresy, but that even those were always submitted
to his Majesty ; and that the charge against it of acting with
entire tndependence was not just, he concluded with saying,
that his Majesty might appoint an ecclesiastic as his secretary
to attend the council, and inform him of all that passed.

It is impossible to find a reason for the necessity here im-
posed upon the king to have a priest for his secretary, since
the inquisitors employed seculars in their offices, who were
permitted to see the trial, though obliged to take an oath of
secrecy, and two members of the Council of Castile also
attend the Supreme Council. Yet neither an ecclesiastic nor
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consecrated wafer from superstitious motives, and for preach-
ing a false and presumptuous mysticity to several nuns and
other women who were the dupes of his error and their owa
weakness. Leon was imprisoned for three years in a con-
vent; he was then banished for seven years from Madrid,
and forbidden to exercise the ministry of a confessor. The
council of the orders requested the king to deprive Leon of
his cross and knighthood, according to the statutes which
ordain that messure towards all who commit a crime whioch
incurs an infamous punishment. But the council ought: to
have known that the suspicion of heresy was not sufficiest,
since the tribunal always declaree, if the condemned desire it,
that this sort of sentence does not prevent taem from at-
taining offices and dignities.

At Saragosea the Marquis d'Aviles, intendant of Arragoa,
was accused before the holy office of having read prohibited
books ; but this denunciation, and that of the Bishop of
Barcelona for Jansenism at Madrid, and s¢veral others of the
same nature, were passed over without further notice.

CHAPTER XLIIL
OF THE $PANISH INQUISITION UNDER CHARLES IV,

Cuanres IV. ascended the throne on the 17th November,
1788 ; he abdicated on the 19th March, 1808, in consequence
of the popular commotions at Aranjuez. The inquisitors-
general under Charles 1V. were Don Augustin Rubin de
Cevalles, Bishop of Jaen; Don Manuel de Abad-y-la-Sierrs,
Archbishop of Selimbria; the Cardinal Archbishop of To-
ledo, Don Francis Lorenzana ; and Don Ramon Joseph de
Arce, Archbishop of Burgos.

The two obstacles which had principally contributed to

impede the progress of learning during the three preceding
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The Count de Florida-Blanca was then prime minister ;
this conduct entirely destroyed the good opinion entertaified
of him by the nation. He was said to be a novice in the'art
of government, because the prohibition would only excite
greater curiosity. The commissioners of the holy office re-
"ceived an order to oppose the introduction of the works of
the modern philosophers, as contrary to the sovereign autho-
rity, and commanded every person to denounce whom they
knew to be attached to the principles of insurrection.

It would be difficult to calculate the number of denuncia-

tions which followed this order. The greatest number of the
~ denounced were young students of the universities of Sala-
manca and Valladolid. Those who wished to read the French
writings braved the prohibition, and employed every means
‘to obtain them; so that the laws of nature and of persons
were more studied than before the suppression of the office of
teacher. The severity of the administration only caused the
‘commencement of an immense number of trials, which were
never finished, for want of proofs.

Many Spaniards, some of illustrious birth and others of
great learning, were the objects of secret informations, as
suspected of impiety and philosophism. The history of their
trials, and those of many distinguished persons for Jansenism,
have been given in the twenty-fifth and twenty-sixth chapters.

Don Bernard-Maria de Calzada, colonel of infantry, and
brother-in-law to the Marquis de Manca, interested me
much, when he had the misfortune to be arrested by the
Duke de Medina-Celi, grand provost of the holy office : I
accompanied him as secretary, the notary for the sequestra-
tions being ill. Don Bernard was the father of a very large
family, who were reduced to indigence by this event, and it
gave me the greatest grief to witness the sad situation of
their mother. I presume that that lady has not forgotten
my conduct on that mournful night and on the following
day, when I returned to visit her. The unfortunate Cal
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Cabades, commander of the convent of the nuns of the order
of Mercy, and professor of theology in that city: be abjured,
and was then released from prison. When he had obtained
his liberty, he demanded a revision of his judgment; the
Supreme Council acknowledged the justice of his appeal, and
the sentence was declared null and void.

Don Marianno Louis de Urquijo, prime-minister and secre-
tary of state under Charles V., was also an object for the
persecutions of the holy office. His great strength of mind,
and a careful edacation, raised him above the errors of his
age. He made himeelf known in his early youth by a trans-
Iation of the Death of (esar, a tragedy by Voltaire, which
he published with a preliminary Essay on the Origin of the
Spanish Theatre, and sts Influence on Morals. This pro-
duction, which only displayed a generous wish to acquire
fame, and the ardent genius of its young author, attracted
the attention of the Inquisition. Private informations were
taken concerning the religious opinions of the Chevalier de
Urquijo, and the tribunal ascertained that he manifested
great independence in his opinions, with a decided taste for
philosophy, which the Inquisition called the doctrine of s
belicvers. Everything consequently was prepared for his
arrest, when the Connt d'Aranda, then prime-minister, who
discovered his merit (and had remarked his name in the list
of distinguished youths destined to serve the state, belong-
ing to the Count de Florida-Blanca his predecessor), proposed
to the king that he should be initiated into public affairs.
Charles I'V. appointed him to the office of first secretary of
state in 1792.

The inquisitors changed their manner of proceeding, when
they saw the elevation of their intended victam. Their
policy at this time led them to shew a deference towards the
ministry, which had not been observed in preceding ages.
They converted the decree of imprisonment into another
called the audience of cAarges, by which the Chevaliesr de
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Spain, to a certain degree, from its dependance on the Va-
tican. On the 5th September, 1799, he induced the king to
sign a decree which restored to the bishops the powers
which had been usurped by the Court of Rome, and de-
livered the people from an annual impost of several millions,
produced by the sale of dispensations and other bulls and
briefs.

The reform of the Inquisition ought to have followed this
bold step. The minister wished to suppress the tribunal
entirely, and apply its revenues to the establishment of use-
ful and charitable institutions. He drew up the edict for
that purpose, and presented it to Charles 1V. for signature;
though Urquijo did not succeed in this attempt, be convinced
the king of the necessity of reforming the tribunal.

Among the many wise regulations suggested to the king by
Urquijo, was that published in the form of an ordinance in
1799, on the liberty and independence of all the books, pPe-
pers and effects of the foreign consuls established in the sea-
ports, and in the trading towns belonging to Spain. It was
occasioned by an inconsiderate disturbance made by the
commissioners of the holy office at Alicant, in the house of
Don Leonard Stuck, consul for Holland, and at Barcelona,
at the residence of the French consul.

Those happy dispositions of the Court of Spain vanished
at the fall of the minister who had inspired them. The
victim of an intrigue, he shared the fate of those great men
who do not succeed in destroying the prejudices and errors
which they oppose. The chevalier de Urquijo was confined,
and kept in the strictest solitude, in the humid dungeons of
the citadel of Pampluna, where he was unable to obtain
books, ink, paper, fire, or light.

Ferdinand VII. on his accession to the throne, declared
hie treatment to have been unjust and arbitrary, and forget-
ting the persecutions he had suffered for eight years, he
blessed, in Ferdinand, the sovereign who would make the
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tion, and examined witnesses againet Don Augustin Abad-la-
Sierra, Bishop of Barbastro, who was accused of Janseniem,
and of approving the principles which were the basis of the
civil constitution of the French clergy under the constitu-
tional asembly. Daring the progress of this affair, Don
Manuel Abad-la-Sierra, the brother of Don Augustin, was
made inquisitor-general, and the inquisitors were afraid to
carry it on. When Don Manuel was dismissed from his
office, he also was denounced as a Jansenist, but he was not
prosecuted.

The bishop of Murcia and- Carthagena, Victorin Lopex
Gonzalo, was denounced in 1800 as suspected of Jansenism
and other heresies, and for having permitted certain propo-
sitions on some points of doctrine to be maintsined in his
seminary. The trial of the bishop was not carried farther
than the summary instruction ; because on being informed of
the plots of some scholastic doctors who were partisans of
the Jesuits, he defended himself so ably before the inquinitor-
general, that the members of council did not proceed against
him; but they continued the prosecution of the theses, when
they perceived that they were favourable to some conclusions
on miracles, which had been condemned by qualifiers.

The subject of Jansenisin created a great seneation in
Spain. The Jesuits, who had been permitted to return to
that kingdom in 1798, soon acquired a numerous party, and
acoused all who did not adopt their opinions of Jansenism.
Their conduet was so impolitic, that they were a second time
banished from the kingdom. They were the authors of the
denunciations against the Countess d¢ Montijo, and many
other distinguished persons, of whom an account has been
given in a former chapter.

The accusation of Jansenism against Don Antonio and
Don Jerome de la Cuesta was the cause of the trial of Don
Raphaél Muzquiz, Archbishop of Santiago, who had been
confessor to Queen Louisa, wife of Charles IV.
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poeed that much address was necesary in conducting an
attack against a person so high in favour. Three denuncia-
tions were received at the holy office, accusing him of athe-
ism, because he had not confessed himself or taken the pascal
communion for eight years, and because he was married to
two women at the same time, and the life he led with many
others was a source of great scandal to the public. The
three denouncers were monks, and there is some resson to
suppoee that they were directed by the authors of a court
intrigue, to cause the prince to be disgraced.

The head of the Inquisition at that time was Cardinal
Lorenzana, who was simple and easily deceived, bat too
timid not to be on his guard against anything which might
displease the king and queen. Although the denunciations
were presented to him, he did not dare to examine wit-
nesses, or even the accusers. Don Antonio Despuig, Arch-
bishop of Seville, and Don Raphaél Muzquis, who were at
the head of this intrigue, made every effort to induce Loren-
zana to cause a private instruction to be taken, to arrest the
prince in concert with the Supreme Council, and to obtain
the approbation of the king, of which they thought them-
selves certain, if they could prove that his favourite was an
atheist. This attempt was so repugnant to the disposition
of Lorenzana, that the two conspirators agreed that Des-
puig should press his friend the Cardinal Vincenti, famous for
his intrigues, to persuade Pius VI. to write to Lorenzana,
and reproach him for the indifference with which he beheld
a scandal so injurious to the purity of the religion professed
by the Spanish nation. Vincenti obtained the letter from
the Pope; Lorenzana promising, that if the Pope decided
,that the measure was necessary, he would do what they
desired. Napoleon Bonaparte, who was then a general of
the French Republic, intercepted a courier from Italy at
Genoa. The letter of Cardinal Vincenti to Despuig, en-
closing that of the Pope to Lorenzana, was found among his
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She was the wife of a labourer at Villar d’Aguilar. Among
other fictions which she invented to make people suppose her
s saint, she said that Jesus Christ revealed to ber that he had
changed her flesh and blood into the same substance as his
own body. This imposture caused great theological discws-
sion among the priests and monks. Some maintained that it
was impossible, others that it was not impossible, if the infi-
nite power of God was considered ; others believed all, and
were astonished that any person could be so incredulous, for
they thought that the Beata could have no interest in deceiv-
ing them ; lastly. there were some who were witnesses of the
life of this Beata, and were her accamplices from the begin-
ning of her imposture, ar who were the dupes of their cre-
dulity, and who continued to believe, or appeared to do o, in
her supernatural state. They carried their folly so far as to
adore this woman ; they conducted her in procession in the
streets and to the churches with lighted tapers; they burnt
inoense before her as before the consecrated host ; lastly, they
prostrated themselves before her, and committed many other
sacrileges. The Inquisition could not but notice these scenes.
The pretended sint and some of her accomplices were taken
to the gecret prisons, where the Beata ended her days. One
of the articles of the sentence commanded that her effigy
should be taken to the auto-da-f¢ on a traineau, and burnt;
the curate of Villar, and two monks, who were her aocom-
plices, were condemned to follow the effigy barefooted,
clothed in short tunics, and with a cord round their necks ;
they were degraded and banished for life to the Philippine
Isles. The Curate of Casasmarro was suepended for six years,
and two men of the lowest class received two hundred
stripes, and were imprisoned for life ; one of her servants
was sent to the house of the Recogidas for ten years. I do
not know any judgment of the Inquisition more just than
this.

Another Beata at Madrid, called Clara, did not profit by
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distributed asalms. When her deceit, her pretended sickness,
and the other circumstances of her life were proved, Clara,
her mother, and her director, were condemned to seclusion
and other punishments, much less severe than they deserved.

Another Beata appeared after these, but the circum-
stances of her imposture are not so interesting.

The inquisitors no longer thought of condemning criminals
tothe flames. A proof of this laudable change in their system
may be seen in the trial of Don Michel Solano, curate of
Esco in Arragon®. It was proved by the depositions of the

¢ Don Michel Juan Autonio Solano was born at Veroline in Arragon.
Natare had endued him with an inventive, penetrating genius, inclined
to mathematical applications ; he learned the trade of a joiner, for his own
amusement. He invented a plough which would work without oxen or
borses, and presented it to the government, bat little notice was taken of
it. Desiring to make himself useful to his parishioners, he undertook to
fertilize the earth in a ravine situated between two mountains, and com-
pletely succeeded. He had brought into the ravine the waters of a foun-
tain, which was about a quarter of a Spanish league from the spot. A
long and severe illness had made him lame, and during his convalescence,
be invented a chair in which he could go out into his garden. When his
age inclined him to meditations of another nature, as he had not many
bouks, he particularly applied himself to the study of the Bible, and from
it he formed his religious system, which differed little from that of the re-
formed Protestants, who are most attached to the discipline of the first
ages of the church; he was persuaded that all that is not expressed in the
New Testament, or is opposed to the literal sense of the text, was in-
vented by man. He put his sentiments in writing, and sent the work to
his bishop, requesting him to instruct him and give his opinion. The
bishop Lopez Gil promised to send him an answer ; but as it did not arrive,
Solano communicated his opinions to some professors of theology in the
University of Saragossa, and to some curates in his neighbourhood : he
was in consequence denounced to the Inquisition of Saragussa, who pro-
ceeded to take informations, and arrest the criminal. A curate, who called
himself his friend, received the commission to arrest the unfortunate Sola-
no, while entire liberty was allowed him to enable him to recover. Svlano,
howerver, found means to convey himself to Oleron, the nearest town on
the French frontier, hut soon after, depending on the goodness of his in-
tentions, hoping that the inquisitors would respect his innocence, and shew
him his errors, if he had fallen into any, he returned to Spain, and wrote
to inform them that he would submit to anything, in order to be en-
Kiwhtened and convinced. His conduct proved that he was little ac-

tted with the tribunal of the Inquisition.
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The inquisitors of Saragossa undertook to persuade S8olano
to renounce his opinions, and employed for that parpose
some respectable theologians; they exhorted him to acknow-
ledge his errors and repent, and threatened him with relas-
ation. ' Don Michel replied that he was aware of his danger,
but if he was induced to retract, he would be condemned
before the tribunal of God, and that if he waa in error, God
would enlighten him or pardon him. The infallibility of the
church, and the opinions of the saints and learned men who
had decided on the meaning of the obscure texts, were re-
presented to him; he replied, that in all their discussions
the Court of Rome had interfered, and rendered their good
intentions of no avail.

It was impomsible to make Solano recant, and the inqui-
sitors passed sentence of relaration; it must be confessed thet
they could not do otherwise, according to the code of the
Inquisition. But the Supreme Council, wishing to spare the
Spanish nation the spectacle of an auto-da-fé, had recourse
to the extraordinary measure of examining some persons who
had been mentioned by the witnesses, but had been negiected,
commanding the inquisitors, at the same time, to use every
effort to make Solano retract. It was in vain, and the in-
quisitors, though they well knew the motives which led the
council to vote against their sentence, did not dare to disobey
the law. They pronounced sentence of relaration a second
time, and the council took advantage of a declaration made
by one of the witnesses, to order an inquest to be taken
among all the curates, priests, and physicians of Esco and
the neighbourhood, in order to discover if Solano had ever
suffered an illness which weakened or deranged his mind.
The result of this inquest was to be communicated to the
council, and in the mean time the trial was suspended. The
physician, who suspected what they wished him to say, de-
clared that Solano had had a severe illness for several years,
before he was arrested, and that it was not surprising that it
had weakened his mental powers; he said, that from that
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missary, who was disconcerted at this delay, went in the
night with his alguazils, broke the seals, opened the door,
and made the inventory; and when he had done, replaced
the seals as well as he could, and went away. The ambaes-
sador of the Batavian Republic complained to the government
of this violation of the law of nations, and the king wrote to
the inquisitor-general, through his minister Urquijo, informing
him, that the Inquisition must avoid similar infringements
for the future, and bounding its office to the care of observ-
ing that, on the death of foreign ministers, no prohibited
books were sold to Spaniards or naturalized foreigners.
Nearly the same thing happened to the French consul at
Barcelona.

It may have been seen in the preceding chapters, that the
Inquisition has been several times in danger of being sup-
pressed, or subjected to the general forms of law. These
occasions were more frequent during the reign of Charles IV.

The Counts d’Aranda, de Florida-Blanca, and Campo-
manes, and the extraordinary council, repraente& the con-
tinual abuses committed by the Aoly office to Charles III.,
but he contented himself with passing some ordinances, to
curtail its power.

In 1794, Don Manuel Abad-la-Sierra, inquisitor-general
under Charles 1V., wished to reform the procedure of the
tribunal, and commanded me to compose a work, entitled,
A Driscourse on the Procedure of the Holy Office, in which 1
represented the vices of the actual practice, and the means
of obviating them, even though the proceedings for heresy
should still continue to be secret. But, by various intrigues,
an order was obtained from Charles 1V., which forced the
inquisitor-general to quit Madrid, and resign his office.

Another attempt was made, when the Prince of Peace
discovered the plot against him; the royal decree.for the
suppression was drawn up, but never presented for the sig-
nature of the king, because Godoy was the dupe of counter-
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sioned the royal fiscals to examine into the validity of the
abdication, that the people might be informed thst they
were released from their osth of allegiance to Charles. But
a strict order was immediately sent to the council to re-
nounce the measure, to proclaim the validity of the abdies-
tion, and acknowledge Ferdinand as king. Charles protested
against his abdication; he said that it was not voluntary, since
he had only done it to save his own life and that of the queen,
in the sedition at Aranjuez. Ferdinand paid no attention to
this protestation; the emperor Napoleon took advantage of
the event, and the Bourbons ceased to reign in 8pain. While
Charles 1V. was at Marseilles, and Ferdinand at Valenoé,
Joseph Napoleon, King of Naples, was proclasimed King of
Spain ; Perdinand wrote to Joseph to congratulate him, aad
request his friendship, and commanded all Spaniards to re-
cognise him, to prevent the ruin and desolation of their
country.

When Joseph was acknowledged King of Spain, the ar.
chives of the Supreme Council and of the Inquisition of the
Court were confided to me, in consequence of an order from
his majesty. With his approbation, I burnt all the criminal
processes, except those which belonged to history, from their
importance, and the rank of the accused ; but I preserved all
the registers of the resolutions of the council, the royal or-
dinances, the papal bulls and briefs, the papers of the affairs
of the tribunal, and all the informations taken concerning
the genealogies of the persons employed in the holy office, on
account of their utility in proving relationship in trials when
it is necessary.

I have read in a work, intituled Acta Latomorum, that
in the month of October, 1809, a grand national lodge of
Spanish freemasons was founded even in the buildings of the
Inquisition of Madrid. This assertion I consider entirely
false, because at that time the keys of the building were in
the possession of a subaltern under my orders, who would never
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sperity of the nation for three centuries. The representatives
of Spain received an infinite number of letters and addresees,
returning thanks for the benefit bestowed on the nation: se-
veral of these letters were signed by persons employed in the
Inquisition. I have the satisfaction to be able to declare,
that this triumph of reason and humanity was principally
owing to the documents which I furnished, and which became
known to the public in 1812, by means of the Memorial on
the Opinion of the Spaniards concerning the Inquisition, and
the first volume of the Annals of the Inquisition. This is
proved by the manifesto addressed by the Cortes to the
Spanish people; in which the representatives say, that they
had seen the apostolical bulls addressed to the Inquisition,and
the complaints and appeals of the prisoners: these details
could only have been obtained from the works above men-
tioned, but they were not cited, because I was then a coun-
sellor of state to King Joseph.

These measures of the Cortes were however useless. Buo-
naparte restored the crown of Spain to Ferdinand, by a
treaty at Valence, in 1813, and in March, 1814, the king
re-entered Spain; on his arrival at Valencia, he was imme-
diately surrounded by persons imbued with the Gothic pre-
judices of the age of chivalry, and one of the first measures
of his administration was the re-establishment of the holy

fEc=, on the 21st of July, 1814.

In the preamble to the royal decree, Ferdinand informed
the people, that the object of the restoration of the Inquisi-
tion was to repair the evil caused to the religion of the state
by the foreign troops, who were not Catholics ; to forestall
that which might be caused hereafter by the heretical
opinions imbibed by a great number of Spaniards, and to
preserve the tranquillity of the kingdom; that this measure
was desired by learned and virtuous prelates, and by dif-
ferent bodics and corporations, who reminded him that, in
the sixteenth century, Spain had preserved herself from the
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practice by the Spanish partisans for the war, though they
really came under his jurisdiction, because they were formally
opposed to the letter and spirit of the Gospel. This circum-
stande induces me to lay it before my readers, in order to
prove that the re-established Inquisition differs little from
that which was suppressed, since, if the latter allowed works
inculcating regicide to be circulated, and condemned books
which supported the royal authority, the former began by
condemning the doctrine which taught us, that men were not
slaves or animals to be bought and sold, and at the same time
allowed such maxims as the following to be acted upon :—

Ist. That it was allowable during the invasion, to aseassi-
nate any Frenchman in Spain, whether he was a soldier or
not, without distinction of circumstances or means, becanse
they were all enemies of the country, the defence of which
ought to be the first consideration.

2nd. That according to the same principle it was lawful
to kill any Spaniard, who was a partisan of the supedfiie
power, designated as a francisé.

3rd. That any Spaniards of the same party might be de-
spoiled of their money, goods, or the produce of their estates,
and that their houses, vineyards, olive-grounds, and other
plantations might be burnt.

4th. That an oath of fidelity, taken on the sacrament,
might be broken, even if no mental reservation was made,
because the person was persuaded that it was the only means
to avoid the danger threatened by the superior power, which
could execute its threats, according to the general laws of
war. .

5th. The the priests and monks were authorised to aban-
don their tranquil life, and engage in a military career, pro-
vided it was against the French and the Francisés; this
doctrine prevailed even when it was seen that the ecclesi-
astics and monks had become the chiefs of bands. of rob-
bers, and carried infamous concubines in their suites, and



Digitized by GOOS[Q



572 HISTORY OF THR INQUISITION. {Chap. XLIV.

chosen by General Wellington for his aide-de-camp, on ac-
count of his merit, has been imprisoned by the holy office, as
a freemason.” I consider the latter assertion to be entirely
falee, because letters worthy of credit, and the gazettes of
Spain, only stated that an order to leave Madrid had been
sent to the general by the king, but it was revoked, as his
majesty discovered that he had been deceived; it is certain
that Ferdinand, some time after, sent him as his ambassador
into the Low Countries.

The account given in the Madrid Gazette on the 14ith
May, 1816, of an auto-da-fé celebrated by the Inquisition
of Mexico on the 27th December, 1815, is more worthy of
belief. Don Joseph-Maria Morellos, a priest, had placed
himself at the head of his countrymen, with the intention of
freeing his country from the dominion of the King of Spain.
The holy office prosecuted him for heresy, while the viceroy
arrested him for rebellion. The prisons of the holy office
were preferred to that of the government, and some witnessel
were found who deposed to certain facts which the Mexican
qualifiers thought sufficient to authorize them to pronounce
Morellos suspected of atheism, materialism, and other errors.
One proef of his guilt was, that he had two children. The
accused abjured, and was absolved in an auto-da-f¢, which
was celebrated with as much parade as in the reign of
Philip II. When the inquisitors treated Morellos with so
much moderation, they knew that the viceroy would hang
him ; before his execution he was degraded from the priest-
hood by the Bishop of Antequera in America.

I do not know if the Spanish Inquisition has celebrated an
auto-da-f¢ since its re-establishment. I shall only say that if
its members wish to follow the precepts of the Gospel more
faithfully than their predecessors, they ought to follow the
example of their chief, Pius VII. A letter from Rome,
dated the 31st March, 1816, announces that his Holiness
had abolished the use of torture in all the tribunals of the
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s diplomatic note to the cardinal-secretary of state to his
Holiness, in which he informs him, in the name of his court,
of the condemnation of a work printed by the Inquisitor
Louis de Paramo, of the formal and judicial suppression of
the holy office, and of the re-establishment of the bishops in
their former privileges®.

These just and moderate measures ought to be the rule
and guide of the Spanish inquisitors ; if they would make
the proceedings public, and liberate the prisoners on bail,
I confess that I should not be afraid to present myself to be
tried by that tribunal.

Since this article was printed, I have been informed, that
the inquisitor-general Mier-Campillo is dead, and that Fer-
dinand has appointed Monseigneur Jerome Castillon de
Salas, Bishop of Taragona as his successor. God grant
that he may understand the spirit of the Gospel, and
the necemity of reforming the Inquisition better than his

predecessor !

® Gazetie de Franee, April 8rd, 1816, No. 96
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much attached to the new institution, in which he held the
office of almoner to the second inquisitor, states, in his in-
edited History of the Catholic Kings, that from 1482 to
1489, more than seven hundred individuals were burnt, and
more than five thousand subjected to penances, at Seville:
he does not mention the effigies. . ]

In 1481 the number equalled that of the persons burnt. 1
will, however, suppose that these were only half that num-
ber, to avoid all exaggeration, though it was in general much
more considerable; I may, therefore, say that in each year
of this period 88 persons were burnt at Seville, 44 in effigy,
and 600 condemned to different penances ; total 757. The
same mode of calculation may be applied to the other tribu-
nals of the province which were then founded.

In the Castle of Triana, at Seville, where the inquisitorial
tribunal was held, in an inscription placed there in 1524, im-
porting that in the space of time from 1492 to that year,
about 1000 persons had been burnt, and 20,000 condemned
to penances ;—I will suppose that 1000 individuals were
burnt, and 500 effigies, which will give for each year 32
burnt, 16 effigies, and 625 subjected to penances. I might
admit a similar result for all the tribunals of the kingdom,
but I prefer taking the half, on the supposition that the
commerce carried on in the kingdom of Seville drew thither
many Jewish families.

With respect to the years 1490, 91, and 92, which elapsed
between those mentioned by Bernaldez and the period of the
inscription of Triana, I prefer calculating according to the
thirty-two years after the inscription.

Such are the foundations of my calculations for the first
eighteen years of the Inquisition. I shall consider it from
that time as entirely belonging to the government of Tor-
quemada, the first inquisitor-general ; for, although his office
was not created till 14<3, the two preceding years may be
united to his administration, because he was at that time one
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1487. Seville, and the other tribunals; the same number
as the preceding year.

Barcelona and Majorca, burnt, 200. Effigies, 200. Pe-
nances, 1700.

Total for the twelve tribunals, 8359.

1488.  Seville, ditto.

Eleven other tribunals, same numbBer as before. Total,
4915.

1489.  Same as the preceding year. Here finish the calcu-
lations founded on the statements of Mariana and Bernaldez.

1490. Seville. Burnt, 32. Effigies, 16. Penances, 625.
Total 663.  According to the calculation from the inscription
of Triana.

The eleven other tribunals may be considered to have
punished half that number. Total for the twelve, 4369.

1491 to 144Y8. According to my system of reduction, the
total number of victims for the eight last years of Torque-
mada, was 34,952,

Total for the eighteen years of his administration, 105,294.

1499 to 1507. Second inquisitor-general. Don Fray
Diego Deza. For the twelve tribunals during the eight
years of his administration. Burnt, 1664. Effigies, 832.
Penances, 32,456. Total 34,952.

1507 to 1518. Third inquisitor-general. Cardinal Xime-
nez de Cisneros. In 1513 he separated the tribunal of Cu-
enga from that of Murcia.

Number of persons condemned during the eleven years of
his administration. Burnt, 2536. Effigies, 1368. Pe-
nances, 47,263. Total 51,163. :

1518 to 1524. Fourth inquisitor-general. Cardinal
Adrian. Number of tribunals in the peninsula, the same
as under his predecessor. Burnt, 1344. Effigies, 662.
Penances, 26,214. Total, 28,230.

1524 10 1539.  Fifth inquisitor-general. Cardinal Man-
riquez. For each year of this administration, I calculate
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Carrero, Bishop of Cuenca, three years. Burnt, 184. Eﬂi
gies, 92. Penances, 1920. Total, 2196.

Fourteenth inquisitor-general. Cardinal Guevara, three
years. Burnt, 240. Effigies, 96. Pem.ncas, 1728. Total,
2064.

Fifteenth inquisitor-general. Don Juan de Zumga
Bishop of Carthagena, one year. Burnt, 84. Effigies, 32.
Penances, 576. Total, 688.

Stzteenth inquisitor-general. Don Junn Baptnst d’Ace-
bedo, Archbishop in partibus infidelium, five years. Burnt,
400. Effigies, 116. . Penances, 2880. Total, 3440.

Seventeenth inquisitor-general. Cardinal Sandoval y
-Roxas, eleven years. Burnt, 880. Eﬁglel, 352. ‘Penances,
'6336. Total, 7568. - -

Lighteenth tnquisitor-general. Don me Louis de
Aliaga, two years. Burnt, 240. Effigies, 96. Penances,
1728. Total, 2064.

Nineteenth inquisitor-general. Don Andrea Pacheco,
four years. Burnt, 200. Eﬁgles, 128. Penances, 1280
Total, 1664.

Twentieth inquisitor-general. Cardinal Mendoza, six
years. Burnt, 384. Effigies, 192. Penancee, 1920. Total,
2496.

Twenty-first $nquisitor-general. Don Fray Antonio de
Sotomayor, Archbishop tn partibus infideltum, eleven
years. Burnt, 704. Effigies, 352. Penances, 3520. Total,
4576. '

Twenty-second inquisitor-general. Don Diego de Arcey
Reynosa, Bishop of Placencia, twenty-three years. Burnt,
1472. Effigies, 736. Penances, 7360. Total, 9568.

Twenty-third inquisitor-general. Cardinal d’Amgon
Dismissed before he entered on his office.

Twenty-fourth inquisitor-general.- Don Juin Everard

Nitardo, three years. Burnt, 144. Effigies, 48. Penances,
576. 'Total, 768. '
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Thirty-seventh inquisitor-general. Don Manuel Isidore
Manrique de Lara, Archbishop of Santiago, four years.
Burnt, 336. [Effigies, 68. Penances, 816. Total, 1020.

Thirty-eighth inquisitor-general. Don Francis Perez de
Prado y Cuesta, Bishop of Teruel. He was confirmed by
the Pope in 1746; I do not know the exact term of his ad-
ministration, but I have fixed it in 1757, before the death of
Ferdinand VI., who appointed his successor. Burnt, 10.
Effigies, 5. Penances, 107. Total, 122.

Thirty-ninth tnquisitor-general. Don Manuel Quintano
Bonifaz, Archbishop of Pharsala, seventeen years. Burnt, 2.
Penances, 10 in public, a greater number in private.

Fortieth inquisitor-general. ~ Don Philip Bertrand,
Bishop of Salamanca, nine years. Two were burnt every
year of this administration, six condemned to public, and a
great number to private penances®.

Forty-first inquisitor-general. Don Augustm Rubin de
Cevallos, Bishop of Jaen, nine years. Fourteen condemned
to public penances, and a considerable number condemned
tntra muros..

Forty-second inquisitor-general. Don Manuel Abad y
la Sierra, Archbishop of Selimbria, two years. Sixteen
individuals condemned to public, a greater number to pri-
vate penances.

Forty-third inquisitor-general. Cardinal Lorenzana, three
years. Public penances, 14. A very great number con-
-demned to private penances. One effigy was burnt at
Cuenga.

Forty-fourth inquisitor-general. Don Ramon Joseph de
Arce, Archbishop of Saragossa, eleven years. Twenty in-
dividuals were condemned to public, and a very consider-

* The last person burnt by the Inquisition was a Beata, for having
made a compact with the devil. She suffered on the 7th November,

1781.
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able number to private penances. The Curate of Esco
was condemned to the flames, but the grand-inquisitor and

the Supreme Council would not permit the sentence to be
executed.

Number of persons who were condemned
and perished in the flames - - 31912

Effigies burnt - - - . - 17,659
Condemned to severe penances - - 291,450
341,021

THE END.



LONDON
PRINTED BY WILLIAM CLOWES,
Nerthamberiand-court.



Digitized by GOOS[Q



Digitized by GOOS[@



‘e

I"r



Digitized by GOOS[Q



